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PART I  

ITEM 1. Description of Business  

(a) General Development of Business  

        Since our founding in 1873, we have been committed to producing the highest-quality beers. Our portfolio of brands is designed to appeal 
to a wide range of consumer tastes, styles and price preferences. Our beverages are sold predominantly throughout the United States (U.S.), the 
United Kingdom (U.K.) and in select international markets.  
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        To sharpen focus on our core competencies, in manufacturing, marketing and selling malt beverage products, we have entered into various 
arrangements with third parties over the last decade to leverage their strengths in areas such as can and bottle manufacturing, transportation, 
packaging, engineering, energy production and information technology.  

        We own or license all of our trademarks for all of our brands, including Coors Light®, Coors Original®, Coors® Non-Alcoholic, Coors 
Extra Gold®, Zima®, George Killian's®, Irish Red™, Keystone®, Blue Moon™, Mexicali®, Carling®, Worthington®, Caffrey's®, Grolsch®, 
Reef®, Screamers™, Breaker Superbrew™ Lager, and Hooper's Hooch®.  

        Unless otherwise noted in this report, any description of us includes Adolph Coors Company (ACC), principally a holding company, its 
principal operating subsidiaries, Coors Brewing Company (CBC) and Coors Brewers Limited (CBL), and our other corporate entities.  

Recent General Business Developments  

Coors Brewers Limited  

        In February 2002, we acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Bass Holdings Limited and certain intangible assets directly or indirectly 
from Interbrew S.A. for £1.2 billion (approximately $1.7 billion), plus associated fees and expenses. This acquisition resulted in our obtaining 
the former Bass Brewers' brewing business and brands (excluding Bass, Tennents and other brands) in England and Wales. It includes the 
majority of the assets that previously made up Bass Brewers, including the Carling, Worthington and Caffrey's beer brands; the U.K. and the 
Republic of Ireland distribution rights to Grolsch (via and subject to the continuation of a joint venture arrangement, in which CBL has a 49% 
interest, with Royal Grolsch N.V.); several other beer and flavored-alcohol beverage (FAB) brands; related brewing and malting facilities in the 
United Kingdom; and a 49.9% interest in Tradeteam Limited (Tradeteam), a distribution and logistics provider in Great Britain. The brand rights 
we own for Carling, which is the largest acquired brand by volume, are mainly for territories in Europe.  

Tradeteam Limited  

        In November 2002, Tradeteam entered into a contract to provide retail distribution services for Interbrew U.K., Limited until at least 2010. 
Interbrew U.K. previously undertook such services in-house and the agreement involved the transfer of approximately 1,400 staff from Interbrew 
U.K., Limited to Tradeteam, as well as 19 operating warehouse locations and associated assets, including approximately 400 vehicles.  

Rocky Mountain Metal Container, LLC  

        Effective January 1, 2002, we became an equal member with Ball Corporation (Ball) in a Colorado limited liability company, Rocky 
Mountain Metal Container, LLC (RMMC) to manufacture aluminum cans and ends. Also effective on January 1, 2002, we entered into a can and 
end supply agreement with RMMC (the Supply Agreement), under which RMMC will supply us with substantially all of the can  
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and end requirements for our Golden brewery. RMMC is operating under a use and license agreement and will manufacture these cans and ends 
at our existing manufacturing facilities.  

Graphic Packaging International Corporation  

        Pursuant to a packaging supply agreement, CBC purchases most of its paperboard and label packaging from Graphic Packaging 
International Corporation (GPIC). Our previous packaging supply agreement expired on December 31, 2002 and was extended to March 31, 
2003. As of the date of this filing, we had reached an agreement with GPIC regarding the terms of a new contract, and the contract was being 
circulated for signatures (See Item 13(b) Certain Business Relationships for further information).  

(b)  Financial Information About Segments  

        Prior to our acquisition of CBL, we reported results of operations in one segment. We now categorize our operations into two geographical 
segments: the Americas and Europe. Both of these segments manufacture, market, and sell beer and other malt beverage products.  

        See Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, for financial information relating to our operations.  

(c)  Narrative Description of Business  

         Some of the following statements may describe our expectations of future products and business plans, financial results, performance and 
events. Actual results may differ materially from these forward-looking statements. Please see Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis—
Cautionary Statement Pursuant to Safe Harbor Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, for factors that may 
negatively impact our performance. The following statements are expressly made, subject to those and other risk factors.  



        We sold approximately 65% of our 2002 reported beer volume in the United States, nearly 30% in the United Kingdom and the balance in 
various international markets. In 2002, Coors Light accounted for about 50% and Carling for approximately 20% of reported volume.  

        Our sales volume totaled 31.8 million U.S. barrels in 2002, compared to 22.7 million barrels in 2001 and 23.0 million barrels in 2000. The 
barrel sales figures for each year do not include barrel sales of our products sold in Canada by a non-consolidated partnership, Coors Canada. An 
additional 1.4 million, 1.3 million and 1.2 million barrels of beer were sold by Coors Canada in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Our sales 
volumes also do not include the CBL Factored Brands Business. See Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis, for a discussion of volume 
changes.  

Americas Operations  

        The Americas business segment primarily consists of the production, distribution, marketing and sales of the Coors family of brands in the 
United States and its territories. This segment also includes the Coors Light business in Canada that is conducted through a partnership 
investment with Molson, Inc. (Molson) and the sale of Molson products in the United States that is conducted through a joint venture investment 
(Molson USA) with Molson. The Americas segment also includes the small amount of CBC products that are exported and sold outside of the 
United States and its territories, excluding the Europe segment.  

Canada  

        Coors Canada is our partnership with Molson that manages all marketing activities for our products in Canada. We own 50.1% of this 
partnership, and Molson owns 49.9%. The partnership  

4  

 

contracts with a Molson subsidiary for the brewing, distribution and sale of products. Coors Light currently has an approximately 8% market 
share, is the largest light beer and the fourth best selling beer brand overall in Canada.  

Puerto Rico and the Caribbean  

        In Puerto Rico, we market and sell Coors Light through an independent local distributor. A local team of our employees manages marketing 
and promotional efforts in this market where Coors Light is the number-one brand. We also sell our products in several other Caribbean markets, 
including the U.S. Virgin Islands, through local distributors.  

Japan  

        Coors Japan Company, Ltd. (Coors Japan), our Tokyo-based subsidiary, is the exclusive importer and marketer of our products in Japan. 
The Japanese business is currently focused on Zima and Coors Original. Coors Japan sells our products to independent distributors in Japan.  

China  

        In August 2001, we formed a new subsidiary, Coors Beer & Beverages (Suzhou) Co., Ltd., to market and distribute Coors products in 
China. In October 2001, we commenced a brewing agreement with Lion Nathan Beer and Beverages (Suzhou) Co. Ltd. to supply the China 
market.  

Our Products  

        Our top-selling brand is Coors Light, a premium beer, and our other products in the United States include an additional 11 brands. Our other 
premium beers include Coors Original and Coors Non-Alcoholic. We also offer a selection of above-premium beers including George Killian's 
Irish Red Lager and Blue Moon Belgian White Ale. In addition, we offer Zima and Zima Citrus, alternative malt-based beverages that have long 
competed in the FABs category. We also compete in the lower-priced segment of the beer market with Extra Gold and our Keystone family of 
beers—Keystone Light, Keystone Premium and Keystone Ice. Coors Light accounted for more than 70% of our Americas sales volume in each 
of the last four years, while premium and above-premium products accounted for more than 85% of our total Americas volume.  

Sales and Distribution  

        In the United States, beer is generally distributed through a three-tier system consisting of manufacturers, distributors and retailers. 
Currently, a national network of 485 independent distributors (549 including branch locations) purchase our products. We also own three 
distributorships that handled less than 3% of our total domestic volume in 2002. As a result of our Molson USA joint venture, we have an 
additional 160 non-CBC domestic distributors, including branches that distribute Molson brands within the United States. Additional 
independent distributors deliver our products to some international markets under licensing and distribution agreements.  



        In the past three years, consolidation among U.S. wholesalers has continued. As a result of this trend, approximately 50% of our U.S. 
distributors (which sell more than 40% of our volume) now also distribute SAB Miller PLC (Miller) products. We generally view this 
consolidation trend positively because these larger businesses can compete more effectively in the marketplace.  
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Manufacturing, Production and Packaging  

Brewing Raw Materials  

        We use the highest quality water, barley and hops to brew our products. The majority of the water used by us is naturally filtered from 
underground aquifers. We have acquired water rights to provide flexibility for long-term strategic growth needs and also to sustain brewing 
operations in case of a prolonged drought. We maintain a 14-month supply of barley that would allow us to continue production in the event of 
any disruption in supply.  

Brewing and Packaging Facilities  

        We have three domestic production facilities and one small brewery located in Mexico. We own and operate the world's largest single-site 
brewery that is located in Golden, Colorado. In addition, we own and operate a packaging and brewing facility in Memphis, Tennessee, and a 
packaging facility located in the Shenandoah Valley in Virginia. We are brewing beer at our facility in Tecate, Mexico that is currently being test 
marketed in the United States.  

        We brew Coors Light, Coors Original, Extra Gold, Killian's and the Keystone brands in Golden. We package, in Golden, about 57% of our 
beer volume brewed in Golden. The remainder is shipped in bulk from the Golden brewery to either our Memphis facility or to our Shenandoah 
facility for packaging.  

        The Memphis facility packages all products exported from the United States. It also brews and packages our Zima, Zima Citrus, Coors 
Non-Alcoholic and Blue Moon brands for domestic and international distribution. Coors Light is brewed in Memphis for export only.  

        Our Shenandoah facility packages Coors Light, Keystone Light and a small portion of Killian's volume for distribution to eastern U.S. 
markets.  

        We also own and operate the Sandlot Brewery® at the Coors Field® ballpark in Denver, Colorado. This brewery is open year-round, makes 
a variety of specialty beers and has an annual capacity of approximately 4,000 barrels.  

        In 2002, we completed major investments in all three of our plants. These investments will allow us to continue to meet growing demand 
efficiently. We are planning lower capital spending in 2003 and will be focusing our investments increasingly to reduce costs and increase 
productivity. Please see Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis—Liquidity and Capital Resources, for more information about our 
planned capital expenditures.  

Energy  

        We purchase electricity and steam for our Golden facilities from Trigen-Nations Energy Company, L.L.L.P. (Trigen), an unrelated 
company. Coors Energy Company, our wholly owned subsidiary, buys coal, which is sold to Trigen for Trigen's steam generator system.  

Packaging Materials  

Aluminum Cans  

        Approximately 60% of our products were packaged in aluminum cans in 2002. A substantial portion of those cans were purchased from 
RMMC. In addition to our supply agreement with RMMC, we also have commercial supply agreements with Ball and other third-party can 
manufacturers to purchase cans and ends in excess of what is supplied through RMMC. In 2002, we purchased all of the cans and ends produced 
by the RMMC facilities.  
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Glass Bottles  



        We used glass bottles for approximately 30% of our products in 2002. We operate a production joint venture with Owens-Brockway Glass 
Container, Inc. (Owens), the Rocky Mountain Bottle Company (RMBC), to produce glass bottles at our glass manufacturing facility. The initial 
term of the joint venture expires in 2005 and can be extended for additional two-year periods. In 2002, we purchased all of the bottles produced 
by RMBC, approximately 1.1 billion bottles, which fulfilled slightly more than one-half of our bottle requirements. The remaining bottle 
requirements were met through a supply contract with Owens.  

Other Packaging  

        The remaining 10% of volume we sold in 2002 was packaged in quarter- and half-barrel stainless steel kegs purchased from third-party 
suppliers.  

        We purchase most of our paperboard and label packaging from a subsidiary of Graphic Packaging International Corporation (GPIC). These 
products include paperboard, multi-can pack wrappers, bottle labels and other secondary packaging supplies, as described under Item 1
(a) General Development of Business. Please read Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, for more information regarding 
GPIC.  

Seasonality of the Business  

        The U.S. beer industry is subject to seasonal sales fluctuation. Our sales volumes are normally at their lowest in the first and fourth quarters 
and highest in the second and third quarters.  

Research and Development  

        Our research and development activities relate primarily to creating and improving products and packages. These activities are designed to 
refine the quality and value of our products and to reduce costs through more efficient processing and packaging techniques, equipment design 
and improved raw materials.  

Intellectual Property  

        We own trademarks on the majority of the brands we produce and we have licenses for the remainder. We also hold several patents on 
innovative processes related to product formula, can making, can decorating and certain other technical operations. These patents have expiration 
dates ranging through 2021. These expirations are not expected to have a significant impact on our business.  

Regulation  

        Our business is highly regulated by federal, state and local governments. These regulations govern many parts of our operations, including 
brewing, marketing and advertising, transportation, distributor relationships, sales and environmental issues. To operate our facilities, we must 
obtain and maintain numerous permits, licenses and approvals from various governmental agencies, including the U.S. Treasury Department; 
Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau (formerly called the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms); the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture; the U.S. Food and Drug Administration; state alcohol regulatory agencies as well as state and federal environmental agencies. 
Internationally, our business is also subject to regulations and restrictions imposed by the laws of the foreign jurisdictions where we sell our 
products.  

        Governmental entities also levy taxes and may require bonds to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Federal excise 
taxes on malt beverages are currently $18 per barrel. State excise taxes also are levied at rates that ranged in 2002 from a high of $32.55 per 
barrel in Alabama to a low  
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of $0.62 per barrel in Wyoming, with an average of $5.74 per barrel. In 2002, we incurred approximately $410 million in federal and state excise 
taxes. We realize that from time to time Congress, state legislatures and local governing bodies consider various proposals to increase or 
decrease excise taxes on the production and sale of alcohol beverages, including beer. In the United States, the last significant increase in federal 
excise taxes on beer was in 1991, when these taxes doubled. In June 2002, the excise taxes on most beer in Puerto Rico increased 50%.  

Environmental Matters  

        We are one of a number of entities named by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as a potentially responsible party (PRP) at the 
Lowry Superfund site. This landfill is owned by the City and County of Denver (Denver), and is managed by Waste Management of 
Colorado, Inc. (Waste Management). In 1990, we recorded a pretax charge of $30 million, a portion of which was put into a trust in 1993 as part 
of a settlement with Denver and Waste Management regarding the then outstanding litigation.  



        Our settlement was based on an assumed cost of $120 million (in 1992 adjusted dollars). It requires us to pay a portion of future costs in 
excess of that amount.  

        Considering related uncertainties at the site, including what additional remedial actions may be required by the EPA, new technologies, and 
what costs are included in the determination of when the $120 million threshold is reached, the estimate of our liability may change as facts 
further develop. We cannot predict the amount of any such change, but an additional accrual of as much as $20 to $30 million is possible.  

        We are aware of groundwater contamination at some of our properties in Colorado resulting from historical, ongoing or nearby activities. 
There may also be other contamination of which we are currently unaware.  

        From time to time, we have been notified that we are or may be a PRP under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation 
and Liability Act or similar state laws for the cleanup of other sites where hazardous substances have allegedly been released into the 
environment. We cannot predict with certainty the total costs of cleanup, our share of the total cost, the extent to which contributions will be 
available from other parties, the amount of time necessary to complete the cleanups or insurance coverage.  

        While we cannot predict our eventual aggregate cost for our environmental and related matters in which we are currently involved, we 
believe that any payments, if required, for these matters would be made over a period of time in amounts that would not be material in any one 
year to our operating results, cash flows or our financial or competitive position. We believe adequate reserves have been provided for losses that 
are probable and estimable (see also Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis—Contingencies, for additional discussion of our 
environmental contingencies).  

Employees and Employee Relations  

        CBC has approximately 5,700 employees in our Americas business. Memphis hourly employees, who constitute about 8% of our total work 
force, are represented by the Teamsters union and are the only significant employee group at any of our three domestic production facilities with 
union representation. The Memphis union contract expires in 2005. We believe our people are absolutely key to our success and that relations 
with our employees are good.  

Competitive Conditions  

Known Trends and Competitive Conditions  

        Industry and competitive information in this section and elsewhere in this report was compiled from various industry sources, including 
beverage analyst reports ( Beer Marketer's Insights, Impact Databank and The Beer Institute) . While management believes that these sources 
are reliable, we cannot guarantee the complete accuracy of these numbers and estimates.  
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2002 U.S. Beer Industry Overview  

        The beer industry in the United States is extremely competitive, with industry volume growth averaging less than 1% annually since 1991. 
Therefore, growing or even maintaining market share requires substantial and perhaps increasing investments in marketing and sales efforts. 
U.S. beer industry shipments increased approximately 1.3% in 2002, after growing 0.6% in 2001.  

        The industry's pricing environment continued to be positive in 2002, with modest price increases on specific brands and packages in select 
markets. As a result, revenue per barrel improved for major U.S. brewers during the year.  

        A number of important trends affected the U.S. beer market in 2002. The first was a continuing sales shift toward lighter, more refreshing 
beverages. Virtually all of the growth in the category was achieved by American-style light lagers (domestic and imported) and new FABs. 
Although the FABs market share grew quickly in the first half of 2002, it also declined substantially in the second half of the year. More than 
80% of our annual Americas unit volume in 2002 was in light beers. The second trend was toward "trading up," as consumers continued to move 
away from lower-priced brands to higher-priced brands, including imports and FABs. Import beer shipments rose nearly 10% in 2002. Long-
term industry sales trends toward lighter, more upscale beers generally play to our strengths.  

        The U.S. brewing industry has experienced significant consolidation in the past several years, which has removed excess production 
capacity. In 2002, beer industry consolidation at the wholesaler level continued. This consolidation generally improves business economics for 
these combined wholesalers and their suppliers.  

Our Competitive Position  

        Our malt beverages compete with numerous above-premium, premium, low-calorie, popular-priced, non-alcoholic and imported brands. 



These competing brands are produced by national, regional, local and international brewers. In 2002, approximately 80% of U.S. beer shipments 
were attributed to the top three domestic brewers: Anheuser-Busch; Miller; and CBC. We compete most directly with Anheuser-Busch and 
Miller, the dominant companies in the U.S. industry. According to Beer Marketer's Insights estimates, we are the nation's third-largest brewer, 
selling approximately 11% of the total 2002 U.S. brewing industry shipments (including exports and U.S. shipments of imports). This compares 
to Anheuser-Busch's 49% share and Miller's 19% share.  

Europe Operations  

        The Europe segment consists of our production and sale of the CBL brands principally in the United Kingdom, but also in other parts of the 
world, our joint venture arrangement relating to the production and distribution of Grolsch in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland, and 
our joint venture arrangement with Tradeteam for the physical distribution of products throughout Great Britain.  

United Kingdom  

        CBL has headquarters in Burton-on-Trent, England and is the United Kingdom's second-largest beer company with unit volume sales of 
approximately 9.2 million U.S. barrels in 2002. CBL holds approximately 19% of the U.K. beer market, Western Europe's second-largest 
market. The CBL sales are primarily in England and Wales, with the Carling brand (a mainstream lager) representing approximately two-thirds 
of CBL's total beer volume.  

        CBL also manufactures FABs, which it sells in the United Kingdom and export markets. Total FABs volume is less than 4% of its overall 
volume. CBL's products are exported to over 25 countries, with these exports accounting for less than 3% of total CBL volume.  
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Our Products  

        Our U.K. brand portfolio consists of 21 domestic beer brands and six non-beer brands. We have strong representation in each of our product 
categories with Carling, the market leader among mainstream lagers. Carling is the number-one beer sold in the United Kingdom by volume. 
Caffrey's, which makes up approximately 3% of our volume, competes in the premium ale segment; and Worthington's, which makes up 
approximately 11% of our volume, is the number-three mainstream ale in the U.K. Grolsch, the number-four premium lager, is one of the United 
Kingdom's fastest growing premium lagers, with volume increasing more than six times since 1994. In addition, we have a successful range of 
FAB brands that we own, including Reef.  

        During 2002, CBL launched Worthington's 1744, a premium cask ale; Breaker Superbrew Lager, a competitor in the extra strong lager 
category; and Screamers, a vodka-based shots drink.  

        Like other brewers in the United Kingdom, CBL wholesales beers, wines, liquors, ciders, soft drinks and other products in order to enhance 
profitability by offering a wide range of products, predominantly to our On-Trade customers, where alcohol drinks are sold for consumption on-
premise. Since CBL purchases and resells these products, they are included in both sales and cost of goods sold but are not included in reported 
sales volumes.  

Sales and Distribution  

        Over the past three decades, there has been a shift in the United Kingdom, with volumes shifting from the On-Trade channel to the Off-
Trade channel, also referred to as the "take-home' market. Prices in the On-Trade channel tend to be higher, but the Off-Trade channel can offer 
similar returns to brewers as selling, servicing and distribution costs are generally lower. Unlike the United States, where manufacturers are 
generally not permitted to distribute beer directly to retail, the large majority of our beer in the United Kingdom is sold to retailers directly.  

        Distribution activities for CBL are conducted by Tradeteam, which operates a system of satellite warehouses and a transportation fleet. 
Tradeteam also manages the transportation of certain raw materials such as malt to the CBL breweries. (See Item 1. Business—(a) General 
Development of Business, for more information about the Tradeteam joint venture.)  

On-Trade  

        The On-Trade channel accounted for approximately 66% of our U.K. sales volumes in 2002. CBL's major brands have gained market share 
consistently in the On-Trade over the past five years because of the success of the brand investment program, the focus on customer service and 
sales force development.  

        The installation and maintenance of draught beer dispense equipment in the On-Trade channel is generally the responsibility of the brewer 
in the United Kingdom. CBL thus retains ownership of equipment required to dispense beer from kegs to consumers. This includes beer lines, 
line cooling, taps and countermounts.  



        Similar to other U.K. brewers, CBL has traditionally used loans to secure supply relationships with customers in the On-Trade market. 
Loans have been granted at below-market rates of interest, with the outlet purchasing beer at lower-than-average discount levels. Such loans are 
typically secured by a first or second lien on the borrower's property. We reclassify a portion of sales revenue to interest income to reflect the 
economic substance of these loans.  
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Off-Trade  

        The Off-Trade channel accounted for approximately 34% of our U.K. sales volume in 2002. It includes sales to supermarket chains, 
convenience stores, liquor store chains, distributors and wholesale retailers.  

Manufacturing, Production and Packaging  

Brewing Raw Materials  

        We use the highest quality water, barley and hops to brew our products. Water for the three CBL breweries, located in Burton-on-Trent, 
Alton and Tadcaster, comes from dedicated supplies, filtered through the local underground aquifers. Barley for CBL brewing operations is high 
quality two-row seed grown exclusively in England with strict controls over the use of agro-chemicals. We believe we have sufficient access to 
raw materials to meet our quality and production requirements.  

Brewing and Packaging Facilities  

        Following the closure of the Cape Hill brewery in December 2002, we now operate three breweries in the United Kingdom. The Burton-on-
Trent brewery, located in the Midlands, is the largest brewery in the United Kingdom. Other breweries are located in Tadcaster and Alton.  

        A key feature of production policy is effective product matching across the three breweries to facilitate multiple sourcing of the major 
brands. The three brewery sites each possess a range of brewing and packaging operations. This decentralized brewing and packaging platform 
allows us to pursue a "single brewery" concept. This concept permits us to centrally plan all production requirements and allocate volumes to 
breweries each week. This allows optimal use of all capacity, assets and resources and is effective in minimizing distribution costs and 
facilitating multiple sourcing of major brands.  

        A portion of our overall capital investment is to support our business in the On-Trade channel where dispense equipment and kegs 
investment is required. The major focus of capital spending in 2003 is at our brewery in Burton-on-Trent to efficiently increase packaging 
capability following the closure of the Cape Hill brewery. The majority of the spending on this project is planned for 2003.  

Packaging Materials  

        Kegs:     We used kegs and casks for approximately 63% of our product in 2002. We purchase our kegs and casks through supply contracts 
with third-party suppliers.  

        Cans:     Approximately 29% of our products were packaged in cans in 2002. Virtually all of our cans were purchased through supply 
contracts with Ball Corporation.  

        Other Packaging:     The remaining 8% of our product is packaged in glass bottles purchased through supply contracts with third-party 
suppliers.  

Seasonality of Business  

        In Great Britain, the beer industry is subject to seasonal sales fluctuation primarily influenced by holiday periods, weather and by certain 
major televised sporting events. There is a peak during the summer and during the Christmas and New Year period. The holiday peak is most 
pronounced in the Off-Trade channel.  

11  

 

Research and Development  

        CBL's research and development activities are designed to explore new products and packaging concepts, as well as to refine the quality of 



our products and to develop more efficient processing, packaging and dispense techniques. Concepts are generated and then subjected to a 
rigorous process of development and review prior to launch.  

Intellectual Property  

        Trademarks on the majority of the brands produced by CBL are owned in relevant countries and we have licenses for the remainder. Carling 
brand rights are mainly for territories in Europe. We also hold a number of patents on innovative processes and technologies relevant to our 
business. These patents have expiration dates ranging through 2021. These expirations are not expected to have a significant impact on our 
business.  

Regulation  

        In the United Kingdom, regulations apply to many parts of our operations and products, including brewing; food safety; labeling and 
packaging; marketing and advertising; environmental; health and safety; employment; and data protection regulations. To operate our U.K. 
breweries and carry on business in the United Kingdom, we must obtain and maintain numerous permits and licenses from local Licensing 
Justices and governmental bodies; including HM Customs & Excise, the Office of Fair Trading, the Data Protection Commissioner and the 
Environment Agency.  

        The U.K. government levies excise taxes on all alcoholic beverages at varying rates depending on the type of product and its alcohol by 
volume. In 2002, we incurred approximately $770 million in excise taxes on gross revenues of approximately $2,146 million. The U.K. 
government reviews the level of excise taxes on alcohol beverages annually as part of its budget process. The last increase in excise tax on beer 
was in 2000. In 2002, the U.K. government changed the regulations relating to excise tax on FABs, resulting in a significant increase in these 
taxes.  

Environmental Matters  

        We are subject to the requirements of government and local environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations. 
Compliance with these laws and regulations did not materially affect our 2002 capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position, and we do 
not anticipate that they will do so in 2003.  

        See also Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis—Contingencies, for additional discussion of our environmental contingencies.  

Employees and Employee Relations  

        CBL has approximately 3,000 employees. Approximately 26% of this total workforce is represented by trade unions, primarily at our 
Burton-on-Trent and Tadcaster breweries. Separate negotiated agreements are in place with the Transport and General Workers Union at the 
Tadcaster Brewery and the Burton-on-Trent Brewery. The agreements do not have expiration dates, and negotiations are conducted annually. We 
believe our people are absolutely key to our success and that relations with our employees are good.  
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Competitive Conditions  

2002 U.K. Beer Industry Overview  

        Beer consumption in the United Kingdom has declined steadily since 1980 by an average of 0.8% per annum. This decline has been mainly 
attributable to the On-Trade channels where volumes are now 40% lower than in 1980. Over the same period, Off-Trade volume has increased 
by 278% and now represents 34% of CBL's total volume, compared with 11% in 1980. This trend is expected to continue and has been 
influenced by a number of factors, including the increasing price differential between beer in the On and Off-Trade channels and changes in 
consumers' lifestyles.  

        At the same time, there has been a steady trend to lager at the expense of ales, driven predominantly by the leading mainstream and 
premium lager brands. In 1980, lagers accounted for 31% of beer sales and, in 2002, this share has increased to 67% and is expected to grow 
further. While lager volume has been growing at an average compound annual growth rate of 1.3% over the last four years, ales, including 
stouts, have declined by 6.2% per annum. This trend has accelerated in 2002. The leading beer brands are generally growing at a faster rate than 
the market. The top 10 brands now represent approximately 62% of the total market compared to only 34% in 1994.  

        The U.K. brewing industry continues to suffer from overcapacity. Including the closure of our Cape Hill brewery in 2002, at least nine 
breweries with an estimated total capacity of over 3 million barrels have closed over the last three years.  

        In both the On-Trade and the Off-Trade, major customers have been growing in size. In the On- Trade, the major multiple pub companies 



continue to consolidate, and in the Off-Trade, the leading multiple grocery chains are continuing to gain share.  

Our Competitive Position  

        Our beers and flavored alcoholic beverages compete not only with similar products from competitors, but also with other alcoholic drink 
products, including wines and spirits. With the exception of stout, where we do not have our own brand, our brand portfolio gives us strong 
representation in all main beer categories. Our strength in the growing lager sector with Carling and Grolsch makes us well positioned to take 
advantage of the continuing trend away from ales to lagers.  

        Our principal competitors are Scottish Courage Ltd., Interbrew U.K. Ltd. and Carlsberg-Tetley Ltd. We are the United Kingdom's second-
largest brewer with a 19% market share (excluding factored brands sales) based on AC Nielsen information. Scottish Courage Ltd.'s share is 
25%, Interbrew U.K. Ltd.'s share is 17% (excluding Heineken brands, which are no longer part of Interbrew's brand portfolio) and Carlsberg-
Tetley Ltd.'s share is 12%. Our core brands—Carling, Grolsch, Worthington's and Reef—all increased their product sector share in 2002.  

        Following the acquisition of CBL from Interbrew in February 2002, Interbrew retained the former Bass Brewers' Scottish and Northern 
Ireland businesses (including Tennents brands) as well as the Bass ale brand and associated export sales. Since we were left with little 
representation in Scotland, we are addressing this issue with the development last year of a Scottish sales team and Carling's sponsorship, 
starting in 2003, of the Rangers and Celtic soccer teams. In August 2002, Worthington's 1744 was launched to replace the gap in the portfolio 
left by the loss of Draught Bass.  

(d)  Financial Information About Foreign and Domestic Operations and Export Sales  

        See Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, for discussion of sales, operating income and identifiable assets attributable to 
our country of domicile, the United States, and all foreign countries.  
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(e)  Available Information  

        Our internet website is http://www.coors.com. Through a direct link to our reports at the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov, we make 
available, free of charge on our website, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and 
amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such materials to the SEC.  

 
ITEM 2. Properties  

        As of December 29, 2002, our major facilities were:  

        We own approximately 2,250 acres of land in Golden, CO, which include brewing, packaging, can manufacturing and related facilities, as 
well as gravel deposits, water storage facilities and buffer area. We own about 1,850 acres of land in Rockingham County, VA, around our 
Shenandoah facility, and 126 acres in Shelby County, TN, where the Memphis facility is located.  

Facility  

  

Location 

  

Product 

Americas         
Brewery/packaging plants   Golden, CO  

Memphis, TN  
Tecate, Mexico 

  Malt beverages/packaged malt 
beverages 

Packaging plant   Elkton, VA (Shenandoah 
Valley) 

  Packaged malt beverages 

Can and end plant   Golden, CO   Aluminum cans and ends 
Bottle plant   Wheat Ridge, CO   Glass bottles 
Distributorship locations   Denver, CO  

Meridian, ID  
Glenwood Springs, CO 

  Wholesale beer distribution 

Ten satellite warehouses   Throughout the U.S.   Distribution centers 
 
Europe 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Brewery/packaging/distribution 
warehouses 

  Burton-on-Trent, Staffordshire  
Tadcaster Brewery, Yorkshire  
Alton Brewery, Hampshire 

  Malt and spirit-based 
beverages/packaged malt 
beverages/distribution 



        In March 2002, we completed and occupied a new warehouse facility at our distributor operation in Denver, CO. We are in the process of 
selling the land and building of the previous operation. In 2001, we sold our distribution operations in Anaheim, CA, and Oklahoma City, OK, 
but retained ownership of the facilities. In 2002, we sold the land and buildings in Oklahoma City. We are in the process of selling the land and 
buildings in Anaheim, and in the interim are leasing these assets to the buyer of the distributor operation. Also in 2001, we sold our distributor 
operation in San Bernardino, CA.  

        In 2002, we discontinued operations at CBL's Cape Hill brewery and Alloa malting facility. The majority of the production at the Cape Hill 
brewery was brands that were retained by Interbrew. The Cape Hill property, which includes 78 acres, is being marketed for sale since its closure 
at year-end 2002. We expect to complete the sale of Cape Hill during 2005, possibly earlier, depending on negotiations with the Planning 
Authorities for change of zoning provisions.  
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ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings  

        We are involved in certain disputes and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of our business. While it is not feasible to predict or 
determine the outcome of these proceedings, in our opinion, based on a review with legal counsel, none of these disputes and legal actions is 
expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. However, litigation is subject to 
inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these matters may arise from time to time that may harm our business (see Item 8, Footnote 15, 
"Commitments and Contingencies" for additional discussion of our Legal Contingencies).  

 
ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  

        None.  

 
PART II  

ITEM 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters  

        Our Class B non-voting common stock has traded on the New York Stock Exchange since March 11, 1999, under the symbol "RKY" and 
prior to that was quoted on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol "ACCOB."  

        The approximate number of record security holders by class of stock at February 28, 2003, is as follows:  

        The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices per share of our Class B common stock for each fiscal quarter of 2002 and 2001 
as reported by the New York Stock Exchange:  

Title of class  

  

Number of record security holders 

Class A common stock, voting, no par 
value 

  All shares of this class are held by the 
Adolph Coors, Jr. Trust 

 
Class B common stock, non-voting, no par 
value 

 
  

 
2,963 

 
Preferred stock, non-voting, no par value 

 
  

 
None issued 

     

HIGH 

  

LOW 

  

DIVIDENDS 

2002                   
First Quarter   $ 67.47   $ 51.92   $ 0.205 
Second Quarter   $ 68.76   $ 59.34   $ 0.205 
Third Quarter   $ 64.18   $ 51.40   $ 0.205 
Fourth Quarter   $ 69.66   $ 56.30   $ 0.205 
 
2001 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

First Quarter   $ 78.25   $ 61.38   $ 0.185 
Second Quarter   $ 67.11   $ 49.39   $ 0.205 
Third Quarter   $ 52.40   $ 43.59   $ 0.205 



Equity Compensation Plan Information  

        The following table summarizes information about the 1990 Adolph Coors Equity Incentive Plan (the "EI Plan"), the Coors 1995 
Supplemental Compensation Plan, and the Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors as of December 29, 2002. All outstanding 
awards shown in the table below relate to our Class B common stock (see Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplemental Data,  
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Footnote 6 "Stock Option, Restricted Stock Award and Employee Award Plans," for additional discussion of our equity compensation plans).  

(1)  

Fourth Quarter   $ 59.27   $ 43.83   $ 0.205 

Plan Category  

  

A  
Number of securities to be  

issued upon exercise of  
outstanding options, warrants  

and rights 

  

B  
Weighted-average exercise  

price of outstanding options,  
warrants and rights 

  

C  
Number of securities remaining  

available for future issuance  
under equity compensation  
plans (excluding securities  

reflected in column A) 

  
Equity compensation 
plans approved by 
security holders   5,064,360(1 ) $ 56.61(1 ) 2,023,595(1 ) 
Equity compensation 
plans not approved by 
security holders   None     None   None   

We may issue securities under our equity compensation plan in forms other than options, warrants or rights. Under the EI Plan, we may 
issue Restricted Stock Awards, as that term is defined in the Plan.  

        As of December 29, 2002, there were 23,750 restricted shares outstanding. These include shares with respect to which restrictions on 
ownership (i.e., vesting periods) will lapse within one to three years from the date of issue.  

        On May 31, 2002, we granted options for a total of 4,000 shares of our non-voting Class B common stock to our four non-employee 
members of the Board of Directors, under our Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors. These options were issued as a 
component of the directors' annual compensation (See Item 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management). The 
options were issued at an exercise price of $66.07 per share, and are exercisable for a period of ten years commencing on the earlier of the one 
year anniversary of the date of grant or the next following annual shareholders meeting following the date of grant, provided that the Director is 
still serving as our Director on such date. The options were issued under an exemption from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended. Each Director had access, through his or her relationship with us, to adequate information about our company.  
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data  

        The table below summarizes selected financial information for the 5 years ended as noted. For further information, refer to our consolidated 
financial statements and notes thereto presented under Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.  

     

2002(2) 

  

2001 

  

2000(1) 

  

1999 

  

1998 

  

     

(In thousands, except per share data)  

   
Consolidated Statement of Operations:                                 
Gross sales   $ 4,956,947   $ 2,842,752   $ 2,841,738   $ 2,642,712   $ 2,463,655   
Beer excise taxes     (1,180,625 )   (413,290 )   (427,323 )   (406,228 )   (391,789 ) 
              

Net sales     3,776,322     2,429,462     2,414,415     2,236,484     2,071,866   
Cost of goods sold     (2,414,530 )   (1,537,623 )   (1,525,829 )   (1,397,251 )   (1,333,026 ) 
              

Gross profit     1,361,792     891,839     888,586     839,233     738,840   
Other operating expenses:                                 

  Marketing, general and administrative     (1,057,240 )   (717,060 )   (722,745 )   (692,993 )   (615,626 ) 



(1)  

  Special charges     (6,267 )   (23,174 )   (15,215 )   (5,705 )   (19,395 ) 
              

Total other operating expenses     (1,063,507 )   (740,234 )   (737,960 )   (698,698 )   (635,021 ) 
Operating income     298,285     151,605     150,626     140,535     103,819   
Interest income     21,187     16,409     21,325     11,286     12,136   
Interest expense     (70,919 )   (2,006 )   (6,414 )   (4,357 )   (9,803 ) 
Other income, net     8,047     32,005     3,988     3,203     4,948   
              

Income before income taxes     256,600     198,013     169,525     150,667     111,100   
Income tax expense     (94,947 )   (75,049 )   (59,908 )   (58,383 )   (43,316 ) 
              

Net income   $ 161,653   $ 122,964   $ 109,617   $ 92,284   $ 67,784   
              

Net income per common share—basic   $ 4.47   $ 3.33   $ 2.98   $ 2.51   $ 1.87   
              

Net income per common share—diluted   $ 4.42   $ 3.31   $ 2.93   $ 2.46   $ 1.81   
              

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:                                 
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term marketable 
securities   $ 59,167   $ 309,705   $ 386,195   $ 279,883   $ 287,672   
              

Working capital   $ (93,995 ) $ 88,984   $ 118,415   $ 220,117   $ 165,079   
              

Properties, at cost, net   $ 1,380,239   $ 869,710   $ 735,793   $ 714,001   $ 714,441   
              

Total assets   $ 4,297,411   $ 1,739,692   $ 1,629,304   $ 1,546,376   $ 1,460,598   
              

Long-term debt   $ 1,383,392   $ 20,000   $ 105,000   $ 105,000   $ 105,000   
              

Other long-term liabilities   $ 115,971   $ 47,480   $ 45,446   $ 52,579   $ 56,640   
              

Shareholders' equity   $ 981,851   $ 951,312   $ 932,389   $ 841,539   $ 774,798   
              

Cash Flow Data:                                 
Cash provided by operations   $ 258,545   $ 193,396   $ 280,731   $ 211,324   $ 198,215   
              

Cash used in investing activities   $ (1,584,338 ) $ (196,749 ) $ (297,541 ) $ (121,043 ) $ (146,479 ) 
              

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities   $ 1,291,668   $ (38,844 ) $ (26,870 ) $ (87,687 ) $ (60,661 ) 
              

Other Information:                                 
Barrels of malt beverages sold     31,841     22,713     22,994     21,954     21,187   
              

Dividends per share of common stock   $ 0.820   $ 0.800   $ 0.720   $ 0.645   $ 0.600   
              

Depreciation, depletion and amortization   $ 230,299   $ 121,091   $ 129,283   $ 123,770   $ 115,815   
              

Capital expenditures and additions to intangible assets   $ 246,842   $ 244,548   $ 154,324   $ 134,377   $ 104,505   
              

53-week year versus 52-week year.  
 

(2)  Results prior to February 2, 2002 exclude CBL, the business acquired from Interbrew on that date.  
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ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  

Introduction  

        As noted on Item 1(a) General Development of Business, Recent General Business Developments, we acquired the Carling business 
(subsequently renamed CBL) in England and Wales from Interbrew S.A. on February 2, 2002. Since the acquisition was finalized in 2002, the 
operating results and financial position of CBL are not included in our results discussed below for any period prior to the acquisition. This 
acquisition had a significant impact on our operating results and financial condition. CBL generated sales volume of approximately 9.2 million 
barrels in 2002. This acquisition was funded through cash and third-party debt as reflected in our consolidated balance sheet. The borrowings 
will have a significant impact on our capitalization, interest coverage and cash flow trends. See further discussion of this impact in the Liquidity 
section below.  



Critical Accounting Policies  

        Management's discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP. 
We review the accounting policies we use in reporting our financial results on an on-going basis. The preparation of our consolidated financial 
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related 
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by 
GAAP and does not require our judgment in an application. There are also areas in which our judgment in selecting among reasonable 
alternatives would not produce a materially different result. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions we 
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. By their nature, estimates are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. Actual 
results may differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We have identified the policies below as critical to 
our financial condition and results of operations:  

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  

        In the Americas segment, our allowance for doubtful accounts and credit risk is insignificant as the majority of the Americas accounts 
receivable balance is generated from sales to independent distributors with whom we have a predetermined collection date arranged through 
electronic funds transfer. Also, in the Americas, we secure substantially all of our credit risk with purchase money security interests in inventory 
and proceeds, personal guarantees and other letters of credit.  

        Because the majority of CBL sales are directly to retail customers and, because of the policy of making trade loans to customers, our ability 
to manage our credit risk in this business is critical. At CBL, we provide allowances for trade receivables and trade loans associated with the 
ability to collect outstanding receivables from our customers. Generally, provisions are recorded to cover the full exposure to a specific customer 
(total amount of all trade accounts and loans from a specific customer less the amount of security and insurance coverage) at the point the 
account is considered uncollectible. We record the provision as a bad debt in general and administrative expenses. Provisions are reversed upon 
recoverability of the account or relieved at the point an account is written off.  

        We are not able to predict changes in financial condition of our customers and, if circumstances related to our customers deteriorate, our 
estimates of the recoverability of our trade receivables could be materially affected, and we may be required to record additional allowances.  
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Pension and Postretirement Benefits  

        CBC and its subsidiaries have defined benefit plans that cover the majority of employees. As a result of the acquisition of CBL, we have 
assumed responsibility for a portion of the assets and liabilities of what was the Bass Brewers Pension Plan, renamed the Coors Brewers Pension 
Plan. CBC also has postretirement plans that provide medical benefits and life insurance for retirees and eligible dependents. The accounting for 
these plans is subject to the guidance provided in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87, "Employers Accounting for 
Pensions" (SFAS No. 87) and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106, "Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other 
than Pensions" (SFAS No. 106). Both of these statements require that management make certain assumptions relating to the long-term rate of 
return on plan assets, discount rates used to measure future obligations and expenses, salary scale inflation rates, health care cost trend rates and 
other assumptions. We believe that the accounting estimates related to our pension and postretirement plans is a critical accounting estimate 
because it is highly susceptible to change from period to period based on the performance of plan assets, actuarial valuations, and market 
conditions (for further explanation of our assumptions and year-end financial results for these plans, see Item 8, Footnote 7, "Employee 
Retirement Plans" and Footnote 8, "Postretirement Benefits").  

Contingencies, Environmental and Litigation Reserves  

        We estimate the range of liability related to environmental matters or other legal actions where the amount and range of loss can be 
estimated. We record our best estimate of a loss when the loss is considered probable. As additional information becomes available, we assess 
the potential liability related to our pending matter and revise our estimates. Costs that extend the life, increase the capacity or improve the safety 
or efficiency of company-owned assets or are incurred to mitigate or prevent future environmental contamination may be capitalized. Other 
environmental costs are expensed when incurred. The most significant estimates that could impact our financial statements relate to the Lowry 
Superfund site.  

Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset Valuation  

        We adopted the provisions of Statements of Financial Standards No. 141, " Business Combinations " (SFAS No. 141) on July 1, 2001, and 
No. 142, " Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets " (SFAS No. 142) on December 31, 2001. We evaluate the carrying value of our goodwill and 
other indefinite-lived intangible assets annually, and we evaluate our other intangible assets whenever there is evidence that certain events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. Significant judgments and assumptions are 
required in the evaluation of intangible assets for impairment, most significantly the estimated future cash flows to be generated by these assets. 



Changes in these estimates could have a material adverse effect on the assessment of our goodwill and other intangible assets, thereby requiring 
us to write down the assets. As an example, our valuation model for the goodwill associated with our Molson USA joint venture assumes certain 
volume growth and pricing assumptions that, if not ultimately achieved, could result in impairment charges.  

Trade Loans  

        CBL extends loans to retail outlets that sell our brands. Some of these loans provide for no interest to be payable, others provide for 
payments at below market interest rate. In return, the retail outlets receive smaller discounts on beer and other beverage products purchased from 
us, with the net result being CBL attaining a market return on the outstanding loan balance.  

        Consistent with GAAP, we have reclassified a portion of the beer revenue into interest income to reflect a market rate of interest on these 
notes. For the fiscal year ended December 29, 2002, this amount was $16.4 million. We have included this interest income in the European 
segment since it is so  
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closely related to the European business, even though all other interest income and expense is reflected in the Corporate segment.  

Derivatives  

        We use derivatives in the normal course of business to manage our exposure to fluctuations in production and packaging material prices, 
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. By policy, we do not enter into such contracts for trading purposes or for the purpose of 
speculation. All derivatives held by us are designated as hedges with the expectation that they will be highly effective in offsetting underlying 
exposures. We account for our derivatives on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as assets or liabilities at fair value in accordance with Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, " Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities " (SFAS No. 133), which we early 
adopted on January 1, 1999. Such accounting is complex, as evidenced by significant interpretations of the primary accounting standard, which 
continues to evolve, as well as the significant judgments and estimates involved in the estimation of fair value in the absence of quoted market 
values. These estimates are based upon valuation methodologies deemed appropriate in the circumstances; however, the use of different 
assumptions may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.  

Equity Method Accounting  

        We generally apply the equity method of accounting to 20% -50% owned investments where we exercise significant influence. As 
described below, we have an equity ownership in, and conduct business with various joint ventures, which directly relate to our core activities. 
There are no related parties that own interests in our equity method investments.  

        Coors Canada is a general partnership that was formed to market CBC products in Canada. We own a 50.1% interest in this non-
consolidated joint venture that we account for using the equity method of accounting due to the effective control of the partnership being shared 
equally by the partners under the operating agreement. All manufacture, distribution and sale of CBC branded beers are contracted to 
Molson Inc. (Molson) by the partnership. The partnership never takes title to the beer. It is paid an amount equal to the sales proceeds Molson 
receives from third-party customers, less the costs incurred by Molson for its manufacture, distribution and sale of the CBC branded products. 
We reflect this amount in revenue in our Consolidated Statements of Income (see Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, 
Footnote 10, "Equity Method Investments").  

        Rocky Mountain Metal Container and Rocky Mountain Bottle Co., along with CBL's Tradeteam joint venture, are dedicated predominantly 
to our packaging and distribution activities and were formed with companies which have core competencies sought by us to reduce costs. The 
CBL joint venture with Grolsch was formed to provide a long-term relationship with that brand's owner in a key segment of the U.K. beer 
market. In 2002, our share of the pre-tax joint venture profits for each of these investments has been offset against Cost of Goods Sold in our 
Consolidated Statements of Income (see Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, Footnote 10, "Equity Method Investments").  

        Effective with the first quarter of 2003, we will include our entire share of Tradeteam results in the Other income, net line of our 
Consolidated Statements of Income and reflect the results on a separate line if and when they become material. This prospective change in 
presentation is attributable to Tradeteam no longer being a captive provider of distribution and logistics services to CBL. In November 2002, 
Tradeteam entered into an agreement to provide distribution services to Interbrew U.K. Limited, another large brewer in the United Kingdom 
(See Item 1(a), General Development of Business—Recent General Business Developments).  

        Other income, net line includes the equity method income for the Molson USA joint venture. This joint venture was formed to import, 
market, sell and distribute Molson products in the United States.  
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We have recorded our share of the venture's results in the Other income, net line in our Consolidated Statements of Income given the 
immateriality of its results.  

        A qualitative analysis of our results would be impacted if the results of these joint ventures were included in different lines of our 
Consolidated Statements of Income.  

Income Taxes  

        We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Judgment is required in determining our 
worldwide provision for income taxes. In the ordinary course of our global business, there are many transactions for which the ultimate tax 
outcome is uncertain. Additionally, our income tax provision is based on calculations and assumptions that are subject to examination by many 
different tax authorities. We adjust our income tax provision in the period it is probable that actual results will differ from our estimates. Tax law 
and rate changes are reflected in the income tax provision in the period in which such changes are enacted.  

        We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. While we 
consider future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for the valuation allowance, in the 
event we were to determine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of its net recorded amount, an 
adjustment to the deferred tax asset would increase income in the period a determination was made. Likewise, should we determine that we 
would not be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax asset in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would be charged to 
income in the period such determination was made. Reductions to the valuation allowance related to the acquisition of CBL that relate to 
deferred taxes arising from that acquisition would reduce goodwill.  

Consolidated Results of Operations  
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Fiscal Year Ended 

  

     

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

  

December 31, 2000 

  

          

% of Net Sales 

       

% of Net Sales 

       

% of Net Sales 

  

     

(In thousands, except percentages)  

   
Net sales   $ 3,776,322   100 % $ 2,429,462   100 % $ 2,414,415   100 % 
Cost of goods sold     (2,414,530 ) 64 %   (1,537,623 ) 63 %   (1,525,829 ) 63 % 
                
Gross profit     1,361,792   36 %   891,839   37 %   888,586   37 % 
Other operating expenses:                                 

  
Marketing, general and 
administrative     (1,057,240 ) 28 %   (717,060 ) 30 %   (722,745 ) 30 % 

  Special charges     (6,267 ) —    (23,174 ) 1 %   (15,215 ) 1 % 
                

    
Total other operating 
expenses     (1,063,507 ) 28 %   (740,234 ) 30 %   (737,960 ) 31 % 

                
Operating income     298,285   8 %   151,605   6 %   150,626   6 % 
Other (expense) income:                                 

  
Gain on sale of 
distributorships     —  —    27,667   1 %   1,000   —  

  Interest income     21,187   1 %   16,409   1 %   21,325   1 % 
  Interest expense     (70,919 ) 2 %   (2,006 ) —    (6,414 ) —  
  Other income, net     8,047   —    4,338   —    2,988   —  
                

    
Total other (expense) 
income     (41,685 ) 1 %   46,408   2 %   18,899   1 % 

                
Income before income taxes     256,600   7 %   198,013   8 %   169,525   7 % 
Income tax expense     (94,947 ) 3 %   (75,049 ) 3 %   (59,908 ) 2 % 
                
Net income   $ 161,653   4 % $ 122,964   5 % $ 109,617   5 % 
                



Consolidated Results of Operations—2002 vs. 2001 and 2001 vs. 2000  

        This discussion summarizes the significant factors affecting our consolidated results of operations, liquidity and capital resources for the 
three-year period ended December 29, 2002, and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included 
elsewhere in this report. Results for 2000, 2001 and the first five weeks of 2002 exclude CBL, the business acquired from Interbrew in 
February 2002. Our fiscal year is the 52- or 53-weeks that end on the last Sunday in December. Our 2002 and 2001 fiscal years each consisted of 
52-weeks whereas our 2000 fiscal year consisted of 53-weeks.  

2002 vs. 2001:  

Net Sales and Volume  

        Our net sales were $3,776.3 million and $2,429.5 million for fiscal years 2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase of $1,346.8 million, or 
55.4%, was due primarily to the acquisition of CBL. We sold 31.8 million barrels of beverages in 2002 versus 22.7 million barrels in 2001, an 
increase of 40.2%. Comparable sales volumes for our Americas business were basically flat in 2002 vs. 2001.  

Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Profit  

        Cost of goods sold in 2002 was $2,414.5 million, a $876.9 or 57% increase from $1,537.6 million in 2001. Cost of goods sold as a 
percentage of net sales was 63.9% in 2002 compared to 63.3% in 2001. On a per barrel basis, cost of goods sold increased 12% over 2001. The 
increase was due mainly to the acquisition of CBL. Other factors contributing to the increase in cost of goods sold include higher capacity costs 
associated with adding capacity to our Golden and Memphis manufacturing facilities and bottle packaging capacity in Shenandoah, Virginia. We 
also incurred higher pension and other labor-related costs. These higher costs were offset by the sale of three company-owned distributorships 
during 2001, lower domestic packaging costs and continued improvement in operations efficiencies, including lower transportation costs and 
improved operating line efficiencies in our domestic operations. Cost of goods sold for our Americas business declined by approximately 3.4% 
from 2001 to 2002.  

        Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 36.1% in 2002 compared to 36.7% last year.  

Marketing, General and Administrative Expenses  

        Marketing, general and administrative expenses were $1,057.2 million, compared to $717.1 million during the same period last year. The 
increase was due to the acquisition of CBL and investing more in our domestic advertising and sales promotion efforts, especially activity related 
to our exclusive beer sponsorship with the NFL. As a percentage of net sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses were 28.1% and 
29.5% in 2002 and 2001, respectively. Comparable marketing, general and administrative costs for our Americas business increased by 
approximately 2.6% from 2001 to 2002.  

Special Charges  

        In 2002, we recorded special charges of $6.3 million. A net $6.4 million charge was recorded in the fourth quarter related primarily to 
restructuring initiatives in our Golden brewery business operations. We also recorded charges for acquisition costs for CBL, including 
accounting, appraisal and legal fees. These special charges were offset by a credit related to the cash payment on a debt due to us from our 
former partner in a brewing business in South Korea (See Item 8, Footnote 9, Special Charges). During 2001, we recorded special charges of 
$23.2 million primarily related to incremental consulting, legal and other costs incurred in preparation to restructure and outsource our 
information technology infrastructure. Also included in the 2001 charges were termination and severance costs related to the restructuring of our 
purchasing and production organizations, impairment charges on certain fixed  
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assets and charges related to the dissolution of our former can and end joint venture. These charges were partially offset by a gain related to the 
sale of our former Spain brewery and related fixed assets.  

Operating Income  

        Operating income was $298.3 million for the year ended December 29, 2002, an increase of $146.7 million or 96.8% over operating income 
of $151.6 million for the year ended December 30, 2001, mainly due to the acquisition of CBL and the other factors noted above. Comparable 
operating income for our Americas business grew by approximately 19.3% from 2001 to 2002.  

Interest Income  

        Interest income of $21.2 million increased $4.8 million over the prior year, due to interest in the current year on loans to customers in the 



acquired CBL business, partially offset by a decrease in interest income on previously held interest bearing securities, which we sold in 
January 2002 to help fund the acquisition of CBL.  

Interest Expense  

        Total year interest expense of $70.9 million increased $68.9 million over the same period last year due to the significant increase in debt 
incurred to purchase CBL.  

Other Income, Net  

        Net other income was $8.0 million in 2002 compared to income of $4.3 million in 2001. The increase is primarily the result of a 
$1.8 million gain from the sale of non-core water rights in 2002.  

Consolidated Effective Tax Rate  

        Our fiscal year ended 2002 effective tax rate was 37.0%, down from 37.9% for 2001 mainly because of the effects of purchase price 
accounting and tax planning associated with the acquisition of CBL.  

Net Income  

        Net income for 2002 was $161.7 million, or $4.47 per basic share ($4.42 per diluted share), compared to $123.0 million, or $3.33 per basic 
share ($3.31 per diluted share), in 2001.  

2001 vs. 2000:  

Net Sales and Volume  

        Our net sales were $2,429.5 million for the 52-week fiscal year ended December 30, 2001, resulting in a $15.1 million or 0.6% increase 
over our 2000 Net sales of $2,414.4 million. Sales volume totaled 22.7 million barrels in 2001, a 1.2% decrease from 2000. Excluding the extra 
week in fiscal year 2000, net sales volume decreased 0.1% in 2001. The relatively soft volume in 2001 resulted primarily from the following 
factors:  

•  competitors' introduction of new flavored malt-based beverages (FABs) supported by heavy advertising which took market share 
from more traditional beers and diverted some attention from distributors and retailers and from core beer brands;  
 

•  unseasonably cold weather early in the year in most parts of the United States; and,  
 

•  weak economic conditions and sales results in some of our key markets, including California and Texas.  
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        The increase in net sales and net revenue per barrel over last year was due to higher domestic pricing of approximately 2% and less 
promotional discounting, partially offset by a mix shift away from higher-priced brands and geographies.  

Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Profit  

        Cost of goods sold increased by 0.8% to $1,537.6 million from $1,525.8 million in 2000. Cost of goods sold as a percentage of net sales 
was 63.3% in 2001 compared to 63.2% in 2000. This increase was primarily due to higher packaging material costs for aluminum cans and glass 
bottles, in addition to higher raw materials, energy and labor costs. The continuing shift in our package mix toward more expensive longneck 
bottles also increased costs slightly. These increases were partially offset by distribution efficiencies from new information systems and 
processes designed to reduce transportation costs, the benefits from not incurring the 53 rd week of costs and closing our Spain brewing and 
commercial operations in 2000.  

        Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 36.7% in 2001 compared to 36.8% in 2000.  

Marketing, General and Administrative Expenses  

        Marketing, general and administrative expenses were $717.1 million in 2001 compared to $722.7 million in 2000. The $5.6 million 
decrease was mostly due to lower costs for advertising and promotions and the favorable impact from the sale of our company-owned 
distributorships. In addition, overhead expenses declined due to 52 weeks in 2001 versus 53 weeks in the prior year. These favorable variances 
were offset partially by higher costs related to information systems, market research and professional fees.  



Special Charges  

        Our net special charges were $23.2 million in 2001 compared to special charges of $15.2 million in 2000. The following is a summary of 
special charges incurred during these years:  

Information Technology  

        We entered into a contract with EDS Information Services, LLC, effective August 1, 2001, to outsource certain information technology 
functions. We incurred start-up and transition costs during the year of approximately $14.6 million.  

Restructure Charges  

        In the third quarter of 2001, we recorded $1.6 million of severance costs for approximately 25 employees, primarily due to the restructuring 
of our purchasing organization. During the fourth quarter of 2001, we announced plans to restructure certain production areas. As a result, we 
recorded associated employee termination costs of approximately $4.0 million in the fourth quarter. Similar costs of approximately $0.4 million 
related to employee terminations in other functions were also recorded in the fourth quarter.  

Can and End Plant Joint Venture  

        In the third quarter of 2001, we recorded a $3.0 million charge related to the dissolution of our existing can and end joint venture as part of 
the restructuring of this part of our business that will allow us to achieve operational efficiencies. Effective January 1, 2002, we entered into a 
partnership with Ball Corporation for the manufacture and supply of aluminum cans and ends for our domestic business.  
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Property Abandonment  

        In 2001, we recorded a $2.3 million charge for a portion of certain production equipment that was abandoned and will no longer be used.  

Spain Closure  

        In 2000, we recorded a total pretax special charge of $20.6 million related to the closure of our Spain brewing and commercial operations. 
In December 2001, the plant and related fixed assets were sold, resulting in a net gain before tax of approximately $2.7 million, which was 
credited to special charges.  

Insurance Settlement  

        In 2000, we received an insurance claim settlement of $5.4 million that was credited to special charges.  

Operating Income  

        As a result of the factors noted above, operating income was $151.6 million for the year ended December 30, 2001, an increase of 
$1.0 million or 0.7% over operating income of $150.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.  

Other Income (Expense), Net  

        Net other income was $46.4 million in 2001 compared with income of $18.9 million in 2000. The $27.5 million increase was due mainly to 
$27.7 million of gains recognized from the sale of company-owned distributorships coupled with a $2.0 million gain from the sale of certain 
non-core water rights. In addition, as part of our tax strategy to utilize certain capital loss carryforwards, we recognized gains of $4.0 million 
from the sale of marketable securities. Partially offsetting these gains were net foreign currency exchange losses of $0.3 million primarily related 
to a derivative transaction performed in anticipation of the Carling acquisition, a write-off of mineral land reserves of $1.0 million, an equity loss 
from the Molson USA joint venture of $2.2 million and goodwill amortization of $1.6 million related to this investment.  

Income Taxes  

        Our reported effective tax rate for 2001 was 37.9% compared to 35.3% in 2000. In 2000, our rate was affected by the favorable settlement 
of certain tax issues related to the Spain brewery closure, the resolution of an Internal Revenue Service audit and reduced state tax rates.  

Net Income  



        Net income for the year increased $13.3 million, or 12.2%, over the prior year. For 2001, net income was $123.0 million, or $3.33 per basic 
share ($3.31 per diluted share), which compares to net income of $109.6 million, or $2.98 per basic share ($2.93 per diluted share), for 2000.  

The Americas Segment Results of Operations  

        The Americas malt beverage segment primarily consists of our production, marketing and sales of the Coors family of brands in the United 
States and its territories. This segment also includes the Coors Light business in Canada that is conducted through a partnership with Molson 
(Coors Canada) and the sale of Molson products in the United States that is conducted through a joint venture with Molson (Molson USA). The 
Americas segment also includes the small amount of CBC products that are exported and sold outside of the United States and its possessions, 
excluding Europe.  

25  

 

        Prior to our acquisition of CBL, we reported results of operations in one segment. In 2002, we began categorizing our operations into two 
geographic segments: the Americas and Europe. Accordingly, the historical Americas segment results primarily relate to our historical 
consolidated results of operations excluding only our pre-acquisition Europe operation, which generated minimal volume and revenue. For a 
comparison of our one operating segment from 2000 to 2001, see "Consolidated Results of Operations—2000 vs. 2001."  

Net Sales and Volume  

        In 2002, Net sales of $2,400.8 million decreased 0.9% compared to Net sales of $2,422.3 million during the same period last year. Net 
revenue per barrel declined 1% over 2001. The declines were mostly due to the sale of company-owned distributorships in 2001 (whose volumes 
were included in 2001 results until the date of sale); a decline in volume in Puerto Rico, where sales were negatively impacted by a 50% increase 
in a beer excise tax that took effect during the summer; and negative sales mix, primarily in the United States, which moved away from our 
higher-revenue-per-barrel brands, geographies and packages. Partially offsetting these declines were higher domestic pricing and reduced price 
promotions.  

        Sales volume totaled approximately 22.7 million barrels in 2002, virtually unchanged from a year ago. Growth in domestic Coors Light and 
Keystone Light brands were partially offset by declines in Zima, Killian's and exported Coors Light to Puerto Rico. Zima was impacted 
disproportionately by the recent influx of new FABs in the United States. Additionally, exported Coors Light incurred a significant decline in the 
latter half of the year due to the 50% increase in Puerto Rico's beer excise tax.  

     

Fiscal Year Ended 

  

     

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

  

December 31, 2000 

  

          

% of Net Sales 

       

% of Net Sales 

       

% of Net Sales 

  

     

(In thousands, except percentages)  

   
Net sales   $ 2,400,849   100 % $ 2,422,282   100 % $ 2,403,720   100 % 
Cost of goods sold     (1,481,630 ) 62 %   (1,532,471 ) 63 %   (1,513,051 ) 63 % 
                
Gross profit     919,219   38 %   889,811   37 %   890,669   37 % 
Other operating expenses:                                 

  
Marketing, general and 
administrative     (724,943 ) 30 %   (706,872 ) 29 %   (710,224 ) 29 % 

  Special (charges) credit     (3,625 ) —    (23,174 ) 1 %   5,583   —  
                

    
Total other operating 
expenses     (728,568 ) 30 %   (730,046 ) 30 %   (704,641 ) 29 % 

                
Operating income     190,651   8 %   159,765   7 %   186,028   8 % 
Other income:                                 

  
Gain on sale of 
distributorships     —  —    27,667   1 %   1,000   —  

  Other income, net     4,864   —    1,319   —    3,017   —  
                
    Total other income     4,864   —    28,986   1 %   4,017   —  
                
Income before income taxes   $ 195,515   8 % $ 188,751   8 % $ 190,045   8 % 
                



Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Profit  

        Cost of goods sold was $1,481.6 million in 2002 compared to $1,532.5 million for the same period last year. As a percentage of Net sales, 
Cost of goods sold was approximately 61.7% in 2002 compared  
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to 63.3% in 2001. On a per barrel basis, Cost of goods sold decreased 3.4% from 2001. The decrease in Cost of goods sold during 2002 was 
attributable primarily to the sale of company-owned distributorships in 2001, and lower transportation and packaging costs, as well as the result 
of continued operations efficiency initiatives. The decreases were partially offset by higher capacity costs associated with adding capacity to our 
Golden and Memphis manufacturing facilities and bottle packaging capacity to our facility in Shenandoah, Virginia. Also, we incurred higher 
pension and other labor-related costs.  

        Gross profit increased 3.3% to $919.2 million in 2002 compared to the same period last year as a result of the factors noted above. Gross 
profit as a percentage of net sales was 38.3% in 2002 compared to 36.7% last year.  

Marketing, General and Administrative Expenses  

        Marketing, general and administrative expenses increased 2.6% to $724.9 million in 2002 from $706.9 million in 2001, mostly due to 
higher marketing expense as a result of investing more behind our brands in advertising and sales promotion, including additional headcount in 
certain markets. General and administrative expenses were down slightly in 2002 primarily due to the sale of company-owned distributorships 
last year, somewhat offset by higher systems investments and labor related expenses.  

Special (Charges) Credit  

        Our special charges of $3.6 million in 2002, were mainly due to a $7.0 million charge in the fourth quarter related to restructuring initiatives 
in our Golden brewery business operations and charges related to the dissolution of our former can and end joint venture. These charges were 
partially offset by a credit related to a cash payment on a debt from our former partner in a brewing business in South Korea.  

        During 2001, we recorded special charges of $23.2 million primarily related to incremental consulting, legal and other costs incurred in 
preparation to restructure and outsource our information technology infrastructure. Also included in the 2001 charges were termination and 
severance costs related to the restructuring of our purchasing and production organizations, impairment charges on certain fixed assets and 
charges related to the dissolution of our former can and end joint venture.  

Operating Income  

        Due to the factors noted above, operating income increased 19.3% to $190.7 million compared to $159.8 million for the same period last 
year.  

Other Income, Net  

        Other income, net was $4.9 million in 2002, representing a $24.1 million decrease from 2001. The decrease resulted from the sale of 
company-owned distributorships in 2001, coupled with the equity loss from the Molson USA joint venture, partially offset by a gain on the sale 
of non-core waters rights.  

The Europe Segment Results of Operations  

        We acquired the CBL business on February 2, 2002 (see Item 1(a) General Development of Business, Recent General Business 
Developments), and began reporting these results in a new Europe reporting segment. The Europe segment consists of our production and sale of 
the CBL brands, principally in the United Kingdom, but also in other parts of the world, our joint venture arrangement relating to the production 
and distribution of Grolsch in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland, and our joint venture arrangement with Tradeteam for the physical 
distribution of products throughout  
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Great Britain. It also includes the sale of Coors Light in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland. The CBL business represents nearly all 
of our new Europe segment. Since we did not own CBL prior to February 2002, we do not report historical financial results for this business. 
Accordingly, the historical Europe segment results include only our pre-acquisition Europe operation, which generated very small volume and 
revenue. Our discussion on the results of operations for the Europe segment has been condensed for these purposes, as comparative results are 



generally not meaningful.  

Net Sales and Volume  

        The Europe segment achieved Net sales of $1,375.5 million in 2002 reflecting unit volume sales of 9.2 million barrels. Carling, the largest 
beer brand in the United Kingdom, grew at mid-single digit rates in both the On-Trade and Off-Trade channels, with sales of approximately 
6 million barrels during 2002. Although our Worthington brand declined at a low single-digit rate, it gained market share in the declining 
mainstream ale market. Grolsch and Reef both grew more than 20% during the year. Driven by solid on- and off-premise performance, our U.K. 
brands gained approximately 0.4% of market share in 2002.  

        As discussed in "Item 1, Description of Business," recent years have seen a shift in the overall consumption of beer in the United Kingdom, 
with volumes shifting from the On-Trade channel, where drinks are sold for consumption on-premise, to the Off-Trade channel, also described 
as the "take-home" or off-premise market. Unlike the United States, where manufacturers are generally not permitted to distribute beer directly 
to retail customers, manufacturers in the United Kingdom sell their products directly to retail.  

        The On-Trade channel accounted for approximately 66% of our U.K. volumes in 2002. CBL's major brands have consistently gained 
market share in On-Trade over the past five years through the success of the brand advertising program and through our focus on customer 
service and sales force development. The Off-Trade channel is growing and accounted for approximately 34% of our U.K. sales volume in 2002. 
Our growth has been a result of our success in building customer relationships, driving distribution and ensuring the consistent high-quality 
display of CBL's key brands.  
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Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Profit  

        Cost of goods sold was $932.9 million in 2002. As a percentage of net sales, cost of goods sold was 67.8% . During 2002, we closed our 
Cape Hill brewery and Alloa malting facility as we continue to focus on reducing operating costs and balance capacity with demand.  

        Gross profit was $442.6 million in 2002. As a percentage of net sales, gross profit was 32.2%.  

Marketing, General and Administrative Expenses  

        Total year marketing, general and administrative expenses were $332.3 million, or 24.2% of net sales.  

     

Fiscal Year Ended 

  

     

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

  

December 31, 2000 

  

          

% of Net Sales 

       

% of Net Sales 

       

% of Net Sales 

  

     

(In thousands, except percentages)  

   
Net sales   $ 1,375,473   100 % $ 7,180   100 % $ 10,695   100 % 
Cost of goods sold     (932,900 ) 68 %   (5,152 ) 72 %   (12,778 ) 119 % 
                
Gross profit     442,573   32 %   2,028   28 %   (2,083 ) 19 % 
Other operating expenses:                                 

  
Marketing, general and 
administrative     (332,297 ) 24 %   (10,188 ) 142 %   (12,521 ) 117 % 

  Special charges     —  —    —  —    (20,798 ) 194 % 
                
    Total other operating expenses     (332,297 ) 24 %   (10,188 ) 142 %   (33,319 ) 312 % 
                
Operating income (loss)     110,276   8 %   (8,160 ) 114 %   (35,402 ) 331 % 
Other income (expense):                                 
  Interest income     16,390   1 %   —  —    —  —  
  Other income (expense), net     1,766   —    —  —    (29 ) —  
                
    Total other income (expense)     18,156   1 %   —  —    (29 ) —  
                
Income before income taxes   $ 128,432   9 % $ (8,160 ) 114 % $ (35,431 ) 331 % 
                



Operating Income  

        As a result of the factors noted above, operating income was $110.3 million for 2002.  

Interest Income  

        During 2002, the Europe segment recognized $16.4 million of interest income associated with trade loans to retail outlets.  

Other Income (Expense), Net  

        For the fiscal year ended December 29, 2002, other income was $1.8 million primarily related to favorable non-recurring gains on the sale 
of assets.  

Income Before Income Taxes  

        The Europe segment contributed $128.4 million, or approximately 50%, in 2002 to consolidated income before income taxes.  

The Corporate Segment Results of Operations  

        The Corporate segment includes interest and certain corporate costs that are not attributable to the Americas or Europe operating segments. 
The majority of these corporate costs relate to interest expense, certain legal and finance costs and other miscellaneous expenses.  
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Special Charges  

        Special charges of $2.6 million were recognized during the fiscal year ended 2002 for transition expenses related to the acquisition of CBL, 
including accounting, appraisal and legal fees.  

Interest Income  

        In 2002, interest income decreased $11.6 million versus 2001 because we sold the majority of our marketable securities to fund a portion of 
the acquisition of CBL.  

     

Fiscal Year Ended 

  

     

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

  

December 31, 2000 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Net sales   $     $     $     
Cost of goods sold     —    —    —  
Gross profit     —    —    —  
Other operating expenses:                     
  Marketing, general and administrative     —    —    —  

  Special charges     (2,642 )   —    —  
          
    Total other operating expenses     (2,642 )   —    —  
          
Operating income     (2,642 )   —    —  
Other (expense) income:                     
  Interest income     4,797     16,409     21,325   

  Interest expense     (70,919 )   (2,006 )   (6,414 ) 

  Other income, net     1,417     3,019     —  
          
    Total other (expense) income     (64,705 )   17,422     14,911   
          
Income before income taxes   $ (67,347 ) $ 17,422   $ 14,911   
          



Interest Expense  

        Interest expense was $70.9 million in 2002 compared to $2.0 million during 2001. The increase in 2002 was the result of increased debt to 
fund the acquisition of CBL.  

Other Income, Net  

        In 2002, other income decreased $1.6 million from 2001 to $1.4 million. The decrease is due primarily to foreign exchange losses 
recognized during the first half of 2002 related to the CBL acquisition.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Liquidity  

        Our primary sources of liquidity are cash provided by operating activities and external borrowings. As of December 29, 2002, including 
cash and short-term borrowings, we had negative working capital of $94.0 million compared to working capital of $89.0 million at December 30, 
2001. At December 29, 2002, cash and short-term marketable securities totaled $59.2 million, compared to $309.7 million at December 30, 
2001. Our cash and short-term marketable securities balances decreased primarily due to the sale of marketable securities totaling $232.6 million 
during the first quarter of 2002, the majority of which was used to fund a portion of our acquisition of CBL.  

        Other factors that contribute to our change in cash balances include repayments of long-term debt, increases in accounts receivable and 
increased capital expenditures. Our working capital change was due primarily to lower cash and short-term marketable securities, increase in 
current portion of long-term debt, partially offset by the increase in working capital resulting from the CBL acquisition. In March 2002, all 
obligations under the terms of our Colorado Industrial Revenue bonds were prepaid totaling approximately $5.0 million and the debt was 
terminated. As part of the settlement and indemnification agreement related to the Lowry Superfund site with the City and County of Denver and 
Waste Management of Colorado, Inc., we agreed to post a letter of credit equal to the present value of our share of future estimated costs if 
estimated future costs exceed a certain amount and our long-term credit rating falls to a certain level. The future estimated costs now exceed the 
level provided in the agreement, however, our credit rating remains above the level that would require this letter of credit to be obtained. Based 
on our evaluation, should our credit rating fall below the level stipulated by the agreement, it is reasonably possible that the letter of credit that 
would be issued could be for as much as $10 million. For more information on the Lowry Superfund site, see the Environmental Contingencies 
section below.  

        We believe that cash flows from operations and cash provided by short-term borrowings, when necessary, will be sufficient to meet our 
ongoing operating requirements, scheduled principal and interest payments on debt, dividend payments and anticipated capital expenditures. 
However, our liquidity could be impacted significantly by a decrease in demand for our products, which could arise from competitive 
circumstances, a decline in the acceptability of alcohol beverages, any shift away from light beers and any of the other factors we describe in the 
section titled "Risk Factors." We also have  
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credit facilities which contain financial and operating covenants, and provide for scheduled repayments, that could impact our liquidity on an 
ongoing basis. During the fiscal year ended December 29, 2002, we repaid $208 million of long- and short-term debt, net of short-term 
borrowings.  

Operating Activities  

        Net cash provided by operating activities of $258.5 million for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2002, increased $65.1 million from the 
prior fiscal year. The change was attributable primarily to an increase in net income and the absence of the non-cash gain on the sale of the 
company-owned distributorships, partially offset by a net decrease resulting from changes in operating assets and liabilities. Operating cash 
flows were $87.3 million lower in 2001 than in 2000 as higher net income of $13.3 million was more than offset by a decline in cash 
distributions received from our joint venture entities. Also in 2001, we realized significant non-cash gains on the sale of properties and securities, 
and our net deferred tax liability decreased from year-end 2000 due mainly to the realization of certain tax benefits. The gains from the sale of 
properties were due mainly to the sale in 2001 of three company-owned distributorships for $27.7 million.  

Investing Activities  

        During the fiscal year ended December 29, 2002, net cash used in investing activities was $1.6 billion compared to $196.7 million in the 
same period last year. The increase is due to the $1.6 billion payment, net of cash acquired, made to purchase CBL. Also, in 2001, we made a 
payment of $65.0 million for our 49.9% interest in Molson USA. However, excluding our $1.6 billion payment to acquire CBL and our 
$65.0 million payment for our interest in Molson USA, total cash provided by investing activities increased approximately $134.5 million 
compared to the same period last year, mostly due to a substantial decrease in purchases of securities. We did not purchase any new marketable 
securities in 2002 compared to purchases of $228.2 million during 2001.  



        During 2001, we used $196.7 million in investing activities compared to a use of $297.5 million in 2000. The $100.8 million decrease from 
2000 to 2001 was due primarily to proceeds from the sale of properties, mainly three of our company-owned distributorships, and lower net 
investment activity in 2001. In 2001, our net cash proceeds from marketable securities activity was $39.9 million compared to a net cash use of 
$148.6 million in 2000. Cash used in 2001 for investing activities consisted of the $65.0 million payment made to acquire our interest in the 
Molson USA joint venture and increased capital expenditures and additions to intangible assets of $244.5 million compared to $154.3 million in 
2000. A significant portion of our 2001 capital expenditures were for capacity-related projects that were started late in 2000 and in early 2001.  

Financing Activities  

        Net cash provided by financing activities was $1.3 billion in 2002. Activity in the current year included debt proceeds of $2.7 billion 
partially offset by debt repayments and capital lease obligations of $1.4 billion, and changes in cash overdraft balances of $27.8 million. Net 
cash used in financing activities was $38.8 million in 2001, consisting primarily of $72.3 million for purchases of our Class B common stock 
under our stock repurchase program, dividend payments of $29.5 million on our Class B common stock, partially offset by cash inflows of 
$51.6 million related to an increase in cash overdrafts over year-end 2000; and $10.7 million associated with the exercise of stock options under 
our stock option plans.  
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Debt Obligations  

Senior Private Placement Notes  

        At December 29, 2002, we had $20 million in unsecured Senior notes at a fixed interest rate of 6.95% per annum. Interest on the notes is 
due semi-annually in January and July. At December 29, 2002, $20 million was classified as long-term debt as this balance is due in July of 
2005. In July 2002, we made an $80 million principal payment on the "A" series of notes due in July 2002. Our private placement notes require 
that we conduct our business with certain restrictions on indebtedness, liens, mergers, consolidations, asset sales and certain other types of 
business activities in which we can engage. We were in compliance with these requirements at December 29, 2002.  

6 3 / 8 % Senior Notes Due 2012 

 

        On May 7, 2002, CBC completed a private placement of $850 million principal amount of 6 3 / 8 % Senior notes, due 2012, with interest 
payable semi-annually. The notes were priced at 99.596% of par for a yield to maturity of 6.43%, were unsecured, were not subject to any 
sinking fund provision and included a redemption provision (make-whole provision) which allowed us to retire the notes at whole or any time at 
a redemption price. The notes were issued with registration rights and were guaranteed by Adolph Coors Company and certain domestic 
subsidiaries. Net proceeds from the sale of the notes were approximately $841 million. The net proceeds were used to (1) repay the $750 million 
of loans outstanding under our senior unsecured bridge facility which we entered into in connection with our acquisition of CBL and (2) to repay 
approximately $91 million of outstanding term borrowings under our senior unsecured credit facilities.  

        Simultaneously with the private placement, we entered into a registration rights agreement pursuant to which we exchanged the 
unregistered notes for substantially identical notes registered with the SEC. The exchange of all the notes was completed on September 16, 2002. 

        Under the terms of the notes, we must comply with certain restrictions. These restrictions include restrictions on debt secured by certain 
types of mortgages, above certain threshold percentages of consolidated net tangible assets, and restrictions on certain types of sale-leaseback 
transactions. As of December 29, 2002, we were in compliance with all of these restrictions.  

Senior Credit Facility  

        At December 29, 2002, we had $533.7 million outstanding in unsecured Senior Credit facilities consisting of a U.S. dollar denominated 
amortizing term loan in an aggregate principal amount of $168 million and a 228 million GBP denominated amortizing term loan. Based on 
foreign exchange rates at December 29, 2002, aggregate principal amounts outstanding related to the 228 million GBP amortizing term loan 
were $365.7 million.  

        Our term loan is payable quarterly in arrears beginning June 27, 2003, and matures February 1, 2007. During the year ended December 29, 
2002, we repaid approximately $310 million on our five-year amortizing term loan. This has reduced the scheduled required future amortization 
amounts based upon application of payments already made against future payments due as per the terms of our loan agreement.  

        We and all of our existing and future, direct and indirect, domestic subsidiaries, other than immaterial domestic subsidiaries, have 
guaranteed our term loan borrowings.  

        Our term loan requires us to meet certain periodic financial tests, including maximum total leverage ratio and minimum interest coverage 
ratio. There are also certain restrictions on indebtedness, liens and guarantees; mergers, consolidations and some types of acquisitions and assets 
sales; and  
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certain types of business in which we can engage. As of December 29, 2002, we were in compliance with all of these restrictions.  

Revolving Line of Credit  

        At December 29, 2002, we had an unsecured committed credit arrangement totaling $300 million, of which $241 million was available. On 
December 24, 2002, we borrowed approximately $59 million on this line of credit and used the borrowings to pay down our U.S. dollar 
denominated amortizing term loan on the same date. This action was undertaken to facilitate the movement of funds from CBL to the United 
States.  

        This line of credit has a five-year term expiring 2007. On a quarterly basis, we pay a facilities fee based on the total amount of available 
committed credit. Under the terms of this credit facility, we are required to maintain the same leverage ratio and interest coverage ratio as those 
defined in our term loan, as well as operate our business with the same restrictions as defined in the term loan. We were in compliance with these 
requirements at December 29, 2002.  

Uncommitted Lines of Credit  

        At December 29, 2002, we had two USD uncommitted lines of credit totaling $40 million. The lines of credit are with two different lenders. 
We had $22 million outstanding under these lines of credit as of December 29, 2002.  

        In addition, CBL had two uncommitted lines of credit totaling GBP 20 million, or approximately $32 million based on foreign exchange 
rates at December 29, 2002. Approximately 10 million GBP, or $16 million based on prevailing exchange rates, was outstanding under these 
lines of credit at December 29, 2002.  

        See Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplemental Data, Footnote 4, Debt, for additional discussion of our long-term borrowings.  

        On July 1, 2002, Rocky Mountain Metal Container (RMMC), our limited liability company with Ball Corporation ("Ball"), increased its 
debt obligations under the terms of a private placement, from $20 million to $50 million. The debt obligation at December 29, 2002, is the 
maximum contemplated under the private placement facility. The debt proceeds have been used to finance planned capital improvements. 
RMMC's debt is secured by its various supply and access agreements with no recourse to CBC or to Ball. This debt is not included in our 
financial statements because the limited liability company is accounted for under the equity method.  

        Tradeteam, the joint venture between CBL and Exel Logistics, had one uncommitted line of credit totaling 15 million GBP, or 
approximately $24 million based on foreign exchange rates at December 29, 2002. No amount was outstanding on this line of credit at 
December 29, 2002; however, Tradeteam is required to pay a 0.5% commitment fee on any undrawn amount. This line of credit bears interest at 
a rate of 1% over GBP LIBOR.  
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments  

Contractual Cash Obligations as of December 29, 2002:  

     

Payments Due By Period 

     

Total 

  

Less than 1  
year 

  

1 - 3 years 

  

4 - 5 years 

  

After 5 years 

     

(In thousands)  

 
Long term debt   $ 1,527,441   $ 144,049   $ 270,090   $ 256,296   $ 857,006 
Capital lease obligations     5,079     4,688     391     —    —
Operating leases     92,638     17,757     28,361     17,239     29,281 
Other long term obligations(1)     4,539,747     804,353     1,328,837     921,401     1,485,156 
            
  Total obligations   $ 6,164,905   $ 970,847   $ 1,627,679   $ 1,194,936   $ 2,371,443 
            



(1)  These amounts consist largely of long-term supply contracts with our joint ventures and unaffiliated third parties to purchase material 
used in production and packaging, such as cans and bottles, in addition to various long-term commitments for advertising and 
promotions.  

Other Commercial Commitments  

Advertising and Promotions  

        As of December 29, 2002, our aggregate commitments for advertising and promotions, including marketing at sports arenas, stadiums and 
other venues and events, total approximately $259.0 million over the next nine years.  

Capital Expenditures  

        In 2002, we spent $246.8 million on capital improvement projects worldwide. Of this, 60% was in support of the Americas business 
segment and the remainder was for the Europe segment. We currently plan capital expenditures in the same range or slightly lower for 2003.  

        In 2002, we completed major capacity investments within the Americas segment in all three of our plants. These investments will allow us 
to continue to meet growing demand cost efficiently. Capital expenditures in 2003 will focus on continuing to reduce costs.  

        In the Europe segment, a significant portion of our capital investment is to support our business in the On-Trade channel where investment 
is required in dispense equipment and kegs. The major focus of our capital investment program in 2003 is on investment in our brewery in 
Burton-on-Trent to increase packaging capacity and efficiency following the closure of the brewery at Cape Hill. The majority of our spending 
on this effort will be in 2003.  

Pension Plan Assets  

        Recent declines in global equity markets have resulted in a reduction of the fair value of the assets of the pension plans sponsored by us. 
This asset value reduction, coupled with an increase in the present value of the obligations of the pension plans due to lower interest rates, has 
resulted in  
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accumulated pension benefit obligations exceeding the fair value of the plan assets on a consolidated U.S. dollar basis of $393.6 million. 
Accordingly, we have taken a charge to equity of $212.1 million, net of tax, representing the recording of the appropriate liability and the related 
deferred tax effects. For pension plans with accumulated obligations in excess of plan assets, the projected benefit obligation was 
$2,199.0 million and the accumulated benefit obligation was $2,011.1 million.  

        The amounts reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for accrued pension liability, accumulated other comprehensive loss, prepaid 
benefit cost and intangible asset in 2002 are $431.4 million, $359.0 million ($220.6 million, net of tax), $37.7 million and $42.2 million, 
respectively. In 2002, an additional minimum pension liability of $339.3 million was recorded and is included in the accrued pension liability 
amount. It is our practice to fund amounts for pensions at least sufficient to meet the minimum requirements set forth in applicable employee 
benefits laws and local tax laws. For further information regarding pension plan assets, refer to Footnote 7, "Employee Retirement Plans," and 
Footnote 13, "Other Comprehensive Income," in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.  

        In 2002, our actuarially assumed long-term rates of return on plan asset investments was 9.5% for the CBC Retirement Plan and 7.25% for 
the Coors Brewers Pension Plan. In selecting those assumptions, we considered investment returns by asset class as represented by our 
independent pension investment consultants, and applied the relevant asset allocation percentages. The discount rates used were based on 
prevailing yields of high-quality corporate fixed income investments in the United States and the United Kingdom.  

        In 2002, consolidated pension expense was $18.6 million, which represented less than 1% of consolidated Cost of goods sold and other 
operating expenses. Pension contributions on a consolidated basis were $31.5 million in the current year.  

        From a cash flow standpoint, on a consolidated basis we increased our voluntary pension contributions from $2.6 million per month to $3.6 

     

Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period 

     

Total amounts  
committed 

  

Less than 1  
year 

  

1 - 3 years 

  

4 - 5 years 

  

After 
5 years 

     

(In thousands)  

 
Standby letters of credit   $ 776   $ 776   $ —  $ —  $ —



million per month in October, 2002, and we are continuing to contribute at that higher level in 2003. We expect that the funded positions of the 
two primary pension plans will improve through a combination of higher contributions and investment returns more in line with long-term 
historical averages.  

        We are still evaluating lowering our 2003 actuarial assumption relative to the rate of return on plan asset investments for the CBC 
Retirement Plan. If we lowered our rate of return by 50 basis points, pension expense in 2003 would increase by approximately $2.7 million. 
Any change in this assumption would have no effect on our cash flows.  

        On a consolidated basis, we had unrecognized net actuarial losses of $547.0 million and $105.0 million at December 29, 2002 and 
December 30, 2001, respectively. Actuarial losses are primarily comprised of short-term investment losses which are lower than actuarially 
assumed investment returns and liability losses due to increased pension liabilities and falling interest rates. Pension expense includes 
amortization of these actuarial losses after they exceed certain thresholds and, as a result, we recorded actuarial loss amortization of $0.1 million 
in 2001 and $1.0 million in 2002. It is expected that actuarial loss amortization in 2003 will increase to approximately $8.0 million. We 
anticipate consolidated pension expense will increase from the $18.6 million in 2002 to approximately $35.0 million in 2003. The expected 
increase in consolidated pension cost is due to the combined impacts of higher actuarial loss amortization and other factors associated with the 
decrease in the pension plans' funded position.  
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Cautionary Statement Pursuant to Safe Harbor Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995  

        This report contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. You can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as "expect," "anticipate," "plan," "believe," 
"seek," "estimate," "outlook," "trends," "industry forces," "strategies," "goals" and similar words. Statements that we make in this report that are 
not statements of historical fact may also be forward-looking statements.  

        In particular, statements that we make under the headings "Narrative Description of Business," "Management's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and "Outlook for 2003" including, but not limited to, statements relating to our overall volume 
trends, consumer preferences, pricing trends and industry forces, cost reduction strategies and anticipated results, our expectations for funding 
our 2003 capital expenditures and operations, debt service capabilities, shipment levels and profitability, increased market share and the 
sufficiency of capital to meet working capital, capital expenditures requirements and our strategies are forward-looking statements.  

        Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of our future performance and involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that may cause 
our actual results to differ materially from the expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements. In particular, our future results could 
be affected by our acquisition of the CBL business in the United Kingdom and the substantial amount of indebtedness incurred to finance the 
acquisition, which could, among other things, hinder our ability to adjust rapidly to changing market conditions, make us more vulnerable in the 
event of a downturn and place us at a competitive disadvantage relative to less leveraged competitors. You should not place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements. We do not promise to notify you if we learn that our assumptions or projections are wrong for any reason. You 
should be aware that the factors we discuss in "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this report could cause our actual results to differ from any 
forward-looking statements.  

Risk Factors  

        The reader should carefully consider the following factors and the other information contained within this document. The most important 
factors that could influence the achievement of our goals, and cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward 
looking statements, include, but are not limited to, the following:  

         We have a substantial amount of debt. As of December 29, 2002, we hold approximately $1.5 billion in debt primarily associated with 
the acquisition of CBL.  

        Because of the acquisition of the CBL business, we have indebtedness that is substantial in relation to our stockholders' equity. Our 
consolidated indebtedness could have the effect of restricting our flexibility in responding to changing market conditions and could make us 
more vulnerable in the event of a general downturn in economic conditions or our business, than if we had no or lower debt.  

        Our substantial indebtedness could have important consequences to us, including:  

•  a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations must be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our debt, 
reducing the funds available to us for other purposes including expansion through acquisitions, marketing spending and 
introduction of new brands; and  
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•  we may be more leveraged than some of our competitors, which may place us at a competitive disadvantage should competition 
require us to devote even more care to the "front end" of our business.  

        Our ability to make scheduled payments or to refinance our obligations under our indebtedness will depend on our financial and operating 
performance, which, in turn, is subject to prevailing economic conditions and to financial, business and some other factors beyond our control.  

         Our primary production facilities in the United States and in the United Kingdom are each located at a single site, so we could be more 
vulnerable than our competitors to transportation disruptions, fuel increases and natural disasters.  

        Our primary U.S. production facilities are located in Golden, Colorado, where we brew more than 90%, and package approximately 60% of 
our products sold in the Americas business. Our primary production facilities in the United Kingdom are located in Burton-on-Trent, England, 
where we brew approximately 70% of our products sold in the Europe business.  

        Our centralized operations in the United States require us to ship our products greater distances than our competitors. If one of our plants 
was unable to continue production, or if there was disruption to our transportation system, our business and financial results could be impacted 
negatively.  

         We are significantly smaller than our two primary competitors in the United States, and may consequently be more vulnerable than our 
competitors to cost and price fluctuations.  

        The beer industry is highly competitive. At retail, our brands compete on the basis of quality, taste, advertising, price, packaging innovation 
and retail execution by our distributors. Competition in our various markets could cause us to reduce pricing, increase capital and other 
expenditures or lose market share, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.  

        In the United States, we compete primarily with Anheuser-Busch and SAB Miller PLC (Miller), the top two brewers in the United States. 
Both of these competitors have substantially greater financial, marketing, production and distribution resources than CBC has. Consequently, we 
are somewhat disadvantaged versus their greater economies of scale.  

        To remain competitive, we must spend substantially more per barrel on advertising than our competitors. The concentration of our 
operations at fewer locations contributes to higher costs per barrel than our competitors due to a number of factors. These factors include, but are 
not limited to, higher transportation costs and the need to maintain satellite redistribution centers. Our competitors have multiple geographically 
dispersed breweries and packaging facilities. As a result of our higher costs per barrel and resulting lower margins, we can be more vulnerable to 
fluctuations in costs such as fuel or packaging costs.  

         If any of our suppliers, including our joint ventures, are unable to meet our requirements, we may be unable to promptly obtain the 
materials we need to operate our business.  

        We purchase most of our paperboard and label packaging for our U.S. products from GPIC. GPIC supplies unique packaging to us that is 
not currently produced by any other supplier. Our supply agreement expired in 2002. GPIC has recently encountered labor issues at some of its 
manufacturing locations. We have almost completed a new agreement with GPIC (See Item 1(a) General Development of Business—Recent 
General Business Developments), but the unavailability of packaging materials from GPIC for any reason, without sufficient time to develop an 
alternative source for our packaging requirements, could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

        We are dependent on our suppliers for all of the raw materials used in our products as well as for all packaging materials. We currently 
purchase the majority of our aluminum cans in the United States from RMMC (with Ball Corporation) and more than half of our glass bottles 
from RMBC (with  
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Owens-Brockway Glass Container, Inc.). We also have agreements to purchase substantially all of our remaining can and bottle needs from these 
partners. CBL has only a single source for their can supply. The inability of these suppliers to meet our production requirements without 
sufficient time to develop an alternative source could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

        As with most agricultural products, the supply and price of raw materials, including water, used to produce our products can be affected by 
a number of factors beyond our control, including frosts, droughts, other weather conditions, economic factors affecting growth decisions, 
various plant diseases and pests. In fact, Colorado and other western states currently have some issues with drought conditions. To the extent that 
any of the foregoing affects the ingredients we use to produce our products, our results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.  

         Government regulatory authorities in the markets in which we operate may adopt regulations that could increase our costs or our 



liabilities or could limit our business activities.  

        Our business is highly regulated by national and local government entities. These regulations govern many parts of our operations, 
including brewing, marketing and advertising, transportation, distributor relationships, sales and environmental issues. We do not know that we 
have been or will at all times be in compliance with all regulatory requirements or that we will not incur material costs or liabilities in connection 
with regulatory requirements. The regulations impacting the beer industry are subject to change at any time, and it is most likely that new rules 
would not be beneficial to our business.  

        Governmental entities also levy taxes and often require bonds to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Various 
legislative authorities in both the United States and the United Kingdom from time to time consider various proposals to impose additional 
excise taxes on the production and sale of alcohol beverages, including beer. In the United States, the last significant increase in federal excise 
taxes on beer was in 1991 when Congress doubled the federal excise taxes on beer. In June 2002, excise taxes on most beer in Puerto Rico 
increased 50%. Our products could become subject to increased taxation by federal, state or local authorities. Any significant increases could 
have a materially adverse impact on our financial results.  

        Due to the scope and complexity of the income tax laws in the many jurisdictions in which we operate, we are required to make judgments 
based on our interpretation of how these tax laws apply to our global business. While we exercise care in making these interpretations and 
always seek to comply with the tax laws, a tax authority could disagree with our views, or changes to the tax laws could have a material negative 
impact on our results.  

         If the social acceptability of our products declines, or if litigation is directed at the alcohol beverage industry, our sales volumes could 
decrease and our business could be materially adversely affected.  

        In recent years, there has been increased social and political attention directed to the alcohol beverage industry. We believe that this 
attention is the result of public concern over alcohol-related problems, including drunk driving, underage drinking and health consequences from 
the misuse of alcohol. If the social acceptability of beer were to decline significantly, sales of our products could materially decrease. Similarly, 
recent litigation against the tobacco industry has directed increased attention to the alcohol beverage industry. If our industry were to become 
involved in litigation similar to that of the tobacco industry, our business could be materially adversely affected.  

         A failure to successfully implement our redesigned supply chain processes and systems in the United States in 2003 could adversely 
affect our ability to take distributor orders, plan and schedule production, ship our products and bill distributors for shipments.  

        During 2003, we plan to implement our redesigned supply chain processes, including the SAP Sales and Distribution module and other 
systems our customers will use to order beer, and we will use to  
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schedule production, track inventories and bill our customers. Some companies have experienced startup difficulties with similar projects. If our 
contingency plans fail, we face certain risks when the system is implemented, including the ability to operate cost-effectively, deliver on 
customer orders, collect cash from sales and report the results of operations. Additionally, we may not achieve the benefits we expect from these 
re-engineered processes.  

         Any significant shift in packaging preferences in the beer industry could disproportionately increase our costs and could limit our 
ability to meet consumer demand.  

        Reconfiguring our packaging facilities to produce different types or amounts of packaging than we currently produce would likely increase 
our costs. In addition, we may not be able to complete any necessary changes quickly enough to keep pace with shifting consumer preferences. 
Our primary competitors are larger and may be better able to accommodate a packaging preference shift. If we are not able to respond quickly to 
a packaging preference shift, our sales and market share could decline.  

         We depend on independent distributors in the United States to sell our products, with no assurance that these distributors will 
effectively sell our products.  

        We sell all of our products in the United States to wholesale distributors for resale to retail outlets. We are highly dependent on 
independently-owned distributors. Some of our distributors are at a competitive disadvantage because they are significantly smaller than the 
largest distributors in their markets. Our distributors also sell products that compete with our products. We cannot control or provide any 
assurance that these distributors will not give our competitors' products higher priority, thereby reducing sales of our products. In addition, the 
regulatory environment of many states makes it very difficult to change distributors. Consequently, if we are not allowed or are unable to replace 
unproductive or inefficient distributors, our business, financial position, and results of operation may be adversely affected.  

        CBL wholesales its products directly to retail outlets and, other than for servicing independent outlets in the off-trade, is not dependent upon 
wholesalers. In the United Kingdom, CBL distributes its products through Tradeteam, its joint venture with Excel Logistics. Tradeteam operates 



a system of satellite warehouses and a transportation fleet for delivery. CBL has an exclusive arrangement with Tradeteam for these services, and 
the inability of Tradeteam to provide these services could have a materially negative impact on our business if we were unable to timely 
substitute alternate distribution arrangements.  

         Since our sales volume is more concentrated in a few geographic areas in the United States, a loss of market share in these particular 
markets would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.  

        Although we sell beer in the United States, the United Kingdom and in select international markets, only a few states, California, Texas, 
Pennsylvania, New York and New Jersey, together represented 44% of our total U.S. volume in 2002. We have relatively low market share in 
the Midwest and Southeast regions of the United States. Any loss of market share in our core states could have a material adverse effect on our 
results of operations.  

         Our success depends largely on the success of two primary products, one in the United States and one in the United Kingdom; the 
failure or weakening of either could materially adversely affect our financial results.  

        Although we currently have 11 products in our U.S. portfolio, Coors Light represented more than 70% of our Americas sales volume for 
2002. A key factor in our growth is based on consumer taste preferences that are beyond our control. Our primary competitors' portfolios are 
more evenly diversified than ours. As a consequence, if consumer tastes shift to another style of beer, the loss of sales from Coors Light would 
have a disproportionately negative impact on our business compared to the business of our principal competitors.  
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        We cannot provide assurance that our acquisition of CBL will mitigate our reliance on Coors Light. Moreover, Carling lager is the best-
selling brand in the United Kingdom and represented approximately 66% of CBL sales volume in the United Kingdom. Consequently, any 
material shift in consumer preferences in the United Kingdom away from Carling would have a disproportionately negative impact on that 
business.  

         Consolidation of pubs and growth in the size of pub chains in the United Kingdom could result in less ability to achieve pricing.  

        The trend toward consolidation of pubs, away from independent pub and club operations, is continuing in the United Kingdom. These larger 
entities could have stronger price negotiating power, which could impact CBL's ability to obtain favorable pricing both On-Trade and Off-Trade 
(due to spillover effect of reduced negotiating leverage) and could reduce revenues and profit margins for us and industry wide for brewers. In 
addition, these larger customers are beginning to purchase directly more of the products that, in the past, we have provided as part of our factored 
business. This consolidation could impact us negatively.  

         We are subject to environmental regulation by federal, state and local agencies, including laws that impose liability without regard to 
fault.  

        Our operations are subject to federal, state, local, and foreign environmental laws and regulations regarding, among other things, the 
generation, use, storage, disposal, emission, release and remediation of hazardous and non-hazardous substances, materials or wastes as well as 
the health and safety of our employees. Under certain of these laws, namely the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 
Liability Act and its state counterparts, we could be held liable for investigation and remediation of hazardous substance contamination at our 
currently or formerly owned or operated facilities or at third-party waste disposal sites, as well as for any personal or property damage arising 
out of such contamination regardless of fault. From time to time, we have been notified that we are or may be a potentially responsible party 
under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act. Although we believe that none of the sites where we are 
currently involved will materially affect our business, financial condition or results of operations, we cannot predict with certainty the total costs 
of cleanup, our share of the total costs, the extent to which contributions will be available from other parties, the amount of time needed to 
complete cleanups or insurance coverage. In addition, we could be named a potentially responsible party at sites in the future and the costs 
associated with such future sites could be material.  

        Environmental laws and regulations are complex and change frequently. While we have budgeted for future capital and operating 
expenditures to maintain compliance with these environmental laws and regulations, we cannot be sure that we will not incur any environmental 
liability, or that these environmental laws and regulations will not change or become more stringent in the future in a manner that could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.  

         We may experience labor disruptions in the United Kingdom.  

        Approximately 26% of CBL's 3,000 employees are unionized compared to approximately 8% of CBC's 5,700 employees in the United 
States. Although we believe relations with our employees are very good both in the United States and in the United Kingdom, the CBL 
operations could be affected to a somewhat greater degree by labor strikes, work stoppages or other similar employee-related issues.  
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Outlook for 2003  

        2002 was a challenging year for our Company, the U.S. beer industry and the U.S. economy. There were many new product offerings 
within the malt beverage business in 2002, including many flavored alcoholic beverages. We believe that these new entrants caused distraction 
within the industry and negatively impacted consumer demand for beer. Also, as discussed under "Competitive Conditions", the total U.S. beer 
industry volume growth was approximately 1.3% in 2002. These industry trends as well as a weak U.S. economy contributed to a challenging 
year for our Company. Our outlook for 2003 is cautiously optimistic, as we believe our advertising and sales efforts, including our NFL 
sponsorship, will move us closer to our long-standing goal of growing our annual unit volume 1% to 2% faster than the U.S. beer industry. 
However, we have significant challenges, including higher pension and health care expenses and higher interest expense and principal payments 
on our debt, along with the inclusion of the money-losing month of January in 2003 CBL results.  

        Our acquisition of CBL in February 2002 has transformed us into a more global, diversified organization. In 2002, we benefited 
significantly from the additional unit volume of our Europe business, and we expect that this acquisition will continue to be a significant 
contributor to our consolidated results.  

Net Sales and Volume  

        In 2002, net sales benefited from strong U.S. pricing as well as reductions in price promotions versus the prior year. This strong pricing was 
offset by the effect of selling company-owned distributorships during 2001 and by a mix shift away from some of our higher net-revenue 
products and geographic areas. We expect the good pricing environment to continue into 2003. However, an increase in promotional discounting 
or the degree of value-pack activity could have an unfavorable impact on sales and margins. Further, sales and margins could be impacted 
adversely if this "negative mix shift" continues in 2003.  

        America's sales volume was disappointing in 2002. We finished the year with soft sales-to-retail trends, though our distributors ended the 
year with inventory levels above those of the prior year, ensuring that they had sufficient beer inventories to meet demand for the NFL playoffs 
and the Superbowl. We expect distributor inventories at the end of the first quarter of 2003 to be in line with the prior year, so our sales volume 
in the first quarter of 2003 is likely to lag sales to retail. This could limit our ability to leverage fixed costs. We anticipate that distributor 
inventories at the end of 2003 will be similar to those at the end of 2002, resulting in minimal impact of inventory changes on annual volume. 
Also, our sales in Puerto Rico are likely to continue to be under pressure through the first half of 2003, after which we will begin lapping the 
impact of the very significant increase in local beer excise tax that took effect in 2002.  

        In 2002, our Europe business net sales were affected substantially by competitive off-premise price discounting and an ongoing mix shift 
from On- to Off-Trade channels, resulting in fairly flat gross margins.  

        Our Europe segment volume outlook is positive for 2003, although we expect significant volume shifts between quarters compared to a year 
ago. For instance, the Easter holiday will shift to the second quarter this year from first quarter last year. This shift will benefit second quarter, 
but will be offset by the lack of a World Cup soccer contest and the Queen's 50 th Jubilee celebration, that occurred in the second quarter last 
year. The third quarter should benefit from the lack of high, prior year, post-World Cup Soccer retail inventories, as well as the introduction of 
our Carling brand in Scotland supported by a major soccer sponsorship.  
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Cost of Goods Sold  

        Americas cost of goods sold per barrel was significantly lower in 2002 as a result of the impact of selling company-owned distributorships 
during 2001, as well as lower packaging materials costs and lower costs resulting from operating efficiency initiatives within our distribution and 
supply chain. We anticipate challenging cost of goods sold per barrel comparisons in 2003, but we will continue our efforts to reduce annual 
costs per barrel. We believe the following factors will be most important going forward:  

•  First, input costs are expected to be slightly unfavorable. Our outlook for 2003 is for modestly higher paper and agricultural 
commodities costs, while aluminum can costs are expected to be lower. Diesel fuel spot prices have been significantly higher in 
recent months. If these high costs are sustained during the year, our outlook will be adversely affected. This could become more 
concerning in our current political environment.  
 

•  Second, operating efficiency initiatives resulted in significant savings in 2002, particularly within our transportation costs and 
related supply-chain work. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2002, we began to lap the first significant savings from these efforts 
started over a year earlier, which made our cost of goods per barrel comparisons more challenging than the first three quarters of 
2002. Our 2003 comparisons will continue to be challenging, but we continue to strive for our long-term goal of cutting at least 
$5—$6 per barrel from our controllable production costs over the next several years.  
 



•  Third, labor-related costs are expected to increase in 2003, primarily due to higher pension and health care costs.  

        Europe segment 2002 cost of goods sold achieved modest savings from operating and purchasing efficiencies. We anticipate these savings 
to continue in 2003, if not accelerate, as we achieve benefits from closing our Cape Hill brewery in the fourth quarter of 2002.  

Marketing, General and Administrative Expenses  

        Marketing and sales spending in both the Americas and Europe segments is expected to increase modestly in 2003 as we plan to continue 
investing behind our brands and sales efforts, as is our philosophy and past practice. Additional sales and marketing spending will be committed 
on an opportunity-by-opportunity basis, if incremental funding becomes available.  

        General and administrative expense will be higher in 2003 in both the Americas and Europe due to higher labor benefit costs, due in part to 
higher pension expense, as well as spending on systems and other investments to support our larger, global business. Beginning in 2003, we will 
begin allocating certain general and administrative expenses to the Corporate segment. These expenses will include corporate office costs that 
are not attributable to either the Americas or Europe operating segments and include more "corporate center" functions like legal, finance, tax, 
insurance and other corporate expenses.  

Interest Income and Expense  

        Consolidated 2003 interest income is expected to be fairly consistent with 2002, and will consist primarily of U.K. trade-loan interest 
income.  

        Interest expense will increase in 2003 vs. 2002, because we will incur a full year of interest on the debt associated with our CBL acquisition 
in February 2002. Our interest expense will also be impacted by the higher-rate, long-term debt structure that was not in place until the second 
quarter of 2002. Prior to finalizing the long-term structure, we had higher short-term borrowings at lower interest rates.  
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Taxes  

        We expect our consolidated effective tax rate to be at 36% or slightly lower. The effective tax rate could differ materially from 36%, 
depending upon the outcome of the 1999 and 2000 Internal Revenue Service (IRS) audits scheduled to be completed by June 2003 and the 
impact of further tax planning.  

Other  

        In 2003, we have planned capital expenditures (excluding capital improvements for our container joint ventures, which will be recorded on 
the books of the respective joint ventures) in the range of, or slightly lower than, the $240.0 million we spent in 2002. In the Americas segment, 
these investments will continue to reduce costs and improve productivity. In the Europe segment, the major focus in 2003 is on our Burton-on-
Trent brewery where we are increasing packaging capability and efficiency following the closure of the brewery at Cape Hill.  

 
Item 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  

        In the normal course of business, we are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currencies and the prices of production and 
packaging materials. We have established policies and procedures to govern the strategic management of these exposures through a variety of 
financial instruments. By policy, we do not enter into any contracts for the purpose of trading or speculation.  

        Our objective in managing our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and production and packaging 
materials prices is to decrease the volatility of our earnings and cash flows affected by potential changes in underlying rates and prices. To 
achieve this objective, we enter into foreign currency forward contracts, commodity swaps, interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps, the 
values of which change in the opposite direction of the anticipated cash flows. We do not hedge the value of net investments in foreign-currency-
denominated operations or translated earnings of foreign subsidiaries. Our primary foreign currency exposures are British pound sterling (GBP), 
Canadian dollar (CAD) and Japanese yen (YEN).  

        Derivatives are either exchange-traded instruments, or over-the-counter agreements entered into with highly rated financial institutions. No 
losses on over-the-counter agreements due to counterparty credit issues are anticipated. All over-the-counter agreements are entered into with 
counterparties rated no lower than A (S&P) or A2 (Moody's). In some instances we and our counterparties have reciprocal collateralization 
agreements regarding fair value positions in excess of certain thresholds. These agreements call for the posting of collateral in the form of cash, 
treasury securities or letters of credit if a fair value loss position to us or our counterparties exceeds a certain amount. At December 29, 2002, no 
collateral was posted by us or our counterparties.  



        On February 2, 2002, we acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Bass Holdings Ltd. and certain other intangible assets from Interbrew. 
We also paid off certain intercompany loan balances with Interbrew for a total purchase price of 1.2 billion GBP (approximately $1.7 billion at 
prevailing exchange rates then in existence), plus associated fees, expenses and a restructuring provision. This business was subsequently 
renamed CBL. As part of our strategy to limit the possible effects of foreign exchange on our acquisition of CBL and the subsequent financial 
structure implemented for the acquisition, we evaluated and entered into a number of derivative instruments.  

        In December 2001, we entered into a commitment with lenders for the financing of the acquisition of CBL assets. Embedded in the 
commitment letter was a foreign currency option, purchased by us, which limited our maximum amount of U.S. dollars required to fund the 
acquisition. At the time our acquisition bid was accepted we entered into a foreign currency forward sale agreement to fix the GBP value of 
some of our cash on hand that was used to fund the acquisition. The option in the loan commitment expired on February 11, 2002, and the 
foreign currency forward sale settled on January 12,  
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2002. These two transactions resulted in a combined loss and amortization expense of $1.2 million realized during the first quarter of 2002.  

        In connection with our acquisition of the CBL business, we entered into new senior unsecured credit facilities, borrowing $800 million of 5-
year term debt and $750 million of bridge financing. These funds were subsequently exchanged for GBP and used to close the transaction. In 
order to better match our assets and liabilities the $750 million of bridge financing was recorded as an intercompany loan of 530 million GBP.  

        Upon establishing the intercompany loan, we entered into a forward sale agreement for 530 million GBP. The forward sale agreement was 
made in order to hedge the effect of fluctuations in the GBP exchange rates on the re-measurement of the intercompany loan. The forward sale 
agreement expired on May 7, 2002. The change in fair value of the forward sale was offset largely by increases or decreases in the value of the 
intercompany loan. (See Derivative Instruments Footnote 12 to the consolidated financial statements).  

        Since the underlying financing associated with the intercompany loan was short-term in nature (the bridge loan), and because our forward 
sale agreements established as hedges of the intercompany loan expired on May 7, 2002, we were exposed to fluctuations of the GBP exchange 
rate on our cash requirement to settle the forwards and repay the bridge loan. Therefore, on February 2, 2002, we paid approximately $1.7 billion 
for a 530 million GBP call option with a strike rate of 1.48 U.S. dollars to GBP. This option expired May 7, 2002. This option limited the 
maximum amount of U.S. dollars required to settle our forward sale agreement and repay our bridge loan obligations. The cash needed to settle 
our forward sale of 530 GBP, and subsequently, the $750 million bridge loan was satisfied by our private placement of $850 million principal 
amount of 6 3 / 8 % Senior notes, due 2012 (See Derivative Instruments Footnote 12 to the consolidated financial statements) and cash on hand. 
Amortization expense of approximately $1.7 million related to the call option was recognized in the first quarter of 2002.  

        On May 7, 2002, we entered into certain cross currency swaps totaling 530 million GBP (approximately $774 million). The swaps included 
an initial exchange of principal on the date of the private placement and will require final principal exchange 10 years later. The swaps also call 
for an exchange of fixed GBP interest payments for fixed U.S. dollar interest receipts. At the initial principal exchange, we paid U.S. dollars to a 
counterparty and received GBP. Upon final exchange, we will provide GBP to the counterparty and receive U.S. dollars. The cross currency 
swaps have been designated as cash flow hedges of the changes in value of the future GBP interest and principal receipts that resulted from 
changes in the U.S. dollar to GBP exchange rates on an intercompany loan between CBC and our Europe subsidiary.  

        On May 28, 2002, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement related to $76.2 million of our 6 3 / 8 % Senior notes due 2012. The 
interest rate swap converted $76.2 million notional amount from fixed rates to floating rates and matures in 2012. We will receive fixed U.S. 
dollar interest payments semi-annually at a rate of 6 3 / 8 % per annum and pay a rate to our counterparty based on a credit spread of 0.789% plus 
the three-month LIBOR rate, thereby exchanging a fixed interest obligation for a floating interest rate obligation. There was no exchange of 
principal at the inception of the swap. We designated the interest rate swap as a fair value hedge of the changes in the fair value of $76.2 million 
of our 6 3 / 8 % Senior Notes due 2012 attributable to changes in the LIBOR swap rates.  

        We monitor foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and related derivatives using two techniques-sensitivity analysis and Value-at-Risk. Our 
market-sensitive derivative and other financial instruments, as defined by the SEC, are foreign currency forward contracts, commodity swaps, 
interest rate swaps, and cross currency swaps.  
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        We use Value-at-Risk to monitor the foreign exchange and interest rate risk of our cross-currency swaps. The Value-at-Risk provides an 
estimate of the level of a one-day loss that may be equaled or exceeded due to changes in the fair value of these foreign exchange rate and 
interest rate-sensitive financial instruments. The type of Value-at-Risk model used to estimate the maximum potential one-day loss in the fair 
value is a variance/covariance method. The Value-at-Risk model assumes normal market conditions and a 95% confidence level. There are 
various modeling techniques that can be used to compute value at risk. The computations used to derive our values take into account various 
correlations between currency rates and interest rates. The correlations have been determined by observing foreign exchange currency market 



changes and interest rate changes over the most recent one-year period. We have excluded anticipated transactions, firm commitments, cash 
balances, and accounts receivable and payable denominated in foreign currencies from the Value-at-Risk calculation, some of which these 
instruments are intended to hedge.  

        The Value-at-Risk calculation is a statistical measure of risk exposure based on probabilities and is not intended to represent actual losses in 
fair value that we may incur. The calculated Value-at-Risk result does not represent the full extent of the possible loss that may occur. It attempts 
to represent the most likely measure of potential loss that may be experienced 95 times out of 100 due to adverse market events that may occur. 
Actual future gains and losses will differ from those estimated by Value-at-Risk because of changes or differences in market rates and 
interrelationships, hedging instruments, hedge percentages, timing and other factors.  

        The estimated maximum one-day loss in fair value on our cross-currency swaps, derived using the Value-at-Risk model, was $8.6 million at 
December 29, 2002. As we did not enter into the cross currency swaps until the second quarter of 2002, there is no comparable one-day loss in 
fair value at December 30, 2001. Such a hypothetical loss in fair value is a combination of the foreign exchange and interest rate components of 
the cross currency swap. Value changes due to the foreign exchange component would be offset completely by increases in the value of our 
inter-company loan, the underlying transaction being hedged. The hypothetical loss in fair value attributable to the interest rate component would 
be deferred until termination or maturity.  

        Details of all other market-sensitive derivative and other financial instruments, including their fair values, are included in the table below. 
These instruments include foreign currencies, commodity swaps, interest rate swap and cross-currency swaps.  

(1)  

     

Notional principal  
amounts (USD) 

  

Fair values 

  

Maturity 

     

(In thousands)  

 
December 29, 2002                 
Foreign currency management                 
  Forwards   $ 19,655   $ 106   01/03-12/03 

  Cross currency swap     773,800     (43,621 ) 05/12 
Commodity pricing management                 
  Swaps     112,573     (4,630 ) 03/03-09/04 
Interest rate pricing management                 
  Interest rate swap     76,200     8,493   05/12 

 
December 30, 2001 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Foreign currency management                 
  Option(1)     1,705,000     (1,023 ) 02/02 

  Forwards     217,370     2,336   01/02-04/03 
Commodity pricing management                 
  Swaps     132,477     (10,563 ) 02/02-02/04 

The foreign exchange option for $1.7 billion notional was purchased to hedge our exposure to fluctuations in the GBP exchange rate 
related to acquisition of certain CBL assets. This option was settled in May 2002.  
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        Maturities of derivative financial instruments held on December 29, 2002, are as follows (in thousands):  

(2)  

2003(2)  

  

2004 and thereafter 

  
$(3,747)   $ (35,905 ) 

Amount includes the estimated deferred net loss of $4.0 million that is expected to be recognized over the next 12 months, on certain 
forward foreign exchange contracts and production and packaging materials derivative contracts, when the underlying forecasted cash 
flow transactions occur.  

        Inter-company loans are generally hedged against foreign exchange risk through the use of cross-currency swaps with third parties.  

        A sensitivity analysis has been prepared to estimate our exposure to market risk of interest rates, foreign exchange rates and commodity 
prices. The sensitivity analysis reflects the impact of a hypothetical 10% adverse change in the applicable market interest rates, foreign exchange 



rates and commodity prices. The volatility of the applicable rates and prices are dependent on many factors that cannot be forecast with reliable 
accuracy. Therefore, actual changes in fair values could differ significantly from the results presented in the table below.  

        The following table presents the results of the sensitivity analysis of our derivative and debt portfolio:  
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Report of Independent Accountants  

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Adolph Coors Company:  

        In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive 
income, shareholders' equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Adolph Coors Company and its 
subsidiaries at December 29, 2002, and December 30, 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in 
the period ended December 29, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These 
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  

     

As of 

  
Estimated Fair Value Volatility  

  

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

  

     

(In millions)  

   
Foreign currency risk:               
  forwards, options   $ (2.1 ) $ (22.2 ) 
Interest rate risk:               
  debt, swaps   $ (42.1 ) $ (0.4 ) 
Commodity price risk:               
  swaps   $ (10.8 ) $ (12.2 ) 

Index to Financial Statements  

Consolidated Financial Statements: 

  
 
Report of Independent Accountants 

  

 
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 29, 2002 

  
 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 29, 2002, and December 30, 2001 

  

 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 29, 2002 

  

 
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 29, 2002 

  
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 



Denver, Colorado  
February 6, 2003  
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME  

 
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

 
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR SHARE DATA)  

     

For The Years Ended 

  

     

December 29,  
2002 

  

December 30,  
2001 

  

December 31,  
2000 

  
Sales—domestic and international (Footnote 10)   $ 4,956,947   $ 2,842,752   $ 2,841,738   
Beer excise taxes     (1,180,625 )   (413,290 )   (427,323 ) 
          
Net sales     3,776,322     2,429,462     2,414,415   
Cost of goods sold (Footnote 10)     (2,414,530 )   (1,537,623 )   (1,525,829 ) 
          
Gross profit     1,361,792     891,839     888,586   
Other operating expenses:                     
  Marketing, general and administrative     (1,057,240 )   (717,060 )   (722,745 ) 

  Special charges (Footnote 9)     (6,267 )   (23,174 )   (15,215 ) 
          
    Total other operating expenses     (1,063,507 )   (740,234 )   (737,960 ) 
          
Operating income     298,285     151,605     150,626   
Other (expense) income:                     
  Gain on sales of distributorships     —    27,667     1,000   

  Interest income     21,187     16,409     21,325   

  Interest expense     (70,919 )   (2,006 )   (6,414 ) 

  Other income, net (Footnote 10)     8,047     4,338     2,988   
          
    Total other (expense) income     (41,685 )   46,408     18,899   
          
Income before income taxes     256,600     198,013     169,525   
Income tax expense (Footnote 5)     (94,947 )   (75,049 )   (59,908 ) 
          
Net income   $ 161,653   $ 122,964   $ 109,617   
Other comprehensive income, net of tax (Footnote 13):                     
  Foreign currency translation adjustments     70,884     14     2,632   

  Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instruments     15,358     (6,200 )   (1,997 ) 

  Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities     —    3,718     1,268   

  Minimum pension liability adjustment     (212,092 )   (8,487 )   —  

  Reclassification adjustments     4,993     (4,898 )   366   
          
Comprehensive income   $ 40,796   $ 107,111   $ 111,886   
          
Net income per share—basic   $ 4.47   $ 3.33   $ 2.98   
          
Net income per share—diluted   $ 4.42   $ 3.31   $ 2.93   
          
Weighted average shares—basic     36,140     36,902     36,785   
          
Weighted average shares—diluted     36,566     37,177     37,450   
          



See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

 
(IN THOUSANDS)  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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As of 

     

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

Assets             
Current assets:             
  Cash and cash equivalents   $ 59,167   $ 77,133 
  Short-term marketable securities     —    232,572 
  Accounts and notes receivable:             

    
Trade, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $14,334 and $91, 
respectively     621,046     94,985 

    Affiliates     20,646     223 

    
Other, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $6,693 and $111, 
respectively     63,734     13,524 

  Inventories:             
    Finished     86,372     32,438 
    In process     31,850     23,363 
    Raw materials     56,239     41,534 

    
Packaging materials, less allowance for obsolete inventories of 
$2,069 and $2,188, respectively     10,210     17,788 

      
  Total inventories     184,671     115,123 

  
Maintenance and operating supplies, less allowance for obsolete 
supplies of $12,032 and $2,182, respectively     30,488     23,454 

  Deferred tax asset (Footnote 5)     20,976     27,793 
  Other current assets     53,168     21,722 
      
    Total current assets     1,053,896     606,529 
Properties, net (Footnote 2)     1,380,239     869,710 
Goodwill (Footnote 18)     727,069     6,955 
Other intangibles, less accumulated amortization of $25,622 and $9,049, 
respectively (Footnote 18)     529,076     79,334 
Investments in joint ventures, less accumulated amortization of $7,816 
and $1,625, respectively (Footnote 10)     191,184     94,785 
Long-term deferred tax asset (Footnote 5)     206,400     —
Long-term notes receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of 
$17,794     109,082     —
Other non-current assets     100,465     82,379 
      
Total assets   $ 4,297,411   $ 1,739,692 
      



 
ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

 
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE INFORMATION)  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

 
(IN THOUSANDS)  

     

As of 

  

     

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

  
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity               
Current liabilities:               
  Accounts payable:               
    Trade   $ 305,297   $ 219,381   
    Affiliates     29,350     3,112   
  Accrued salaries and vacations     79,001     56,767   
  Taxes, other than income taxes     178,044     31,271   
  Accrued expenses and other liabilities (Footnotes 3 and 8)     412,150     118,976   
  Current portion of long-term debt (Footnote 4)     144,049     88,038   
        
      Total current liabilities     1,147,891     517,545   
Long-term debt (Footnote 4)     1,383,392     20,000   
Deferred tax liability (Footnote 5)     156,437     61,635   
Deferred pension and post-retirement benefits (Footnotes 7 and 8)     511,869     141,720   
Other long-term liabilities (Footnote 3)     115,971     47,480   
        
      Total liabilities     3,315,560     788,380   
        
Commitments and contingencies (Footnotes 3,4,5,6,7,8,10 and 15)               
 
Shareholders' equity (Footnotes 6, 11 and 13): 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

  Capital stock:               

    
Preferred stock, non-voting, no par value (authorized: 25,000,000 
shares; issued and outstanding: none)     —    —  

    
Class A common stock, voting, no par value (authorized, issued 
and outstanding: 1,260,000 shares)     1,260     1,260   

    

Class B common stock, non-voting, no par value, $0.24 stated 
value (authorized: 200,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding: 
35,080,603 and 34,689,410, respectively)     8,352     8,259   

        
      Total capital stock     9,612     9,519   
Paid-in capital     19,731     —  
Unvested restricted stock     (1,009 )   (597 ) 
Retained earnings     1,086,965     954,981   
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (133,448 )   (12,591 ) 
        
      Total shareholders' equity     981,851     951,312   
        
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity   $ 4,297,411   $ 1,739,692   
        



     

For The Years Ended 

  

     

December 29,  
2002 

  

December 30,  
2001 

  

December 31,  
2000 

  
Cash flows from operating activities:                     
Net income   $ 161,653   $ 122,964   $ 109,617   

  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by 
operating activities:                     

    Equity in net earnings of joint ventures     (54,958 )   (43,630 )   (42,395 ) 
    Distributions from joint ventures     66,616     39,453     55,379   
    Impairment charge and non-cash portion of special charges     —    6,591     11,068   
    Depreciation, depletion and amortization     230,299     121,091     129,283   
    Gains on sales of securities     (4,003 )   (4,042 )   —  

    
Gain on sale or loss on abandonment of properties and 
intangibles, net     (9,816 )   (30,467 )   (4,729 ) 

    Deferred income taxes     (2,819 )   (19,176 )   6,870   
    Gain/loss of FX fluctuations and derivative instruments     2,576     294     —  

    

Changes in current assets and liabilities (net of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed in a business combination accounted 
for under the purchase method):                     

      Trade receivables     (254,425 )   9,499     19,377   
      Trade payables     83,493     (27,544 )   13,638   
      Inventory     39,210     (5,199 )   (3,087 ) 
    Other changes in working capital     719     23,562     (14,290 ) 
          
      Net cash provided by operating activities     258,545     193,396     280,731   
          
Cash flows from investing activities:                     
  Purchases of investments     —    (228,237 )   (356,741 ) 
  Sales and maturities of investments     232,758     268,093     208,176   
  Capital expenditures     (239,547 )   (243,003 )   (150,896 ) 
  Additions to intangible assets     (7,295 )   (1,545 )   (3,428 ) 
  Proceeds from sales of properties and intangible assets     27,357     63,529     6,427   
  Acquisition of CBL, net of cash acquired     (1,587,300 )   —    —  
  Investment in Molson USA, LLC     (2,750 )   (65,000 )   —  
  Other     (7,561 )   9,414     (1,079 ) 
          
    Net cash used in investing activities     (1,584,338 )   (196,749 )   (297,541 ) 
          
Cash flows from financing activities:                     
  Issuances of stock under stock plans     15,645     10,701     17,232   
  Purchases of treasury stock     —    (72,345 )   (19,989 ) 
  Dividends paid     (29,669 )   (29,510 )   (26,564 ) 
  Proceeds from issuance of debt     2,391,934     —    —  
  Proceeds from short-term borrowings     331,333     —    —  
  Payments on debt and capital lease obligations     (1,379,718 )   —    —  
  Debt issuance costs     (10,074 )   —    —  
  Change in overdraft balances     (27,783 )   51,551     4,686   
  Other     —    759     (2,235 ) 
          
    Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     1,291,668     (38,844 )   (26,870 ) 
          
Cash and cash equivalents:                     
  Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents     (34,125 )   (42,197 )   (43,680 ) 
  Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents     16,159     (431 )   (367 ) 
  Balance at beginning of year     77,133     119,761     163,808   
          
  Balance at end of year   $ 59,167   $ 77,133   $ 119,761   
          



See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  

 
(IN THOUSANDS)  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Fiscal Year  

        Our fiscal year is a 52- or 53-week period ending on the last Sunday in December. Fiscal years ended December 29, 2002 and 

   

  

Common stock issued 
                           

                  

  

Accumulated  
other  

comprehensive  
income 

       
   

  

Paid-in  
capital 

  

Unvested  
restricted  

stock 

  

Retained  
earnings 

       

     

Class A 

  

Class B 

  

Total 

  
Balances at December 26, 1999   $ 1,260   $ 8,443   $ 5,773   $ —  $ 825,070   $ 993   $ 841,539   
Shares issued under stock plans, 
including related tax benefit           181     25,465     (129 )               25,517   
Purchases of stock           (83 )   (19,906 )                     (19,989 ) 
Other comprehensive income                                   2,269     2,269   
Net income                             109,617           109,617   
Cash dividends—$0.72 per share                             (26,564 )         (26,564 ) 
                  
Balances at December 31, 2000     1,260     8,541     11,332     (129 )   908,123     3,262     932,389   
                  
Shares issued under stock plans, 
including related tax benefit           75     13,463     (651 )   780           13,667   
Amortization of restricted stock                       183     (183 )             
Purchases of stock           (357 )   (24,795 )         (47,193 )         (72,345 ) 
Other comprehensive income                                   (15,853 )   (15,853 ) 
Net income                             122,964           122,964   
Cash dividends—$0.80 per share                             (29,510 )         (29,510 ) 
                  
Balances at December 30, 2001     1,260     8,259     —    (597 )   954,981     (12,591 )   951,312   
                  
Shares issued under stock plans, 
including related tax benefit           93     20,089     (770 )               19,412   
Amortization of restricted stock                 (358 )   358                 —  
Other comprehensive income                                   (120,857 )   (120,857 ) 
Net income                             161,653           161,653   
Cash dividends—$0.82 per share                             (29,669 )         (29,669 ) 
                  
Balances at December 29, 2002   $ 1,260   $ 8,352   $ 19,731   $ (1,009 ) $ 1,086,965   $ (133,448 ) $ 981,851   
                  



December 30, 2001 were both 52-week periods. Fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, was a 53-week period.  

Principles of Consolidation  

        Our consolidated financial statements include our accounts and our majority-owned and controlled domestic and foreign subsidiaries. All 
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. The equity method of accounting is used for our investments in 
affiliates where we have the ability to exercise significant influence and our investment in the Colorado Rockies Baseball Partnership is 
accounted for under the cost method (see Footnote 10, Investments).  

Use of Estimates  

        Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
(GAAP). These accounting principles require us to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. We believe that the estimates, judgments 
and assumptions are reasonable, based on information available at the time they are made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and 
expenses during the periods presented. We also assess potential losses in relation to various business activities and, if a loss is considered 
probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, we recognize an expense for the estimated loss. As additional information becomes 
available, the potential liability is reassessed and the estimate may be revised. To the extent there are material differences between these 
estimates and actual results, our consolidated financial statements are affected. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular 
transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require our judgment in its application. There are also areas in which our judgment in 
selecting any available alternative would not produce a materially different result.  

Reclassifications  

        Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2001 and 2000 financial statements to conform to the 2002 presentation.  

Revenue Recognition  

        Revenue is recognized when product is shipped and the risk of loss transfers to our unrelated customers, which are principally independent 
retailers in the United Kingdom and independent distributors or wholesalers in the United States. In the United Kingdom, excise taxes are 
included in the purchase price from the vendor on beverages purchased from third parties for resale (factored brands business) and are included 
in our Cost of goods sold when ultimately sold. We pass those costs onto our customers and include the related amounts in our Net sales. The 
cost of various programs, such as price promotions, rebates and coupon programs are treated as a reduction of sales. Sales of products are for 
cash or credit terms agreed to by us based on a customer's credit worthiness. Outside of unusual circumstances, if product is retrieved, it is 
generally for failure to meet our quality standards, not caused by distributor actions. Products that do not meet our high quality standards are  
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retrieved and destroyed. We do not have standard terms that permit return of product. We estimate the costs for product retrievals and record 
those costs in Cost of Goods Sold in the Consolidated Statements of Income each period. We reduce revenue at the value of the original sales 
price in the period that the product is returned.  

Cost of Goods Sold  

        The types of costs included in Cost of goods sold are beer raw materials, packaging materials (including promotional packaging), 
manufacturing costs, plant administrative support and overheads, and freight and warehouse costs (including distribution network costs). 
Distribution network costs include inbound and outbound freight charges, purchasing and receiving costs, inspection costs, warehousing and 
internal transfer costs.  

Equity Method Accounting  

        We generally apply the equity method of accounting to 20% -50% owned investments where we exercise significant influence. These 
investments primarily involve equity ownership in captive suppliers of goods and services for our business. These investments involve 
operations that manufacture bottles and cans for our Americas business and transportation services in Europe. They also include ventures that 
manufacture, distribute and sell Coors Light in Canada, Molson branded beers in the U.S. and Grolsch in the United Kingdom.  

        We own a 50.1% interest in a non-consolidated joint venture (Coors Canada) that we account for using the equity method of accounting due 
to the effective control of the partnership being shared equally by the partners under the operating agreement.  

        There are no related parties that own interests in our equity method investments.  



Marketing, General and Administrative  

        The types of costs included in our Marketing, general and administrative expenses consist predominately of advertising and non-
manufacturing administrative and overhead costs. Distribution network costs are not included in our Marketing, general and administrative 
expenses, but are included in Cost of goods sold as described above. The creative portion of our advertising activities are expensed as incurred. 
The costs to procure our advertising and promotional material are generally expensed when the advertising is first run. Cooperative advertising 
expenses are included in Marketing, general and administrative costs. Advertising expense was $586.2 million, $465.2 million and 
$477.3 million for years 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Prepaid advertising costs of $34.0 million ($12.5 in current and $21.5 million in 
long-term) and $30.4 million ($5.6 million in current and $24.8 million in long term) were included in Other current and Other non-current 
assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 29, 2002, and December 30, 2001, respectively.  

Income Taxes  

        The provision for income taxes is based on income and expense amounts as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Deferred 
income taxes are recognized for the effect of temporary differences between financial reporting and tax filing in accordance with the 
requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes" (SFAS No. 109). We record a valuation 
allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. We do not provide deferred taxes on the 
outside basis differences in our acquired foreign subsidiary's stock. This outside basis difference is permanent in nature under Accounting 
Principles Board No. 23, "Accounting for Income Taxes, Special Areas" (APB No. 23), because we do not intend to take any action that would 
trigger the gain inherent in the book over tax basis difference (see Footnote 5, "Income Taxes," for additional information).  
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Cash and Cash Equivalents  

        Cash equivalents represent highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less. The fair value of these investments 
approximates their carrying value.  

Trade Loans  

        CBL extends loans to retail outlets that sell our brands. Some of these loans provide for no interest to be payable, others provide for 
payment of a below market interest rate. In return, the retail outlets receive smaller discounts on beer and other beverage products purchased 
from us, with the net result being CBL attaining a market return on the outstanding loan balance.  

        Consistent with GAAP, we have reclassified a portion of the beer revenue into interest income to reflect a market rate of interest on these 
notes. In 2002, this amount was $16.4 million. We have included this interest income in the Europe segment since it is related solely to the 
Europe business, even though all other interest income and expense is reflected in the Corporate segment.  

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  

        In the Americas segment, our allowance for doubtful accounts and credit risk is insignificant as the majority of the Americas accounts 
receivable balance is generated from sales to independent distributors with whom we have a predetermined collection date arranged through 
electronic funds transfer. Also, in the Americas, we secure substantially all of our product sale credit risk with purchase money security interests 
in inventory and proceeds, personal guarantees and other letters of credit.  

        Because the majority of CBL sales are directly to retail customers, and because of the policy of making trade loans to customers, our ability 
to manage credit risk in this business is critical. At CBL, we provide allowances for trade receivables and trade loans associated with the ability 
to collect outstanding receivables from our customers. Generally, provisions are recorded to cover the full exposure to a specific customer (total 
amount of trade accounts and loans from a specific customer less the amount of security and insurance coverage) at the point the account is 
considered uncollectible. At this time, we record the provision as a bad debt in Marketing, general and administrative expenses. Provisions are 
reversed upon recoverability of the account or relieved at the point an account is written off.  

        We are not able to predict changes in financial condition of our customers and, if circumstances related to our customers deteriorate, our 
estimates of the recoverability of our trade receivables and trade loans could be materially affected and we may be required to record additional 
allowances.  

Inventories  

        Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method for substantially all 
inventories in the United States and on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method in the United Kingdom. Current cost in the United States, determined 
on the FIFO method, exceeded LIFO cost by $39.3 million and $41.5 million at December 29, 2002 and December 30, 2001, respectively.  



Allowance for Obsolete Inventory  

        We regularly assess the valuation of our inventories and write down those inventories which are obsolete or in excess of our forecasted 
usage to their estimated realizable value (difference between the cost of the inventory and the estimated market value). Our estimates of 
realizable value are based upon our analyses and assumptions including, but not limited to, historical usage, future demand and market 
requirements. If market conditions are less favorable than our forecasts, or actual demand from  
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our customers is lower than our estimates, we may be required to record additional inventory write-downs.  

Properties  

        Land, buildings and machinery and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated principally on the straight-line method over the 
following estimated useful lives: buildings and improvements, 10 to 40 years; and machinery and equipment, 3 to 20 years. Certain equipment 
held under capital lease is classified as equipment and amortized using the straight-line method over the lease term and the related obligation is 
recorded as a liability. Lease amortization is included in depreciation expense. Accelerated depreciation methods are generally used for income 
tax purposes. Expenditures for new facilities and improvements that substantially extend the capacity or useful life of an asset are capitalized. 
Start-up costs associated with manufacturing facilities, but not related to construction, are expensed as incurred. Ordinary repairs and 
maintenance are expensed as incurred.  

Dispense Assets  

        CBL owns and maintains the dispense equipment in On-Trade retail outlets. Dispense equipment, which moves the beer from the keg in the 
cellar to the glass, is capitalized at cost upon installation and depreciated on a straight-line basis over an average life of 7 years. Labor costs 
incurred and materials used in the dispense installations are capitalized and depreciated over 2 years. Dispense equipment awaiting installation is 
held in inventory and valued at the lower of cost or market. Ordinary repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.  

System Development Costs  

        We capitalize certain system development costs that meet established criteria, in accordance with Statement of Position, " Accounting for 
the Costs of Computer Systems Developed or Obtained for Internal Use ," (SOP 98-1). Amounts capitalized as machinery and equipment are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over three to five years. At December 29, 2002 and December 30, 2001 amounts capitalized were $3.9 million 
and $8.4 million, respectively. Related amortization expense was $0.6 million, $1.2 million and $0.8 million for fiscal years 2002, 2001 and 
2000, respectively. We also capitalized $26.8 million and $4.7 million related to our system implementation in 2002 and 2001, respectively. 
These amounts are included in our construction in progress balance as of December 29, 2002 and December 30, 2001, respectively, due to the 
fact that the related asset had not yet been put into use. System development costs not meeting the criteria in SOP 98-1, including system 
reengineering, are expensed as incurred.  

Goodwill and Intangible Asset Valuation  

        In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, " Business 
Combinations ," (SFAS No. 141) and No. 142, " Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ," (SFAS No. 142). SFAS No. 141 requires that all 
business combinations be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and that certain intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination be recognized as assets apart from goodwill. SFAS No. 141 was effective for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 
2001. SFAS No. 142 requires goodwill and indefinite lived assets to be tested for impairment under certain circumstances, and written down 
when impaired, rather than being amortized as previously required. Furthermore, SFAS No. 142 requires purchased intangible assets other than 
goodwill to be amortized over their useful lives unless those lives are determined to be indefinite. Purchased intangible assets are carried at cost 
less accumulated amortization.  
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Impairment Policy  

        When events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets, including definite lived intangible assets 
may not be recoverable and at least annually, an evaluation is performed to determine if an impairment exists. We compare the carrying amount 
of the assets to the undiscounted expected future cash flows. If this comparison indicates that an impairment exists, the assets are written down to 
fair value. Fair value would typically be calculated using discounted expected future cash flows. All relevant factors are considered in 
determining whether an impairment exists in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, " Accounting for the 
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets ," (SFAS No. 144).  



Contingencies, Environmental and Litigation Reserves  

        When we determine that it is probable that a liability for environmental matters or other legal actions exists and the amount of the loss is 
reasonably estimable, an estimate of the future costs are recorded as a liability in the financial statements. Costs that extend the life, increase the 
capacity or improve the safety or efficiency of company-owned assets or are incurred to mitigate or prevent future environmental contamination 
may be capitalized. Other environmental costs are expensed when incurred.  

Derivative Instruments  

        Our objective in managing our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and production and packaging 
materials prices is to decrease the volatility of earnings and cash flows associated with changes in the applicable rates and prices. To achieve this 
objective, we primarily enter into forward contracts, options and swap agreements the values of which change in the opposite direction of the 
anticipated cash flows. Derivative instruments, which we designate as hedges of forecasted transactions and which qualify for hedge accounting 
treatment under SFAS No. 133, are considered cash flows hedges. Any gains or losses associated with the effective portion of these hedges are 
included in Accumulated other comprehensive income until earnings are affected by the variability of cash flows. Any remaining gain or loss, 
relating to the ineffective portion of the hedge, is recognized in current earnings. In calculating effectiveness for SFAS No. 133 purposes, we do 
not exclude any component of the derivative instruments' gain or loss from the calculation. The cash flows of the derivative instruments are 
expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting fluctuations in the cash flows of the hedged risk. If it becomes probable that a forecasted 
transaction will no longer occur, the derivative will continue to be carried on the balance sheet at fair value, and the gains and losses that were 
accumulated in other comprehensive income will be recognized immediately in earnings. If the derivative instruments are terminated prior to 
their expiration dates, any cumulative gains and losses are deferred and recognized in earnings over the remaining life of the underlying 
exposure. If the hedged assets or liabilities are sold or extinguished, we recognize in earnings the gain or loss on the designated financial 
instruments concurrent with the sale or extinguishment of the hedged assets or liabilities. Cash flows from our derivative instruments are 
classified in the same category as the hedged item in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. See Footnote 12, Derivative Instruments, for 
additional information regarding our derivative holdings.  

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

        The carrying amounts of our financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, approximate fair value due to the short-term maturity of these instruments. The fair value of long-term obligations for derivatives was 
estimated by discounting the future cash flows using market interest rates and does not differ significantly from the amounts reflected in the 
consolidated financial statements. The fair value of long-term debt exceeds the carrying value by approximately $62 million.  

58  

Foreign Currency Translation  

        Assets and liabilities recorded in foreign currencies that are the functional currencies for the respective operations are translated at the 
prevailing exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates during the period. 
Translation adjustments resulting from this process are reported as a separate component of Other comprehensive income.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

        We account for employee stock options in accordance with Accounting Principles Board No.25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees" (APB No. 25) and will continue to do so going forward. Accordingly, the Company does not recognize compensation expense 
related to employee stock options, since options are always granted at a price equal to the market price on the day of grant. See Footnote 6, Stock 
Option, Restricted Stock Award and Employee Award Plans, for additional information on the Company's stock options.  

        We use the intrinsic value method allowed under APB No. 25 when accounting for our stock-based compensation. The following table 
illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based 
compensation:  

     

Year Ended 

  

     

December 29, 
2002 

  

December 30, 
2001 

  

December 31, 
2000 

  

     

(In thousands, except per share data)  

   
Net income, as reported   $ 161,653   $ 122,964   $ 109,617   
Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income, 
net of related tax effects     —    —    —  

Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair 



Statement of Cash Flows Data  

        The following presents our supplemental cash flow information (in millions):  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

        In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting 
for Asset Retirement Obligations, (SFAS No. 143) which is applicable to financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 
2002. Under SFAS  
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No. 143, the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation would be recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred, with an 
offsetting increase in the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability would be accreted to its present value, and the 
capitalized cost would be depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the liability, an entity would either settle the 
obligation for its recorded amount or incur a gain or loss upon settlement. We adopted this standard effective December 30, 2002, the beginning 
of our 2003 fiscal year. We are still evaluating the impact SFAS No. 143 could have on our financial statements.  

        In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of 
Long-Lived Assets , (SFAS No. 144) which is applicable to financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. This 
standard provides a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale and establishes additional criteria that would have to 
be met to classify an asset as held-for-sale. Classification as held-for-sale is an important distinction since such assets are not depreciated and are 
stated at the lower of fair value or carrying amount. This standard also requires expected future operating losses from discontinued operations to 
be recorded in the period(s) in which the losses are incurred, rather than as of the measurement date, as previously required. Our adoption of 
SFAS No. 144 on December 31, 2001 did not have a material effect on our operating results or financial position.  

        In April 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, 
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections as of April 2002 , (SFAS No. 145), which is applicable for fiscal years 
beginning after May 15, 2002. This statement eliminates the automatic classification of gain or loss on extinguishment of debt as an 
extraordinary item, and requires that such gain or loss be evaluated for extraordinary classification under the criteria of Accounting Principles 
Board No. 30, Reporting Results of Operations . This statement also requires sales-leaseback accounting for certain lease modifications that have 
economic effects that are similar to sales-leaseback transactions and makes various other technical corrections to existing pronouncements. Our 
adoption of SFAS No. 145 on December 30, 2002, the beginning of our 2003 fiscal year, did not have a material effect on our operating results 
or financial position.  

        In June 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or 
Disposal Activities, (SFAS No. 146) which is applicable for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. This statement requires 
that a liability for a cost that is associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. It nullifies the guidance of 
the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) in EITF Issue No. 94-3, "Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other 
Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). Under EITF Issue No. 94-3, an entity recognized a liability for an 
exit cost on the date that the entity committed itself to an exit plan. SFAS No. 146 acknowledges that an entity's commitment to a plan does not, 

value based methods for all awards, net of related tax effects     (12,059 )   (16,544 )   (13,453 ) 
          
Proforma net income   $ 149,594   $ 106,420   $ 96,164   
          
Earnings per share:                     
  Basic—as reported   $ 4.47   $ 3.33   $ 2.98   
  Basic—proforma   $ 4.14   $ 2.88   $ 2.61   
  Diluted—as reported   $ 4.42   $ 3.31   $ 2.93   
  Diluted—proforma   $ 4.09   $ 2.86   $ 2.57   

     

For the Year Ended 

  

     

December 29,  
2002 

  

December 30,  
2001 

  

December 31,  
2000 

  

     

(In millions)  

   
Cash paid for interest   $ 64.6   $ 7.6   $ 7.7   
Cash paid for income taxes   $ 44.6   $ 83.2   $ 49.6   
Issuance of restricted and common stock, net of forfeitures   $ 0.8   $ 1.2   $ (5.8 ) 
Exercise of stock options   $ 3.4   $ 4.4   $ 14.2   



by itself, create a present obligation to other parties that meets the definition of a liability. SFAS No. 146 also establishes that fair value is the 
objective for the initial measurement of the liability. Our adoption of SFAS No. 146 on December 30, 2002, the beginning of our 2003 fiscal 
year, did not have a material effect on our operating results or financial position.  

        In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—
Transition and Disclosure—an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123 , (SFAS No. 148), which is effective for financial statements related to 
periods ending after December 15, 2002. SFAS No. 148 requires expanded disclosure regarding stock-based compensation in the Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, yet does not have a financial impact on our financial 
statements. We have adopted this standard as of December 30, 2002, the beginning of our 2003 fiscal year, and have included the expanded 
disclosures in this filing.  
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        In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45 (FIN No. 45), Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for 
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others , which is effective for guarantees issued after December 31, 2002. We will apply the initial recognition 
and measurement provisions prospectively for all guarantees issued after December 31, 2002. FIN No. 45 requires the recording of the fair value 
of the guarantee as a liability, with the offsetting entry recorded based on the circumstances in which the guarantee is issued. FIN No. 45 will 
have no impact on our historical results, as existing guarantees are not subject to the measurement provisions of FIN No. 45. The impact on 
future financial statements depends on the size, nature and extent of issued guarantees but is not expected to have a material impact on our 
financial statements. We had no significant warranties requiring disclosure as of December 29, 2002. See Footnote 15, Commitments and 
Contingencies.  

        In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (FIN No. 46) , which is effective 
immediately for all enterprises with variable interests in variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003. FIN No. 46 must be applied to 
variable interests in variable interest entities created before February 1, 2003 beginning in the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003, 
or the third quarter 2003 for us. After initial measurement of all enterprises that we have a relationship with for status as a variable interest entity, 
a further assessment must be made to determine if we are the primary beneficiary. A primary beneficiary absorbs the majority of the entity's 
expected losses if they occur, receives a majority of the entity's expected residual returns if they occur, or both. A primary beneficiary 
relationship requires consolidation treatment. Where it is reasonably possible that the information about our variable interest entity relationships 
must be disclosed or consolidated, we must disclose the nature, purpose, size and activity of the variable interest entity and the maximum 
exposure to loss as a result of our involvement with the variable interest entity in all financial statements issued after January 31, 2003.  

        We are still assessing our relationships with variable interest entities to determine if the adoption of FIN No. 46 will require consolidation 
of certain previously unconsolidated entities because we are deemed the primary beneficiaries. The adoption of FIN No. 46 will result in 
additional disclosure about our joint venture relationships currently accounted for under the equity method of accounting. See Footnote 10, 
Investments for related disclosures.  

2.    Properties  

        The cost of properties and related accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization consists of the following:  

        We completed and occupied a new warehouse facility at our distributor operation in Denver, CO, in 2002. We are in the process of selling 
the land and buildings which previously housed that operation. In 2001, we sold our distribution operations in Anaheim, CA, and Oklahoma 
City, OK, but retained  

     

As of 

  

     

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Land and improvements   $ 137,054   $ 94,321   
Buildings     681,584     506,537   
Machinery and equipment     2,378,346     1,783,527   
Natural resource properties     6,774     6,798   
Construction in progress     69,916     141,663   
        
      3,273,674     2,532,846   
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and 
amortization     (1,893,435 )   (1,663,136 ) 
        
Net properties   $ 1,380,239   $ 869,710   
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ownership of the facilities. In 2002, we sold the land and buildings associated with the Oklahoma City operations. We are in the process of 
selling the land and building associated with the previously owned Anaheim operation and are presently leasing that facility to the buyer.  

3.    Leases  

        We lease certain office facilities and operating equipment under cancelable and non-cancelable agreements accounted for as capital and 
operating leases. In 2001, information and technology equipment, included in properties, totaling $10.2 million was sold and leased back under a 
capital lease agreement with EDS Information Services, LLC. Capital lease amortization of $3.9 million and $1.8 million was included in 
accumulated amortization in 2002 and 2001, respectively. Current and long-term capital lease obligations are included in Accrued expenses and 
other liabilities and Other long-term liabilities, respectively, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Future minimum lease payments under 
scheduled capital and operating leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year are as follows (in thousands):  

        Total rent expense was $22.5 million, $11.8 million, and $11.5 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

4.    Debt  

        Our total long-term borrowings as of December 29, 2002, were composed of the following:  
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Fiscal Year  

  

Capital leases 

  

Operating leases 

     

(In thousands)  

 
2003   $ 4,688   $ 17,757 
2004     391     15,445 
2005     —    12,916 
2006     —    10,562 
2007     —    6,677 
Thereafter     —    29,281 
      
Total     5,079   $ 92,638 
      
Amounts representing interest     (309 )     
          
Obligations under capital lease     4,770       
Obligations due within one year     (4,383 )     
          
Long-term obligations under capital leases   $ 387       
          

     

As of 

  
Description  

  

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Senior private placement notes   $ 20,000   $ 100,000   
6 3 / 8 % Senior notes due 2012     846,795     —  
Senior Credit Facility:               
  USD amortizing term loan     168,000     —  

  GBP amortizing term loan     365,689     —  
Lines of credit and other     126,957     8,038   
        
  Total debt     1,527,441     108,038   
Less current portion of long-term debt     (144,049 )   (88,038 ) 
        
  Total long-term debt   $ 1,383,392   $ 20,000   
        



        The aggregate principal debt maturities of long-term debt for the next five fiscal years are as follows:  

        Net repayments on debt during 2002 totaled $208 million.  

Interest  

        Interest incurred, capitalized, expensed and paid were as follows:  

Senior Private Placement Notes  

        At December 29, 2002, we had $20 million in unsecured Senior notes at a fixed interest rate of 6.95% per annum. Interest on the notes is 
due semi-annually in January and July. At December 29, 2002, $20 million was classified as long-term debt as this balance is due in July 2005. 
In July 2002, we made an $80 million principal payment on these notes. Our private placement notes require that we conduct our business with 
certain restrictions on indebtedness, liens, mergers, consolidations, asset sales and certain other types of business activities in which we can 
engage. We were in compliance with these requirements at December 29, 2002.  

6 3 / 8 % Senior Notes Due 2012 

 

        On May 7, 2002, CBC completed a private placement of $850 million principal amount of 6 3 / 8 % Senior notes, due 2012, with interest 
payable semi-annually. The notes were priced at 99.596% of par for a yield to maturity of 6.43%, were unsecured, were not subject to any 
sinking fund provision and included a redemption provision (make-whole provision) which allowed us to retire the notes at whole or any time at 
a redemption price. The redemption price was equal to the greater of (1) 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid 
interest and (2) the make whole amount of the notes being redeemed, which was equal to the present value of the principal amount of the notes 
and interest to be redeemed. The notes were issued with registration rights and were guaranteed by Adolph Coors Company and certain domestic 
subsidiaries. Net proceeds from the sale of the notes, after deducting estimated expenses and underwriting fees, were approximately 
$841 million. The net proceeds were used to (1) repay the $750 million of loans outstanding under our senior unsecured bridge facility which we 
entered into in connection with our acquisition of CBL and (2) to repay approximately $91 million of outstanding term borrowings under our 
senior unsecured credit facilities.  
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        Simultaneously with the private placement, we entered into a registration rights agreement pursuant to which we exchanged the 
unregistered notes for substantially identical notes registered with the SEC. The exchange of all the notes was completed on September 16, 2002. 

     

Amount 

     

(In thousands)  

 
2003   $ 144,049 
2004     96,640 
2005     173,450 
2006     192,394 
2007     63,902 
Thereafter     857,006 
    
  Total   $ 1,527,441 
    

     

For the years ended 

  

     

December 29, 
2002 

  

December 30, 
2001 

  

December 31, 
2000 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Interest incurred   $ 75,071   $ 8,653   $ 9,567   
Interest capitalized     (4,152 )   (6,647 )   (3,153 ) 
          
Interest expensed   $ 70,919   $ 2,006   $ 6,414   
          



        Under the terms of the notes, we must comply with certain restrictions. These restrictions include restrictions on debt secured by certain 
types of mortgages, secured certain threshold percentages of consolidated net tangible assets, and restrictions on certain types of sale-leaseback 
transactions. As of December 29, 2002, we were in compliance with all of these restrictions.  

Senior Credit Facility  

        At December 29, 2002, we had $533.7 million outstanding in unsecured Senior Credit facilities consisting of a U.S. dollar denominated 
amortizing term loan in an aggregate principal amount of $168 million and a 228 million British Pound Sterling (GBP) denominated amortizing 
term loan. Based on foreign exchange rates at December 29, 2002, aggregate principal amounts outstanding related to the 228 million GBP 
amortizing term loan were $365.7 million.  

        Amounts outstanding under our term loan bear interest, at our option, at a rate per annum equal to either an adjusted LIBOR or an alternate 
base rate, in each case plus an additional margin. The additional margin is established based on our investment grade debt rating which is BBB+ 
(S&P) and Baa2 (Moody's). If our debt rating changes, the additional margin is subject to adjustment. Interest is payable quarterly unless the 
selected LIBOR is for a time period less than 90 days, in which case the interest is payable at the end of the time period corresponding to the 
selected LIBOR. The interest rates on our U.S. and U.K. term loans were 2.3% and 4.86%, respectively, at December 29, 2002.  

        Our term loan is payable quarterly in arrears beginning June 27, 2003, and matures February 1, 2007. During the year ended December 29, 
2002, we repaid approximately $310 million on our five-year amortizing term loan. This has reduced the scheduled required future amortization 
amounts based upon application of payments already made against future payments due as per the terms of our loan agreement.  

        We and all of our existing and future, direct and indirect, domestic subsidiaries, other than immaterial domestic subsidiaries, have 
guaranteed our term loan borrowings.  

        Our term loan requires us to meet certain periodic financial tests, including maximum total leverage ratio and minimum interest coverage 
ratio. There are also certain restrictions on indebtedness, liens and guarantees; mergers, consolidations and some types of acquisitions and assets 
sales; and certain types of business in which we can engage. As of December 29, 2002, we were in compliance with all of these restrictions.  

Revolving Line of Credit  

        At December 29, 2002, we had an unsecured committed credit arrangement totaling $300 million, of which $241 million was available. On 
December 24, 2002, we borrowed approximately $59 million against our CBL operation on this line of credit and used the borrowings to pay 
down our U.S. dollar denominated amortizing term loan on the same date. This action was undertaken to facilitate the movement of funds from 
CBL to the United States.  

        This line of credit has a five-year term expiring 2007. On a quarterly basis, we pay a facilities fee based on the total amount of available 
committed credit. Under the terms of this credit facility, we are required to maintain the same leverage ratio and interest coverage ratio as those 
defined in our term loan, as well as operate our business with the same restrictions as defined in the term loan. We were in compliance with these 
requirements at December 29, 2002. Amounts outstanding under our revolving line of credit bear interest, at our option, at a rate per annum 
equal to either an adjusted LIBOR plus margin or an alternate base rate. The additional margin is set based upon our investment grade debt  
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rating which is BBB+ (S&P) and Baa2 (Moody's). If our debt rating changes, the additional margin is subject to adjustment. Interest is payable 
when principal payments are made or, if principal amounts are outstanding for more than 90 days, at the end of each 90-day period and upon 
final repayment of principal amounts. The interest rate on our U.K. outstanding line of credit was 4.91% at December 29, 2002. There was no 
U.S. line of credit outstanding at December 29, 2002.  

Uncommitted Lines of Credit  

        At December 29, 2002, we had two USD uncommitted lines of credit totaling $40 million. The lines of credit are with two different lenders. 
We had $22 million outstanding under these lines of credit as of December 29, 2002. Amounts outstanding under the lines of credit bear interest 
at a rate stated by the lender. At December 29, 2002, the interest rate was 1.86%.  

        In addition, CBL had two uncommitted lines of credit totaling 20 million GBP, or approximately $32 million based on foreign exchange 
rates at December 29, 2002. Approximately 10 million GBP, or $16 million based on prevailing exchange rates, was outstanding under these 
lines of credit at December 29, 2002. These lines of credit bear interest at a floating rate determined by the lender. At December 29, 2002, the 
interest rate was 4.97%.  

        Tradeteam, the joint venture between CBL and Exel Logistics, had one uncommitted line of credit totaling 15 million GBP, or 
approximately $24 million based on foreign exchange rates at December 29, 2002. No amount was outstanding on this line of credit at 
December 29, 2002; however, Tradeteam is required to pay a 0.5% commitment fee on any undrawn amount. This line of credit bears interest at 



a rate of 1% over GBP LIBOR.  

5.    Income Taxes  

        The pre-tax income (loss) on which the provision for income taxes was computed is as follows:  

        Income tax expense (benefit) includes the following current and deferred provisions:  
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        Our income tax expense varies from the amount expected by applying the statutory federal corporate tax rate to income as follows:  

     

For the years ended 

  

     

December 29, 
2002 

  

December 30, 
2001 

  

December 31, 
2000 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Domestic   $ 134,207   $ 196,516   $ 212,502   
Foreign     122,393     1,497     (42,977 ) 
          
Total   $ 256,600   $ 198,013   $ 169,525   
          

     

For the years ended 

  

     

December 29, 
2002 

  

December 30, 
2001 

  

December 31, 
2000 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Current:                     
  Federal   $ 53,205   $ 78,244   $ 42,905   

  State     10,139     14,103     10,081   

  Foreign     19,924     1,878     52   
          
Total current tax expense     83,268     94,255     53,038   
          
Deferred:                     
  Federal     4,132     (16,171 )   6,669   

  State     1,255     (3,005 )   283   

  Foreign     6,292     —    (82 ) 
          
Total deferred tax expense     11,679     (19,176 )   6,870   
          
Total income tax expense   $ 94,947   $ 75,049   $ 59,908   
          

     

For the years ended 

  

     

December 29, 
2002 

  

December 30, 
2001 

  

December 31, 
2000 

  
Expected tax rate   35.0 % 35.0 % 35.0 % 
State income taxes, net of federal benefit   2.9   3.6   3.7   
Effect of foreign tax rates   (1.7 ) (0.5 ) (3.1 ) 
Non-taxable income   0.0   (0.1 ) (0.2 ) 
Other, net   0.8   (0.1 ) (0.1 ) 
          
  Effective tax rate   37.0 % 37.9 % 35.3 % 
          



        Our deferred taxes are composed of the following:  
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        In connection with the purchase of CBL, we recorded a deferred tax liability on the books of CBL and a corresponding deferred tax asset on 
the books of the acquiring company for the difference between the purchase price and historical basis of the CBL assets. Concurrently, we 
recorded a $40.0 million valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax asset to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.  

        We do not provide deferred taxes on certain outside basis differences in our acquired foreign subsidiary's stock, Coors Brewers Limited 
(CBL). This outside basis difference is permanent in duration under APB No. 23 because we do not intend to take any action that would result in 
recognizing the gain inherent in certain book-over-tax basis differences.  

     

As of 

  

Description  

  

December 29, 
2002 

  

December 30, 
2001 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Current deferred tax assets:               
  Deferred compensation and other employee related   $ 15,857   $ 12,019   

  Retirement reserves     2,664     2,027   

  Balance sheet reserves and accruals     12,110     11,607   

  Write-off of foreign account receivable     —    7,002   

  Hedging     —    2,140   

  Valuation allowance     —    (7,002 ) 
        
Total current deferred tax assets     30,631     27,793   
        
Current deferred tax liabilities:               
  Hedging     (9,655 )   —  
        
Net current deferred tax assets   $ 20,976   $ 27,793   
        
Non-current deferred tax assets:               
  Deferred compensation and other employee related   $ 27,635   $ 11,425   

  Retirement reserves     138,432     7,681   

  Partnership investments     9,341     1,980   

  Retirement benefits     —    10,507   

  Environmental accruals     3,043     2,200   

  Deferred foreign losses     1,598     1,087   

  Deferred foreign tax credits     185,069     —  

  Valuation allowance     (40,000 )   —  
        
Total non-current deferred tax assets     325,118     34,880   
        
Non-current deferred tax liabilities:               
  Balance sheet reserves and accruals     1,121     —  

  Retirement benefits     4,027     —  

  Foreign intangibles     105,323         

  Foreign depreciation     50,595     —  

  Foreign other     519         

  Depreciation and capitalized interest     113,570     96,515   
        
Total non-current deferred tax liabilities     275,155     96,515   
        
  Net non-current deferred tax asset   $ 206,400     —  
        

  Net non-current deferred tax liability   $ 156,437   $ 61,635   
        



        We have provided what we believe to be an appropriate amount of tax for items that involve interpretation of the tax law. However, there 
are events that are likely to occur in 2003 that will cause us to reevaluate our current reserves for taxes and may cause us to adjust or reallocate 
the reserve for tax items. These events include, but are not limited to, the expected completion of the IRS audit for 1999 and 2000, the expected 
completion of the current IRS appeals case dealing with the tax deduction for a loss on a Korean investment and the advancement of the audit by 
Revenue Canada of our Canadian company and cross-border business arrangements.  

        We have resolved substantially all of the issues raised by the IRS examination of our federal income tax returns through 1998. One issue 
relating to the tax treatment of a Korean investment is currently being appealed to the IRS. The IRS is currently examining the federal income 
tax returns for 1999 and 2000 and is expecting to complete their work by June 2003. In the opinion of management, adequate accruals have been 
provided for all income tax matters and related interest.  

6.    Stock Option, Restricted Stock Award and Employee Award Plans  

        At December 29, 2002, we had three stock-based compensation plans, which are described in greater detail below. We apply Accounting 
Principles Board Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for our plans. Accordingly, as the exercise prices upon grant are equal 
to quoted market values, no compensation cost has been recognized for the stock option portion of the plans.  

        The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following 
weighted-average assumptions:  

The 1990 Plan  

        The 1990 Equity Incentive Plan (1990 EI Plan) provides for two types of grants: stock options and restricted stock awards for CBC 
employees. The stock options have a term of 10 years and one-third of the stock option grant vests in each of the three successive years after the 
date of grant. Total authorized shares of Class B common stock for issuance under the 1990 EI Plan were 10.8 million shares.  
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        A summary of the status of our 1990 EI Plan as of December 29, 2002, December 30, 2001, and December 31, 2000, and changes during 
the years ending on those dates is presented below:  

     

For the years ended 

  

     

December 29, 
2002 

  

December 30, 
2001 

  

December 31, 
2000 

  
Risk-free interest rate     4.38 %   5.01 %   6.72 % 
Dividend yield     1.23 %   0.96 %   1.27 % 
Volatility     27.99 %   30.70 %   31.41 % 
Expected term (years)     5.40     5.40     6.20   
Weighted average fair market value   $ 16.97   $ 20.65   $ 20.17   

                    

Options exercisable  
at year-end 

     

Options available  
for grant 

  

Outstanding 
options 

  

Weighted-average  
exercise price 

  

Shares 

  

Weighted-average  
exercise price 

As of December 26, 1999   3,172,581   2,643,455   $ 36.05   881,161   $ 23.26 
  Transferred   716,886   —    —          

  Granted   (1,179,094 ) 1,179,094     51.37           

  Exercised   —  (900,804 )   23.80           

  Forfeited   160,148   (160,148 )   47.76           
            
As of December 31, 2000   2,870,521   2,761,597     45.91   910,548     35.21 
  Authorized   2,033,114   —    —          

  Granted   (1,660,150 ) 1,660,150     67.28           

  Exercised   —  (331,758 )   32.38           

  Forfeited   268,709   (268,709 )   59.50           
            
As of December 30, 2001   3,512,194   3,821,280     55.41   1,374,961     43.68 
  Granted   (1,869,700 ) 1,869,700     56.54           

Exercised   —  (358,522 )   40.17           



        The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 29, 2002:  

        We issued 13,000 and 10,750 shares of restricted stock in 2002 and 2001, respectively, under the 1990 EI Plan. No restricted shares were 
issued under this plan in 2000. The term is 10 years and the shares vest in full at the end of three successive years from the date of grant. The 
compensation cost associated with these awards is amortized over the vesting period. Compensation cost associated with these awards was 
immaterial in 2002, 2001, and 2000.  

        In May 2002, the Company approved a stock award to be issued contingent upon certain financial milestones as of December 31, 2004. As 
of December 29, 2002, it remains unlikely that these milestones will be met. When we believe it is likely that the shares will be issued, we will 
recognize an expense in that and future periods.  

Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors  

        The Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (EC Plan) provides for awards of the Company's Class B shares of restricted 
stock or options for Class B shares. Awards vest after completion of the director's annual term. The compensation cost associated with the EC 
Plan is  
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amortized over the director's term. Compensation cost associated with this plan was immaterial in 2002 , 2001, and 2000. Common stock 
authorized for the EC Plan as of December 29, 2002, was 50,000 shares.  

1995 Supplemental Compensation Plan  

        Our supplemental compensation plan covers substantially all our employees. Under the plan, management is allowed to recognize employee 
achievements through awards of Coors Stock Units (CSUs) or cash. CSUs are equal to the fair market value of our Class B common stock. CSUs 
have a one-year vesting period after which the recipient may redeem the CSUs for cash, or, if the holder has 100 or more CSUs, for shares of our 
Class B common stock. There are 84,000 shares of Class B common stock authorized to be issued under the plan. There are 4,562 CSUs 
currently outstanding of which 1,770 are redeemable for shares at exercise prices aggregating $35,122.  

7.    Employee Retirement Plans  

Defined Benefit Plans  

        CBC and its subsidiaries have defined benefit plans that cover the majority of employees (U.S. Plans). As a result of the acquisition of CBL, 
we assumed responsibility for a portion of the assets and liabilities of what was the Bass Brewers Pension Plan which has since been renamed 
the Coors Brewers Pension Plan (CBL Plan). Assets and liabilities, as well as pension costs, for the CBL Plan and the U.S. Plans are as disclosed 
below. Benefits are based on years of service and average base compensation. While the U.S. Plans are non-contributory, the CBL Plan includes 
a provision for employee contributions. The CBL Plan also includes a provision for retiree pension increases in line with inflation. Plan assets 
consist primarily of equity, interest-bearing investments and real estate. It is our practice to fund amounts for pensions at least sufficient to meet 
the minimum requirements set forth in applicable employee benefits laws and local tax laws. Total defined benefit pension plan expense was 
$18.6 million, $12.2 million and $7.4 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in pension expense from 2001 to 2002 is 

  
  Forfeited   273,868   (273,868 )   60.82           
            
As of December 29, 2002   1,916,362   5,058,590   $ 56.62   2,084,056   $ 52.82 
            

     

Options Outstanding 

  

Options Exercisable 

Range of exercise prices  

  

Shares 

  

Weighted-average  
remaining contractual  

life (years) 

  

Weighted-  
average  

exercise price 

  

Shares 

  

Weighted-  
average  

exercise price 

$16.75 - $22.00   139,874   3.66   $ 20.56   139,874   $ 20.56 
$26.88 - $33.41   264,905   4.56     33.34   264,905     33.34 
$37.22 - $59.25   3,161,279   7.85     54.58   1,176,662     54.14 
$59.42 - $75.22   1,492,532   7.97     68.44   502,615     68.98 
            
    5,058,590   7.60   $ 56.62   2,084,056   $ 52.82 
            



primarily due to the decline in the market value of plan investments. In 2002, the funded position of both the CBC Retirement Plan and the CBL 
Plan declined due to the combined effects of a lower discount rate and a challenging investment environment. This resulted in the recognition of 
an additional minimum liability, resulting from the excess of the accumulated benefit obligation over the fair value of the assets of the plans. In 
2002 and 2001, an additional minimum pension liability of $339.3 million and $29.8 million was recorded, respectively, and is included in the 
accrued pension liability amount.  

Defined Contribution Plan  

        U.S. employees are eligible to participate in the Coors Savings and Investment Plan, a qualified voluntary defined contribution plan. CBC 
matches 50% of the employees' contributions up to 6% of employee compensation. Both employee and employer contributions are made in cash 
in accordance with participant investment elections. There are no minimum amounts that are required to be invested in CBC stock. CBC's 
contributions in 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $6.4 million, $6.4 million and $7.3 million, respectively.  
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        The following represents our net periodic pension cost:  
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        The changes in the projected benefit obligation and plan assets and the funded status of the pension plans are as follows:  

     

As of December 29, 2002 

  

U.S. Plans  
as of  

December 30,  
2001 

  

U.S. Plans  
as of  

December 31,  
2000 

  

     

U.S. Plans 

  

CBL Plan 

  

Total 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Components of net periodic pension cost:                                 

  
Service cost—benefits earned during the 
year   $ 17,294   $ 19,471   $ 36,765   $ 17,913   $ 16,467   

  
Interest cost on projected benefit 
obligation     46,996     74,052     121,048     46,374     44,192   

  Expected return on plan assets     (52,407 )   (90,235 )   (142,642 )   (58,342 )   (58,108 ) 
  Amortization of prior service cost     6,074     —    6,074     5,945     5,906   
  Amortization of net transition/obligation     240     —    240     241     (1,690 ) 
  Recognized net actuarial loss     1,007     —    1,007     110     590   
  Less expected participant contributions     —    (3,929 )   (3,929 )   —    —  
              
Net periodic pension cost (income)   $ 19,204   $ (641 ) $ 18,563   $ 12,241   $ 7,357   
              

     

As of December 29, 2002 

  

U.S. Plans  
as of  

December 30,  
2001 

  

     

U.S. Plans 

  

CBL Plan 

  

Total 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Actuarial present value of accumulated benefit 
obligation   $ 662,057   $ 1,349,000   $ 2,011,057   $ 567,155   
 
Change in projected benefit obligation: 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year   $ 659,106   $ 1,422,210   $ 2,081,316   $ 614,420   
Service cost, net of expected employee contributions, if 
applicable     17,294     15,542     32,836     17,913   
Interest cost     46,996     74,052     121,048     46,374   
Actual employee contributions, if applicable     —    4,860     4,860     —  
Actuarial loss     41,495     21,107     62,602     10,116   
Benefits paid     (32,455 )   (71,165 )   (103,620 )   (29,717 ) 
            
Projected benefit obligation at end of year   $ 732,436   $ 1,466,606   $ 2,199,042   $ 659,106   
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        Pension expense is actuarially calculated annually based on data available at the beginning of each year. Assumptions used in the actuarial 
calculation include the settlement discount rate selected and disclosed at the end of the previous year as well as other assumptions detailed in the 
table below.  

8.    Postretirement Benefits  

        CBC has postretirement plans that provide medical benefits and life insurance for retirees and eligible dependents. The plans are not 
funded.  

        The obligation under these plans was determined by the application of the terms of medical and life insurance plans, together with relevant 
actuarial assumptions and health care cost trend rates ranging ratably from 8.50% in 2002 to 5.00% in 2007. The discount rate used in 
determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 6.75%, 7.25%, and 7.75% at December 29, 2002, December 30, 2001, and 
December 31, 2000, respectively.  

        The changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets of the postretirement benefit plans are as follows:  

            

 
Change in plan assets: 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Fair value of assets at beginning of year   $ 527,000   $ 1,397,205   $ 1,924,205   $ 578,500   
Actual return on plan assets     (80,348 )   (156,108 )   (236,456 )   (25,047 ) 
Employer contributions     24,055     7,442     31,497     7,306   
Actual employee contributions     —    4,860     4,860     —  
Benefits paid     (32,455 )   (71,164 )   (103,619 )   (29,717 ) 
Expenses paid     (3,052 )   —    (3,052 )   (4,042 ) 
            
Fair value of plan assets at end of year   $ 435,200   $ 1,182,235   $ 1,617,435   $ 527,000   
            

 
Reconciliation of funded status: 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Funded status-shortfall   $ (297,236 ) $ (284,371 ) $ (581,607 ) $ (132,106 ) 
Unrecognized net actuarial loss     281,350     265,606     546,956     105,082   
Unrecognized prior service cost     41,767     —    41,767     47,841   
Unrecognized net transition amount     481     —    481     722   
            
Net amount recognized   $ 26,362   $ (18,765 ) $ 7,597   $ 21,539   
            

 
Amounts reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet 
consist of: 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Non-current prepaid benefit cost   $ 37,747   $ —    37,747   $ 21,539   
Non-current accrued benefit liability cost     (264,604 )   (166,805 )   (431,409 )   (61,959 ) 
Non-current intangible asset     42,248     —    42,248     48,291   
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     210,971     148,040     359,011     13,668   
            
Net amount reflected   $ 26,362   $ (18,765 ) $ 7,597   $ 21,539   
            

     

For The Years Ended 

  

     

U.S. Plans 

  

CBL Plan 

  

     

December 29,  
2002 

  

December 30,  
2001 

  

December 31,  
2000 

  

December 29,  
2002 

  
Weighted average assumptions as of year-end:                   
Settlement discount rate   6.75 % 7.25 % 7.75 % 5.70 % 
Rate of compensation increase   3.75 % 4.10 % 4.75 % 3.75 % 
Expected return on plan assets   9.50 % 10.50 % 10.50 % 7.25 % 
Price inflation rate   —  —  —  2.25 % 
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        Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-percentage-point 
change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:  

9.    Special Charges  

        Our annual results for 2002, 2001 and 2000 include net pretax special charges of $6.3 million, $23.2 million and $15.2 million, 
respectively. The following is a summary of special charges incurred during those years:  

2002  

Restructuring Charges  

        During 2002, we incurred net restructuring charges of $6.4 million primarily related to restructuring initiatives in our U.S. operations and 
Golden Brewery business in an effort to consolidate and lower our future overhead costs. The charge consisted primarily of employee severance 

     

For The Years Ended 

  

     

December 29, 
2002 

  

December 30, 
2001 

  

December 31, 
2000 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost:                     
Service cost—benefits earned during the year   $ 1,295   $ 1,447   $ 1,477   
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation     6,266     6,782     5,613   
Recognized net actuarial gain     (19 )   (19 )   (51 ) 
          
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost   $ 7,542   $ 8,210   $ 7,039   
          

     

As of 

  

     

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Change in projected postretirement benefit obligation:               
Projected postretirement benefit obligation at beginning of 
year   $ 102,155   $ 77,750   
Service cost     1,295     1,447   
Interest cost     6,266     6,782   
Actuarial loss     1,326     21,476   
Benefits paid     (5,293 )   (5,300 ) 
        
Projected postretirement benefit obligation at end of year   $ 105,749   $ 102,155   
        

 
Change in plan assets: 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Funded status—shortfall   $ (105,749 ) $ (102,155 ) 
Unrecognized net actuarial loss     18,139     16,813   
Unrecognized prior service cost     300     281   
        
Accrued postretirement benefits     (87,310 )   (85,061 ) 
Less current portion     6,850     5,300   
        
Long-term postretirement benefits   $ (80,460 ) $ (79,761 ) 
        

     

One-percentage-  
point increase 

  

One-percentage-  
point decrease 

  
Effect on total of service and interest cost components   $ 481   $ (428 ) 
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation   $ 5,860   $ (5,289 ) 



costs. As of year-end, no amounts had been paid to terminated employees (approximately 130 employees); however, payouts are expected 
through the third quarter of 2003, with the major significant cash outlays occurring in the first quarter of 2003.  

Coors Brewers Limited Transition  

        We recorded special charges of $2.7 million related to acquisition costs for CBL, including accounting, appraisal and legal fees.  
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Legal Settlement  

        We recorded a credit of $2.8 million related to cash payments received on a debt due to us from our former partner in a brewing business in 
South Korea.  

2001  

Can and End Plant Joint Venture  

        We recorded $3.0 million of special charges related to the dissolution of our existing can and end joint venture as part of the restructuring of 
this part of our business.  

Information Technology  

        Effective August 1, 2001, we entered into a contract with EDS Information Services (EDS) to outsource certain information technology 
functions. We incurred outsourcing transition costs in the year of approximately $14.6 million.  

Restructuring  

        In 2001, we incurred total restructuring special charges of $6.0 million, mainly related to the restructuring of our purchasing organization 
and certain production areas. These restructurings resulted in the elimination of approximately 115 positions. These costs consisted primarily of 
employee severance costs which were paid in 2001 and 2002.  

Property Abandonment  

        We recorded a $2.3 million charge for a portion of certain production equipment that was abandoned and will no longer be used.  

Spain Closure  

        In December 2001, the plant and related fixed assets of the Spain brewing and commercial operations, which was closed in 2000 (see 
below), were sold—resulting in a net gain before tax of approximately $2.7 million, which was credited to Special charges.  

2000  

Spain Closure  

        In 2000, we recorded a total pretax special charge of $20.6 million related to the closure of our Spain brewing and commercial operations. 
Of the total charge, $11.3 million related to severance and other related closure costs, $4.9 million related to a fixed asset impairment charge and 
$4.4 million for the write-off of our cumulative translation adjustments. All severance related costs were paid in 2000 and 2001.  

Insurance Settlement  

        We received an insurance claim settlement of $5.4 million that was credited to special charges.  
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10.  Investments  



Equity Method Investments  

Non-Majority Owned Equity Investments  

        We have investments in affiliates that are non-majority owned and are accounted for using the equity method of accounting where we 
exercise significant influence. These investments aggregated $184.8 million and $89.4 million at December 29, 2002 and December 30, 2001, 
respectively. There are no related parties who own interests in our equity method investments.  

        Summarized condensed balance sheet information for our non-majority owned equity method investments are as follows:  

        Summarized condensed income statement information for our non-majority owned equity method investments are as follows:  

Molson USA, LLC  

        In January 2001, we entered into a joint venture partnership agreement with Molson and paid $65.0 million for a 49.9% interest in the joint 
venture. The venture's total assets are $11.7 million at December 29, 2002. The joint venture, Molson USA LLC, was formed to import, market, 
sell and distribute Molson's brands of beer in the United States. Approximately $63.9 million of our initial investment was considered goodwill. 
Through December 30, 2001, the goodwill was being amortized on a straight-line basis over a life of 40 years, and the amortization expense was 
$1.6 million. (Please refer to the Recent accounting pronouncement section of Footnote 18 for discussion regarding changes in accounting for 
goodwill and other intangible assets).  

        Our share of the net loss was approximately $4.8 million and $2.2 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively. This net loss is included in Other 
income, net on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income given the immateriality of these results. As a result of these operating 
losses, we considered whether our investment is impaired under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 18, " The Equity Method of 
Accounting for Investments in Common Stock ," and determined that it was not impaired. A potential decline in value during the year cannot be 
determined to be other than temporary based on the following factors: our short experience with the joint venture and our continuing 
commitment to its future success, current year improvements in sales-to-retail trends, recent improvements in volume and pricing trends of 
Canadian import brands and the fact that the business is  
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still being developed under this new partnership. The recoverability of our investment in the joint venture will be further evaluated during 2003. 
We believe it is reasonably possible that Molson USA, LLC may be a variable interest entity as defined by FIN No. 46. We believe our 
maximum exposure to loss over our required ownership period to be approximately $44 million.  

Rocky Mountain Bottle Company  

        We have a 50% interest in a joint venture with Owens-Brockway Glass Container, Inc. (Owens), the Rocky Mountain Bottle Company 
(RMBC), to produce glass bottles at our glass manufacturing facility. The initial term of the joint venture expires in 2005 and can be extended 
for additional two-year periods. RMBC has a contract to supply our bottle requirements and Owens has a contract to supply the majority of our 

     

As of 

     

December 29, 
2002 

  

December 30, 
2001 

     

(In thousands)  

 
Current assets   $ 129,977   $ 44,854 
Non-current assets   $ 166,402   $ 52,958 
Current liabilities   $ 138,658   $ 27,150 
Non-current liabilities   $ 52,276   $ 231 

     

For the years ended 

     

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

  

December 31, 
2000 

     

(In thousands)  

 
Net sales   $ 652,051   $ 359,092   $ 324,740 
Gross profit   $ 103,000   $ 61,722   $ 30,357 
Pre-tax income   $ 39,088   $ 21,741   $ 27,017 
Company's equity in pre-tax income   $ 17,956   $ 14,372   $ 16,948 



bottles for our bottle requirements not met by RMBC. In 2002, we purchased all of the bottles produced by RMBC, or approximately 1.1 billion 
bottles. RMBC's total assets are $56.7 million.  

        The purchases under this supply agreement in 2002, 2001 and 2000 were approximately $92 million, $92 million and $86 million, 
respectively. Cash distributions received from this joint venture were $18.2 million, $9.1 million and $20.3 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, 
respectively. Our share of net income from this partnership was $13.2 million, $10.9 million and $9.8 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, 
respectively, and is included as a reduction of Cost of goods sold on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. We believe it is 
reasonably possible that RMBC may be a variable interest entity as defined in FIN No. 46, yet we do not believe that there is a significant 
exposure to loss in our current relationship.  

Metal Container Partnerships  

Rocky Mountain Metal Container  

        Effective January 1, 2002, we became an equal member with Ball Corporation (Ball) in a Colorado limited liability company, Rocky 
Mountain Metal Container, LLC (RMMC). Also effective on January 1, 2002, we entered into a can and end supply agreement with RMMC (the 
Supply Agreement). Under that Supply Agreement, RMMC agreed to supply us with substantially all of the can and end requirements for our 
Golden Brewery. RMMC will manufacture these cans and ends at our existing manufacturing facilities, which RMMC is operating under a use 
and license agreement. We have the right to purchase Ball's interest in RMMC under certain conditions. If we do not exercise that right, Ball 
may have the right to purchase our interest in RMMC. On July 1, 2002, RMMC increased its debt obligations from $20 million to $50 million 
(such debt is not included on our Consolidated Balance Sheet). The proceeds have been used to finance planned capital improvements (See Item 
7, Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Debt Obligations). RMMC's debt is secured by its 
various supply and access agreements with no recourse to CBC or Ball. RMMC's total assets are $81.4 million.  

        Purchases under this supply agreement were approximately $210 million in 2002. We recorded a loss from the limited liability company of 
approximately $0.6 million and it is included within Cost of goods sold on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. There were no 
distributions in 2002. Prior to January 1, 2002 we had a joint venture with Rexam called Valley Metal Container Partnership (see below). We 
believe it is reasonably possible that RMMC may be a variable interest entity as defined in FIN No. 46, however, we do not believe there is a 
significant future exposure to loss in our current relationship over our expected ownership period.  

Valley Metal Container Partnership  

        In 1994, we formed a 50 / 50 production joint venture with American National Can Company (ANC), called Valley Metal Container 
Partnership, to produce beverage cans and ends at our manufacturing  
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facilities for sale to us and outside customers. ANC was subsequently acquired by Rexam LLC. We purchased Rexam's interest in the joint 
venture at the end of its term in August 2001. The aggregate amount paid to the joint venture for cans and ends in 2001 and 2000 was 
approximately $149.0 million and $230.0 million, respectively. The 2001 amount reflects only what was paid to the joint venture prior to its 
expiration in August. In addition, we received cash distributions from this joint venture of $2.5 million and $8.5 million in 2001 and 2000, 
respectively. Our share of net income from this joint venture was $5.7 million in 2001 and $7.2 million in 2000, and is included as a reduction of 
Cost of goods sold on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.  

Tradeteam  

        Tradeteam was formed in 1995 by CBL (then Bass Brewers Limited) and Exel Logistics. CBL has a 49.9% interest in this joint venture. 
Total assets of the venture are $107.9 million. The joint venture operates a system of satellite warehouses and a transportation fleet for deliveries 
between the CBL breweries and customers. Tradeteam also delivers products for other U.K. breweries (See Item 1 Business, Recent General 
Business Developments—Tradeteam). Purchases under this distribution agreement in 2002 were approximately $131 million. We received 
$8.4 million in distributions and our share of pre-tax income from the joint venture was $8.3 million, which is recorded as a reduction of Cost of 
goods sold on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. We believe it is reasonably possible that Tradeteam may be a variable 
interest entity as defined in FIN No. 46, yet we do not believe there is a significant exposure to loss in our current relationship over our expected 
ownership period.  

        Tradeteam had one uncommitted line of credit totaling 15 million GBP, or approximately $24 million based on foreign exchange rates at 
December 29, 2002. No amount was outstanding on this line of credit at December 29, 2002; however, Tradeteam is required to pay a 0.5% 
commitment fee on any undrawn amount. This line of credit bears interest at a rate of 1% over GBP LIBOR.  

Grolsch  

        CBL has a 49% interest in the joint venture company, Grolsch UK Limited. The Grolsch joint venture involves the marketing of Grolsch 



branded beer in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland. The majority of the Grolsch branded beer is manufactured by CBL, under a 
contract brewing arrangement with the joint venture. CBL sells the beer to the joint venture, which sells the beer back to CBL (for onward sale to 
customers) for a price equal to what it paid CBL, plus a marketing and overhead charge plus a profit margin. Total assets of the Grolsch joint 
venture are $31.4 million. The profit margin is considered a royalty paid to the joint venture as the brand owner. In 2002, we received 
$2.6 million in distributions and our share of pre-tax income from the joint venture was $2.0 million, which is recorded as a reduction of Cost of 
goods sold on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. The joint venture contains provisions permitting the joint venture partner, 
Royal Grolsch, subject to notice, to buy our interest in the joint venture. We believe it is reasonably possible that Grolsch may be a variable 
interest entity as defined in FIN No. 46, yet we do not believe there is a significant exposure to loss in our current relationship over our expected 
ownership period.  

Golden Properties  

        In 1992, we spun off our wholly owned subsidiary, ACX Technologies, Inc., which has subsequently changed its name to Graphic 
Packaging International Corporation (GPIC). We are also a limited partner in a real estate development partnership (Golden Properties) in which 
a subsidiary of GPIC is the general partner. The partnership owns, develops, operates and sells certain real estate previously owned directly by 
us. We received cash distributions of $0.5 million and $0.8 million in 2002 and 2000, respectively as a return of our capital account. We did not 
receive any cash distributions in 2001. We were not entitled to any of the joint venture income in 2002, 2001 or 2000.  
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Majority-Owned, Non-Consolidated Equity Investment  

        We have an investment in Coors Canada (see below), an affiliate that is majority-owned, non-consolidated and is accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting. This investment aggregated $6.4 million and $5.4 million at December 29, 2002 and December 30, 2001, 
respectively. There are no related parties who own interests in this equity method investment.  

        Summarized condensed balance sheet information for our majority-owned equity method investment is as follows:  

        Summarized condensed income statement information for our majority-owned equity method investments is as follows:  

Coors Canada  

        Coors Canada, Inc. (CCI), a wholly owned subsidiary, formed a partnership, Coors Canada, with Molson to market and sell our products in 
Canada. Coors Canada began operations January 1, 1998. CCI and Molson have a 50.1% and 49.9% interest, respectively. CCI's investment in 
the partnership is accounted for using the equity method of accounting due to effective control of the partnership being shared equally by its 
partners. The partnership agreement has an indefinite term and can be canceled at the election of either partner. Under the partnership agreement, 
Coors Canada is responsible for marketing our products in Canada, while the partnership contracts with Molson for brewing, distribution and 
sales of these brands. Coors Canada receives an amount from Molson generally equal to net sales revenue generated from our brands less 
production, distribution, sales and overhead costs related to these sales. CCI received distributions from the partnership of a U.S. dollar 
equivalent of approximately $36.0 million, $27.9 million and $25.8 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Our share of pre-tax income 
from this partnership, which was approximately $37.0 million in 2002, $29.2 million in 2001 and $25.4 million in 2000, is included in Sales in 

     

As of 

     

December 29, 
2002 

  

December 30, 
2001 

     

(In thousands)  

 
Current assets   $ 17,448   $ 14,380 
Non-current assets   $ 266   $ 349 
Current liabilities   $ 4,530   $ 3,881 
Non-current liabilities   $ —  $ —

     

For The Years Ended 

     

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

  

December 31, 
2000 

     

(In thousands)  

 
Revenue   $ 111,193   $ 115,489   $ 102,448 
Pre-tax income   $ 73,856   $ 58,386   $ 50,558 
Company's equity in pre-tax income   $ 37,002   $ 29,258   $ 25,447 



the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. We believe it is reasonably possible that Coors Canada may be a variable interest entity 
as defined in FIN No. 46, however, we do not believe there is a significant exposure to loss in our current relationship over the expected 
ownership period. Also see discussion in Footnote 14, Segment and Geographic Information.  

        In December 2000, we entered into a five year brewing and packaging arrangement with Molson in which we will have access to some of 
Molson's available production capacity in Canada. The Molson capacity available to us under this arrangement in 2002 and 2001 was 500,000 
and 250,000 barrels, respectively, none of which was used by us. We pay Molson a fee for holding this capacity aside for our  
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future use. The annual fee, starting in 2002, is 1.5 million Canadian dollars, which results in an annual commitment of approximately 
$1.0 million. As of December 29, 2002, we are fully accrued for all fees required under the terms of this agreement.  

Cost Method Investment  

Colorado Rockies Baseball Partnership  

        In 1991, we became a limited partner in the Colorado Baseball Partnership 1993, Ltd. (Baseball Partnership) for an investment of 
$10.0 million. This commitment was finalized upon the awarding of a National League Baseball franchise to Colorado in 1991. The initial 
investment as a limited partner has been paid. We generally apply the cost method of accounting to less than 20% owned investments where we 
do not exercise significant influence. Our use of the cost method is in accordance with the provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force Topic D-46 
(EITF D-46) " Accounting for Limited Partnership Investments " as we entered into the limited partnership agreement in 1991 prior to the 
effective date for the implementation of EITF D-46, which was to be applied to all limited partnership investments made after May 18, 1995. As 
a limited partner, we take no part in control, management, direction or operation of the affairs of the Baseball Partnership and have no power to 
bind the Baseball Partnership. Profit and loss from operations of the Baseball Partnership are allocated among the partners in accordance with 
their ownership ratios. We did not receive any cash distributions or income in 2002, 2001 or 2000. We believe that the carrying amount of our 
investment in the Baseball Partnership is not in excess of fair value.  

        Also in 1991, we entered into an agreement with the Colorado Rockies Baseball Club (Club) regarding a multi-year signage and advertising 
package. During 1998, the agreement was modified to extend the term and expand the conditions of the multi-year signage and advertising 
package. This new agreement was valued at $34.5 million. The recognition of the liability under the multi-year signage and advertising package 
began in 1995 with the opening of Coors Field. This liability is included in the total advertising and promotion commitment discussed in 
Footnote 15, Commitments and Contingencies.  

11.  Stock Activity and Earnings Per Share  

Capital Stock  

        Both classes of common stock have the same rights and privileges, except for voting, which (with certain limited exceptions) is the sole 
right of the holder of Class A common stock.  

        Activity in our Class A and Class B common stock, net of forfeitures, for each of the three years ended December 29, 2002, December 30, 
2001, and December 31, 2000, is summarized below:  

     

Common Stock 

  

     

Class A 

  

Class B 

  
Balances at December 26, 1999   1,260,000   35,462,034   
  Shares issued under stock plans   —  817,395   

  Purchases of stock   —  (408,308 ) 
        
Balances at December 31, 2000   1,260,000   35,871,121   
  Shares issued under stock plans   —  324,926   

  Purchases of stock   —  (1,506,637 ) 
        
Balances at December 30, 2001   1,260,000   34,689,410   
  Shares issued under stock plans   —  391,193   
        
Balances at December 29, 2002   1,260,000   35,080,603   
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        At December 29, 2002, December 30, 2001, and December 31, 2000, 25 million shares of no par value preferred stock were authorized but 
un-issued.  

        Pursuant to our by-laws restricted shares must first be offered to us for repurchase. The board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to 
$40 million per year of our outstanding Class B common stock on the open market during 2002, 2001, and 2000. In September 2001, the board 
of directors increased the authorized 2001 expenditure limit for the repurchase of outstanding shares of Class B common stock to $90 million for 
the remainder of that fiscal year. During 2001 and 2000, 1,500,000 shares and 308,000 shares, respectively, were repurchased for approximately 
$72.3 million and $17.6 million, respectively, under this stock repurchase program. In addition to the repurchase program, we purchased 41,845 
restricted shares for $2.4 million in 2000. No additional shares were repurchased during 2002.  

        Basic and diluted net income per common share were arrived at using the calculations outlined below:  

        The dilutive effects of stock options were determined by applying the treasury stock method, assuming we were to purchase common shares 
with the proceeds from stock option exercises. Anti-dilutive securities were not included because the stock options' exercise prices were greater 
than the average market price of the common shares.  

12.  Derivative Instruments  

        In the normal course of business, we are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates, the value of foreign currencies and production and 
packaging materials prices. We have established policies and procedures that govern the strategic management of these exposures through the 
use of a variety of financial instruments. By policy, we do not enter into such contracts for trading purposes or for the purpose of speculation.  

        Our objective in managing our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and production and packaging 
materials prices is to decrease the volatility of our earnings and cash flows effected by changes in the underlying rates and prices. To achieve this 
objective, we enter into foreign currency forward contracts, commodity swaps, interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps, the values of which 
change in the opposite direction of the anticipated cash flows. We do not hedge the value of net investments in foreign-currency-denominated 
operations or translated earnings of foreign  
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subsidiaries. Our primary foreign currency exposures are the British Pound Sterling (GBP), the Canadian dollar (CAD) and the Japanese yen 
(YEN).  

        Derivatives are either exchange-traded instruments, or over-the-counter agreements entered into with highly rated financial institutions. No 
losses on over-the-counter agreements due to counterparty credit issues are anticipated. All over-the-counter agreements are entered into with 

     

For the years ended 

     

December 29,  
2002 

  

December 30,  
2001 

  

December 31,  
2000 

     

(In thousands, except per share data)  

 
Net income available to common shareholders   $ 161,653   $ 122,964   $ 109,617 
        
Weighted average shares for basic EPS     36,140     36,902     36,785 
Effect of dilutive securities:                   
  Stock options     397     266     606 
  Restricted shares for basic EPS     29     9     59 
        
Weighted average shares for diluted EPS     36,566     37,177     37,450 
        
Basic EPS   $ 4.47   $ 3.33   $ 2.98 
        
Diluted EPS   $ 4.42   $ 3.31   $ 2.93 
        
Anti-dilutive securities     1,384     2,199     7 
        



counterparties rated no lower than A (S&P) or A2 (Moody's). In some instances we and our counterparties have reciprocal collateralization 
agreements regarding fair value positions in excess of certain thresholds. These agreements call for the posting of collateral in the form of cash, 
treasury securities or letters of credit if a fair value loss position to us or our counterparties exceeds a certain amount. At December 29, 2002, no 
collateral was posted by us or our counterparties.  

        All derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet at their fair value. Unrealized gain positions are recorded as other current assets or other 
non-current assets. Unrealized loss positions are recorded as other liabilities or other long-term liabilities.  

        The majority of all derivatives entered into by the Company qualify for, and are designated as, foreign-currency cash flow hedges, 
commodity cash flow hedges or fair value hedges, including those derivatives hedging foreign currency denominated firm commitments as per 
the definitions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 (SFAS No. 133).  

        The Company considers whether any provisions in non-derivative contracts represent "embedded" derivative instruments as described in 
SFAS No. 133. As of December 29, 2002, we have concluded that no "embedded" derivative instruments warrant separate fair value accounting 
under SFAS No. 133.  

        Changes in fair values of outstanding derivatives that are highly effective as per the definition of SFAS 133 are recorded in other 
comprehensive income, until earnings are affected by the variability of cash flows of the underlying hedged transaction. In most cases amounts 
recorded in other comprehensive income will be released to earnings at maturity of the related derivative. The consolidated statement of income 
treatment of effective hedge results offsets the gains or losses on the underlying exposure.  

        We formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as the risk-management objective and 
strategy for undertaking hedge transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives that are designated as foreign-currency cash flow 
hedges and commodity cash flow hedges to either specific assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or specific firm commitments or forecasted 
transactions. We also formally assess, both at the hedge's inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging 
transactions have been highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of hedged items and whether those derivatives may be expected to 
remain highly effective in future periods. When it is determined that a derivative is not, or has ceased to be, highly effective as a hedge, we 
discontinue hedge accounting prospectively, as discussed below.  

        We discontinue hedge accounting prospectively when (1) the derivative is no longer highly effective, as per SFAS 133, in offsetting 
changes in the cash flows of a hedged item (including hedged items such as firm commitments or forecasted transactions); (2) the derivative 
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised; (3) it is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur; or (4) management determines 
that designating the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate.  

        When we discontinue hedge accounting because it is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur in the originally expected 
period, the gain or loss on the derivative remains in accumulated other comprehensive income and is reclassified into earnings when the 
forecasted transaction affects earnings. However, if it is no longer probable that a forecasted transaction will occur by the end of the originally 
specified time period or within an additional two-month period of time thereafter, the gains and losses that were accumulated in other 
comprehensive income will be  
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recognized immediately in earnings. In all situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued and the derivative remains outstanding, we will 
carry the derivative at its fair value on the balance sheet until maturity, recognizing future changes in the fair value in current-period earnings. 
Any hedge ineffectiveness, as per SFAS 133, is recorded in current-period earnings. During 2002, we recorded an insignificant loss relating to 
such ineffectiveness of all derivatives in Other income, net. Effectiveness is assessed based on the comparison of current forward rates to the 
rates established on our hedges.  

        As of December 29, 2002, $6.4 million of deferred net losses (net of tax) on both outstanding and matured derivatives accumulated in other 
comprehensive income are expected to be reclassified to earnings during the next twelve months as a result of expected gains or losses on 
underlying hedged transactions also being recorded in earnings. Actual amounts ultimately reclassified to earnings are dependent on the 
applicable rates in effect when derivatives contracts that are currently outstanding mature. As of December 29, 2002, the maximum term over 
which we are hedging exposures to the variability of cash flows for all forecasted and recorded transactions is 10 years.  

        We are exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to hedging instruments and do not enter into 
master netting arrangements. The counterparties to derivative transactions are major financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings of 
at least A, A2 or better. However, this does not eliminate our exposure to credit risk with these institutions. This credit risk is generally limited to 
the unrealized gains in such contracts should any of these counterparties fail to perform as contracted. To manage this risk, we have established 
counterparty credit guidelines that are monitored and reported to management according to prescribed guidelines. We utilize a portfolio of 
financial institutions either headquartered or operating in the same countries we conduct our business. As a result of the above considerations, we 
consider the risk of counterparty default to be minimal.  

        On May 7, 2002, we entered into certain cross currency swaps totaling 530 million GBP (approximately $774 million). The swaps included 



an initial exchange of principal on the settlement date of our 6 3 / 8 % private placement fixed rate debt (see Debt footnote 4) and will require 
final principal exchange 10 years later. The swaps also call for an exchange of fixed GBP interest payments for fixed U.S. dollar interest 
receipts. At the initial principal exchange, we paid U.S. dollars to a counterparty and received GBP. Upon final exchange, we will provide GBP 
to the counterparty and receive U.S. dollars. The cross currency swaps have been designated as cash flow hedges of the changes in value of the 
future GBP interest and principal receipts that results from changes in the U.S. dollar to GBP exchange rates on an intercompany loan between 
us and our Europe subsidiary.  

        On the same day as the settlement of our private placement offering and initial exchange of principal amounts associated with our swap 
transactions, we were required to settle our previously established forward sale of 530 million GBP. The settlement of all these transactions in 
aggregate resulted in a foreign exchange loss of approximately $30 million, the majority of which was offset by a foreign exchange gain on our 
intercompany loan.  

        On May 28, 2002, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement related to our 6 3 / 8 % fixed rate debt. The interest rate swap converted 
$76.2 million notional amount from fixed rates to floating rates and matures in 2012. We will receive fixed U.S. dollar interest payments semi-
annually at a rate of 6 3 / 8 % per annum and pay a rate to our counterparty based on a credit spread of 0.789% plus the three-month LIBOR rate, 
thereby exchanging a fixed interest obligation for a floating interest rate obligation. There was no exchange of principal at the inception of the 
swap. We designated the interest rate swap as a fair value hedge of the changes in the fair value of the $76.2 million fixed rate debt attributable 
to changes in the LIBOR swap rates.  
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13. Other Comprehensive Income  

14.  Segment and Geographic Information  

     

Foreign  
currency  

translation  
adjustments 

  

Unrealized gain (loss) on 
available-for-sale 

securities and derivative 
instruments 

  

Minimum pension 
liability  

adjustment 

  

Accumulated  
other  

comprehensive  
income 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Balances, December 26, 1999   $ (5,885 ) $ 6,878   $ —  $ 993   
  Foreign currency translation adjustments     4,460                 4,460   

  
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities 
and derivative instruments           (1,176 )         (1,176 ) 

  
Reclassification adjustment—available-for-sale 
securities and derivative instruments           (4,058 )         (4,058 ) 

  

Reclassification adjustment—accumulated 
translation adjustment—closure of Spain 
operations     4,434                 4,434   

  Tax (expense) benefit     (3,380 )   1,989           (1,391 ) 
            
Balances, December 31, 2000     (371 )   3,633     —    3,262   
  Foreign currency translation adjustments     22                 22   

  
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities 
and derivative instruments           (4,003 )         (4,003 ) 

  Minimum pension liability adjustment                 (13,668 )   (13,668 ) 

  
Reclassification adjustment—available-for-sale 
securities and derivative instruments           (7,900 )         (7,900 ) 

  Tax (expense) benefit     (8 )   4,523     5,181     9,696   
            
Balances, December 30, 2001     (357 )   (3,747 )   (8,487 )   (12,591 ) 
  Foreign currency translation adjustments     71,035                 71,035   

  
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 
and derivative instruments           25,136           25,136   

  Minimum pension liability adjustment                 (345,343 )   (345,343 ) 

  
Reclassification adjustment on derivative 
instruments           8,172           8,172   

  Tax (expense) benefit     (151 )   (12,957 )   133,251     120,143   
            
Balances, December 29, 2002   $ 70,527   $ 16,604   $ (220,579 ) $ (133,448 ) 
            



        Segment information is presented in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, " Disclosures about Segments 
of an Enterprise and Related Information" (SFAS No. 131), which establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments in 
annual financial statements and requires selected information about operating segments in interim financial reports issued to shareholders. It also 
establishes standards for related disclosures about products and geographic areas.  

        Prior to our acquisition of CBL, we reported results of operations as one segment. Due to CBL, we now categorize our operations into two 
operating segments: the Americas and Europe. These segments are managed and reviewed by separate operating teams, even though both consist 
primarily of the manufacture, marketing, and sale of beer and other beverage products.  

        The Americas segment primarily consists of production, marketing and sales of the Coors family of brands in the United States and its 
territories. This segment also includes the Coors Light business in Canada that is conducted through a partnership investment with Molson and 
the sale of Molson  
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products in the United States that is conducted through a joint venture investment with Molson. There are also a small amount of CBC products 
that are exported and sold outside of the United States and its possessions, excluding Europe, included in the Americas.  

        The Europe segment consists of our production and sale of the CBL brands principally in the United Kingdom but also in other parts of the 
world, our joint venture arrangement relating to the production and distribution of Grolsch in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland, and 
our joint venture arrangement with Tradeteam for the physical distribution of products throughout Great Britain.  

        The Corporate segment currently includes interest, taxes and certain other corporate costs in both the United States and the United 
Kingdom. The large majority of these corporate costs relate to finance and other administrative functions.  

        No single customer accounted for more than 10% of our sales. Summarized financial information concerning our reportable segments is 
shown in the following table:  

Fiscal Year Ended December 29, 2002  
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Fiscal Year Ended December 30, 2001  

     

Americas 

  

Europe 

  

Corporate 

  

Total 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Sales—domestic and international   $ 2,811,326   $ 2,145,621   $ —  $ 4,956,947   
Beer excise taxes     (410,477 )   (770,148 )   —    (1,180,625 ) 
            
Net sales     2,400,849     1,375,473     —    3,776,322   
Cost of goods sold     (1,481,630 )   (932,900 )   —    (2,414,530 ) 
Marketing, general and administrative     (724,943 )   (332,297 )   —    (1,057,240 ) 
Special charges     (3,625 )   —    (2,642 )   (6,267 ) 
            
Operating income (loss)     190,651     110,276     (2,642 )   298,285   
Interest income     —    16,390     4,797     21,187   
Interest expense     —    —    (70,919 )   (70,919 ) 
Other income, net     4,864     1,766     1,417     8,047   
            
Income (loss) before income taxes   $ 195,515   $ 128,432   $ (67,347 ) $ 256,600   
            
Other financial data:                           
Depreciation, depletion and amortization   $ 130,759   $ 99,540   $ —  $ 230,299   
Capital expenditures and additions to intangibles   $ 152,228   $ 94,614   $ —  $ 246,842   

     

Americas 

  

Europe 

  

Corporate 

  

Total 

  

(In thousands)  



Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2000  
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        The following tables represent sales and long-lived assets by geographic segment for the following fiscal years:  

        
Sales—domestic and international   $ 2,835,572   $ 7,180   $ —  $ 2,842,752   
Beer excise taxes     (413,290 )   —    —    (413,290 ) 
            
Net sales     2,422,282     7,180     —    2,429,462   
Cost of goods sold     (1,532,471 )   (5,152 )   —    (1,537,623 ) 
Marketing, general and administrative     (706,872 )   (10,188 )   —    (717,060 ) 
Special charges     (23,174 )   —    —    (23,174 ) 
            
Operating income (loss)     159,765     (8,160 )   —    151,605   
Gain on sale of distributorships     27,667     —    —    27,667   
Interest income     —    —    16,409     16,409   
Interest expense     —    —    (2,006 )   (2,006 ) 
Other income, net     1,319     —    3,019     4,338   
            
Income (loss) before income taxes   $ 188,751   $ (8,160 ) $ 17,422   $ 198,013   
            
Other financial data:                           
Depreciation, depletion and amortization   $ 121,011   $ 80   $ —  $ 121,091   
Capital expenditures and additions to intangibles   $ 244,519   $ 29   $ —  $ 244,548   

     

Americas 

  

Europe 

  

Corporate 

  

Total 

  

     

(In thousands)  

   
Sales—domestic and international   $ 2,830,886   $ 10,852   $ —  $ 2,841,738   
Beer excise taxes     (427,166 )   (157 )   —    (427,323 ) 
            
Net sales     2,403,720     10,695     —    2,414,415   
Cost of goods sold     (1,513,051 )   (12,778 )   —    (1,525,829 ) 
Marketing, general and administrative     (710,224 )   (12,521 )   —    (722,745 ) 
Special charges (credits)     5,583     (20,798 )   —    (15,215 ) 
            
Operating income (loss)     186,028     (35,402 )   —    150,626   
Gain on sales of distributorship     1,000     —    —    1,000   
Interest income     —    —    21,325     21,325   
Interest expense     —    —    (6,414 )   (6,414 ) 
Other income, net     3,017     (29 )   —    2,988   
            
Income (loss) before income taxes   $ 190,045   $ (35,431 ) $ 14,911   $ 169,525   
            
Other financial data:                           
Depreciation, depletion and amortization   $ 127,167   $ 2,115   $ —  $ 129,283   
Capital expenditures and additions to intangibles   $ 150,826   $ 3,498   $ —  $ 154,324   

     

Americas 

  

Europe 

  

Corporate 

  

Total 

     

(In thousands)  

 
Balance Sheet Data:                         
As of December 29, 2002                         
  Total assets   $ 1,539,973   $ 2,757,438   $ —  $ 4,297,411 

  Investments in joint ventures   $ 94,417   $ 96,767   $ —  $ 191,184 
As of December 30, 2001                         
  Total assets   $ 1,719,448   $ 20,244   $ —  $ 1,739,692 

  Investments in joint ventures   $ 94,785   $ —  $ —  $ 94,785 

2002 2001 2000 



(1)  

         
Net sales to unaffiliated customers(1):                   
United States and its territories   $ 2,328,664   $ 2,355,091   $ 2,337,256 
United Kingdom     1,357,918     7,221     10,558 
Other foreign countries     89,740     67,150     66,601 
        
  Net sales   $ 3,776,322   $ 2,429,462   $ 2,414,415 
        

     

As of 

     

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 
2001 

     

(In thousands)  

 
Long-lived assets(2):             
United States and its territories   $ 970,795   $ 955,615 
United Kingdom     1,665,339     231 
Other foreign countries     250     153 
      
  Total long-lived assets   $ 2,636,384   $ 955,999 
      

Net sales attributed to geographic areas is based on the location of the customer.  
 

(2)  Long-lived assets include tangible and intangible assets.  

15.  Commitments and Contingencies  

Insurance  

        We are self-insured for certain insurable risks consisting primarily of employee health insurance programs, as well as workers' 
compensation, general liability, automobile liability and property insurance deductibles or retentions. During 2002, we fully insured future risks 
for long-term disability, and, in most states, workers' compensation, but maintained a self-insured position for workers' compensation for certain 
self-insured states and for claims incurred prior to the inception of the insurance coverage in Colorado in 1997.  

Letters of Credit  

        As of December 29, 2002, we had approximately $0.8 million outstanding in letters of credit with financial institutions. These letters expire 
in March and December 2003. These letters of credit are being maintained as security for reimbursements to insurance companies, for 
deductibles or retention payments made on our behalf, and for operations of underground storage tanks.  

        As part of a settlement agreement related to the Lowry landfill site we agreed to post a letter of credit equal to the present value of our share 
of future estimated costs if estimated future costs exceed a certain amount and our long-term credit rating falls to a certain level. Future 
estimated costs now exceed the level provided in the agreement, but our credit rating remains above the level that would require this letter of 
credit to be obtained.  
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Power Supplies  

        In 1995, Coors Energy Company (CEC), a fully owned subsidiary of ours, entered into a 10-year agreement to purchase 100% of the 
Golden facility's coal requirements from Bowie Resources Ltd. (Bowie). The coal then is sold to Trigen-Nations Energy Company, L.L.L.P. 
(Trigen).  

        We have an agreement to purchase the electricity and steam needed to operate the brewery's Golden facilities through 2020 from Trigen. 
Our financial commitment under this agreement is divided between a fixed, non-cancelable cost of approximately $16.6 million for 2003, which 
adjusts annually for inflation, and a variable cost, which is generally based on fuel cost and our electricity and steam use. Total purchases, fixed 
and variable, under this contract in 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $28.0 million, $29.8 million, and $28.4 million, respectively.  

Supply Contracts  



        We have various long-term supply contracts with unaffiliated third parties and our joint ventures to purchase materials used in production 
and packaging, such as starch, cans, ends and glass. The supply contracts provide that we purchase certain minimum levels of materials 
throughout the terms of the contracts. The approximate future purchase commitments under these supply contracts are:  

        Our total purchases under these contracts in 2002, 2001 and 2000 were approximately $583.0 million, $243.3 million, and $235.0 million, 
respectively.  

Third-Party Logistics Contract  

        We are consolidating our warehousing into two separate contracts with Exel Logistics, Inc. The contracts provide for warehousing services 
in Ontario, California and Golden, Colorado under seven and five year operating agreements, respectively. We have committed to $2.6 million 
and $5.8 million in operating expenses in 2003. Annual reviews of the scope of services with Exel Logistics will determine pricing in 
future years, limited to 3% increases annually.  
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England and Wales Distribution Contract and Joint Venture Agreement  

        Tradeteam Ltd., the joint venture between CBL and Exel Logistics, has an exclusive contract with CBL to provide distribution services in 
England and Wales until at least 2010. The approximate future financial commitments under the distribution contract are as follows:  

        The financial commitments on termination of the distribution agreement are to essentially take over property, assets and people used by 
Tradeteam to deliver the service to CBL, paying Tradeteam's net book value for assets acquired.  

Graphic Packaging International Corporation  

        We have a packaging supply agreement with a subsidiary of Graphic Packaging International Corporation (GPIC) under which we purchase 
our paperboard requirements. The contract was to expire on December 31, 2002, but was extended until March 31, 2003. As of the date of this 
filing, we had reached an agreement with GPIC regarding the terms of a new contract, and the contract was being circulated for signatures (See 
Item 1, Description of Business (a) General Development of Business). Our purchases under the packaging agreement in 2002, 2001 and 2000 
totaled approximately $111 million, $125 million and $112 million, respectively. We expect purchases in 2003 to be approximately the same as 
2002. Related accounts payable balances included in Affiliates accounts payable on the Consolidated Balance Sheets were $0.8 million and 
$0.5 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively. See Item 13(b), Certain Business Relationships, for further information.  

     

Amount 

     

(In thousands)  

 
2003   $ 468,230 
2004     469,500 
2005     349,500 
2006     259,000 
2007     259,000 
Thereafter     1,036,000 
    
  Total   $ 2,841,230 
    

     

Amount 

     

(In thousands)  

 
2003   $ 143,870 
2004     146,757 
2005     149,644 
2006     152,691 
2007     155,739 
Thereafter     444,761 
    
  Total   $ 1,193,462 
    



Advertising and Promotions  

        We have various long-term non-cancelable commitments for advertising and promotions, including marketing at sports arenas, stadiums 
and other venues and events. At December 29, 2002, the future commitments are as follows:  
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Environmental  

        We are one of a number of entities named by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as a potentially responsible party (PRP) at the 
Lowry Superfund site. This landfill is owned by the City and County of Denver (Denver), and is managed by Waste Management of 
Colorado, Inc. (Waste Management). In 1990, we recorded a pretax charge of $30 million, a portion of which was put into a trust in 1993 as part 
of a settlement with Denver and Waste Management regarding the then outstanding litigation. Our settlement was based on an assumed cost of 
$120 million (in 1992 adjusted dollars). We are obligated to pay a portion of future costs in excess of that amount.  

        In January 2003, Waste Management provided us with updated annual cost estimates through 2032. We reviewed these cost estimates, in 
conjunction with a third-party expert, in the assessment of our accrual related to this issue. We used certain assumptions that differ from Waste 
Management's estimates to assess our expected liability. Our expected liability (based on the $120 million threshold being met) is based on our 
and the third-party's best estimates available. The assumptions used are as follows:  

•  

     

Amount 

     

(In thousands)  

 
2003   $ 119,675 
2004     53,505 
2005     34,904 
2006     29,841 
2007     16,663 
Thereafter     4,394 
    
  Total   $ 258,982 
    

trust management costs will be accrued as incurred,  
 

•  certain remedial costs for technology which has not yet been developed and income taxes, which we believe not to be an included 
cost, are not included in the assumptions,  
 

•  a 2% inflation rate for future costs, and  
 

•  certain operations and maintenance costs were discounted using a 4.98% risk-free rate of return.  

        Based on these assumptions, the present value and gross amount of the discounted costs are approximately $1 million and $5 million, 
respectively. Accordingly, we believe that the existing accrual is adequate as of December 29, 2002. We did not assume any future recoveries 
from insurance companies in the estimate of our liability.  

        Considering the estimates extend through the year 2032 and the related uncertainties at the site, including what additional remedial actions 
may be required by the EPA, new technologies, and what costs are included in the determination of when the $120 million threshold is reached, 
the estimate of our liability may change as facts further develop. We cannot predict the amount of any such change, but an additional accrual of 
as much as $20 to $30 million is possible.  

        We are aware of groundwater contamination at some of our properties in Colorado resulting from historical, ongoing or nearby activities. 
There may also be other contamination of which we are currently unaware.  

        From time to time, we have been notified that we are or may be a PRP under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation 
and Liability Act or similar state laws for the cleanup of other sites where hazardous substances have allegedly been released into the 
environment. We cannot predict with certainty the total costs of cleanup, our share of the total cost, the extent to which contributions will be 
available from other parties, the amount of time necessary to complete the cleanups or insurance coverage.  

        While we cannot predict our eventual aggregate cost for our environmental and related matters in which we are currently involved, we 
believe that any payments, if required, for these matters would be made over a period of time in amounts that would not be material in any one 



year to our operating results, cash flows or our financial or competitive position. We believe adequate reserves have been provided for losses that 
are probable and estimable.  
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Litigation  

        We are involved in certain disputes and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of our business aside from the environmental issues 
discussed above. While it is not feasible to predict or determine the outcome of these proceedings, in our opinion, based on a review with legal 
counsel, none of these disputes and legal actions is expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of 
operations or cash flows. However, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from 
time to time that may harm our business.  

Labor  

        Approximately 13.2% of our work force is represented by labor unions with whom we engage in collective bargaining. In 2001, we 
negotiated a labor contract with the U.S. labor unions that prohibits labor strikes. This contract expires in 2005. In the United Kingdom, we have 
separate negotiated agreements in place with the Transport and General Workers Union, under which pay negotiations are conducted annually. 
These contracts do not have expiration dates.  

16.  Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)  

        The following summarizes selected quarterly financial information for each of the two years in the period ended December 29, 2002.  

17.  Coors Brewers Limited Acquisition  

        On February 2, 2002, we acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Bass Holdings Ltd. and certain other intangible assets from Interbrew, 
for a total purchase price of 1.2 billion GBP (approximately $1.7 billion at then prevailing exchange rates), plus associated fees and expenses. 
The acquisition supported one of our key strategic goals of growing our beer business internationally to broaden our geographic platform, 
diversify revenues, profits and cash flows and increase our brand  
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First 

  

Second 

  

Third 

  

Fourth 

  

Year 

  

     

(In thousands, except per share data)  

   
2002                                 
Sales—domestic and international   $ 944,256   $ 1,363,025   $ 1,322,722   $ 1,326,944   $ 4,956,947   
Beer excise taxes     (198,434 )   (315,256 )   (321,124 )   (345,811 )   (1,180,625 ) 
              
Net sales     745,822     1,047,769     1,001,598     981,133     3,776,322   
Cost of goods sold     (482,344 )   (640,020 )   (636,094 )   (656,072 )   (2,414,530 ) 
              
Gross profit     263,478     407,749     365,504     325,061     1,361,792   
Net income   $ 27,203   $ 67,616   $ 46,619   $ 20,215   $ 161,653   
              
Net income per share—basic   $ 0.76   $ 1.87   $ 1.29   $ 0.56   $ 4.47   
Net income per share—diluted   $ 0.75   $ 1.84   $ 1.28   $ 0.55   $ 4.42   
 
2001 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Sales—domestic and international   $ 637,828   $ 809,729   $ 742,654   $ 652,541   $ 2,842,752   
Beer excise taxes     (94,128 )   (117,029 )   (107,991 )   (94,142 )   (413,290 ) 
              
Net sales     543,700     692,700     634,663     558,399     2,429,462   
Cost of goods sold     (351,153 )   (424,880 )   (402,306 )   (359,284 )   (1,537,623 ) 
              
Gross profit     192,547     267,820     232,357     199,115     891,839   
Net income   $ 18,328   $ 49,852   $ 38,916   $ 15,868   $ 122,964   
              
Net income per share—basic   $ 0.49   $ 1.34   $ 1.05   $ 0.44   $ 3.33   
Net income per share—diluted   $ 0.49   $ 1.33   $ 1.05   $ 0.44   $ 3.31   



 

portfolio, which we believe will significantly enhance our competitive position in a consolidating worldwide beer industry.  

        One of the factors that contributed to a purchase price that resulted in the recognition of goodwill was the existence of financial and 
operating synergies. In addition to these synergies, there were a number of other factors—including the existence of a strong management team, 
a proven track record of introducing and marketing successful brands, an efficient sales and distribution system, complementary products and a 
good sales force.  

        The business, renamed CBL, included the majority of the assets that previously made up Bass Brewers, including the Carling, Worthington 
and Caffrey's beer brands; the U.K. and Republic of Ireland distribution rights to Grolsch (via and subject to the continuation of a joint venture 
arrangement, in which CBL has a 49% interest, with Royal Grolsch N.V.); several other beer and flavored-alcohol beverage brands; related 
brewing and malting facilities in the United Kingdom; and a 49.9% interest in the distribution logistics provider, Tradeteam. CBL is the second-
largest brewer in the United Kingdom based on total beer volume, and Carling lager is the best-selling beer brand in the United Kingdom. The 
brand rights for Carling, which is the largest acquired brand by volume, are mainly for territories in Europe. The addition of CBL creates a 
stronger, broader, more diversified company in a highly competitive and consolidating global beer market.  

        As noted in Footnote 1, Significant Accounting Policies, the results of CBL operations have been included in the consolidated financial 
statements since February 2, 2002, the date of acquisition.  

        The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.  

        Of the $415 million of acquired intangible assets, approximately $390 million has been assigned to brand names and distribution rights. The 
remaining $25 million was assigned to patents and technology and distribution channels. Approximately $286 million of the $390 million brand 
name and distribution rights value has been determined to have an indefinite life and accordingly will not be amortized. The remaining 
$104 million brand names and distribution rights value will be amortized over a weighted average useful life of approximately 12 years. The 
$25 million value for patents and technology and distribution channels will be amortized over a weighted average useful life of approximately 
8 years.  

91  

        We engaged the services of a professional appraiser to determine the value of the intangible assets acquired in the acquisition of CBL. The 
fair value of the acquired intangible brand assets were determined primarily from the discounted value of projected cash flows. A weighted 
average cost of capital of 8.75% was used to discount projected cash flows. Cash flows were projected using management's best estimates of 
sales growth or declines for each brand over its expected life. The lives of the assets were determined by an evaluation of significant factors that 
could impact the life of the brand.  

        The cost approach was used to determine the value of the customer base using the estimated cost to recruit a customer. Technology, 
unfavorable leaseholds, contracts and other less significant intangible assets were valued using a present value approach of the returns or costs of 
the underlying assets. Goodwill was valued using the residual method.  

     

As of  
February 2, 2002 

  

     

(In millions)  

   
Current assets   $ 546   
Property, plant and equipment     442   
Other assets     398   
Intangible assets     415   
Goodwill     637   
      
  Total assets acquired     2,438   
      
Current liabilities     (425 ) 
Non-current liabilities     (279 ) 
      
  Total liabilities assumed     (704 ) 
      
    Net assets acquired   $ 1,734   
      



        We finalized the purchase price accounting relative to the CBL acquisition in the fourth quarter of 2002. Significant purchase price 
adjustments included an $83.4 million increase of goodwill related to the pension plan actuarial valuation, a $2.7 million decrease of goodwill 
for certain restructuring plans and a $4.3 million increase of goodwill for fixed asset write-offs.  

        Goodwill of $637 million was assigned to the Europe and Americas segments in the amounts of approximately $522 million and 
$115 million, respectively (See Footnote 18, Change in Accounting Principle, for further discussion of allocation). It is currently expected that 
none of the goodwill will be deductible for tax purposes in the United Kingdom. A valuation allowance of approximately $40 million was 
recorded against deferred tax assets arising from the acquisition in accordance with our accounting policies as discussed in Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.  

        In 2002, we closed our Cape Hill brewery and Alloa malting facility acquired as part of CBL. The majority of the production at the Cape 
Hill brewery related to brands that were retained by Interbrew, the previous owner of CBL. Liabilities recorded as part of purchase price 
accounting are (in millions):  

        Closure of the Cape Hill brewery commenced in July 2002 with the shut down of the kegging line. All production ceased in 
December 2002, although a limited number of employees will be retained until mid-2003 to clear the site in preparation for sale. The payment of 
severance and other termination benefits started in July 2002, with the closure of the kegging line, and are expected to be completed in mid-2003 
when site clearing is completed. We have recently commenced discussions with a number of developers regarding the disposal of the site. The 
amount outstanding at December 29, 2002 was approximately $9.1 million and is included in Accrued expenses on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet. We expect disposition to be completed during 2005, possibly earlier, depending on obtaining agreement with government authorities on 
zoning issues.  

        The Alloa malting facility was closed in June 2002 and was sold in July 2002 for $375,000.  

        The costs associated with these closures that were paid during 2002 consisted predominately of severance costs and approximated 
$3.2 million. The most significant amount of the restructuring costs  
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remaining to be paid will be incurred during the first half of 2003 as we complete the Cape Hill brewery closure.  

        We funded the acquisition with approximately $150 million of cash on hand and approximately $1.55 billion of debt as described below at 
the prevailing exchange rate:  

        In conjunction with the term loan and bridge facility, we incurred financing fees of approximately $9.0 million and $0.5 million, 
respectively. These fees are amortized over the respective terms of the borrowings using the effective interest method. On May 7, 2002, we 

Cape Hill:       
Employee severance and related costs   $ 15.6 
Contract cancellation costs     0.2 
    
Total     15.8 
    
Alloa Maltings:       
Employee severance and related costs     0.7 
Lease termination costs     0.8 
    
Total     1.5 
    
Grand Total   $ 17.3 
    

Term  

       

Facility Currency  
Denomination 

  

Balance 

               

(In millions)  

 
5 year   Amortizing term loan   USD   $ 478 
5 year   Amortizing term loan (228 million GBP)   GBP     322 
9 month   Bridge facility   USD     750 
            
            $ 1,550 
            



repaid our nine-month bridge facility and $91 million of outstanding term borrowings through the issuance of long-term financing. From 
February 2, 2002 through December 29, 2002, we repaid an additional $305 million of outstanding term borrowings and other debt (See Debt 
Footnote 4), for a total of $396 million paid.  

        The following unaudited, pro forma information shows the results of our operations for the years ended December 29, 2002 and 
December 30, 2001, as if the business combination with CBL had occurred at the beginning of each period. These pro forma results are not 
necessarily indicative of the results of operations that would have occurred if the business combination had occurred at the beginning of the 
respective periods and is not intended to be indicative of future results of operations (in thousands, except per share data):  

18.  Change in Accounting Principle  

        In June 2001, the FASB issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, "Business Combinations," (SFAS No. 141) and 
No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," (SFAS No. 142). SFAS No. 141 requires that all business combinations be accounted for using 
the purchase method of accounting and that certain intangible assets acquired in a business combination be recognized as assets apart from 
goodwill. SFAS No. 141 was effective for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 requires goodwill to be tested 
for impairment under certain circumstances, and written down when impaired, rather than being amortized as previously required. Furthermore, 
SFAS No. 142 requires purchased intangible assets other than goodwill to be amortized over their useful lives unless those lives are determined 
to be indefinite. Purchased intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization.  

        In accordance with SFAS No. 142, we ceased amortizing goodwill totaling $69.1 million, including $62.1 million related to our U.S. joint 
venture investment with Molson, Inc., as of the beginning of fiscal 2002. We also ceased amortizing approximately $7.2 million of other net 
intangible assets that we  
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considered to have indefinite lives. We also have $17.4 million of other intangible assets that have indefinite lives that were previously not 
amortized. As a result, during 2002, we did not recognize pre-tax amortization of goodwill and other intangibles totaling $1.7 million and 
$0.4 million, respectively, that would have been recognized had the previous standards still been in effect. We have excluded the reconciliation 
of reported net income to the adjusted net income and related per share amounts as the impact on reported income and related per share amounts 
is immaterial.  

        Upon our adoption of SFAS No. 142, we identified no goodwill that was impaired. SFAS No. 142 stipulates that we are required to perform 
goodwill impairment tests on at least an annual basis and more frequently in certain circumstances. We completed the required testing of 
goodwill impairment in the third and fourth quarters of 2002 and have determined that no goodwill is impaired. Goodwill related to our joint 
venture investment with Molson, Inc. was evaluated under APB No. 18 and found not to be impaired. The recoverability of our investment in the 
joint venture will be further evaluated during 2003.  

        The following tables present details of our intangible assets, other than Goodwill, as of December 29, 2002 (in millions):  

     

Fiscal Year Ended 

     

December 29, 2002 

  

December 30, 2001 

     

(Unaudited)  

 
Net sales   $ 3,857,593   $ 3,740,084 
Pretax income   $ 234,833   $ 224,489 
Net income   $ 148,452   $ 139,442 
Net income per common share:             
  Basic   $ 4.11   $ 3.78 

  Diluted   $ 4.06   $ 3.75 

     

Useful Life  
(Years) 

  

Gross 

  

Accumulated  
Amortization 

  

Net 

Intangible assets subject to amortization:                       
  Brands   3-20   $ 87.0   $ (10.3 ) $ 76.7 

  Distribution rights   2-10     31.9     (4.2 )   27.7 

  Patents and technology and distribution channels   3-10     29.8     (4.3 )   25.5 

  Other   5-34     17.1     (6.3 )   10.8 
Intangible assets not subject to amortization:                       
  Brands   Indefinite     321.5     —    321.5 

Pension   N/A     42.3     —    42.3 



        Note that the amounts reflected in the table above as of December 29, 2002, have fluctuated from the original purchase price allocation at 
February 2, 2002, due to the change in the GBP exchange rate versus the U.S. dollar between these dates and other adjustments to the purchase 
price.  

        Based on December 2002 average foreign exchange rates, the estimated future amortization expense of intangible assets is as follows 
(in millions):  

        Amortization expense of intangible assets was $20.9 million and $5.3 million for the years ended December 29, 2002 and December 30, 
2001, respectively.  

        Upon the acquisition of CBL on February 2, 2002, we recorded $637 million of goodwill. The total goodwill was determined using the 
residual method under SFAS No. 141 and 142. This goodwill was allocated between our Europe and Americas segments based on which 
segment would benefit from certain synergies created by the acquisition. A portion of the acquired goodwill was attributable to operating and 
financial synergies resulting from the combination. The financial synergy goodwill was calculated by comparing the risk premiums expected by 
investors associated with the CBC business with and without the CBL acquisition. This synergy was then associated with the segments based on 
an  
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analysis of the Europe segment with and without the WACC differential as well as the two segments' relative earnings contributions. Operating 
synergies were allocated to reporting units based on where the savings were expected to occur. Application of this methodology resulted is the 
following allocations:  

        The following table presents the changes in goodwill during the year ended December 29, 2002 allocated to the reportable segments 
(in millions):  

  
  Other   Indefinite     25.1     (0.5 )   24.6 
                
Total             $ 25.6   $ 529.1 
                

Fiscal Year  

  

Amount 

2003   $ 19.8 
2004   $ 18.1 
2005   $ 12.5 
2006   $ 12.1 
2007   $ 8.1 

     

As of February 2, 2002 

     

Europe 

  

Americas 

  

Total 

     

(In millions)  

 
Goodwill   $ 445   $ 0   $ 445 
Financial synergies     47     75     122 
Operational synergies     30     40     70 
        
Total Goodwill   $ 522   $ 115   $ 637 
        

Segment  

  

Balance At  
December 30, 2001 

  

Acquired 

  

Adjustments 

  

Balance At  
December 29, 2002 

Americas   $ 7.0   $ 115.1   $ —  $ 122.1 
Europe     —    522.2     82.8     605.0 
          
  Total   $ 7.0   $ 637.3   $ 82.8   $ 727.1 
          



        The adjustments during the year ended December 29, 2002 totalled $82.8 million and are the result of the foreign currency exchange rate 
change between February 2, 2002, the date of our acquiring CBL, and December 29, 2002. Americas goodwill, as reflected above, excludes 
approximately $62.1 million related to our joint venture investment in Molson USA. This amount is included in Investments in joint ventures in 
the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

19.  Supplemental Guarantor Information  

        On May 7, 2002, our wholly owned subsidiary, CBC (Issuer), completed a private placement of $850 million principal amount of 6 3 / 8 % 
Senior notes due 2012. The notes were issued with registration rights and were guaranteed on a senior and unsecured basis by Adolph Coors 
Company (Parent Guarantor) and certain domestic subsidiaries (Subsidiary Guarantors). The guarantees are full and unconditional, and joint and 
several. A significant amount of the Issuer's income and cash flow is generated by its subsidiaries. As a result, funds necessary to meet the 
Issuer's debt service obligations are provided in large part by distributions or advances from its subsidiaries. Under certain circumstances, 
contractual and legal restrictions, as well as our financial condition and operating requirements and those of certain domestic subsidiaries, could 
limit the Issuer's ability to obtain cash for the purpose of meeting its debt service obligation including the payment of principal and interest on 
the notes.  

        Simultaneously with the private placement, we entered into a registration rights agreement pursuant to which we registered the exchange of 
the notes for substantially identical notes. The exchange of all the notes was completed on September 16, 2002.  

        The following information sets forth our Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet as of December 29, 2002 and December 30, 2001 and the 
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Income and Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended December 29, 2002, December 30, 2001, and 
December 31, 2000. Investments in our subsidiaries are accounted for on the equity method; accordingly, entries necessary to consolidate the 
Parent Guarantor, Issuer and all of its subsidiaries are reflected in the elimination column. Separate complete financial statements of the Issuer 
and the Subsidiary Guarantors would not provide additional material information that would be useful in assessing their financial composition.  
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME  

For the fiscal year ended December 29, 2002  

(In thousands)  

     

Parent  
Guarantor 

  

Issuer  
of Notes 

  

Subsidiary  
Guarantors 

  

Subsidiary  
Non Guarantors 

  

Eliminations 

  

Consolidated 

  
Sales—domestic and 
international   $ —  $ 2,553,818   $ 71,043   $ 2,332,086   $ —  $ 4,956,947   
Beer excise taxes     —    (398,523 )   (2,194 )   (779,908 )   —    (1,180,625 ) 
                
Net sales     —    2,155,295     68,849     1,552,178     —    3,776,322   
Cost of goods sold     —    (1,379,969 )   (39,204 )   (995,357 )   —    (2,414,530 ) 
Equity in subsidiary earnings 
(loss)     142,233     94,158     —    —    (236,391 )   —  
                
Gross profit     142,233     869,484     29,645     556,821     (236,391 )   1,361,792   

  
Marketing, general and 
administrative     (357 )   (665,125 )   (25,482 )   (366,276 )   —    (1,057,240 ) 

  Special charges     —    (6,267 )   —    —    —    (6,267 ) 
                
Operating income     141,876     198,092     4,163     190,545     (236,391 )   298,285   
  Interest income     1,000     1,569     30     18,588     —    21,187   
  Interest (expense) income     30,396     (46,204 )   10,536     (65,647 )   —    (70,919 ) 
  Other income (expense)     6,219     27,062     40,067     (65,301 )   —    8,047   
                
Income (loss) before income 
taxes     179,491     180,519     54,796     78,185     (236,391 )   256,600   
Income tax expense     (17,838 )   (32,010 )   (23,581 )   (21,518 )   —    (94,947 ) 
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME  

For the fiscal year ended December 30, 2001  

(In thousands)  
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME  

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000  

(In thousands)  

Net income (loss)   $ 161,653   $ 148,509   $ 31,215   $ 56,667   $ (236,391 ) $ 161,653   
                

     

Parent  
Guarantor 

  

Issuer  
of Notes 

  

Subsidiary  
Guarantors 

  

Subsidiary  
Non Guarantors 

  

Eliminations 

  

Consolidated 

  
Sales—domestic and 
international   $ —  $ 2,544,857   $ 122,793   $ 175,102   $ —  $ 2,842,752   
Beer excise taxes     —    (396,270 )   (5,732 )   (11,288 )   —    (413,290 ) 
                
Net sales     —    2,148,587     117,061     163,814     —    2,429,462   
Cost of goods sold     —    (1,384,854 )   (87,085 )   (65,684 )   —    (1,537,623 ) 
Equity in subsidiary earnings 
(loss)     110,468     40,156     —    —    (150,624 )   —  
                
Gross profit (loss)     110,468     803,889     29,976     98,130     (150,624 )   891,839   

  
Marketing, general and 
administrative     (465 )   (654,622 )   (27,912 )   (34,061 )   —    (717,060 ) 

  Special charges     —    (23,174 )   —    —    —    (23,174 ) 
                
Operating income (loss)     110,003     126,093     2,064     64,069     (150,624 )   151,605   
  Gain on sale of distributorship     —    —    27,667     —    —    27,667   
  Interest income     14,313     1,781     —    315     —    16,409   
  Interest (expense) income     2,241     (4,236 )   (11 )   —    —    (2,006 ) 
  Other income (expense)     4,042     28,318     33,077     (61,099 )   —    4,338   
                
Income before income taxes 
(loss)     130,599     151,956     62,797     3,285     (150,624 )   198,013   
Income tax expense     (7,635 )   (42,372 )   (23,800 )   (1,242 )   —    (75,049 ) 
                
Net income (loss)   $ 122,964   $ 109,584   $ 38,997   $ 2,043   $ (150,624 ) $ 122,964   
                

     

Parent  
Guarantor 

  

Issuer  
of Notes 

  

Subsidiary  
Guarantors 

  

Subsidiary  
Non Guarantors 

  

Eliminations 

  

Consolidated 

  

Sales—domestic and 
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS  

As of December 29, 2002  

(In thousands)  

international   $ —  $ 2,632,436   $ 133,842   $ 75,460   $ —  $ 2,841,738   
Beer excise taxes     —    (403,790 )   (7,902 )   (15,631 )   —    (427,323 ) 
                
Net sales     —    2,228,646     125,940     59,829     —    2,414,415   
Cost of goods sold     —    (1,419,483 )   (92,109 )   (14,237 )   —    (1,525,829 ) 
Equity in subsidiary earnings 
(loss)     92,689     (23,795 )   —    —    (68,894 )   —  
                
Gross profit     92,689     785,368     33,831     45,592     (68,894 )   888,586   

  
Marketing, general and 
administrative     (1,224 )   (645,668 )   (30,709 )   (45,144 )   —    (722,745 ) 

  Special credits (charges)     —    1,543     —    (16,758 )   —    (15,215 ) 
                
Operating income (loss)     91,465     141,243     3,122     (16,310 )   (68,894 )   150,626   
  Gain on sale of distributorship     —    —    1,000     —    —    1,000   
  Interest income     18,306     2,566     —    453     —    21,325   
  Interest (expense) income     9,094     (15,450 )   —    (58 )   —    (6,414 ) 
  Other income (expense)     —    27,509     1,393     (25,914 )   —    2,988   
                
Income (loss) before income 
taxes     118,865     155,868     5,515     (41,829 )   (68,894 )   169,525   
Income tax expense (benefit)     (9,248 )   (63,475 )   (1,948 )   14,763     —    (59,908 ) 
                
Net income (loss)   $ 109,617   $ 92,393   $ 3,567   $ (27,066 ) $ (68,894 ) $ 109,617   
                

     

Parent  
Guarantor 

  

Issuer  
of Notes 

  

Subsidiary  
Guarantors 

  

Subsidiary  
Non Guarantors 

  

Eliminations 

  

Consolidated 

Assets                                     
Current assets:                                     
  Cash and cash equivalents   $ 161   $ 499     634   $ 57,873   $ —  $ 59,167 
  Accounts receivable, net     —    99,560     9,974     511,512     —    621,046 
  Other receivables, net     —    30,078     1,031     53,271     —    84,380 
  Total inventories     —    101,147     4,217     79,307     —    184,671 
  Other current assets     397     61,409     —    42,826     —    104,632 
              
Total current assets     558     292,693     15,856     744,789     —    1,053,896 
Properties, at cost and net     —    844,206     24,645     511,388     —    1,380,239 
Goodwill     —    133,564     (136,729 )   730,234     —    727,069 
Other intangibles, net     —    70,363     83,990     374,723     —    529,076 
Investments in joint ventures     —    94,417     —    96,767     —    191,184 
Net investment in and 
advances to subs     1,068,297     1,721,958     —    —    (2,790,255 )   —
Deferred tax asset     2,968     (14,545 )   158,187     59,790     —    206,400 
Other non-current assets     4,761     83,787     3,488     117,511     —    209,547 
              
Total assets   $ 1,076,584   $ 3,226,443   $ 149,437   $ 2,635,202   $ (2,790,255 ) $ 4,297,411 
              
Liabilities and 
Shareholders' Equity                                     
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS  

As of December 30, 2001  

(In thousands)  

Current liabilities:                                     
  Accounts payable   $ —  $ 167,037   $ 2,869   $ 164,741   $ —  $ 334,647 

  
Accrued salaries and 
vacations     —    57,642     1,151     20,208     —    79,001 

  
Taxes, other than income 
taxes     —    29,907     694     147,443     —    178,044 

  
Accrued expenses and 
other liabilities     67,944     62,655     63,009     218,542     —    412,150 

  
Current portion of long-
term debt     —    64,495     —    79,554     —    144,049 

              
Total current liabilities     67,944     381,736     67,723     630,488     —    1,147,891 
Long-term debt     20,000     1,363,392     —    —    —    1,383,392 
Deferred tax liability     —    —    —    156,437     —    156,437 
Other long-term liabilities     6,789     413,673     28     207,350     —    627,840 
              
Total liabilities     94,733     2,158,801     67,751     994,275     —    3,315,560 
              
Total shareholders' equity     981,851     1,067,642     81,686     1,640,927     (2,790,255 )   981,851 
              
Total liabilities and 
shareholders' equity   $ 1,076,584   $ 3,226,443   $ 149,437   $ 2,635,202   $ (2,790,255 ) $ 4,297,411 
              

     

Parent  
Guarantor 

  

Issuer  
of Notes 

  

Subsidiary  
Guarantors 

  

Subsidiary  
Non Guarantors 

  

Eliminations 

  

Consolidated 

Assets                                     
Current assets:                                     
  Cash and cash equivalents   $ 58,565   $ 4,790   $ 724   $ 13,054   $ —  $ 77,133 

  
Short-term marketable 
securities     232,572     —    —    —    —    232,572 

  Accounts receivable, net     —    74,017     9,909     11,059     —    94,985 
  Other receivables, net     791     10,917     1,766     273     —    13,747 
  Total inventories     —    108,012     5,134     1,977     —    115,123 
  Other current assets     (1,299 )   66,575     1,820     5,873     —    72,969 
              
    Total current assets     290,629     264,311     19,353     32,236           606,529 
Properties, at cost and net     —    839,304     23,141     7,265           869,710 
Goodwill     —    878     6,077     —          6,955 
Other intangibles, net     —    72,167     7,167     —          79,334 
Investments in joint ventures, 
net     —    94,785     —    —    —    94,785 
Net investment in and advances 
to subs     799,631     66,643     —    —    (866,274 )   —
Other assets     3,298     65,102     8,062     5,917     —    82,379 
              
Total assets   $ 1,093,558   $ 1,403,190   $ 63,800   $ 45,418   $ (866,274 ) $ 1,739,692 
              
Liabilities and Shareholders' 
Equity                                     
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

For the fiscal year ended December 29, 2002  

(In thousands)  

Current liabilities:                                     
  Accounts payable   $ —  $ 201,037   $ 5,074   $ 16,382   $ —  $ 222,493 

  
Accrued salaries and 
vacations     —    55,397     1,358     12     —    56,767 

  
Taxes, other than income 
taxes     —    27,469     556     3,246     —    31,271 

  
Accrued expenses and other 
liabilities     35,063     75,637     (2,718 )   10,994     —    118,976 

  
Current portion of long-term 
debt     85,000     —    —    3,038     —    88,038 

              
    Total current liabilities     120,063     359,540     4,270     33,672     —    517,545 
Long-term debt     20,000     —    —    —    —    20,000 
Deferred tax liability     (3,032 )   65,643     (611 )   (365 )   —    61,635 
Other long-term liabilities     5,215     180,422     26     3,537     —    189,200 
              
  Total liabilities     142,246     605,605     3,685     36,844     —    788,380 
              
  Total shareholders' equity     951,312     797,585     60,115     8,574     (866,274 )   951,312 
              
Total liabilities and 
shareholders' equity   $ 1,093,558   $ 1,403,190   $ 63,800   $ 45,418   $ (866,274 ) $ 1,739,692 
              

     

Parent  
Guarantor 

  

Issuer  
of Notes 

  

Subsidiary  
Guarantors 

  

Subsidiary  
Non Guarantors 

  

Consolidated 

  
Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities   $ 12,779   $ 139,888   $ 67,293   $ 38,585   $ 258,545   
              
Cash flows from investing activities:                                 
  Sales and maturities of securities     232,758     —    —    —    232,758   

  
Additions to properties and intangible 
assets     185     (147,798 )   (4,469 )   (94,760 )   (246,842 ) 

  Proceeds from sales of properties     —    9,810     1,545     16,002     27,357   
  Acquisition of CBL, net of cash acquired     —    (115,105 )   (92,650 )   (1,379,545 )   (1,587,300 ) 
  Investment in Molson USA, LLC     —    (2,750 )   —    —    (2,750 ) 
  Other     —    (7,561 )   —    —    (7,561 ) 
              

  
Net cash provided by (used in) 
investing activities     232,943     (263,404 )   (95,574 )   (1,458,303 )   (1,584,338 ) 

              
Cash flows from financing activities:                                 
  Issuances of stock under stock plans     15,645     —    —    —    15,645   
  Dividends paid     (29,669 )   —    —    —    (29,669 ) 
  Proceeds from issuance of debt     —    2,391,934     —    —    2,391,934   
  Proceeds from short-term borrowings     —    250,900     —    80,433     331,333   

  
Payments on debt and capital lease 
obligations     (85,000 )   (1,293,075 )   —    (1,643 )   (1,379,718 ) 

  Debt issuance costs     (185 )   (9,889 )   —    —    (10,074 ) 
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

For the fiscal year ended December 30, 2001  

(In thousands)  

  Change in overdraft balances     —    (27,783 )   —    —    (27,783 ) 

  
Net activity in investment and advances 
(to) from subsidiaries     (204,917 )   (1,192,862 )   29,411     1,368,368     —  

              

  
Net cash provided by (used in) 
financing activities     (304,126 )   119,225     29,411     1,447,158     1,291,668   

              
Cash and cash equivalents:                                 

  
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash 
equivalents     (58,404 )   (4,291 )   1,130     27,440     (34,125 ) 

  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 
and cash equivalents     —    —    (1,220 )   17,379     16,159   

  Balance at beginning of year     58,565     4,790     724     13,054     77,133   
              
  Balance at end of year   $ 161   $ 499   $ 634   $ 57,873   $ 59,167   
              

     

Parent  
Guarantor 

  

Issuer  
of Notes 

  

Subsidiary  
Guarantors 

  

Subsidiary  
Non Guarantors 

  

Consolidated 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating 
activities   $ (32,582 ) $ 189,288   $ 41,922   $ (5,232 ) $ 193,396 
            
Cash flows from investing activities:                               
  Purchases of investments     (228,237 )   —    —    —    (228,237 
  Sales and maturities of securities     268,093     —    —    —    268,093 

  
Additions to properties and intangible 
assets     522     (230,593 )   (13,934 )   (543 )   (244,548 

  
Proceeds from sales of properties and 
intangible assets     —    20,060     43,469     —    63,529 

  Investment in Molson USA, LLC     —    (65,000 )   —    —    (65,000 
  Other     —    7,589     —    1,825     9,414 
            

  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing 
activities     40,378     (267,944 )   29,535     1,282     (196,749 

            
Cash flows from financing activities:                               
  Issuances of stock under stock plans     10,701     —    —    —    10,701 
  Purchases of treasury stock     (72,345 )   —    —    —    (72,345 
  Dividends paid     (29,510 )   —    —    —    (29,510 
  Change in overdraft balances     —    51,551     —    —    51,551 

  
Net activity in investment and advances 
(to) from subsidiaries     27,377     34,006     (73,054 )   11,671     —

  Other     —    —    —    759     759 
            

  
Net cash provided by (used in) financing 
activities     (63,777 )   85,557     (73,054 )   12,430     (38,844 

            
Cash and cash equivalents:                               

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash 
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ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000  

(In thousands)  
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  equivalents     (55,981 )   6,901     (1,597 )   8,480     (42,197 

  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 
and cash equivalents     —    —    —    (431 )   (431 

  Balance at beginning of year     114,546     (2,111 )   2,321     5,005     119,761 
            
  Balance at end of year   $ 58,565   $ 4,790   $ 724   $ 13,054   $ 77,133 
            

     

Parent  
Guarantor 

  

Issuer  
of Notes 

  

Subsidiary  
Guarantors 

  

Subsidiary  
Non Guarantors 

  

Consolidated 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities   $ 5,124   $ 298,746   $ 7,656   $ (30,795 ) $ 280,731 
            
Cash flows from investing activities:                               
  Purchases of investments     (356,741 )   —    —    —    (356,741 
  Sales and maturities of securities     208,176     —    —    —    208,176 

  
Additions to properties and intangible 
assets     —    (155,412 )   (2,187 )   3,275     (154,324 

  Proceeds from sales of properties     —    3,486     2,933     8     6,427 
  Other     (277 )   3,971     —    (4,773 )   (1,079 
            

  
Net cash (used in) provided by investing 
activities     (148,842 )   (147,955 )   746     (1,490 )   (297,541 

            
Cash flows from financing activities:                               
  Issuances of stock under stock plans     17,232     —    —    —    17,232 
  Purchases of treasury stock     (19,989 )   —    —    —    (19,989 
  Dividends paid     (26,564 )   —    —    —    (26,564 
  Change in overdraft balances     —    4,686     —    —    4,686 

  
Net activity in investment and advances 
(to) from subsidiaries     139,461     (146,374 )   (19,025 )   25,938     —

  Other     —    —    —    (2,235 )   (2,235 
            

  
Net cash provided by (used in) financing 
activities     110,140     (141,688 )   (19,025 )   23,703     (26,870 

            
Cash and cash equivalents:                               

  
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash 
equivalents     (33,578 )   9,103     (10,623 )   (8,582 )   (43,680 

  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 
and cash equivalents     —    —    —    (367 )   (367 

  Balance at beginning of year     148,124     (11,214 )   12,944     13,954     163,808 
            
  Balance at end of year   $ 114,546   $ (2,111 ) $ 2,321   $ 5,005   $ 119,761 
            



20.  Subsequent Events  

        In February 2003, an arbitration panel found in favor of CBC in a contract interpretation issue between CBC and one of its wholesalers. The 
revenues that were the subject of the arbitration were generated by sales during 2002 and totaled approximately $4 million. This revenue will be 
recorded during the first quarter of 2003.  

 
Item 9. Disagreements on Accounting and Financial Disclosure  

        None.  
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PART III  

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant  

(a)  Directors  

         PETER H. COORS (Age 56) serves as Chairman of the Boards of ACC and CBC. He was Chief Executive Officer of ACC from 
May 2000 to July 2002 and of CBC from December 1992 to May 2000. He has been a director of ACC and CBC since 1973. Prior to 1993, he 
served as Executive Vice President and Chairman of the brewing division, before it was organized as CBC. He served as interim Treasurer and 
Chief Financial Officer of ACC from December 1993 to February 1995. He also has served in a number of different executive and management 
positions for CBC. Since March 1996, he has been a director of U.S. Bancorp. He also has been a director of Energy Corporation of America 
since March 1996, and was appointed to the board of H.J. Heinz & Co. in 2001. He is the nephew of William K. Coors.  

         WILLIAM K. COORS (Age 86) is Vice-Chairman of the Board of ACC and was Chairman from 1970 to July 2002. He has served as a 
director since 1940. He was President from 1989 until May 2000. He is the Chairman of the Executive Committees of ACC and CBC. He is also 
a director of CBC and Graphic Packaging International Corporation. He is the uncle of Peter H. Coors.  

         W. LEO KIELY III (Age 56) was appointed Chief Executive Officer of ACC in July 2002 and has served as Chief Executive Officer of 
CBC since May 2000. He served as President and Chief Operating Officer of CBC from March 1993 to May 2000. He has been a director of 
ACC and CBC since August 1998. Prior to joining CBC, he held executive positions with Frito-Lay, Inc., a subsidiary of PepsiCo in Plano, 
Texas.  

         CHARLES M. HERINGTON (Age 43) joined the boards of both ACC and CBC in February 2003. Since 1999 he has been President and 
Chief Executive Officer of America Online Latin America. Prior to joining AOL Latin America, he served as President of Revlon Latin 
America. From 1990 to 1997, Mr. Herington held various executive positions with PepsiCo Restaurants International (PepsiCo), serving most 
recently, from 1995 to 1997, as Regional Vice President of Kentucky Fried Chicken, Pizza Hut, Taco Bell of South America, Central America 
and the Caribbean. He also held several high level positions in management and marketing with Procter & Gamble in Canada, Puerto Rico and 
Mexico during the ten years prior to his association with PepsiCo.  

         FRANKLIN W. HOBBS (Age 55) was appointed a director of ACC and CBC in 2001 and is a member of the Audit Committee and the 
Compensation and Human Resources Committee. He graduated from Harvard College and Harvard Business School and served as Chief 
Executive Officer and director for the investment bank, Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin from 2001 to January 2003. He continues to serve as a 
senior advisor to its board. He served in roles of increasing responsibility at the investment bank, Dillon, Read & Co., Inc. from 1972 through 
2000, finally serving as chairman of UBS Warburg following a series of mergers between Dillon Read, and SBC Warburg, and later with Union 
Bank of Switzerland. He also serves on the board of directors of Lord Abbett Group of Mutual Funds and the Board of Overseers at Harvard 
College.  

         PAMELA H. PATSLEY (Age 46) has served as a director of both ACC and CBC since November 1996. She chairs the Audit Committee 
and served as a member of the Compensation and Human Resources Committee until May 2002. In May 2002, she was appointed President, 
First Data International. Previously, since March 2000, she served as Senior Executive Vice President of First Data Corp. and president of First 
Data Merchant Services, First Data Corp.'s merchant processing enterprise, which also includes the TeleCheck check guarantee and approval 
business. Prior to joining First Data, She served as President, Chief Executive Officer and director of Paymentech. She began her  

105  



 

Paymentech career as a founding officer of First USA, Inc. when it was established in 1985. Before joining First USA, she was with KPMG Peat 
Marwick.  

         WAYNE R. SANDERS (Age 55) has served as a director of ACC and CBC since February 1995. He is a member of the Compensation 
and Human Resources Committee and the Audit Committee. In September 2002, he retired as Chief Executive Officer of Kimberly-Clark 
Corporation and from his position as Chairman in February 2003. He joined Kimberly-Clark in 1975 and has served in a number of positions. He 
was elected to Kimberly-Clark's board of directors in August 1989 and as CEO in 1991. He is also a director of Texas Instruments Incorporated.  

         ALBERT C. YATES (Age 60) has served as a director of ACC and CBC since August 1998. He was appointed chairman of the 
Compensation and Human Resources Committee in November 2001. He was a committee member prior to his appointment as chair and also 
served as a member of the Audit Committee. He has announced his retirement as President of Colorado State University in Fort Collins, 
Colorado, effective in June 2003. He serves as Chancellor of the Colorado State University System, and is a member of the board of the Federal 
Reserve Board of Kansas City-Denver Branch. He previously served on the board of First Interstate Bank.  

(b)  Executive Officers  

        Of the above directors, William K. Coors, Peter H. Coors and W. Leo Kiely III are executive officers of ACC and CBC. The following also 
were executive officers of ACC and/or CBC at February 28, 2003:  

         RONALD G. ASKEW (Age 48) was appointed Chief Marketing Officer of CBC in October 2001. He was a founder and served as chief 
executive officer of The Integer Group, in Denver, Colorado, a marketing and advertising agency that services large accounts including CBC, 
from 1993 to October 2001. Before forming The Integer Group, he was director of account services for Tracy-Locke Advertising and DDB 
Worldwide in Dallas. He also served as a vice president for Frito-Lay, Inc. in marketing and new business development.  

         DAVID G. BARNES (Age 41) joined us in March 1999 as Vice President and Treasurer of ACC, and Vice President of Finance and 
Treasurer of CBC. In July 2002, he was appointed Vice President, Finance of ACC. From 1994 to 1999, he served as an officer of Tricon Global 
Restaurants, in various financial and development positions. From 1990 to 1994, he worked at Asea Brown Boveri in various strategy, planning 
and development roles of increasing responsibility. He started his career at Bain and Company, serving as a consultant for five years.  

         CARL L. BARNHILL (Age 54) joined CBC in May 1994 as Senior Vice President of Sales. He has more than 20 years of marketing 
experience with consumer goods companies. Previously, he was Vice President of Selling Systems Development for the European and Middle 
East division of Pepsi Foods International. Prior to joining Pepsi in 1993, he spent 16 years with Frito-Lay, Inc. in various senior sales and 
marketing positions.  

         MICHAEL J. GANNON (Age 39) was appointed Vice President, Treasurer of ACC and CBC in July 2002. Mr. Gannon joined us in 1991 
serving in various operations, finance and treasury functions. Prior to his appointment as Treasurer, he served as Director, Corporate Finance, 
overseeing treasury and finance projects for approximately 3 1 / 2  years. He previously oversaw capital planning projects and analysis.  

         PETER M. R. KENDALL (Age 56) joined us in January 1998 as Senior Vice President and Chief International Officer of CBC. In 2002, 
he was appointed Chief Executive Officer of CBL, our principal United Kingdom subsidiary, and is also Senior Vice President, United Kingdom 
and Europe. He is also a vice president of ACC. Before joining CBC, he was Executive Vice President of Operations and Finance for Sola 
International, Inc., a manufacturer and marketer of eyeglass lenses in Menlo Park,  
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California. From 1995 to 1996, he was President of International Book Operations for McGraw Hill Companies. From 1981-1994, he worked in 
leadership positions for Pepsi International, PepsiCo and PepsiCo Wines and Spirits. Prior to working for Pepsi, he spent six years at 
McKinsey & Co. in New York.  

         ROBERT D. KLUGMAN (Age 55) was named our Senior Vice President of Corporate Development of CBC in May 1994. In 2002, he 
was named Senior Vice President of Corporate Development and Chief International Officer, following the acquisition of CBL. He also serves 
as a vice president of ACC. Prior to that, he was Vice President of Brand Marketing, and also served as Vice President of International, 
Development and Marketing Services. Before joining us, he was a Vice President of Client Services at Leo Burnett USA, a Chicago-based 
advertising agency.  

         ROBERT M. REESE (Age 53) joined the company in December 2001 as Vice President and Chief Legal Officer. He also serves as 
Senior Vice President and Chief Legal Officer of CBC. Prior to joining us, he was associated with Hershey Foods Corporation from 1978 to 
2001, serving most recently as Senior Vice President of Public Affairs, General Counsel and Secretary.  

         MARA SWAN (Age 43) was appointed Senior Vice President and Chief People Officer of CBC in March 2002. She joined CBC in 



November 1994 as a Director of Human Resources responsible for the sales and marketing area and most recently was Vice President, Human 
Resources. Prior to that, she worked for 11 years at Miller Brewing Company in Milwaukee where she held various positions in human 
resources. Her most recent assignments at Miller included human resources manager for operations and personnel services manager for 
marketing.  

         RONALD A. TRYGGESTAD (Age 46) was named Vice President and Controller of CBC and Controller of ACC in May 2001. He 
joined the company in December 1997 as the Director of Tax. Prior to joining CBC, he was with Total Petroleum, Inc. from 1994 to 1997, 
serving there as Director of Tax and Internal Audit. He also worked for Shell Oil Company from 1990 through 1993, and Price Waterhouse from 
1982 through 1989.  

         TIMOTHY V. WOLF (Age 49) was named Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of ACC and Senior Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer of CBC in February 1995. Prior to CBC, he served as Senior Vice President of Planning and Human Resources for Hyatt 
Hotels Corporation from 1993 to 1994 and in several executive positions for The Walt Disney Company, including Vice President, Controller 
and Chief Accounting Officer, from 1989 to 1993. Prior to Disney, he spent 10 years in various financial planning, strategy and control roles at 
PepsiCo. He currently serves on the Science and Technology Commission for the State of Colorado.  

        Terms for all officers and directors are for a period of one year, except that vacancies may be filled and additional officers elected at any 
regular or special meeting. Directors of ACC are elected at the annual meeting of the Class A voting shareholder held in May. There are no 
arrangements or understandings between any officer or director pursuant to which any officer or director was elected.  

        Based upon our review of Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed by certain beneficial owners of our Class B common stock, we are not aware of any failure 
by the Section 16 reporting persons to timely file a required form pursuant to Section 16.  
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Item 11. Executive Compensation  

I. Summary Compensation Table  

(1)  

     

Annual Compensation 

  

Long-Term Compensation 

     

                         

Awards 

  

Payouts 

     

Name & Principal Position  

  

Year 

  

Salary  
($) 

  

Bonus  
($)(1) 

  

Other 
Annual 
Comp  

($) 

  

Restricted 
Stock  

($) 

  

Securities 
Underlying 

Options  
(#)(2) 

  

LTIP  
Payouts  

($) 

  

All Other 
Comp  
($)(3) 

W. Leo Kiely III, CEO of Adolph 
Coors Company & Coors Brewing 
Company 

  2002 
2001 
2000 

  755,194 
686,456 
569,250 

  678,085 
407,423 
428,644 

  0 
0 
0 

  0 
0 
0 

  120,000 
120,000 
103,708 

  0 
0 
0 

  136,734 
57,139 
57,139 

 
Peter H. Coors, Chairman of Adolph 
Coors Company & Coors Brewing 
Company 

 
  2002 

2001 
2000 

 
  760,500 

760,500 
726,750 

 
  546,242 

452,272 
563,760 

 
  0 

0 
0 

 
  0 

0 
0 

 
  125,000 

125,000 
170,908 

 
  0 

0 
0 

 
  83,173 

78,699 
78,699 

 
Timothy V. Wolf, CFO of Adolph 
Coors Company, Senior VP & CFO of 
Coors Brewing Company 

 
  2002 

2001 
2000 

 
  395,167 

371,000 
360,500 

 
  236,138 

163,899 
189,525 

 
  0 

0 
0 

 
  0 

0 
0 

 
  30,000 

20,000 
35,024 

 
  0 

0 
0 

 
  37,755 

11,835 
11,835 

 
Peter M. R. Kendall, Senior VP of 
Coors Brewing Company, CEO of 
Coors Brewers Limited 

 
  2002 

2001 
2000 

 
  374,713 

358,280 
348,140 

 
  218,548 

133,647 
180,915 

 
  0 

0 
0 

 
  0 

0 
0 

 
  40,000 

25,000 
33,823 

 
  0 

0 
0 

 
  217,915 

30,171 
30,171 

 
Ronald G. Askew, Chief Marketing 
Officer of Coors Brewing Company 

 
  2002 

2001 
2000 

 
  350,000 

87,500 
0 

 
  162,313 

51,682 
0 

 
  0 

0 
0 

 
  0 

10,000 
0 

 
  20,000 

0 
0 

 
  0 

0 
0 

 
  556,743 

9,814 
0 

Amounts awarded under the CBC Incentive Plan.  
 

(2)  See discussion under Item 11, Part II, for options issued in 2002.  
 

(3)  The amounts shown in this column are primarily attributable to the officer life insurance other than group life and bonus amounts 



unrelated to the annual CBC Incentive Plan shown in the Bonus column.  

        We provide term officer life insurance for all the named active executives. The officer's life insurance provides six times the executive base 
salary until retirement when the benefit terminates. The 2002 annual premium benefit for each executive was: W. Leo Kiely III, $80,579; Peter 
H. Coors, $23,499; Timothy V. Wolf, $7,757; Peter M. R. Kendall, $16,091 and Ronald G. Askew, $9,365.  

        During 2002, Ronald G. Askew received $500,000 and 10,000 shares of restricted stock as part of a signing bonus when he assumed the 
position of Chief Marketing Officer of CBC. The restricted stock was granted in November 2001 and the bonus became payable in 2002. Peter 
M. R. Kendall received $136,500 pursuant to a tax equalization contract in effect due to his international assignment. These dollar amounts are 
included in "other compensation" above.  

        Also, during 2002, we provided certain cash allowances to certain named executives. We provided Peter H. Coors and Timothy V. Wolf 
with $31,500 and $24,744, respectively, in cash allowances for certain membership dues and automobile use. We also reimbursed Peter M. R. 
Kendall $34,341 for moving expenses.  

        In response to Code Section 162 of the Revenue Reconciliation Act of 1993, we appointed a special compensation committee of the board 
to approve and monitor performance criteria in certain performance-based executive compensation plans for 2002.  
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II. Option/SAR Grants Table  

        Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year  

(1)  

     

Individual Grants 

                    

   

  

Number of  
Securities  

Underlying  
Options  

Granted (#)(1) 

  

% of total  
options  

granted to  
employees in  

fiscal year 

            

Potential Realizable Value at assumed rates of 
stock price appreciation for option term 

Name  

  

Exercise or  
base price  
($/Share) 

  

Expiration  
date 

  

5% 

  

10% 

W. Leo Kiely III   120,000   6.37 % $ 56.00   02/14/2012   $ 4,226,172   $ 10,709,949 
 
Peter H. Coors 

 
  125,000 

 
  6.64 

 
% 

 
$ 56.00 

 
  02/14/2012 

 
  

 
$ 4,402,262 

 
  

 
$ 11,156,197 

 
Timothy V. Wolf 

 
  30,000 

 
  1.59 

 
% 

 
$ 56.00 

 
  02/14/2012 

 
  

 
$ 1,056,543 

 
  

 
$ 2,677,487 

 
Peter M. R. Kendall 

 
  40,000 

 
  2.12 

 
% 

 
$ 56.00 

 
  02/14/2012 

 
  

 
$ 1,408,724 

 
  

 
$ 3,569,983 

 
Ronald G. Askew 

 
  20,000 

 
  1.06 

 
% 

 
$ 56.00 

 
  02/14/2012 

 
  

 
$ 704,362 

 
  

 
$ 1,784,992 

Grants vest one-third in each of the three successive years after the date of grant. As of December 30, 2002, no 2002 grants were vested 
because of the one-year vesting requirement; however, they will vest 33 1 / 3 % on the one-year anniversary of the grant dates.  

III. Option/SAR Exercises and Year-End Value Table  

        Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year End (FY-End) Option/SAR Value  

               

Number of Securities Underlying 
Unexercised Options at FY-End(#) 

  

Value of Unexercised in-the-money options at 
FY-End 

Name  

  

Shares  
Acquired on  
Exercise (#) 

  

Value  
Realized(1) 

  

Exercisable 

  

Unexercisable 

  

Exercisable 

  

Unexercisable 

W. Leo Kiely III   30,000   $ 1,472,550   297,686   234,570   $ 4,102,417   $ 802,356 
 
Peter H. Coors 

 
  0 

 
  

 
  0 

 
  303,816 

 
  257,869 

 
  

 
$ 3,909,053 

 
  

 
$ 1,004,023 

 
Timothy V. Wolf 

 
  0 

 
  

 
  0 

 
  75,885 

 
  55,010 

 
  

 
$ 738,489 

 
  

 
$ 238,828 

 
Peter M. R. Kendall 

 
  0 

 
  

 
  0 

 
  58,724 

 
  67,943 

 
  

 
$ 273,912 

 
  

 
$ 275,185 



(1)  

 
Ronald G. Askew 

 
  0 

 
  

 
  0 

 
  6,666 

 
  33,334 

 
  

 
$ 100,857 

 
  

 
$ 282,543 

Values stated are the bargain element realized in 2002, which is the difference between the option price and the market price at the time 
of exercise.  
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IV. Pension Plan Table  

        The following table sets forth annual retirement benefits for representative years of service and average annual earnings.  

(1)  

   
  

Years of Service   
Average Annual 
Compensation  

  

  

10 

  

20 

  

30 

  

40 

  
$ 125,000   $ 25,000   $ 50,000   $ 75,000   $ 100,000   
  150,000     30,000     60,000     90,000     120,000   
  175,000     35,000     70,000     105,000     140,000   
  200,000 (1)   40,000     80,000     120,000     160,000   
  225,000 (1)   45,000     90,000     135,000     180,000 (1) 
  250,000 (1)   50,000     100,000     150,000     200,000 (1) 
  275,000 (1)   55,000     110,000     165,000 (1)   220,000 (1) 
  300,000 (1)   60,000     120,000     180,000 (1)   240,000 (1) 
  325,000 (1)   65,000     130,000     195,000 (1)   260,000 (1) 
  350,000 (1)   70,000     140,000     210,000 (1)   280,000 (1) 
  375,000 (1)   75,000     150,000     225,000 (1)   300,000 (1) 
  400,000 (1)   80,000     160,000     240,000 (1)   320,000 (1) 
  425,000 (1)   85,000     170,000 (1)   255,000 (1)   340,000 (1) 
  450,000 (1)   90,000     180,000 (1)   270,000 (1)   360,000 (1) 
  475,000 (1)   95,000     190,000 (1)   285,000 (1)   380,000 (1) 
  500,000 (1)   100,000     200,000 (1)   300,000 (1)   400,000 (1) 
  525,000 (1)   105,000     210,000 (1)   315,000 (1)   420,000 (1) 
  550,000 (1)   110,000     220,000 (1)   330,000 (1)   440,000 (1) 
  575,000 (1)   115,000     230,000 (1)   345,000 (1)   460,000 (1) 
  600,000 (1)   120,000     240,000 (1)   360,000 (1)   480,000 (1) 

Maximum permissible benefit under ERISA from the qualified retirement income plan for 2002 was $160,000. Annual compensation 
exceeding $200,000 is not considered in computing the maximum permissible benefit under the qualified plan. We have a non-qualified 
supplemental retirement plan to provide full accrued benefits to all employees in excess of Internal Revenue Service maximums.  

        Annual compensation covered by the qualified and non-qualified retirement plans and credited years of service for the named executive 
officers are as follows: W. Leo Kiely III, $737,194 and 9 years; Peter H. Coors, $742,500 and 31 years; Timothy V. Wolf, $395,167 and 8 years; 
Peter M. R. Kendall, $374,713 and 5 years; and Ronald G. Askew, $350,000 and 1 year.  

        Our principal retirement income plan is a defined benefit plan. The amount of contribution for officers is not included in the above table 
since total plan contributions cannot be readily allocated to individual employees. Covered compensation is defined as the total base salary 
(average of three highest consecutive years out of the last 10) of employees participating in the plan, including commissions but excluding 
bonuses and overtime pay. Compensation also includes amounts deferred by the individual under Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k) and any 
amounts deferred into a plan under Internal Revenue Code Section 125. Normal retirement age under the plan is 65. An employee with at least 
5 years of vesting service may retire as early as age 55. Benefits are reduced for early retirement based on an employee's age and years of service 
at retirement; however, benefits are not reduced if (1) the employee is at least age 62 when payments commence; or (2) the employee's age 
plus years of service equal at least 85 and the employee has worked for us at least 25 years. The amount of pension actuarially accrued under the 
pension formula is based on a single life annuity.  
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        In addition to the annual benefit from the qualified retirement plan, Peter H. Coors is covered by a salary continuation agreement. This 
agreement provides for a lump sum cash payment to the officer upon normal retirement in an amount actuarially equivalent in value to 30% of 



the officer's last annual base salary, payable for the remainder of the officer's life, but not less than 10 years. The interest rate used in calculating 
the lump sum is determined using 80% of the annual average yield of the 10-year Treasury constant maturities for the month preceding the 
month of retirement. Using 2002 eligible salary amounts as representative of the last annual base salary, the estimated lump sum amount for 
Peter H. Coors would be based upon an annual benefit of $222,750, paid upon normal retirement.  

V. Compensation of Directors  

        The non-employee (NE) directors' annual retainer was raised from $36,000 to $42,000 in May 2002. NE directors also received a grant of 
1,000 options each in 2002.  

        In 2002, the NE members of the Board of Directors were paid 5 months of their annual 2001-2002 retainer, or $15,000, plus 7 months of 
their 2002-2003 retainer, or $24,000, as well as reimbursement of expenses incurred to perform their duties as directors. Franklin Hobbs elected 
to receive his 2001 compensation entirely in stock, which became unrestricted in May 2002. Pamela Patsley, Chair of our Audit Committee, and 
Dr. Albert Yates, Chair of our Compensation and Human Resources Committee, received additional payments of $6,000 and $5,000, 
respectively, for their services as committee chairs. Directors who are our full-time employees receive $18,000 annually. All directors are 
reimbursed for any expenses incurred while attending board or committee meetings and in connection with any other company business.  

VI. Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment Arrangements  

        Except for agreements with certain of our executive officers, including the named active executive officers, relating to their employment 
upon a change of control of our company, we have no agreements with executives providing employment for a set period. The change in control 
agreements, which apply to certain officers of CBC, generally provide that for a period of two years following a change of control as defined in 
the agreements, the officer will be entitled to certain compensation upon certain triggering events. These events include termination without 
cause, resignation for good reason or resignation by the officer for any reason during a 30-day window beginning one year after a change of 
control. Upon a triggering event, officers would be paid a multiple of their annual salary and bonus, plus health, pension and life insurance 
benefits for additional years. For the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, the compensation would equal three times annual salary and 
bonus, plus benefits for the equivalent of three years coverage, plus three years credit for additional service toward pension benefits. All other 
officers, including named active officers, who are party to these agreements would receive two times annual salary and bonus, plus two years 
equivalent benefit coverage, plus credit for two years additional service toward pension benefits.  

VII. Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation  

        Dr. Albert C. Yates, Chairman, Wayne R. Sanders and Franklin W. Hobbs served on the Compensation and Human Resources Committee 
during 2002.  

Executive Compensation Report of the Compensation and Human Resources Committee  

        The Compensation and Human Resources Committee has the responsibility of making recommendations and providing assistance to the 
Board of Directors on compensation and benefit programs for the Company's employee and non-employee directors, officers and employees.  
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Compensation Philosophy  

        The Committee adheres to several guiding principles in carrying out its responsibilities:  

        Total compensation should reward individual, team and corporate performance and provide incentive for enhancement of shareholder value. 
Variable pay awards (short- and long-term) will correlate closely (up and down) with business and individual performance.  

        Our total reward package encompasses base and variable pay, equity programs, benefits and personal growth . The Company provides a 
base salary that will maintain its competitive market position. The Company offers an annual incentive opportunity that aligns corporate growth 
objectives and performance with individual achievements. Performance measurement reflects calculated achievement levels and fact-based 
judgment. The relative emphasis of each are set by local management.  

        At more senior levels of leadership, measures reflect broader results and a focus on longer-term performance. Over time, top performers at 
all levels of the organization should receive median salaries and above median variable pay awards.  

        Along with our culture and other management systems, equity rewards will help us drive value- added performance for the Company, 
business units, and individuals. Equity will be used to align employees and our shareholders and will be focused on those individuals with the 
greatest ability to impact results.  



        The Committee considers several factors when determining compensation for executive officers:  

Overall Company Performance  

        In addition to their current knowledge of Company operations through participation at regular Board meetings, the Committee specifically 
looks at annual and long term sales, earnings, and cash flow per share growth; debt reduction goals; market share gains; progress toward long-
term objectives; and various qualitative factors relating to Company performance. There is no set weighting of these variables as applied to 
individual executive positions. Each year, management sets specific performance targets for the Company and certain business units for each of 
the categories set forth above. In addition, certain business units have specific targets in addition to overall Company performance which are a 
factor in rating the performance of the executive officers and other management personnel responsible for those units. These targets generally 
provide ranges below which no bonus compensation will be paid, and ranges for which incentive compensation will be paid, but which will vary 
depending on the level of performance within those ranges. The committee reviews the performance targets annually, makes recommendations, 
and determines whether to approve management's targets and recommended salary and bonus levels.  

Individual Performance  

        The Committee considers, in addition to business results, the executive's achievement of various other managerial objectives and personal 
development goals.  

Competitive Compensation  

        Management benchmarks executives against companies with similar revenues, as well as against companies in similar industries.  

Salary  

        The Company does not have an employment agreement with Mr. Peter Coors, Mr. Leo Kiely or any of its other executive officers, except 
for certain arrangements in the event of a change of control  
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of the Company. In setting base salaries the Committee generally considers the overall financial performance of the Company as well as external 
and internal pay equity. Actual salary determination is subjective. We believe Mr. Kiely's compensation is conservative relative to the market for 
CEOs in the comparable group of companies.  

        Salaries for other executive officers were targeted at market level in line with our overall compensation philosophy.  

Bonus  

        The Company pays incentive (bonus) compensation to all of its officers and most employees, except certain employees under collective 
bargaining agreements, in accordance with prescribed plans. The plans are reviewed and approved by the Committee annually. These Plans 
authorize payment of cash bonuses to participants based on a pre-established range of Company or business unit performance goals for 
designated performance periods. The incentive amount is calculated based on a percentage of the participant's salary, depending on grade level 
and position, and is divided into individual and company-based components. Mr. Kiely's bonus is based solely on Company pre-tax earnings 
performance. Bonuses for higher ranked employees are weighted more in favor of Company performance and less individual performance. In 
addition, performance in some cases may include targets not totally within the control of the participant in order to incorporate cross-functional 
goals.  

        In February 2003, the Committee certified the 2002 results against established performance goals and approved individual bonuses for all 
executive officers and employees who participate in the incentive plans.  

Long-Term Incentives  

        Stock option and restricted share awards are the Company's current long-term incentives. Stock option awards are made to approximately 
565 middle and upper level managers, including Mr. Kiely and the other executive officers. The number of options granted is a fixed number 
based on job level and market total compensation. Options normally vest over three years, one-third on each anniversary date of the grant.  

        In 2002, the Committee granted Mr. Kiely options for 120,000 shares under the 1990 Equity Incentive Stock Plan.  

Policy on Deductibility of Compensation Expenses  

        The Company is not allowed a deduction for certain compensation paid to certain executive officers in excess of $1 million, except to the 



extent such excess constitutes performance-based compensation. The Committee considers its primary goal is to design compensation strategies 
that further the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. To the extent they are not inconsistent with that goal, the Committee will 
attempt where practical to use compensation policies and programs that preserve the deductibility of compensation expenses.  

Submitted by the Compensation And Human Resources Committee:  
Albert C. Yates, Chairman  
Franklin W. Hobbs  
Wayne R. Sanders  
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VIII. Audit Committee Report  

        The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors is composed of a minimum of three directors who are independent as required by the 
listings standards of the New York Stock Exchange. The Committee operates under a written charter which is reviewed annually and adopted by 
the committee. The Audit Committee's primary duties and responsibilities are to:  

•  monitor the integrity of our financial reporting process, the system of internal controls and significant legal matters and ethics;  
 

•  review and appraise the independence and performance of our internal auditors and independent accountants; and  
 

•  provide an open avenue of communication for the independent accountants, financial and senior management, internal auditors 
and the board of directors.  

        The Committee held eleven meetings during the fiscal year ended December 29, 2002. Discussions were held with management and the 
independent auditors. Management represented to the committee that our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. The Committee has reviewed and discussed the consolidated financial statements with our 
management and the independent auditors. The Committee has discussed with the independent auditors matters required to be discussed by 
Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 61, Communication with Audit Committees, as amended.  

        The Audit Committee has ultimate authority and responsibility to select, evaluate, and when appropriate, replace the Company's 
independent auditor. The Committee has discussed with the independent auditors the auditors' independence, including the matters in the written 
disclosures and the letter we received from the auditors, as required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, Independence 
Discussions with Audit Committees. The fees billed by independent auditors for non-audit services were approved by the Audit Committee and 
were also considered in the discussions of independence.  

        The Audit Committee also discussed with the Company's senior management and independent auditors the process used for certifications 
by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for certain of the Company's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
Following the Committee's reviews and discussions with management and the independent auditor, the Committee recommended that the Board 
of Directors include the audited consolidated financial statements in the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 29, 2002.  

Submitted by the Audit Committee:  
Pamela H. Patsley (Chair)  
Wayne R. Sanders  
Franklin W. Hobbs  
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IX. Independent Public Accountants' Fees  

Audit Fees  

        Aggregate fees for professional services rendered by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in connection with its audit of our consolidated financial 
statements for fiscal year 2002 and the quarterly reviews of our financial statements included in Forms 10-Q were $813,000.  

Financial Information Systems Design and Implementation Fees  

        PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP rendered no professional services to us in connection with the design and implementation of financial 



information systems in fiscal year 2002.  

All Other Fees  

        Total other professional fees of $1,072,700 were billed for fiscal year 2002. These were primarily for: (1) income tax compliance and 
related tax services of $61,200; (2) audit related fees of $733,800, primarily related to the acquisition of CBL and related filings and (3) other 
related fees of $277,700 for other special project assistance.  
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management  

(a)(b) Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management  

        The following table sets forth information as of February 28, 2003, as to the beneficial ownership of Class A stock and Class B stock by 
beneficial owners of more than 5% of our Class A stock and Class B stock, each director, our named executive officers and by all directors and 
executive officers as a group. Unless otherwise indicated, the person or persons named have sole voting and investment power and that person's 
address is c/o Adolph Coors Company, 311 10th Street, P.O. Box 4030, Golden, Colorado 80401. Shares of common stock subject to options 
currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days following the date of the tables are deemed outstanding for computing the share ownership 
and percentage of the person holding such options, but are not deemed outstanding for computing the percentage of any other person.  

*  

Name of beneficial owner  

  

Number of Class A  
shares 

  

Percent of  
class(1) 

  

Number of Class B  
shares 

  

Percent of class(1) 

  
Adolph Coors, Jr. Trust, William K. 
Coors, Jeffrey H. Coors, Peter H. Coors, 
J. Bradford Coors and Melissa E. Coors, 
trustees   1,260,000 (2) 100 % 1,470,000 (2) 4.2 % 
Keystone Financing LLC   0   0.0 % 9,252,994 (3) 26.4 % 
Peter H. Coors   0 (4) 0.0 % 574,446 (4) 1.6 % 
William K. Coors   0 (5) 0.0 % 320,807 (5) *   
W. Leo Kiely III   0   0.0 % 422,176 (6) 1.2 % 
Charles M. Herington   0   0.0 % 220   *   
Franklin W. Hobbs   0   0.0 % 1,278 (7) *   
Pamela H. Patsley   0   0.0 % 3,372 (7) *   
Wayne R. Sanders   0   0.0 % 7,106 (7) *   
Albert C. Yates   0   0.0 % 2,345 (7) *   
Ronald G. Askew   0   0.0 % 23,332 (8) *   
Carl L. Barnhill   0   0.0 % 120,697 (9) *   
Peter M.R. Kendall   0   0.0 % 91,703 (10) *   
Timothy V. Wolf   0   0.0 % 106,666 (11) *   
All directors and executive officers as a 
group, including persons named above 
(18 persons)   0   0.0 % 1,876,832   5.1 % 

Less than 1%  
 

(1)  Except as set forth above and based solely upon reports of beneficial ownership required filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission pursuant to Rule 13d-1 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, we do not believe that any other person beneficially 
owned, as of February 28, 2003 greater than 5% of our outstanding Class A stock or Class B stock.  
 

(2)  William K. Coors and Peter H. Coors disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Adolph Coors, Jr. Trust.  
 

(3)  Keystone Financing LLC ("Keystone") is a limited liability company whose members consist of various Coors family trusts and family 
members, including the Adolph Coors, Jr. Trust. Keystone is a manager-managed company, of which William Coors and Jeffrey Coors 
are the sole managers.  
 

(4)  This number does not include 1,260,000 shares of Class A common stock or 1,470,000 shares of Class B common stock owned by the 
Adolph Coors, Jr. Trust, as to all of which Peter H. Coors disclaims beneficial ownership. This number does not include an additional 
aggregate of 487,100  
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shares held by a number of other trusts that hold the shares for the benefit of certain Coors family members, as to all of which Peter H. 
Coors disclaims beneficial ownership. Peter H. Coors is a trustee or beneficiary of certain of these trusts. The Commission does not 
require disclosure of these shares. This number does include 5,680 shares held in the names of Peter H. Coors' wife and some of his 
children, as to which he disclaims beneficial ownership. This number includes options to purchase 430,128 shares of Class B common 
stock exercisable within 60 days. If Peter H. Coors were to be attributed beneficial ownership of the shares held by these trusts, he would 
beneficially own 100% of the Class A common stock and 2,531,546 shares of the Class B common stock, or 7.2%.  

(5)  This number does not include 1,260,000 shares of Class A common stock or 1,470,000 shares of Class B common stock owned by the 
Adolph Coors, Jr. Trust, or 9,252,994 shares of Class B common stock owned by Keystone Financing LLC as to all of which William K. 
Coors disclaims beneficial ownership. It does not include an aggregate of 487,100 shares of Class B common stock owned by a number 
of other trusts that hold the shares for the benefit of certain Coors family members, as to all of which William K. Coors disclaims 
beneficial ownership. William K. Coors is a trustee or beneficiary of certain of these trusts. The Commission does not require disclosure 
of these shares. If William K. Coors were to be attributed beneficial ownership of the shares held by these trusts, he would beneficially 
own 100% of the Class A common stock and 11,530,901 shares of the Class B common stock or 32.9%.  
 

(6)  This number included options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days to purchase 409,208 shares of class B common stock.  
 

(7)  This number includes options exercisable within 60 days to purchase 1,000 shares of Class B common stock. These options were issued 
under our 1991 Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee directors. Vesting in the options occurs at the end of the one-year term for 
outside directors.  
 

(8)  This number includes currently exercisable options to purchase 13,334 shares of Class B common stock.  
 

(9)  This number includes currently exercisable options to purchase 115,821 shares of Class B common stock.  
 

(10)  This number includes options to purchase 91,664 shares of Class B common stock currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days.  
 

(11)  This number includes options to purchase 104,226 shares of Class B common stock currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days.  

(c)  Changes in Control  

        There are no arrangements that would later result in a change of our control.  

 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions  

(a)  Transactions with Management and Others  

        None.  

(b)  Certain Business Relationships  

        We purchase a large portion of our paperboard requirements from a subsidiary of Graphics Packaging International Corporation (GPIC). 
Our previous supply agreement expired on December 31, 2002 and was extended to March 31, 2003. As of the date of this filing, we had reached 
an agreement with GPIC regarding the terms of a new contract, and the contract was being circulated for signatures.  
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William K. Coors is a trustee of family trusts that collectively own all of our Class A voting common stock, approximately 30% of our Class B 
common stock, approximately 39% of GPIC's common stock and 100% of GPIC's series B preferred stock which is currently convertible into 
48,484,848 shares of GPIC's common stock. If converted, the trusts would own approximately 63% of GPIC's common stock. Peter H. Coors is 
also a trustee of some of these trusts.  

        Our purchases under the packaging agreement in 2002 totaled $111 million. Related accounts payable balances included in Affiliates 
Accounts Payable on the Consolidated Balance Sheets were $0.8 million, $0.5 million and $1.3 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

        We are also a limited partner in a real estate development partnership in which a subsidiary of GPIC is the general partner. The partnership 
owns, develops, operates and sells certain real estate previously owned directly by us. In 2002, we received $0.5 million in distributions from 
this partnership.  



(c)  Indebtedness of Management  

        No member of management or another with a direct or indirect interest in us was indebted to us in excess of $60,000 in 2002.  

 
Item 14. Controls and Procedures  

        We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are based closely on the definition of "disclosure controls and procedures" in Rule 13a-
14(c) under the Exchange Act. These controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange 
Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such 
information is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management necessarily applies its judgment in assessing the 
costs and benefits of such controls and procedures which, by their nature, can provide only reasonable assurance regarding management's control 
objectives. Also, we have investments in certain unconsolidated entities. As we do not control or manage these entities, our disclosure controls 
and procedures with respect to such entities are necessarily substantially more limited than those we maintain with respect to our consolidated 
subsidiaries.  

        Within 90 days prior to the date of this report, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer carried out an evaluation, with 
the assistance and participation of management, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and 
procedures. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure 
controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information required to be included in the Company's periodic SEC 
filings relating to the Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries). There were no significant changes in the Company's internal controls or 
in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of the most recent evaluation.  
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PART IV  

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K  

(a)  The following documents are filed as part of this report:  
 
(1)  Financial Statements: See index of financial statements in Item 8.  

 
(2)  Financial Statement Schedules:  

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.  
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Report of Independent Accountants on  
Financial Statement Schedule  

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Adolph Coors Company:  

        Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated February 6, 2003, appearing in this Form 10-K also 
included an audit of the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15(a)(2) of this Form 10-K. In our opinion, this financial statement schedule 
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial 
statements.  

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  

Denver, Colorado  
February 6, 2003  
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SCHEDULE II  

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  
ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  

(1)  

     

Balance at  
beginning of year 

  

Acquired  
with CBL 

  

Additions  
charged to  
costs and  
expenses 

  

Deductions(1) 

  

Balance at  
end of year 

Allowance for doubtful accounts—
Trade accounts receivable                               
Year ended:                               
December 29, 2002   $ 91   $ 19,407   $ 2,256   $ (7,420 ) $ 14,334 
December 30, 2001     139     —    119     (167 )   91 
December 31, 2000     55     —    84     —    139 
Allowance for doubtful accounts—
Trade loans                               
Year ended:                               
December 29, 2002   $ —  $ 6,582   $ —  $ —  $ 6,582 
Allowance for freight claims                               
Year ended:                               
December 29, 2002   $ 111   $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 111 
December 30, 2001     104     —    50     (43 )   111 
December 31, 2000     133     —    —    (29 )   104 
Allowance for obsolete inventories 
and supplies                               
Year ended:                               
December 29, 2002   $ 4,370   $ 8,462   $ 5,424   $ (4,155 ) $ 14,101 
December 30, 2001     3,614     —    3,361     (2,605 )   4,370 
December 31, 2000     3,170     —    2,664     (2,220 )   3,614 
Allowance for doubtful accounts—
Long term trade loans                               
Year ended:                               
December 29, 2002   $ —  $ 17,794   $ —  $ —  $ 17,794 

Write-offs of uncollectible accounts, claims or obsolete inventories and supplies.  
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(3)  Exhibits:  

        Exhibit 2.1—Share Purchase Agreement between Coors Worldwide, Inc. and Adolph Coors Company and Interbrew, S.A., Interbrew U.K. 
Holdings Limited, Brandbrew S.A., and Golden Acquisition Limited dated December 24, 2001 and amended February 1, 2002. (Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K/A filed April 18, 2002).  

        Exhibit 3.1—Amended and restated Articles of Incorporation of Adolph Coors Company effective May 17, 2001. (Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2001)  

        Exhibit 3.2—By-laws, as amended and restated May 10, 2000. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Registration Statement on 
Form S-3, SEC file No. 333-48194 filed October 27, 2000)  

        Exhibit 4.1—Indenture, dated as of May 7, 2002, by and among the Issuer, the Guarantors and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as 
trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002)  

        Exhibit 4.2—First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 7, 2002 by and among the issuer, the Guarantors and Deutsche Bank Trust 
Company Americas, as trustee. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 
2002)  

        Exhibit 10.1*—2001 amendment to Adolph Coors Company 1990 Equity Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to 



Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000)  

        Exhibit 10.2—Form of CBC Distributorship Agreement. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
December 29, 1996)  

        Exhibit 10.3—Adolph Coors Company Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 
to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 1997) and 1999 Amendment (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Form 10-K for 
the fiscal year ended December 27, 1998)  

        Exhibit 10.4—Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 5, 1992, between the Company and ACX Technologies, Inc. (Incorporated 
herein by reference to the Distribution Agreement included as Exhibits 2, 19.1 and 19.1A to the Registration Statement on Form 10 filed by 
ACX Technologies, Inc. (file No. 0-20704) with the commission on October 6, 1992, as amended)  

        Exhibit 10.5*—Adolph Coors Company Stock Unit Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended December 28, 1997) and 1999 Amendment (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
December 27, 1998)  

        Exhibit 10.6*—2001 amendment to Adolph Coors Company Deferred Compensation Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to 
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000)  

        Exhibit 10.7*—CBC 2002 Coors Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
December 30, 2001.)  

        Exhibit 10.8—Adolph Coors Company Water Augmentation Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Form 10-K for the fiscal 
year ended December 31, 1989)  

        Exhibit 10.9—Second Amendment to Supply Agreement between CBC and Graphic Packaging International Corporation dated 
December 31, 2002 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed December 31, 2002.)  

        Exhibit 10.10—Amended form of change-in-control agreements for Chairman and for Chief Executive Officer.  

        Exhibit 10.11—Amended form of change-in-control agreements for other officers  
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        Exhibit 10.12—Supply agreement between CBC and Ball Metal Beverage Container Corp. dated November 12, 2001 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2001).  

        Exhibit 10.13—Supply Agreement between Rocky Mountain Metal Container, LLC and CBC dated November 12, 2001 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Form 8-K/A filed April 18, 2002).  

        Exhibit 10.14—Agreement between CBC and EDS Information Services, LLC effective August 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.14 to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2001).  

        Exhibit 10.15—Credit Agreement dated as of February 1, 2002 among Adolph Coors Company, CBC, Golden Acquisition Limited, the 
lenders party thereto, Deutsche Bank Alex. Brown Inc., as Syndication Agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent, and J.P. Morgan 
Europe Limited, as London Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2001).  

        Exhibit 10.16—Bridge Credit Agreement dated as of February 1, 2002 among Adolph Coors Company, CBC, the lenders party thereto, 
Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., as Syndication Agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent, and J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, 
as London Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2001).  

        Exhibit 10.17—Adolph Coors Company Deferred Compensation Plan amended and restated effective January 1, 2002.  

        Exhibit 10.18—Amended Adolph Coors Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors.  

        Exhibit 10.19—Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between Graphic Packaging Corporation and Coors Brewing Company (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Form 8-K dated March 25, 2002 filed by Graphic Packaging International Corporation).  

        Exhibit 21—Subsidiaries of the Registrant.  



        Exhibit 23—Consent of Independent Accountants.  

        Exhibit 99.1—Written Statement of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer furnished pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).  

*  Represents a management contract.  
 

(b)  Reports on Form 8-K  

        A current report on Form 8-K dated December 31, 2002 was filed to announce an extension of our packaging supply agreement with 
Graphic Packaging Corporation to accommodate negotiations for a new agreement.  

(c)  Other Exhibits  

        None.  

(d)  Other Financial Statement Schedules  

        None.  
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SIGNATURES  

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following directors on behalf 
of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.  

 
ADOLPH COORS COMPANY 

 
  

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/   PETER H. COORS        

Peter H. Coors  
Chairman and Director 

 
  

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/   W. LEO KIELY        

W. Leo Kiely  
Chief Executive Officer and Director  
(Principal Executive Officer) 

 
  

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/   TIMOTHY V. WOLF        

Timothy V. Wolf  
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer  
(Principal Financial Officer) 

 
  

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/   RONALD A. TRYGGESTAD        

Ronald A. Tryggestad  
Controller  
(Principal Accounting Officer) 

 
  

 
  

 
By: 

 
  
  

  
 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/   CHARLES M. HERINGTON        
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SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICE R  

I, W. Leo Kiely III, certify that:  

1.  

William K. Coors  
Director Charles M. Herington  

Director 
 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/   FRANKLIN W. HOBBS        

Franklin W. Hobbs  
Director 

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/   PAMELA H. PATSLEY        

Pamela H. Patsley  
Director 

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/   WAYNE R. SANDERS        

Wayne R. Sanders  
Director 

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/   ALBERT C. YATES        

Albert C. Yates  
Director 

 
  

 
  

 
March 26, 2003 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Adolph Coors Company.  
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this annual report;  
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
annual report;  
 

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:  
 
a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 

consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual 
report is being prepared;  
 

b)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date 
of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and  
 

c)  presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our 
evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;  

 
5.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit 

committee of registrant's board of directors:  
 
a)  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to 

record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in 
internal controls; and  
 

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal controls; and  

 
6.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal 

controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including 
any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.  

 
    /s/   W. LEO KIELY III        
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SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICE R  

I, Timothy V. Wolf, certify that:  

1.  

W. Leo Kiely III  
Chief Executive Officer  
March 26, 2003 

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Adolph Coors Company.  
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this annual report;  
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
annual report;  
 

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:  
 
a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 

consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual 
report is being prepared;  
 

b)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date 
of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and  
 

c)  presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our 
evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;  

 
5.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit 

committee of registrant's board of directors:  
 
a)  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to 

record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in 
internal controls; and  
 

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal controls; and  

 
6.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal 

controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including 
any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.  
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    /s/   TIMOTHY V. WOLF        

Timothy V. Wolf  
Chief Financial Officer  
March 26, 2003 
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EXHIBIT 10.10 

AGREEMENT  

[Amended Form of Change-in-Control Agreement]  

        AGREEMENT by and among Adolph Coors Company, a Colorado corporation ("ACC"), Coors Brewing Company, a Colorado corporation 
("CBC") (ACC and CBC are hereinafter individually and collectively referred to as the "Company"), and                        (the "Executive"), dated 
as of June 1, 2002.  

        The Executive is employed by the Company. The Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") has determined that it is in the best 
interests of the Company and its stockholders to assure that the Company will have the continued dedication of the Executive, in the event of the 
threat or occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined below) of the Company. The Board believes that it is important to diminish the 
distraction of the Executive from Company business because of personal uncertainties and risks created by a pending or threatened Change of 
Control and to encourage the Executive's full attention and dedication to the Company currently and in the event of any threatened or pending 
Change of Control.  

        The parties agree as follows:  

        1.     Certain Definitions.       

        (a)  The "Effective Date" shall mean the first date on which a Change of Control (as defined in Section 2) occurs during the Term 
(as defined in Section 1(b)).  

        (b)  The "Term" shall mean the period commencing on the date hereof and ending on the second anniversary of the date hereof; 
provided, however, that commencing on the date one year after the date hereof, and on each annual anniversary of such date (such date 
and each annual anniversary thereof shall be hereinafter referred to as the "Renewal Date"), unless previously terminated, the Term shall 
be automatically extended so as to terminate two years from such Renewal Date, unless at least 60 days prior to the Renewal Date the 
Board shall give notice to the Executive that the Term not be so extended. Notwithstanding notice to the Executive that the Term shall 
not be extended, if a Change of Control occurs prior to the expiration of the Term, then the Term shall be automatically extended so as to 
expire two years from the date of such Change of Control.  

        2.     Change of Control.     For the purposes of this Agreement, a "Change of Control" shall occur if:  

        (a)  a Person or Persons become(s) the direct or indirect Beneficial Owner of more than 20% of the total voting power of the Voting 
Stock of the Company at a time when the Existing Shareholder does not hold more than 50% of the voting power of the Voting Stock of 
the Company, provided that any such acquisition of beneficial ownership of Voting Stock by any of the following Persons shall not by 
itself constitute a Change of Control hereunder: (i) the Company or one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries or (ii) any employee benefit 
plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries;  

        (b)  the Company consummates a merger, reorganization, recapitalization, joint venture, consolidation, share exchange, business 
combination or similar form of corporate transaction involving the Company (each, a "Business Combination") unless, immediately 
following such Business Combination, more than 50% of the voting power of the then outstanding Voting Stock of the Person resulting 
from consummation of such Business Combination (including, without limitation, any parent or ultimate parent corporation of such 
Person that as a result of such transaction owns directly or indirectly the Company and all or substantially all of the Company's assets) is 
held by the Existing Shareholder.  

        (c)  individuals who constitute the Board (the "Incumbent Directors") cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the 
Board, provided that any person becoming a director  

 
subsequent to February 14, 2002, whose election or nomination for election was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the 
Incumbent Directors then on the Board (either by a specific vote or by approval of the proxy statement of the Company in which such 
person is named as a nominee for director, without written objection to such nomination) shall be an Incumbent Director; provided , 
however , that no individual initially elected or nominated as a director of the Company as a result of an actual or threatened election 
contest with respect to directors or as a result of any other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of any 
Person other than the Board shall be deemed to be an Incumbent Director; or  



        (d)  the shareholders of the Company approve a dissolution or liquidation involving all or substantially all of the Company's assets, 
or the Company consummates the sale of all or substantially all of the Company's assets to a Person, unless more than 50% of the voting 
power of the Voting Stock of such Person is held directly or indirectly by the Existing Shareholder.  

        (e)  For purposes of this Section 2, the following definitions shall apply:  

          (i)  " Beneficial Owner and Beneficially Own " shall mean beneficial ownership as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under 
the Exchange Act, except that a person shall be deemed to beneficially own all securities that such person has the right to acquire, 
whether such right is exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time.  

        (ii)  " Company Common Stock " shall mean the Company's Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock and any 
other common stock (whether voting or non-voting) that may be hereafter issued by the Company.  

        (iii)  " Exchange Act " shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

        (iv)  " Existing Shareholder " shall mean the Adolph Coors, Jr. Trust and any successor trust thereto the primary 
beneficiaries of which are descendants of Adolph Coors, Sr.  

        (v)  " Person " shall mean any individual, corporation, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of 
the Exchange Act).  

        (vi)  " Voting Stock " shall mean any and all shares, interests, participations, rights in or other equivalents of capital stock and 
warrants or options exchangeable for or convertible into such capital stock which ordinarily have the power to vote for the 
election of directors, managers or other voting members of the governing body (the "Governing Board") of a Person.  

        3.     Employment Period.     The Company hereby agrees to continue the Executive in its employ, and the Executive hereby agrees to 
remain in the employ of the Company subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, for the period commencing on the Effective Date 
and ending on the second anniversary of such date (the "Employment Period").  

        4.     Terms of Employment.       

        (a)   Position and Duties.  

          (i)  During the Employment Period, (A) the Executive's position (including status, offices, titles and reporting 
requirements), total enterprise-wide scope (if Executive is an officer of ACC), authority, duties and responsibilities shall be 
commensurate in all material respects with the most significant of those held, exercised and assigned at any time during the one 
year period immediately preceding the Effective Date and (B) the Executive's services shall be performed at the location where 
the Executive was employed preceding the Effective Date or any office or location less than thirty-five miles from such location.  
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        (ii)  During the Employment Period, and excluding any periods of vacation and sick leave to which the Executive is entitled, 
the Executive agrees to devote reasonable attention and time during normal business hours to the business and affairs of the 
Company and to discharge the responsibilities assigned to the Executive hereunder. During the Employment Period Executive 
may (A) serve on civic or charitable boards or committees of not for profit or similar organizations, (B) teach, and (C) manage 
personal investments, so long as such activities do not significantly interfere with the performance of the Executive's 
responsibilities as an employee of the Company in accordance with this Agreement. To the extent that any such activities have 
been conducted by the Executive and by other executives of the Company prior to the Effective Date, the continued conduct of 
such activities (or the conduct of activities similar in nature and scope thereto) subsequent to the Effective Date shall not 
thereafter be deemed to interfere with the performance of the Executive's responsibilities to the Company.  

        (b)   Compensation .  

          (i)   Base Salary. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall receive an annual base salary ("Annual Base Salary"), 
which shall be paid at a monthly rate, at least equal to twelve times the highest monthly base salary paid or payable, including any 
base salary which has been earned but deferred, to the Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies in respect of the 
twelve-month period immediately preceding the month in which the Effective Date occurs. During the Employment Period, the 
Annual Base Salary shall be reviewed no more than twelve months after the last salary increase awarded to the Executive prior to 
the Effective Date and thereafter at least annually. Any increase in Annual Base Salary shall not serve to limit or reduce any other 
obligation to the Executive under this Agreement. Annual Base Salary shall not be reduced after any such increase and the term 
Annual Base Salary as utilized in this Agreement shall refer to Annual Base Salary as so increased. As used in this Agreement, 
the term "affiliated companies" shall include any company controlled by, controlling or under common control with the 



Company.  

        (ii)   Annual Bonus. In addition to Annual Base Salary, the Executive shall be entitled to participate, with respect to each 
fiscal year ending during the Employment Period, in the Company's Management Incentive Compensation Plan, or any 
comparable successor plans, under terms (including measures of performance, targets and payout potential) at least as favorable 
as the terms under such bonus plan as in effect during the Company's fiscal year ending immediately prior to the Effective Date 
(the "Annual Bonus"). Each such Annual Bonus shall be paid no later than the end of the third month of the fiscal year next 
following the end of the fiscal year for which the Annual Bonus is awarded, unless the Executive shall elect to defer the receipt of 
such Annual Bonus.  

        (iii)   Incentive, Savings and Retirement Plans. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to participate 
in all incentive, savings and retirement plans, practices, policies and programs applicable generally to other peer executives of the 
Company and its affiliated companies, but in no event shall such plans, practices, policies and programs provide the Executive 
with incentive opportunities (measured with respect to both regular and special incentive opportunities, to the extent, if any, that 
such distinction is applicable), savings opportunities or retirement benefit opportunities, in each case, less favorable, in the 
aggregate, than the most favorable of those provided by the Company and its affiliated companies for the Executive under such 
plans, practices, policies and programs as in effect at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective 
Date or if more favorable to the Executive, those provided generally during the two year Employment Period following the 
Effective Date to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.  
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        (iv)   Stock Options and Other Equity Grants. During each year of the Employment Period, the Executive shall receive either 
(A) stock option grants pursuant to the Company's 1990 Equity Incentive Plan or any successor plan for each fiscal year ending 
during the Employment Period equal to the highest number and value to those granted to Executive for any of the three (3) years 
prior to the Effective Date (the "Stock Option / RSO Valuation Amount"), or (B) if such Plan or Plans do not exist, then an 
amount in cash equal to the Stock Option / RSO Valuation Amount. In addition, during the Employment Period, the Executive 
shall receive restricted stock grants pursuant to the Company's 1990 Equity Incentive Plan or any successor plan for each fiscal 
year during the Employment Period equal to the highest number and value to those granted to executive for any of the three 
(3) years prior to the Effective Date (the "Stock Option / RSO Valuation Amount"), or (B) if such Plan or Plans do not exist, then 
an amount in cash equal to the Stock Option / RSO Valuation Amount.  

        (v)   Welfare Benefit Plans. During the Employment Period, the Executive and/or the Executive's family, as the case may be, 
shall be eligible for participation in and shall receive all benefits under welfare benefit plans, practices, policies and programs 
provided by the Company and its affiliated companies (including, without limitation, medical, prescription, dental, disability, 
employee life, group life, accidental death and travel accident insurance plans and programs) to the extent applicable generally to 
other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies, but in no event shall such plans, practices, policies and 
programs provide the Executive with benefits which are less favorable, in the aggregate, than the most favorable of such plans, 
practices, policies and programs in effect for the Executive at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the 
Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, those provided generally at any time after the Effective Date to other peer 
executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.  

        (vi)   Expenses . During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to receive prompt reimbursement for all 
reasonable expenses incurred by the Executive in accordance with the most favorable policies, practices and procedures of the 
Company and its affiliated companies in effect for the Executive at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the 
Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer 
executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.  

      (vii)   Fringe Benefits . During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to fringe benefits, or cash payments in 
lieu of such fringe benefits, including but not limited to, tax and financial planning services, payment of club dues, use of an 
automobile and payment of related expenses, in accordance with the most favorable plans, practices, programs and policies of the 
Company and its affiliated companies in effect for the Executive at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the 
Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer 
executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.  

      (viii)   Office and Support Staff. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to an office or offices of a size 
and with furnishings and other appointments, and to exclusive personal secretarial and other assistance, at least equal to the most 
favorable of the foregoing provided to the Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies at any time during the 120-day 
period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as provided generally at any time 
thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.  
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        (ix)   Vacation. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the most 
favorable plans, policies, programs and practices of the Company and its affiliated companies as in effect for the Executive at any 
time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect 
generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.  

        (x)   Retirement Plan. On the Effective Date, the Company shall credit Executive with additional years of vesting service and 
an equal number of years of benefit service (but not for age) for Executive to receive benefits under the Coors Retirement Plan 
and any other supplemental or other retirement or pension plan maintained by the Company applicable to Executive or any 
successor(s) to the Coors Retirement Plan or such other plans (individually and collectively, the "Retirement Plans").  

        5.     Termination of Employment.       

        (a)   Death or Disability. The Executive's employment shall terminate automatically upon the Executive's death during the 
Employment Period. If the Company determines in good faith that the Disability of the Executive has occurred during the Employment 
Period (pursuant to the definition of Disability set forth below), it may give to the Executive written notice in accordance with Section 12
(b) of this Agreement of its intention to terminate the Executive's employment. In such event, the Executive's employment with the 
Company shall terminate effective on the 30th day after receipt of such notice by the Executive (the "Disability Effective Date"), 
provided that, within the thirty days after such receipt, the Executive shall not have returned to full-time performance of the Executive's 
duties. For purposes of this Agreement, "Disability" shall mean the absence of the Executive from the Executive's duties with the 
Company on a full-time basis for 180 consecutive business days as a result of incapacity due to mental or physical illness which is 
determined to be a disability pursuant to the Company's then existing Long Term Disability Plan or, in the absence of such a plan, a 
disability determined to be total and permanent by a physician selected by the Company and acceptable to the Executive or the 
Executive's legal representative.  

        (b)   Cause . The Company may terminate the Executive's employment during the Employment Period for Cause. For purposes of 
this Agreement, "Cause" shall mean:  

          (i)  the willful and continued failure of the Executive to perform substantially the Executive's duties with the Company or 
one of its affiliates (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a written demand 
for substantial performance is delivered to the Executive by the Board which specifically identifies the manner in which the Board 
believes that the Executive has not substantially performed the Executive's duties, or  

        (ii)  the willful engaging by the Executive in illegal conduct or gross misconduct which is a violation of fiduciary duties or is 
materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company.  

For purposes of this provision, no act or failure to act, on the part of the Executive, shall be considered "willful" unless it is done, or 
omitted to be done, by the Executive in bad faith or without reasonable belief that the Executive's action or omission was in the best 
interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board or 
based upon the advice of counsel for the company shall be conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in 
good faith and in the best interests of the Company. The cessation of employment of the Executive shall not be deemed to be for Cause 
unless and until there shall have been delivered to the Executive a copy of a resolution duly adopted by the affirmative vote of not less 
than three quarters of the entire membership of the Board at a meeting of the Board called and held for such purpose (after  
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reasonable notice is provided to the Executive and the Executive is given an opportunity, together with counsel, to be heard before the 
Board), finding that, in the good faith opinion of the Board, the Executive is guilty of the conduct described in subparagraph (i) or 
(ii) above, and specifying the particulars thereof in detail. The Company must notify the Executive of any event constituting Cause within 
ten (10) days following the Company's knowledge of its existence or such event shall not constitute Cause under this Agreement.  

        (c)   Good Reason. The Executive's employment may be terminated by the Executive for Good Reason. For purposes of this 
Agreement, "Good Reason" shall mean, without Executive's express written consent, the occurrence of any of the following events:  

          (i)  a demotion or diminution in rank, title, responsibility or authority, the assignment to the Executive, following the 
Effective Date, of any duties inconsistent in any respect with the Executive's position (including status, offices, titles and 
reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities as contemplated by Section 4(a) of this Agreement, or any other 
action by the Company which results in a diminution in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities, excluding for this 
purpose an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company within ten 
(10) days after receipt of such notice thereof given by the Executive;  



        (ii)  any failure by the Company to comply with any of the provisions of Section 4(b) of this Agreement, including but not 
limited to the failure by the Company to pay the Executive any portion of his compensation, or to provide an Annual Bonus under 
terms (including but not limited to measures, targets and payout potential) at least as favorable as the terms for such Bonus as in 
effect during the Company's fiscal year immediately prior to the Effective Date or to pay the Executive any portion of an 
installment of deferred compensation under any deferred compensation program of the Company when such compensation is due, 
other than an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company 
within ten (10) days after receipt of notice thereof given by the Executive;  

        (iii)  the Company's requiring the Executive to be based at any office or location other than as provided in Section 4(a)(i)(B) 
hereof for more than 60 days during any twelve consecutive calendar months or the Company's requiring the Executive to travel 
on Company business to a substantially greater extent than required immediately prior to the Effective Date;  

        (iv)  any purported termination by the Company of the Executive's employment otherwise than as expressly permitted by this 
Agreement; or  

        (v)  any failure by the Company to comply with and satisfy Section 12(c) of this Agreement.  

        For purposes of this Section 5(c), any good faith determination of "Good Reason" made by the Executive shall be conclusive. 
Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, a termination by the Executive for any reason in the Executive's sole 
discretion during the thirty-day period immediately following the first anniversary of the Effective Date shall be deemed to be a 
termination for Good Reason for all purposes of this Agreement.  

        (d)   Notice of Termination. Any termination by the Company for Cause, or by the Executive for Good Reason, shall be 
communicated by Notice of Termination to the other party hereto given in accordance with Section 13(b) of this Agreement. For 
purposes of this Agreement, a "Notice of Termination" means a written notice which (i) indicates the specific termination provision in 
this Agreement relied upon, (ii) to the extent applicable, sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a 
basis for termination of the Executive's employment under the  
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provision so indicated and (iii) if the Date of Termination (as defined below) is other than the date of receipt of such notice, specifies the 
termination date (which date shall be not more than thirty days after the giving of such notice). The failure by the Executive or the 
Company to set forth in the Notice of Termination any fact or circumstance which contributes to a showing of Good Reason or Cause 
shall not waive any right of the Executive or the Company, respectively, hereunder or preclude the Executive or the Company, 
respectively, from asserting such fact or circumstance in enforcing the Executive's or the Company's rights hereunder.  

        (e)   Date of Termination . "Date of Termination" means (i) if the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company for Cause, 
or by the Executive for Good Reason, the date of receipt of the Notice of Termination or any later date up to six months thereafter 
specified therein, as the case may be, (ii) if the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company other than for Cause or Disability, 
the Date of Termination shall be the date on which the Company notifies the Executive of such termination or any later date specified 
therein within 30 days of such notice and (iii) if the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of death or Disability, the Date of 
Termination shall be the date of death of the Executive or the Disability Effective Date, as the case may be.  

        6.     Obligations of the Company upon Termination.       

        (a)   Good Reason; Other Than for Cause, Death or Disability. If, during the Employment Period, the Company shall terminate the 
Executive's employment other than for Cause or Disability or the Executive shall terminate employment for Good Reason:  

          (i)  the Company shall pay to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within ten (10) days after the Date of Termination the 
aggregate of the following amounts:  

        (A)  the sum of (1) the Executive's Annual Base Salary (which for this purpose shall include any allowance for 
perquisites that is paid directly to the Executive) through the end of the fiscal year containing the Date of Termination; 
(2) an amount equal to (x) the higher of the target bonus amount or the bonus actually paid to the Executive under the 
Company's Management Incentive Compensation Plan (or any comparable successor plan(s)) for the fiscal year of the 
Company prior to the Effective Date or (y) the target bonus amount payable to the Executive under such plan(s) for the 
fiscal year of the Company which contains the Date of Termination, whichever of (x) or (y) is higher (the "Target 
Bonus"); and (3) any accrued vacation or other pay not theretofore paid (the sum of the amounts described in clauses (1), 
(2), and (3) are herein referred to as the "Accrued Obligations"); and  

        (B)  the amount equal to the product of (1) three and (2) the sum of (x) the Executive's Annual Base Salary (which for 



this purpose shall include any allowance for perquisites that is paid directly to the Executive) and (y) the higher of (aa) the 
Target Bonus and (bb) the highest annual incentive bonus earned by Executive during the last three (3) completed fiscal 
years of the Company immediately preceding Executive's Date of Termination (annualized in the event Executive was not 
employed by the Company for the whole of any such fiscal year), with the product of (1) and (2) reduced by the amounts 
paid, if any, to the Executive under the Company's Severance Pay Plan or pursuant to any other contractual arrangement 
with the Executive or plan providing coverage to the Executive as a result of such termination.  

        (ii)  for twenty-four months after the Executive's Date of Termination or such longer period as may be provided by the terms 
of the appropriate plan, program, practice or policy, the Company shall continue benefits to the Executive and/or the Executive's 
family, including life insurance, at least equal (on an after-tax basis) to those which would have been provided  
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to them in accordance with the plans, programs, practices and policies described in Section 4(b)(v) of this Agreement if the 
Executive's employment had not been terminated or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally at any time 
thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies and their families, provided, however, 
that if the Executive becomes reemployed with another employer and is eligible to receive medical or other welfare benefits under 
another employer-provided plan, the medical and other welfare benefits described herein shall be secondary to those provided 
under such other plan during such applicable period of eligibility, but only to the extent that the Company reimburses the 
Executive for any increased cost and provides any additional benefits necessary to give Executive the benefits provided 
hereunder.  

        (iii)  the Company shall credit Executive for benefit calculation purposes under the Retirement Plans (A) for the balance of 
the Employment Period and (B) with two additional years of benefit service, vesting service and age.  

        (iv)  for twenty-four months following the Date of Termination the Company shall, at its sole expense, reimburse the 
Executive for the cost (but not in excess of $25,000 in the aggregate), as incurred, for outplacement services the scope and 
provider of which shall be selected by the Executive in Executive's sole discretion.  

        (v)  for twenty-four months following the Date of Termination the Company shall, to the extent not otherwise paid or 
provided, pay or provide to the Executive, all other fringe benefits and executive perquisites provided on the date of this 
Agreement, or on the Date of Termination to the extent they are more extensive, including, but not limited to, luncheon club dues, 
annual physical examination, parking, health club dues, and financial planning assistance ("Other Benefits"); and  

        (vi)  with respect to any options, restricted stock or other stock based awards held by the Executive pursuant to the 
Company's Equity Incentive Plan, or any successor plan, on the Date of Termination all restrictions on awards of restricted stock 
will be canceled, and all outstanding stock options and stock appreciation rights and other stock based awards that have not fully 
vested, shall vest immediately and become fully exercisable and shall not thereafter be forfeitable; provided further that with 
respect to the Executive's stock options, (i) the options shall remain exercisable until the earlier of (x) the expiration of the option 
term or (y) five (5) years after the Date of Termination; (ii) for purposes of option exercises by the Executive following the 
Effective Date for the period such options remain exercisable, for each share of common stock acquired pursuant to such option 
exercise, Executive shall be entitled to a cash payment equal to the excess, if any, of (x) the closing price of one share of the 
common stock subject to such option as reported in the principal consolidated transaction reporting system with respect to 
securities listed or admitted to trading on the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (the "NYSE") (or, if the securities are not listed or 
admitted to trading on the NYSE, as reported in the principal consolidated transaction reporting system with respect to securities 
listed on the principal national securities exchange on which the securities are listed or admitted to trading or, if the securities are 
not listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, as reported by the National Association of Securities 
Dealers, Inc. Automated Quotation System or such other system then in use, any such exchange or system an "Other Exchange") 
on the date of the Change of Control over (y) the closing price of one share of the common stock on the NYSE or any Other 
Exchange on the date of exercise; and (iii) if, after a Change of Control occurs, any of the Executive's stock options are not 
assumed or substituted by the successor corporation or the common stock (or common stock equivalent, in the case of a non-U.S. 
entity) for which each such option is exercisable is not traded on the NYSE or any Other Exchange, then in respect of each such 
option held by the Executive, the Executive, in exchange for surrendering such options, shall  
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be entitled to an immediate cash payment equal to the Black-Scholes value (determined as of that date, the date of grant, or the 
Effective Date, whichever of the foregoing is highest) of each such option as determined by the independent accounting firm that 
audited the Company's financial statements prior to the Change of Control, assuming that the option's expected life is the balance 
of its term.  



        (b)   Death. If the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of the Executive's death during the Employment Period, this 
Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive's legal representatives under this Agreement, other than for 
payment of Accrued Obligations and the timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the 
Executive's estate or beneficiary, as applicable, in a lump sum in cash within thirty days of the Date of Termination. The term Other 
Benefits at utilized in this Section 6(b) shall include, without limitation, and the Executive's estate and/or beneficiaries shall be entitled to 
receive, benefits at least equal to the most favorable benefits provided by the Company and affiliated companies to the estates and 
beneficiaries of peer executives of the Company and such affiliated companies under such plans, programs, practices and policies relating 
to death benefits, if any, as in effect with respect to other peer executives and their beneficiaries at any time during the 120-day period 
immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive's estate and/or the Executive's beneficiaries, as in effect 
on the date of the Executive's death with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies and their 
beneficiaries. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if the Executive's accidental death occurs after the receipt of a 
Notice of Termination for any termination (i) by the Company other than for Cause or Disability or (ii) by the Executive for Good 
Reason and no payments to Executive have been made under Section 6(a), then this Section 6(b) shall not apply and the Executive's 
estate and/or beneficiaries shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 6(a).  

        (c)   Disability. If the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of the Executive's Disability during the Employment Period, 
this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive, other than for payment of Accrued Obligations and the 
timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within thirty 
days of the Date of Termination. The Term "Other Benefits" as utilized in this Section 6(c) shall include, and the Executive shall be 
entitled after the Disability Effective Date to receive, disability and other benefits at least equal to the most favorable of those generally 
provided by the Company and its affiliated companies to disabled executives and/or their families in accordance with such plans, 
programs, practices and policies relating to disability, if any, as in effect generally with respect to other peer executives and their families 
at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive and/or the 
Executive's family, as in effect at any time thereafter generally with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated 
companies and their families.  

        (d)   Termination in Anticipation of a Change of Control.  

          (i)  An "Anticipatory Termination" occurs if either  

        (A)  (1) the Company terminates the Executive's employment other than for Cause or Disability prior to the date on 
which a Change of Control occurs, (2) it is reasonably demonstrated by the Executive that such termination of 
employment (x) was at the request of a third party who had taken steps reasonably calculated to effect a Change of Control 
or (y) otherwise arose within six months of, and was in connection with or in anticipation of, a Change of Control, and 
(3) a Change of Control occurs, or  

        (B)  (1) during the Term, an event occurs that would have constituted Good Reason if the Effective Date was deemed 
to be the date immediately prior to the date of such event and the Executive terminated his employment subsequent to 
such event, (2) the  
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Executive can reasonably demonstrate that such Good Reason event (x) was at the request of a third party who had taken 
steps reasonably calculated to effect a Change of Control or (y) otherwise arose within six months of, and was in 
connection with or in anticipation of, a Change of Control, and (3) a Change of Control occurs.  

For purposes of clauses (A)(2)(y) and (B)(2)(y) of this paragraph, it shall be presumed that such event was in connection with or 
in anticipation of a Change of Control unless the Company establishes otherwise by clear and convincing evidence.  

        (ii)   Obligations of the Company upon an Anticipatory Termination . If the Executive has reason to believe that an 
Anticipatory Termination may have occurred, he shall provide a notice setting forth such belief in accordance with Section 13(b) 
of this Agreement within one hundred and twenty (120) days after a Change of Control has occurred. Upon an Anticipatory 
Termination, the Executive shall be entitled to (A) the payments specified in Sections 6(a)(i), (iii) and (iv) (to the extent not 
previously paid), (B) the benefits specified in Sections 6(a)(ii) and (v))to the extent not previously provided) (or the after-tax 
equivalent thereof to the extent that such benefits have not been or are not provided in kind), (C) to the extent that the Executive 
has outstanding any unexercised stock options and other stock-based awards, the provisions of Section 6(a)(vi) shall apply to 
them, and (D) in respect of any stock options or other stock based awards that were forfeited by the Executive as a result of his 
termination of employment but would have vested had Section 6(a)(vi) applied, such awards shall be reinstated (or if not 
reinstated, the Executive shall be paid in cash the fair value of such award as determined by the accounting firm referred to in 
Section 6(a)(vi)). For the purposes of this Section 6(e)(ii), the Executive's Date of Termination shall be deemed to be his last date 
of employment by the Company.  



        7.     Nonexclusivity of Rights.     Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit the Executive's continuing or future participation in any 
plan, program, policy or practice provided by the Company or any of its affiliated companies and for which the Executive may qualify, nor, 
subject to Section 13(f), shall anything herein limit or otherwise affect such rights as the Executive may have under any contract or agreement 
with the Company or any of its affiliated companies. Amounts which are vested benefits or which the Executive is otherwise entitled to receive 
under any plan, policy, practice, or program of or any contract or agreement with the Company or any of its affiliated companies at or 
subsequent to the Date of Termination shall be payable in accordance with such plan, policy, practice or program or contract or agreement 
except as explicitly modified by this Agreement.  

        8.     Full Settlement.     The Company's obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its 
obligations hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the Company 
may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by way 
of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under any of the provisions of this Agreement and such amounts shall not be reduced 
whether or not the Executive obtains other employment, except as specifically provided with respect to medical and other welfare benefits under 
another employer-provided plan pursuant to subsection 6(a)(ii). The Company agrees to pay as incurred, and to the full extent permitted by law, 
all legal fees and expenses which the Executive may reasonably incur as a result of any contest (regardless of the outcome thereof) by the 
Company, the Executive or others of the validity or enforceability of, or liability under, any provision of this Agreement or any guarantee of 
performance thereof (including as a result of any contest by the Executive about the amount of any payment pursuant to this Agreement), plus in 
each case interest on any delayed payment at the applicable Federal rate provided for in Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended (the "Code").  
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        9.     Certain Additional Payments by the Company.       

        (a)  Anything in this Agreement or in any other agreement between the Company and the Executive or in any stock option or other 
benefit plan to the contrary notwithstanding and except as set forth below, in the event it shall be determined that any payment or 
distribution by the Company to or for the benefit of the Executive (whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the 
terms of this Agreement or otherwise, but determined without regard to any additional payments required under this Section 9) (a 
"Payment") would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code or any interest or penalties are incurred by the 
Executive with respect to such excise tax (such excise tax, together with any such interest and penalties, are hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the "Excise Tax"), then the Executive shall be entitled to receive an additional payment (a "Gross-Up Payment") in an 
amount such that after payment by the Executive of all taxes (including any interest or penalties imposed with respect to such taxes), 
including, without limitation, any income taxes (and any interest and penalties imposed with respect thereto) and Excise Tax imposed 
upon the Gross-Up Payment, the Executive retains an amount of the Gross-Up Payment equal to the Excise Tax imposed upon the 
Payments.  

        (b)  Subject to the provisions of Section 9(c), all determinations required to be made under this Section 9, including whether and 
when a Gross-Up Payment is required and the amount of such Gross-Up Payment and the assumptions to be utilized in arriving at such 
determination, shall be made by such nationally recognized certified public accounting firm as may be designated by the Executive (the 
"Accounting Firm"), which shall provide detailed supporting calculations both to the Company and the Executive within fifteen business 
days of the receipt of notice from the Executive that there has been a Payment, or such earlier time as is requested by the Company. In 
the event that the Accounting Firm is serving as accountant or auditor for the Company or the individual, entity or group effecting the 
Change of Control, the Executive shall appoint another nationally recognized accounting firm to make the determinations required 
hereunder (which accounting firm shall then be referred to as the Accounting Firm hereunder). All fees and expenses of the Accounting 
Firm shall be borne solely by the Company. Any Gross-Up Payment, as determined pursuant to this Section 9, shall be paid by the 
Company to the Executive within five business days of the receipt of the Accounting Firm's determination. Any determination by the 
Accounting Firm shall be binding upon the Company and the Executive. As a result of the uncertainty in the application of Section 4999 
of the Code at the time of the initial determination by the Accounting Firm hereunder, it is possible that a Gross-Up Payment which will 
not have been made by the Company should have been made ("Underpayment"), consistent with the calculations required to be made 
hereunder. In the event that the Company exhausts its remedies pursuant to Section 9(c) and the Executive thereafter is required to make 
a payment of any Excise Tax, the Accounting Firm shall determine the amount of the Underpayment that has occurred and any such 
Underpayment shall be promptly paid by the Company to or for the benefit of the Executive.  

        (c)  The Executive shall notify the Company in writing of any claim by the Internal Revenue Service that, if successful, would 
require the payment by the Company of the Gross-Up Payment. Such notifications shall be given as soon as practicable but no later than 
ten business days after the Executive is informed in writing of such claim and shall apprise the Company of the nature of such claim and 
the date on which such claim is requested to be paid. The Executive shall not pay such claim prior to the expiration of the thirty-day 
period following the date on which it gives such notice to the Company (or such shorter period ending on the date that any payment of 
taxes with respect to such claim is due). If the Company notifies the Executive in writing prior to the expiration of such period that it 
desires to contest such claim, the Executive shall:  

          (i)  give the Company any information reasonably requested by the Company relating to such claim,  
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        (ii)  take such action in connection with contesting such claim as the Company shall reasonably request in writing from time 
to time, including, without limitation, accepting legal representation with respect to such claim by an attorney reasonably selected 
by the Company,  

        (iii)  cooperate with the Company in good faith in order effectively to contest such claim; and  

        (iv)  permit the Company to participate in any proceedings relating to such claim;  

provided, however, that the Company shall bear and pay directly all costs and expenses (including additional interest and 
penalties) incurred in connection with such contest and shall indemnify and hold the Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, for 
any Excise Tax or income tax (including interest and penalties with respect thereto) imposed as a result of such representation and 
payment of costs and expenses. Without limitation on the foregoing provisions of this Section 9(c), the Company shall control all 
proceedings taken in connection with such contest, and, at its sole option, may pursue or forgo any and all administrative appeals, 
proceedings, hearings and conferences with the taxing authority in respect of such claim and may, at its sole option, either direct 
the Executive to pay the tax claimed and sue for a refund or to contest the claim in any permissible manner, and the Executive 
agrees to prosecute such contest to a determination before any administrative tribunal, in a court of initial jurisdiction and in one 
or more appellate courts, as the Company shall determine; provided, however, that if the Company directs the Executive to pay 
such claim and sue for a refund, the Company shall advance the amount of such payment to the Executive, on an interest-free 
basis and shall indemnify and hold the Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, from any Excise Tax or income tax (including 
interest or penalties with respect thereto) imposed with respect to such advance or with respect to any imputed income with 
respect to such advance; and further provided that any extension of the statute of limitations relating to payment of taxes for the 
taxable year of the Executive with respect to which such contested amount is claimed to be due is limited solely to such contested 
amount. Furthermore, the Company's control of the contest shall be limited to issues with respect to which a Gross-Up Payment 
would be payable hereunder and the Executive shall be entitled to settle or contest, as the case may be, any other issue raised by 
the Internal Revenue Service or any other taxing authority.  

        (d)  If, after the receipt by the Executive of an amount advanced by the Company pursuant to Section 9(c), the Executive becomes 
entitled to receive any refund with respect to such claim, the Executive shall (subject to the Company's complying with the requirements 
of Section 9(c)) promptly pay to the Company the amount of such refund (together with any interest paid or credited thereon after taxes 
applicable thereto). If, after the receipt by the Executive of an amount advanced by the Company pursuant to Section 9(c), a 
determination is made that the Executive shall not be entitled to any refund with respect to such claim and the Company does not notify 
the Executive in writing of its intent to consent such denial of refund prior to the expiration of thirty days after such determination, then 
such advance shall be forgiven and shall not be required to be repaid and the amount of such advance shall offset, to the extent thereof, 
the amount of Gross-Up Payment required to be paid.  

        10.     Confidential Information.     The Executive shall hold in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the Company all material proprietary 
information, knowledge or data relating to the Company or any of its affiliated companies, and their respective businesses, which shall have been 
obtained by the Executive during the Executive's employment by the Company or any of its affiliated companies and which shall not be or 
become public knowledge (other than by acts by the Executive or representatives of the Executive in violation of this Agreement). After 
termination of the Executive's employment with the Company, the Executive shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company or as 
may  
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otherwise be required by law or legal process, communicate or divulge any such information, knowledge or data to anyone other than the 
Company and those designated by it. In no event shall an asserted violation of the provisions of this Section 10 constitute a basis for denying, 
deferring or withholding any amounts or benefits payable to the Executive under this Agreement.  

        11.     Dispute Resolution.       

        (a)  All claims and controversies that may arise under this Agreement shall be submitted to, and determined through, binding 
arbitration in the Denver, Colorado metropolitan area in accordance with the employment arbitration procedures of the American 
Arbitration Association ("AAA") existing at the time the arbitration is conducted, before a single arbitrator chosen in accordance with 
AAA procedures. The decision of the arbitrator shall be enforceable as a court judgment.  

        (b)  The Company shall reimburse Executive for all legal fees and expenses and related costs and expenses incurred by Executive 
arising from any claim, controversy or dispute (i) that is submitted to arbitration, whether initiated by the Executive or the Company, and 
including any dispute as to whether Executive is entitled to fees, expenses and costs under this Section 11(b); (ii) in seeking to obtain or 
enforce any right or benefit provided for under this Agreement; or (iii) in connection with any tax audit or proceeding to the extent 
attributable to the application of Section 4999 of the Code to any payment or benefit provided hereunder. Such payments shall be made 
within five (5) business days after delivery of Executive's written request(s) for payment accompanied by invoices of fees, expenses and 



costs incurred.  

        (c)  If within fifteen (15) days after any Notice of Termination is given or, if later, prior to the Date of Termination (as determined 
without regard to this Section 11(c)), the person receiving such Notice of Termination notifies the person giving such notice that a claim, 
controversy or dispute exists concerning the termination or concerning employment or any of the provisions of this Agreement that apply 
to such termination or employment, the Date of Termination shall be extended to the date on which the claim, controversy or dispute is 
fully and finally resolved, either by mutual written agreement of the parties or by final decision of the arbitrator referred to in Section 11
(a).  

        (d)  If a purported termination of Executive's employment occurs and such termination or the provisions of this Agreement that 
apply to such termination is disputed in accordance with this Section 11 (including a dispute as to the existence of "good faith" and/or 
"reasonable attention and time" under any provisions of this Agreement), the Company shall continue to pay Executive the full 
compensation (including, but not limited to, salary) at Executive's Annual Base Salary and continue Executive's participation in all 
compensation plans required to be maintained hereunder and continue to provide Executive all other benefits provided for in Section 4(b) 
of this Agreement until the dispute is finally resolved in accordance with this Section 11. Amounts paid under this section are in addition 
to all other amounts due under this Agreement and shall not be offset against or reduce any other amounts due Executive under this 
Agreement.  

        (e)  In any proceeding (regardless of who initiates such proceeding) under this Agreement the burden of proof as to whether Cause 
exists, whether Good Reason does not exist, and/or whether "good faith" and/or "reasonable attention and time" exist shall be upon the 
Company.  

        12.     Successors.       

        (a)  This Agreement is personal to the Executive and without the prior written consent of the Company shall not be assignable by the 
Executive otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable 
by the Executive's legal representatives.  
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        (b)  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and its successors and assigns.  

        (c)  The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or 
substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to assume expressly and agree to perform this Agreement in the same 
manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used in this 
Agreement, "Company" shall mean the Company as hereinbefore defined and any successor to its business and/or assets as aforesaid 
which assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law, or otherwise.  

        13.     Miscellaneous.       

        (a)  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado, without reference to 
principles of conflict of laws. The captions of this Agreement are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect. This 
Agreement may not be amended or modified otherwise than by a written agreement executed by the parties hereto or their respective 
successors and legal representatives.  

        (b)  All notices and any other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given by hand delivery to the other party or 
by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:  

If to the Executive:  
At their current home address as listed in the Company's records  
and as may be updated from time to time by the Executive.  

If to the Company:  
Coors Brewing Company  
311 10th St.  
Golden, CO 80401-0030  

        Attention: Chief Legal Officer  

or to such other address as either party shall have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith. Notice and 
communications shall be effective when actually received by the addressee.  



        (c)  The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other 
provision of this Agreement.  

        (d)  The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement such Federal, state, local or foreign taxes as shall 
be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.  

        (e)  The Executive's or the Company's failure to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of this Agreement or the failure to 
assert any right the Executive or the Company may have hereunder, including, without limitation, the right of the Executive to terminate 
employment for Good Reason pursuant to Section 5(c)(i) through (v) of this Agreement, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such 
provision or right or any other provision or right of this Agreement.  

        (f)    The Executive and the Company acknowledge that, except as may otherwise be provided under any other written agreement 
between the Executive and the Company, the employment of the Executive by the Company is "at will", and the Executive's employment 
and/or this Agreement may be terminated by either the Executive or the Company at any time prior to the Effective Date, in which case 
the Executive shall have no further rights under this Agreement except as provided in Section 6(e) (relating to termination in anticipation 
of a change in control). From and  
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after the Effective Date this Agreement shall supersede any other agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. 

        IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive has hereunto set the Executive's hand and, pursuant to the authorization from its Board of 
Directors, the Company has caused these presents to be executed in its name and on its behalf, all as of the day and year first above written.  
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EXHIBIT 10.11 

AGREEMENT  

[Amended Form of Change-in-Control Agreements for Other Officers]  

        AGREEMENT by and among Adolph Coors Company, a Colorado corporation ("ACC"), Coors Brewing Company, a Colorado corporation 
("CBC") (ACC and CBC are hereinafter individually and collectively referred to as the "Company"), and            (the "Executive"), dated as of 
June 1, 2002.  

        The Executive is employed by the Company. The Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") has determined that it is in the best 
interests of the Company and its stockholders to assure that the Company will have the continued dedication of the Executive, in the event of the 
threat or occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined below) of the Company. The Board believes that it is important to diminish the 
distraction of the Executive from Company business because of personal uncertainties and risks created by a pending or threatened Change of 
Control and to encourage the Executive's full attention and dedication to the Company currently and in the event of any threatened or pending 
Change of Control.  

        The parties agree as follows:  

        1.     Certain Definitions.       

        (a)  The "Effective Date" shall mean the first date on which a Change of Control (as defined in Section 2) occurs during the Term 
(as defined in Section 1(b)).  

        (b)  The "Term" shall mean the period commencing on the date hereof and ending on the second anniversary of the date hereof; 
provided, however, that commencing on the date one year after the date hereof, and on each annual anniversary of such date (such date 
and each annual anniversary thereof shall be hereinafter referred to as the "Renewal Date"), unless previously terminated, the Term shall 
be automatically extended so as to terminate two years from such Renewal Date, unless at least 60 days prior to the Renewal Date the 
Board shall give notice to the Executive that the Term not be so extended. Notwithstanding notice to the Executive that the Term shall 
not be extended, if a Change of Control occurs prior to the expiration of the Term, then the Term shall be automatically extended so as to 
expire two years from the date of such Change of Control.  

        2.     Change of Control.     For the purposes of this Agreement, a "Change of Control" shall occur if:  

        (a)  a Person or Persons become(s) the direct or indirect Beneficial Owner of more than 20% of the total voting power of the Voting 
Stock of the Company at a time when the Existing Shareholder does not hold more than 50% of the voting power of the Voting Stock of 
the Company, provided that any such acquisition of beneficial ownership of Voting Stock by any of the following Persons shall not by 
itself constitute a Change of Control hereunder: (i) the Company or one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries or (ii) any employee benefit 
plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries;  

        (b)  the Company consummates a merger, reorganization, recapitalization, joint venture, consolidation, share exchange, business 
combination or similar form of corporate transaction involving the Company (each, a "Business Combination") unless, immediately 
following such Business Combination, more than 50% of the voting power of the then outstanding Voting Stock of the Person resulting 
from consummation of such Business Combination (including, without limitation, any parent or ultimate parent corporation of such 
Person that as a result of such transaction owns directly or indirectly the Company and all or substantially all of the Company's assets) is 
held by the Existing Shareholder.  

        (c)  individuals who constitute the Board (the "Incumbent Directors") cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the 
Board, provided that any person becoming a director subsequent to February 14, 2002, whose election or nomination for election was 
approved by a  

 
vote of at least two-thirds of the Incumbent Directors then on the Board (either by a specific vote or by approval of the proxy statement of 
the Company in which such person is named as a nominee for director, without written objection to such nomination) shall be an 
Incumbent Director; provided , however , that no individual initially elected or nominated as a director of the Company as a result of an 
actual or threatened election contest with respect to directors or as a result of any other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or 
consents by or on behalf of any Person other than the Board shall be deemed to be an Incumbent Director; or  



        (d)  the shareholders of the Company approve a dissolution or liquidation involving all or substantially all of the Company's assets, 
or the Company consummates the sale of all or substantially all of the Company's assets to a Person, unless more than 50% of the voting 
power of the Voting Stock of such Person is held directly or indirectly by the Existing Shareholder.  

        (e)  For purposes of this Section 2, the following definitions shall apply:  

          (i)  " Beneficial Owner and Beneficially Own " shall mean beneficial ownership as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under 
the Exchange Act, except that a person shall be deemed to beneficially own all securities that such person has the right to acquire, 
whether such right is exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time.  

        (ii)  " Company Common Stock " shall mean the Company's Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock and any 
other common stock (whether voting or non-voting) that may be hereafter issued by the Company.  

        (iii)  " Exchange Act " shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

        (iv)  " Existing Shareholder " shall mean the Adolph Coors, Jr. Trust and any successor trust thereto the primary 
beneficiaries of which are descendants of Adolph Coors, Sr.  

        (v)  " Person " shall mean any individual, corporation, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of 
the Exchange Act).  

        (vi)  " Voting Stock " shall mean any and all shares, interests, participations, rights in or other equivalents of capital stock and 
warrants or options exchangeable for or convertible into such capital stock which ordinarily have the power to vote for the 
election of directors, managers or other voting members of the governing body (the "Governing Board") of a Person.  

        3.     Employment Period.     The Company hereby agrees to continue the Executive in its employ, and the Executive hereby agrees to 
remain in the employ of the Company subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, for the period commencing on the Effective Date 
and ending on the second anniversary of such date (the "Employment Period").  

        4.     Terms of Employment.       

        (a)   Position and Duties.  

          (i)  During the Employment Period, (A) the Executive's position (including status, offices, titles and reporting 
requirements), total enterprise-wide scope (if Executive is an officer of ACC), authority, duties and responsibilities shall be 
commensurate in all material respects with the most significant of those held, exercised and assigned at any time during the one 
year period immediately preceding the Effective Date and (B) the Executive's services shall be performed at the location where 
the Executive was employed preceding the Effective Date or any office or location less than thirty-five miles from such location.  

        (ii)  During the Employment Period, and excluding any periods of vacation and sick leave to which the Executive is entitled, 
the Executive agrees to devote reasonable attention and  
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time during normal business hours to the business and affairs of the Company and to discharge the responsibilities assigned to the 
Executive hereunder. During the Employment Period Executive may (A) serve on civic or charitable boards or committees of not 
for profit or similar organizations, (B) teach, and (C) manage personal investments, so long as such activities do not significantly 
interfere with the performance of the Executive's responsibilities as an employee of the Company in accordance with this 
Agreement. To the extent that any such activities have been conducted by the Executive and by other executives of the Company 
prior to the Effective Date, the continued conduct of such activities (or the conduct of activities similar in nature and scope 
thereto) subsequent to the Effective Date shall not thereafter be deemed to interfere with the performance of the Executive's 
responsibilities to the Company.  

        (b)   Compensation.  

          (i)   Base Salary. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall receive an annual base salary ("Annual Base Salary"), 
which shall be paid at a monthly rate, at least equal to twelve times the highest monthly base salary paid or payable, including any 
base salary which has been earned but deferred, to the Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies in respect of the 
twelve-month period immediately preceding the month in which the Effective Date occurs. During the Employment Period, the 
Annual Base Salary shall be reviewed no more than twelve months after the last salary increase awarded to the Executive prior to 



the Effective Date and thereafter at least annually. Any increase in Annual Base Salary shall not serve to limit or reduce any other 
obligation to the Executive under this Agreement. Annual Base Salary shall not be reduced after any such increase and the term 
Annual Base Salary as utilized in this Agreement shall refer to Annual Base Salary as so increased. As used in this Agreement, 
the term "affiliated companies" shall include any company controlled by, controlling or under common control with the 
Company.  

        (ii)   Annual Bonus. In addition to Annual Base Salary, the Executive shall be entitled to participate, with respect to each 
fiscal year ending during the Employment Period, in the Company's Management Incentive Compensation Plan, or any 
comparable successor plans, under terms (including measures of performance, targets and payout potential) at least as favorable 
as the terms under such bonus plan as in effect during the Company's fiscal year ending immediately prior to the Effective Date 
(the "Annual Bonus"). Each such Annual Bonus shall be paid no later than the end of the third month of the fiscal year next 
following the end of the fiscal year for which the Annual Bonus is awarded, unless the Executive shall elect to defer the receipt of 
such Annual Bonus.  

        (iii)   Incentive, Savings and Retirement Plans. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to participate 
in all incentive, savings and retirement plans, practices, policies and programs applicable generally to other peer executives of the 
Company and its affiliated companies, but in no event shall such plans, practices, policies and programs provide the Executive 
with incentive opportunities (measured with respect to both regular and special incentive opportunities, to the extent, if any, that 
such distinction is applicable), savings opportunities or retirement benefit opportunities, in each case, less favorable, in the 
aggregate, than the most favorable of those provided by the Company and its affiliated companies for the Executive under such 
plans, practices, policies and programs as in effect at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective 
Date or if more favorable to the Executive, those provided generally during the two year Employment Period following the 
Effective Date to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.  
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        (iv)   Stock Options and Other Equity Grants. During each year of the Employment Period, the Executive shall receive either 
(A) stock option grants pursuant to the Company's 1990 Equity Incentive Plan or any successor plan for each fiscal year ending 
during the Employment Period equal to the highest number and value to those granted to Executive for any of the three (3) fiscal 
years prior to the Effective Date (the "Stock Option / RSO Valuation"), or (B) if such Plan or Plans do not exist, then an amount 
in cash equal to the Stock Option / RSO Valuation Amount. In addition, during the Employment Period, the Executive shall 
receive restricted stock grants pursuant to the Company's 1990 Equity Incentive Plan or any successor plan for each fiscal year 
during the Employment Period equal to the highest number and value to those granted to Executive for any of the three (3) fiscal 
years prior to the Effective Date (the "Stock Option / RSO Valuation"), or (B) if such Plan or Plans do not exist, then an amount 
in cash equal to the Stock Option / RSO Valuation Amount.  

        (v)   Welfare Benefit Plans. During the Employment Period, the Executive and/or the Executive's family, as the case may be, 
shall be eligible for participation in and shall receive all benefits under welfare benefit plans, practices, policies and programs 
provided by the Company and its affiliated companies (including, without limitation, medical, prescription, dental, disability, 
employee life, group life, accidental death and travel accident insurance plans and programs) to the extent applicable generally to 
other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies, but in no event shall such plans, practices, policies and 
programs provide the Executive with benefits which are less favorable, in the aggregate, than the most favorable of such plans, 
practices, policies and programs in effect for the Executive at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the 
Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, those provided generally at any time after the Effective Date to other peer 
executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.  

        (vi)   Expenses . During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to receive prompt reimbursement for all 
reasonable expenses incurred by the Executive in accordance with the most favorable policies, practices and procedures of the 
Company and its affiliated companies in effect for the Executive at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the 
Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer 
executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.  

      (vii)   Fringe Benefits . During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to fringe benefits, or cash payments in 
lieu of such fringe benefits, including but not limited to, tax and financial planning services, payment of club dues, use of an 
automobile and payment of related expenses, in accordance with the most favorable plans, practices, programs and policies of the 
Company and its affiliated companies in effect for the Executive at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the 
Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer 
executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.  

      (viii)   Office and Support Staff. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to an office or offices of a size 
and with furnishings and other appointments, and to exclusive personal secretarial and other assistance, at least equal to the most 
favorable of the foregoing provided to the Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies at any time during the 120-day 
period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as provided generally at any time 



thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.  
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        (ix)   Vacation . During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the most 
favorable plans, policies, programs and practices of the Company and its affiliated companies as in effect for the Executive at any 
time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect 
generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.  

        (x)   Retirement Plan. On the Effective Date, the Company shall credit Executive with additional years of vesting service and 
an equal number of years of benefit service (but not for age) for Executive to receive benefits under the Coors Retirement Plan 
and any other supplemental or other retirement or pension plan maintained by the Company applicable to Executive or any 
successor(s) to the Coors Retirement Plan or such other plans (individually and collectively, the "Retirement Plans").  

        5.     Termination of Employment.       

        (a)   Death or Disability. The Executive's employment shall terminate automatically upon the Executive's death during the 
Employment Period. If the Company determines in good faith that the Disability of the Executive has occurred during the Employment 
Period (pursuant to the definition of Disability set forth below), it may give to the Executive written notice in accordance with Section 12
(b) of this Agreement of its intention to terminate the Executive's employment. In such event, the Executive's employment with the 
Company shall terminate effective on the 30th day after receipt of such notice by the Executive (the "Disability Effective Date"), 
provided that, within the thirty days after such receipt, the Executive shall not have returned to full-time performance of the Executive's 
duties. For purposes of this Agreement, "Disability" shall mean the absence of the Executive from the Executive's duties with the 
Company on a full-time basis for 180 consecutive business days as a result of incapacity due to mental or physical illness which is 
determined to be a disability pursuant to the Company's then existing Long Term Disability Plan or, in the absence of such a plan, a 
disability determined to be total and permanent by a physician selected by the Company and acceptable to the Executive or the 
Executive's legal representative.  

        (b)   Cause . The Company may terminate the Executive's employment during the Employment Period for Cause. For purposes of 
this Agreement, "Cause" shall mean:  

          (i)  the willful and continued failure of the Executive to perform substantially the Executive's duties with the Company or 
one of its affiliates (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a written demand 
for substantial performance is delivered to the Executive by the Board which specifically identifies the manner in which the Board 
believes that the Executive has not substantially performed the Executive's duties, or  

        (ii)  the willful engaging by the Executive in illegal conduct or gross misconduct which is a violation of fiduciary duties or is 
materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company.  

For purposes of this provision, no act or failure to act, on the part of the Executive, shall be considered "willful" unless it is done, or 
omitted to be done, by the Executive in bad faith or without reasonable belief that the Executive's action or omission was in the best 
interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board, or 
upon the instructions of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, or based upon the advice of counsel for the company shall be 
conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. The 
cessation of employment of the Executive shall not be deemed to be for Cause unless and until there shall have been delivered to the 
Executive a copy of a resolution duly adopted by the affirmative vote of not less than three quarters of the entire membership of the 
Board at a  
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meeting of the Board called and held for such purpose (after reasonable notice is provided to the Executive and the Executive is given an 
opportunity, together with counsel, to be heard before the Board), finding that, in the good faith opinion of the Board, the Executive is 
guilty of the conduct described in subparagraph (i) or (ii) above, and specifying the particulars thereof in detail. The Company must 
notify the Executive of any event constituting Cause within ten (10) days following the Company's knowledge of its existence or such 
event shall not constitute Cause under this Agreement.  

        (c)   Good Reason. The Executive's employment may be terminated by the Executive for Good Reason. For purposes of this 
Agreement, "Good Reason" shall mean, without Executive's express written consent, the occurrence of any of the following events:  



          (i)  a demotion or diminution in rank, title, responsibility or authority, the assignment to the Executive, following the 
Effective Date, of any duties inconsistent in any respect with the Executive's position (including status, offices, titles and 
reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities as contemplated by Section 4(a) of this Agreement, or any other 
action by the Company which results in a diminution in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities, excluding for this 
purpose an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company within ten 
(10) days after receipt of such notice thereof given by the Executive;  

        (ii)  any failure by the Company to comply with any of the provisions of Section 4(b) of this Agreement, including but not 
limited to the failure by the Company to pay the Executive any portion of his compensation, or to provide an Annual Bonus under 
terms (including but not limited to measures, targets and payout potential) at least as favorable as the terms for such Bonus as in 
effect during the Company's fiscal year immediately prior to the Effective Date or to pay the Executive any portion of an 
installment of deferred compensation under any deferred compensation program of the Company when such compensation is due, 
other than an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company 
within ten (10) days after receipt of notice thereof given by the Executive;  

        (iii)  the Company's requiring the Executive to be based at any office or location other than as provided in Section 4(a)(i)(B) 
hereof for more than 60 days during any twelve consecutive calendar months or the Company's requiring the Executive to travel 
on Company business to a substantially greater extent than required immediately prior to the Effective Date;  

        (iv)  any purported termination by the Company of the Executive's employment otherwise than as expressly permitted by this 
Agreement; or  

        (v)  any failure by the Company to comply with and satisfy Section 12(c) of this Agreement.  

        For purposes of this Section 5(c), any good faith determination of "Good Reason" made by the Executive shall be conclusive. 
Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, a termination by the Executive for any reason in the Executive's sole 
discretion during the thirty-day period immediately following the first anniversary of the Effective Date shall be deemed to be a 
termination for Good Reason for all purposes of this Agreement.  

        (d)   Notice of Termination. Any termination by the Company for Cause, or by the Executive for Good Reason, shall be 
communicated by Notice of Termination to the other party hereto given in accordance with Section 13(b) of this Agreement. For 
purposes of this Agreement, a "Notice of Termination" means a written notice which (i) indicates the specific termination provision in 
this Agreement relied upon, (ii) to the extent applicable, sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and  
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circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of the Executive's employment under the provision so indicated and (iii) if the 
Date of Termination (as defined below) is other than the date of receipt of such notice, specifies the termination date (which date shall be 
not more than thirty days after the giving of such notice). The failure by the Executive or the Company to set forth in the Notice of 
Termination any fact or circumstance which contributes to a showing of Good Reason or Cause shall not waive any right of the 
Executive or the Company, respectively, hereunder or preclude the Executive or the Company, respectively, from asserting such fact or 
circumstance in enforcing the Executive's or the Company's rights hereunder.  

        (e)   Date of Termination . "Date of Termination" means (i) if the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company for Cause, 
or by the Executive for Good Reason, the date of receipt of the Notice of Termination or any later date up to six months thereafter 
specified therein, as the case may be, (ii) if the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company other than for Cause or Disability, 
the Date of Termination shall be the date on which the Company notifies the Executive of such termination or any later date specified 
therein within 30 days of such notice and (iii) if the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of death or Disability, the Date of 
Termination shall be the date of death of the Executive or the Disability Effective Date, as the case may be.  

        6.     Obligations of the Company upon Termination.       

        (a)   Good Reason; Other Than for Cause, Death or Disability. If, during the Employment Period, the Company shall terminate the 
Executive's employment other than for Cause or Disability or the Executive shall terminate employment for Good Reason:  

          (i)  the Company shall pay to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within ten (10) days after the Date of Termination the 
aggregate of the following amounts:  

        (A)  the sum of (1) the Executive's Annual Base Salary (which for this purpose shall include any allowance for 
perquisites that is paid directly to the Executive) through the end of the fiscal year containing the Date of Termination; 
(2) an amount equal to (x) the higher of the target bonus amount or the bonus actually paid to the Executive under the 



Company's Management Incentive Compensation Plan (or any comparable successor plan(s)) for the fiscal year of the 
Company prior to the Effective Date or (y) the target bonus amount payable to the Executive under such plan(s) for the 
fiscal year of the Company which contains the Date of Termination, whichever of (x) or (y) is higher (the "Target 
Bonus"); and (3) any accrued vacation or other pay not theretofore paid (the sum of the amounts described in clauses (1), 
(2), and (3) are herein referred to as the "Accrued Obligations"); and  

        (B)  the amount equal to the product of (1) two and (2) the sum of (x) the Executive's Annual Base Salary (which for 
this purpose shall include any allowance for perquisites that is paid directly to the Executive) and (y) the higher of (aa) the 
Target Bonus and (bb) the highest annual incentive bonus earned by Executive during the last three (3) completed fiscal 
years of the Company immediately preceding Executive's Date of Termination (annualized in the event Executive was not 
employed by the Company for the whole of any such fiscal year), with the product of (1) and (2) reduced by the amounts 
paid, if any, to the Executive under the Company's Severance Pay Plan or pursuant to any other contractual arrangement 
with the Executive or plan providing coverage to the Executive as a result of such termination.  

        (ii)  for twenty-four months after the Executive's Date of Termination or such longer period as may be provided by the terms 
of the appropriate plan, program, practice or policy, the Company shall continue benefits to the Executive and/or the Executive's 
family, including  
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life insurance, at least equal (on an after-tax basis) to those which would have been provided to them in accordance with the 
plans, programs, practices and policies described in Section 4(b)(v) of this Agreement if the Executive's employment had not been 
terminated or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer executives 
of the Company and its affiliated companies and their families, provided, however, that if the Executive becomes reemployed 
with another employer and is eligible to receive medical or other welfare benefits under another employer-provided plan, the 
medical and other welfare benefits described herein shall be secondary to those provided under such other plan during such 
applicable period of eligibility, but only to the extent that the Company reimburses the Executive for any increased cost and 
provides any additional benefits necessary to give Executive the benefits provided hereunder.  

        (iii)  The Company shall credit Executive for benefit calculation purposes under the Retirement Plans (A) for the balance of 
the Employment Period and (B) with two additional years of benefit service, vesting service and age.  

        (iv)  for twenty-four months following the Date of Termination the Company shall, at its sole expense, reimburse the 
Executive for the cost (but not in excess of $25,000 in the aggregate), as incurred, for outplacement services the scope and 
provider of which shall be selected by the Executive in Executive's sole discretion.  

        (v)  for twenty-four months following the Date of Termination the Company shall, to the extent not otherwise paid or 
provided, pay or provide to the Executive, all other fringe benefits and executive perquisites provided on the date of this 
Agreement, or on the Date of Termination to the extent they are more extensive, including, but not limited to, luncheon club dues, 
annual physical examination, parking, health club dues, and financial planning assistance ("Other Benefits"); and  

        (vi)  with respect to any options, restricted stock or other stock based awards held by the Executive pursuant to the 
Company's Equity Incentive Plan, or any successor plan, on the Date of Termination all restrictions on awards of restricted stock 
will be canceled, and all outstanding stock options and stock appreciation rights and other stock based awards that have not fully 
vested, shall vest immediately and become fully exercisable and shall not thereafter be forfeitable; provided further that with 
respect to the Executive's stock options, (i) the options shall remain exercisable until the earlier of (x) the expiration of the option 
term or (y) five (5) years after the Date of Termination; (ii) for purposes of option exercises by the Executive following the 
Effective Date for the period such options remain exercisable for each share of common stock acquired pursuant to such option 
exercise, Executive shall be entitled to a cash payment equal to the excess, if any, of (x) the closing price of one share of the 
common stock subject to such option as reported in the principal consolidated transaction reporting system with respect to 
securities listed or admitted to trading on the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (the "NYSE") (or, if the securities are not listed or 
admitted to trading on the NYSE, as reported in the principal consolidated transaction reporting system with respect to securities 
listed on the principal national securities exchange on which the securities are listed or admitted to trading or, if the securities are 
not listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, as reported by the National Association of Securities 
Dealers, Inc. Automated Quotation System or such other system then in use, any such exchange or system an "Other Exchange") 
on the date of the Change of Control over (y) the closing price of one share of the common stock on the NYSE or any Other 
Exchange on the date of exercise; and (iii) if, after a Change of Control occurs, any of the Executive's stock options are not 
assumed or substituted by the successor corporation or the common stock (or common stock equivalent, in the case of a non-U.S. 
entity) for which each such option is exercisable is not traded on the NYSE or any Other Exchange, then in respect of each such  
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option held by the Executive, the Executive, in exchange for surrendering such options, shall be entitled to an immediate cash 
payment equal to the Black-Scholes value (determined as of that date, the date of grant, or the Effective Date, whichever of the 
foregoing is highest) of each such option as determined by the independent accounting firm that audited the Company's financial 
statements prior to the Change of Control, assuming that the option's expected life is the balance of its term.  

        (b)   Death. If the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of the Executive's death during the Employment Period, this 
Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive's legal representatives under this Agreement, other than for 
payment of Accrued Obligations and the timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the 
Executive's estate or beneficiary, as applicable, in a lump sum in cash within thirty days of the Date of Termination. The term Other 
Benefits at utilized in this Section 6(b) shall include, without limitation, and the Executive's estate and/or beneficiaries shall be entitled to 
receive, benefits at least equal to the most favorable benefits provided by the Company and affiliated companies to the estates and 
beneficiaries of peer executives of the Company and such affiliated companies under such plans, programs, practices and policies relating 
to death benefits, if any, as in effect with respect to other peer executives and their beneficiaries at any time during the 120-day period 
immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive's estate and/or the Executive's beneficiaries, as in effect 
on the date of the Executive's death with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies and their 
beneficiaries. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if the Executive's accidental death occurs after the receipt of a 
Notice of Termination for any termination (i) by the Company other than for Cause or Disability or (ii) by the Executive for Good 
Reason and no payments to Executive have been made under Section 6(a), then this Section 6(b) shall not apply and the Executive's 
estate and/or beneficiaries shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 6(a).  

        (c)   Disability. If the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of the Executive's Disability during the Employment Period, 
this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive, other than for payment of Accrued Obligations and the 
timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within thirty 
days of the Date of Termination. The Term "Other Benefits" as utilized in this Section 6(c) shall include, and the Executive shall be 
entitled after the Disability Effective Date to receive, disability and other benefits at least equal to the most favorable of those generally 
provided by the Company and its affiliated companies to disabled executives and/or their families in accordance with such plans, 
programs, practices and policies relating to disability, if any, as in effect generally with respect to other peer executives and their families 
at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive and/or the 
Executive's family, as in effect at any time thereafter generally with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated 
companies and their families.  

        (d)   Termination in Anticipation of a Change of Control.  

          (i)  An "Anticipatory Termination" occurs if either  

        (A)  (1) the Company terminates the Executive's employment other than for Cause or Disability prior to the date on 
which a Change of Control occurs, (2) it is reasonably demonstrated by the Executive that such termination of 
employment (x) was at the request of a third party who had taken steps reasonably calculated to effect a Change of Control 
or (y) otherwise arose within six months of, and was in connection with or in anticipation of, a Change of Control, and 
(3) a Change of Control occurs, or  

        (B)  (1) during the Term, an event occurs that would have constituted Good Reason if the Effective Date was deemed 
to be the date immediately prior to the date of such  
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event and the Executive terminated his employment subsequent to such event, (2) the Executive can reasonably 
demonstrate that such Good Reason event (x) was at the request of a third party who had taken steps reasonably calculated 
to effect a Change of Control or (y) otherwise arose within six months of, and was in connection with or in anticipation of, 
a Change of Control, and (3) a Change of Control occurs.  

For purposes of clauses (A)(2)(y) and (B)(2)(y) of this paragraph, it shall be presumed that such event was in connection with or 
in anticipation of a Change of Control unless the Company establishes otherwise by clear and convincing evidence.  

        (ii)   Obligations of the Company upon an Anticipatory Termination . If the Executive has reason to believe that an 
Anticipatory Termination may have occurred, he shall provide a notice setting forth such belief in accordance with Section 13(b) 
of this Agreement within one hundred and twenty (120) days after a Change of Control has occurred. Upon an Anticipatory 
Termination, the Executive shall be entitled to (A) the payments specified in Sections 6(a)(i), (iii) and (iv) (to the extent not 
previously paid), (B) the benefits specified in Sections 6(a)(ii) and (v))to the extent not previously provided) (or the after-tax 
equivalent thereof to the extent that such benefits have not been or are not provided in kind), (C) to the extent that the Executive 
has outstanding any unexercised stock options and other stock-based awards, the provisions of Section 6(a)(vi) shall apply to 



them, and (D) in respect of any stock options or other stock based awards that were forfeited by the Executive as a result of his 
termination of employment but would have vested had Section 6(a)(vi) applied, such awards shall be reinstated (or if not 
reinstated, the Executive shall be paid in cash the fair value of such award as determined by the accounting firm referred to in 
Section 6(a)(vi)). For the purposes of this Section 6(e)(ii), the Executive's Date of Termination shall be deemed to be his last date 
of employment by the Company.  

        7.     Nonexclusivity of Rights.     Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit the Executive's continuing or future participation in any 
plan, program, policy or practice provided by the Company or any of its affiliated companies and for which the Executive may qualify, nor, 
subject to Section 13(f), shall anything herein limit or otherwise affect such rights as the Executive may have under any contract or agreement 
with the Company or any of its affiliated companies. Amounts which are vested benefits or which the Executive is otherwise entitled to receive 
under any plan, policy, practice, or program of or any contract or agreement with the Company or any of its affiliated companies at or 
subsequent to the Date of Termination shall be payable in accordance with such plan, policy, practice or program or contract or agreement 
except as explicitly modified by this Agreement.  

        8.     Full Settlement.     The Company's obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its 
obligations hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the Company 
may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by way 
of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under any of the provisions of this Agreement and such amounts shall not be reduced 
whether or not the Executive obtains other employment, except as specifically provided with respect to medical and other welfare benefits under 
another employer-provided plan pursuant to subsection 6(a)(ii). The Company agrees to pay as incurred, and to the full extent permitted by law, 
all legal fees and expenses which the Executive may reasonably incur as a result of any contest (regardless of the outcome thereof) by the 
Company, the Executive or others of the validity or enforceability of, or liability under, any provision of this Agreement or any guarantee of 
performance thereof (including as a result of any contest by the Executive about the amount of any payment pursuant to this Agreement), plus in 
each case interest on any delayed payment at the applicable Federal rate provided for in Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended (the "Code").  
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        9.     Certain Additional Payments by the Company.       

        (a)  Anything in this Agreement or in any other agreement between the Company and the Executive or in any stock option or other 
benefit plan to the contrary notwithstanding and except as set forth below, in the event it shall be determined that any payment or 
distribution by the Company to or for the benefit of the Executive (whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the 
terms of this Agreement or otherwise, but determined without regard to any additional payments required under this Section 9) (a 
"Payment") would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code or any interest or penalties are incurred by the 
Executive with respect to such excise tax (such excise tax, together with any such interest and penalties, are hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the "Excise Tax"), then the Executive shall be entitled to receive an additional payment (a "Gross-Up Payment") in an 
amount such that after payment by the Executive of all taxes (including any interest or penalties imposed with respect to such taxes), 
including, without limitation, any income taxes (and any interest and penalties imposed with respect thereto) and Excise Tax imposed 
upon the Gross-Up Payment, the Executive retains an amount of the Gross-Up Payment equal to the Excise Tax imposed upon the 
Payments.  

        (b)  Subject to the provisions of Section 9(c), all determinations required to be made under this Section 9, including whether and 
when a Gross-Up Payment is required and the amount of such Gross-Up Payment and the assumptions to be utilized in arriving at such 
determination, shall be made by such nationally recognized certified public accounting firm as may be designated by the Executive (the 
"Accounting Firm"), which shall provide detailed supporting calculations both to the Company and the Executive within fifteen business 
days of the receipt of notice from the Executive that there has been a Payment, or such earlier time as is requested by the Company. In 
the event that the Accounting Firm is serving as accountant or auditor for the Company or the individual, entity or group effecting the 
Change of Control, the Executive shall appoint another nationally recognized accounting firm to make the determinations required 
hereunder (which accounting firm shall then be referred to as the Accounting Firm hereunder). All fees and expenses of the Accounting 
Firm shall be borne solely by the Company. Any Gross-Up Payment, as determined pursuant to this Section 9, shall be paid by the 
Company to the Executive within five business days of the receipt of the Accounting Firm's determination. Any determination by the 
Accounting Firm shall be binding upon the Company and the Executive. As a result of the uncertainty in the application of Section 4999 
of the Code at the time of the initial determination by the Accounting Firm hereunder, it is possible that a Gross-Up Payment which will 
not have been made by the Company should have been made ("Underpayment"), consistent with the calculations required to be made 
hereunder. In the event that the Company exhausts its remedies pursuant to Section 9(c) and the Executive thereafter is required to make 
a payment of any Excise Tax, the Accounting Firm shall determine the amount of the Underpayment that has occurred and any such 
Underpayment shall be promptly paid by the Company to or for the benefit of the Executive.  

        (c)  The Executive shall notify the Company in writing of any claim by the Internal Revenue Service that, if successful, would 
require the payment by the Company of the Gross-Up Payment. Such notifications shall be given as soon as practicable but no later than 
ten business days after the Executive is informed in writing of such claim and shall apprise the Company of the nature of such claim and 
the date on which such claim is requested to be paid. The Executive shall not pay such claim prior to the expiration of the thirty-day 
period following the date on which it gives such notice to the Company (or such shorter period ending on the date that any payment of 



taxes with respect to such claim is due). If the Company notifies the Executive in writing prior to the expiration of such period that it 
desires to contest such claim, the Executive shall:  

          (i)  give the Company any information reasonably requested by the Company relating to such claim,  
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        (ii)  take such action in connection with contesting such claim as the Company shall reasonably request in writing from time 
to time, including, without limitation, accepting legal representation with respect to such claim by an attorney reasonably selected 
by the Company,  

        (iii)  cooperate with the Company in good faith in order effectively to contest such claim; and  

        (iv)  permit the Company to participate in any proceedings relating to such claim;  

provided, however, that the Company shall bear and pay directly all costs and expenses (including additional interest and 
penalties) incurred in connection with such contest and shall indemnify and hold the Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, for 
any Excise Tax or income tax (including interest and penalties with respect thereto) imposed as a result of such representation and 
payment of costs and expenses. Without limitation on the foregoing provisions of this Section 9(c), the Company shall control all 
proceedings taken in connection with such contest, and, at its sole option, may pursue or forgo any and all administrative appeals, 
proceedings, hearings and conferences with the taxing authority in respect of such claim and may, at its sole option, either direct 
the Executive to pay the tax claimed and sue for a refund or to contest the claim in any permissible manner, and the Executive 
agrees to prosecute such contest to a determination before any administrative tribunal, in a court of initial jurisdiction and in one 
or more appellate courts, as the Company shall determine; provided, however, that if the Company directs the Executive to pay 
such claim and sue for a refund, the Company shall advance the amount of such payment to the Executive, on an interest-free 
basis and shall indemnify and hold the Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, from any Excise Tax or income tax (including 
interest or penalties with respect thereto) imposed with respect to such advance or with respect to any imputed income with 
respect to such advance; and further provided that any extension of the statute of limitations relating to payment of taxes for the 
taxable year of the Executive with respect to which such contested amount is claimed to be due is limited solely to such contested 
amount. Furthermore, the Company's control of the contest shall be limited to issues with respect to which a Gross-Up Payment 
would be payable hereunder and the Executive shall be entitled to settle or contest, as the case may be, any other issue raised by 
the Internal Revenue Service or any other taxing authority.  

        (d)  If, after the receipt by the Executive of an amount advanced by the Company pursuant to Section 9(c), the Executive becomes 
entitled to receive any refund with respect to such claim, the Executive shall (subject to the Company's complying with the requirements 
of Section 9(c)) promptly pay to the Company the amount of such refund (together with any interest paid or credited thereon after taxes 
applicable thereto). If, after the receipt by the Executive of an amount advanced by the Company pursuant to Section 9(c), a 
determination is made that the Executive shall not be entitled to any refund with respect to such claim and the Company does not notify 
the Executive in writing of its intent to consent such denial of refund prior to the expiration of thirty days after such determination, then 
such advance shall be forgiven and shall not be required to be repaid and the amount of such advance shall offset, to the extent thereof, 
the amount of Gross-Up Payment required to be paid.  

        10.     Confidential Information.     The Executive shall hold in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the Company all material proprietary 
information, knowledge or data relating to the Company or any of its affiliated companies, and their respective businesses, which shall have been 
obtained by the Executive during the Executive's employment by the Company or any of its affiliated companies and which shall not be or 
become public knowledge (other than by acts by the Executive or representatives of the Executive in violation of this Agreement). After 
termination of the Executive's employment with the Company, the Executive shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company or as 
may  
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otherwise be required by law or legal process, communicate or divulge any such information, knowledge or data to anyone other than the 
Company and those designated by it. In no event shall an asserted violation of the provisions of this Section 10 constitute a basis for denying, 
deferring or withholding any amounts or benefits payable to the Executive under this Agreement.  

        11.     Dispute Resolution.       

        (a)  All claims and controversies that may arise under this Agreement shall be submitted to, and determined through, binding 
arbitration in the Denver, Colorado metropolitan area in accordance with the employment arbitration procedures of the American 
Arbitration Association ("AAA") existing at the time the arbitration is conducted, before a single arbitrator chosen in accordance with 



AAA procedures. The decision of the arbitrator shall be enforceable as a court judgment.  

        (b)  The Company shall reimburse Executive for all legal fees and expenses and related costs and expenses incurred by Executive 
arising from any claim, controversy or dispute (i) that is submitted to arbitration, whether initiated by the Executive or the Company, and 
including any dispute as to whether Executive is entitled to fees, expenses and costs under this Section 11(b); (ii) in seeking to obtain or 
enforce any right or benefit provided for under this Agreement; or (iii) in connection with any tax audit or proceeding to the extent 
attributable to the application of Section 4999 of the Code to any payment or benefit provided hereunder. Such payments shall be made 
within five (5) business days after delivery of Executive's written request(s) for payment accompanied by invoices of fees, expenses and 
costs incurred.  

        (c)  If within fifteen (15) days after any Notice of Termination is given or, if later, prior to the Date of Termination (as determined 
without regard to this Section 11(c)), the person receiving such Notice of Termination notifies the person giving such notice that a claim, 
controversy, or dispute exists concerning the termination or concerning employment or any of the provisions of this Agreement that 
apply to such termination or employment, the Date of Termination shall be extended to the date on which the claim, controversy or 
dispute is fully and finally resolved, either by mutual written agreement of the parties or by final decision of the arbitrator referred to in 
Section 11(a).  

        (d)  If a purported termination of Executive's employment occurs and such termination or the provisions of this Agreement that 
apply to such termination is disputed in accordance with this Section 11 (including a dispute as to the existence of "good faith" and/or 
"reasonable attention and time" under any provisions of this Agreement), the Company shall continue to pay Executive the full 
compensation (including, but not limited to, salary) at Executive's Annual Base Salary and continue Executive's participation in all 
compensation plans required to be maintained hereunder and continue to provide Executive all other benefits provided for in Section 4(b) 
of this Agreement until the dispute is finally resolved in accordance with this Section 11. Amounts paid under this section are in addition 
to all other amounts due under this Agreement and shall not be offset against or reduce any other amounts due Executive under this 
Agreement.  

        (e)  In any proceeding (regardless of who initiates such proceeding) under this Agreement the burden of proof as to whether Cause 
exists, whether Good Reason does not exist, and/or whether "good faith" and/or "reasonable attention and time" exist shall be upon the 
Company.  

        12.     Successors.       

        (a)  This Agreement is personal to the Executive and without the prior written consent of the Company shall not be assignable by the 
Executive otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable 
by the Executive's legal representatives.  
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        (b)  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and its successors and assigns.  

        (c)  The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or 
substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to assume expressly and agree to perform this Agreement in the same 
manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used in this 
Agreement, "Company" shall mean the Company as hereinbefore defined and any successor to its business and/or assets as aforesaid 
which assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law, or otherwise.  

        13.     Miscellaneous.       

        (a)  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado, without reference to 
principles of conflict of laws. The captions of this Agreement are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect. This 
Agreement may not be amended or modified otherwise than by a written agreement executed by the parties hereto or their respective 
successors and legal representatives.  

        (b)  All notices and any other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given by hand delivery to the other party or 
by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:  

If to the Executive:  
At their current home address as listed in the Company's records  
and as may be updated from time to time by the Executive.  

If to the Company:  
Coors Brewing Company  



311 10th St.  
Golden, CO 80401-0030  

        Attention: Chief Legal Officer  

or to such other address as either party shall have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith. Notice and 
communications shall be effective when actually received by the addressee.  

        (c)  The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other 
provision of this Agreement.  

        (d)  The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement such Federal, state, local or foreign taxes as shall 
be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.  

        (e)  The Executive's or the Company's failure to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of this Agreement or the failure to 
assert any right the Executive or the Company may have hereunder, including, without limitation, the right of the Executive to terminate 
employment for Good Reason pursuant to Section 5(c)(i) through (v) of this Agreement, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such 
provision or right or any other provision or right of this Agreement.  

        (f)    The Executive and the Company acknowledge that, except as may otherwise be provided under any other written agreement 
between the Executive and the Company, the employment of the Executive by the Company is "at will", and the Executive's employment 
and/or this Agreement may be terminated by either the Executive or the Company at any time prior to the Effective Date, in which case 
the Executive shall have no further rights under this Agreement except as provided in Section 6(e) (relating to termination in anticipation 
of a change in control). From and  
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after the Effective Date this Agreement shall supersede any other agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. 

        IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive has hereunto set the Executive's hand and, pursuant to the authorization from its Board of 
Directors, the Company has caused these presents to be executed in its name and on its behalf, all as of the day and year first above written.  
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EXHIBIT 10.17 

ADOLPH COORS COMPANY  

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  

        As Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2002  

ADOLPH COORS COMPANY  
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  

RECITALS :  

        Adolph Coors Company, a Colorado corporation (the "Company"), previously established the Adolph Coors Company Deferred 
Compensation Plan (the "Plan"), effective as of February 1, 1998. The Plan was amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of February 16, 
2001, and is hereby further amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1, 2002. The Plan is intended to provide a mechanism 
whereby certain of the highly compensated and select management employees of the Company and those affiliates that adopt the Plan may defer 
compensation and have such amounts, together with credited earnings, if applicable, paid out upon the participant's retirement, death, disability 
or other termination of service with the Company or affiliate and upon certain other specified events. The Company intends that the Plan shall 
not be treated as a "funded" plan for purposes of either the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") or the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA").  

ARTICLE I  
Definitions  

        Defined terms used in this Plan shall have the meanings set forth below:  

        1.1  " Affiliated Entity " means any corporation or other entity, including but not limited to partnerships and joint ventures, affiliated with 
Adolph Coors Company, directly or indirectly through ownership, control or otherwise, as determined by the Committee.  

        1.2  " Base Salary " means the actual amount of base remuneration payable to an employee by the Company from time to time before 
reduction for contributions to plans covered by sections 401(k) and 125 of the Code.  

        1.3  " Beneficiary " means the person or persons, trust or other entity designated by a Participant, pursuant to Section 5.7, to receive any 
amounts distributable under the Plan at the time of the Participant's death.  

        1.4  " Change in Control " means such time as:  

(a)  a Person other than Existing Shareholders or a Person controlled by Existing Shareholders becomes the ultimate Beneficial Owner 
of more than 20% of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Company and such ownership represents a greater 
percentage of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Company than is Beneficially Owned by Existing Shareholders on 
such date; except the following acquisitions are not a Change in Control: (i) an acquisition of Voting Stock by the Company or 
one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries or (ii) an acquisition of Voting Stock that meets the conditions in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of 
Section 1.4(b) below or (iii) an acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the 
Company, or by any corporation controlled by the Company;  
 

(b)  the Company consolidates with, or merges with or into, another Person or the Company or a subsidiary of the Company sells, 
assigns, conveys, transfers, leases or otherwise disposes of all or substantially all of its assets to any Person in a transaction that 
would require approval of the Company's shareholders under Section 7-112-101 and Section 7-112-102 of the Colorado Business 
Corporation Act (except a transfer to an entity wholly-owned by the Company or one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries), or any 
Person consolidates with, or merges with or into, the Company, (each a "Business Combination") unless, immediately following 
such Business Combination, (i) all or substantially all of the individuals and entities who were the Beneficial  
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Owners, respectively, of the Company Common Stock and Company Voting Stock immediately prior to such Business 
Combination Beneficially Own, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of, respectively, the then-outstanding shares of common stock 
and the combined voting power of the then-outstanding Voting Stock of the corporation resulting from such Business 
Combination (including, without limitation, a corporation that as a result of such transaction owns the Company and all or 
substantially all of the Company's assets either directly or though one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same proportions 
as their ownership, immediately prior to such Business Combination of the Company Common Stock and Company Voting 
Stock, (ii) no Person (other than (A) Existing Shareholders and any Person controlled by Existing Shareholders, (B) any 
corporation resulting from such Business Combination or (C) any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or such 
corporation resulting from such Business Combination) Beneficially Owns, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the then-
outstanding voting power of the Voting Stock of such corporation and Beneficially Owns a greater percentage of the voting power 
of such Voting Stock of such Person than the Existing Shareholders and any Person controlled by Existing Shareholders and 
(iii) at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination were 
members of the board of directors of the Company (the "Board") at the time of the action of the Board, if any, providing for such 
Business Combination or if there was not such action, on the effective date of this amended and restated Plan;  

(c)  individuals who on January 1, 2002 constitute the Board (together with any thereafter elected directors whose election by the 
Board or whose nomination by the Board for election by the Company's shareholders was approved by a vote of at least a 
majority of the members of the Board then in office who either were members of the Board on January 1, 2002 or whose election 
or nomination for election was previously so approved) cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the members of the Board 
then in office; or  
 

(d)  the shareholders of the Company approve a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.  

In addition, a "Change in Control" shall also mean, with respect to any individual Participant, a "Change in Control" as defined in any separate 
agreement between the Company or Affiliated Entity and the Participant.  

(e)  For purposes of this Section, the following definitions shall apply:  
 
(i)  " Beneficial Owner and Beneficially Own " shall mean beneficial ownership as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the 

Exchange Act, except that a person shall be deemed to beneficially own all securities that such person has the right to 
acquire, whether such right is exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time.  
 

(ii)  " Company Common Stock " shall mean the Company's Class B Common Stock and any other common stock (whether 
voting or non-voting) that may be hereafter issued.  
 

(iii)  " Exchange Act " shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  
 

(iv)  " Existing Shareholder " shall mean the Adolph Coors, Jr. Trust, any individual who or entity which has been, is or in the 
future becomes a trustee thereof or any beneficiary thereof, any other trust the primary beneficiaries of which are 
descendants of Adolph Coors, Sr. or spouses or former spouses of such descendants, and/or any individual who or entity 
which has been, is or in the future becomes a trustee of any such trusts or any beneficiary thereof.  

3  

(v)  " Person " shall mean any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Exchange 
Act).  
 

(vi)  " Voting Stock " shall mean any and all shares, interests, participations, rights in or other equivalents of capital stock and 
warrants or options exchangeable for or convertible into such capital stock which ordinarily has the power to vote for the 
election of directors, managers or other voting members of the governing body (the "Governing Board") of a Person. If 
any members of the Governing Board are elected by classes of common stock voting as separate classes, Voting Stock 
shall mean the stock of the class of common stock entitled to elect the majority of the Governing Board, provided , if the 
separate classes are entitled to elect equal numbers of the Governing Board, then all such shares of common stock shall be 
deemed to be Voting Stock, but the voting power of Voting Stock held by a Person (including the Existing Shareholders) 
shall be separately calculated for each class and the result for each class shall be deemed to be Beneficial Ownership of 
Voting Stock of the Company.  

        1.5  " Committee " means the administrative committee provided for in Section 6.  

        1.6  " Company " means Adolph Coors Company and, where the context requires, any Affiliated Entity that has elected to participate in this 
Plan in accordance with the provisions of Article VIII.  



        1.7  " Company Stock " means the Class B Common Stock of Adolph Coors Company.  

        1.8  " Compensation " means an employee's Base Salary, Executive Bonus and the amount of income, in the form of shares of Company 
Stock, attributable to the exercise of a Stock Option through payment of the exercise price with shares of Company Stock. In addition, 
"Compensation" shall mean any other compensatory payment or payments made to the Participant that are specifically approved for inclusion 
within the meaning of "Compensation" by the senior officer in charge of Human Resources for the Company.  

        1.9  " Credited Earnings " means the amount of earnings credited to the Participant's Plan Account as of the date specified for such purpose 
in the applicable provision of the Plan. Credited Earnings shall be determined based upon the deemed investment elections made by the 
Participant in accordance with the provisions of Article IV. Except as otherwise provided in Section 4.1, Credited Earnings shall be accounted 
for and credited to a Participant's Plan Account beginning upon the date that the Participant's deemed investment elections pursuant to Article IV 
are implemented within the Trust.  

        1.10 " Disability " shall have the same meaning given to such term from time to time in the Company's Long-Term Disability Plan.  

        1.11 " Election Agreement " means an agreement between an eligible employee and the Company providing for the employee's participation 
in the Plan and for the employee's elections with respect to deferrals under Article III, the deemed investment of the Participant's Plan Account 
under Article IV and distributions under Article V, execution of which by an eligible employee is required under Article II for Plan participation. 

        1.12 " Executive Bonus " means a bonus paid pursuant to the Company = s Management Incentive Compensation Plan or such other 
incentive or bonus programs as may be designated for this purpose by the Committee.  

        1.13 " Participant " means any eligible employee of the Company selected to participate in this Plan by the Committee who has completed 
an Election Agreement and is entitled to the distribution of benefits hereunder. A Participant shall remain a Participant for all purposes of this 
Plan so long as the Participant is entitled to the distribution of benefits hereunder, except to the extent provided in Section 2.3.  
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        1.14 " Participant Deferrals " means the amounts of a Participant's Compensation which he elects to defer and have allocated to his Plan 
Account pursuant to Article III.  

        1.15 " Plan Account " means a bookkeeping account maintained by the Company which shall show at all times the amounts of Participant 
Deferrals made by a Participant and all Credited Earnings allocable to such amounts.  

        1.16 " Plan Year " means the twelve month period on which the Plan records are kept, which shall be the calendar year.  

        1.17 " Retirement " means an employee's termination of employment with the Company after the normal retirement age established by the 
Company's Retirement Plan, which is presently age 65.  

        1.18 " Stock Option " means an option to acquire shares of the Company's Common Stock granted pursuant to the Company's 1990 Equity 
Incentive Plan.  

        1.19 " Trust " means the trust created by the Company or any Affiliated Entity which has adopted the Plan pursuant to Article VIII which 
may be used to provide funding for the distribution of benefits hereunder in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.  

        1.20 " Trust Agreement " means the written instrument pursuant to which the Trust is created.  

        1.21 " Trustee " means the bank, trust company or individual appointed by the Company or any Affiliated Entity pursuant to Article VII and 
acting from time to time as the trustee of the Trust formed to provide benefits under the Plan.  

ARTICLE II  
Eligibility and Participation  

        2.1   Eligibility and Participation  

        From time to time the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall determine the eligibility requirements for participation and shall designate 
those highly compensated and select management employees of the Company and those Affiliated Entities that have adopted this Plan pursuant 
to Article VIII to whom the opportunity to participate in this Plan shall be extended. The transfer of employment by a Participant between the 
Company and an Affiliated Entity, or between Affiliated Entities, shall not be considered a termination of employment and shall not cause a 
disruption in participation in this Plan.  



        2.2   Enrollment  

        Employees who have been selected by the Committee to participate in this Plan shall enroll in the Plan, prior to the calendar year during 
which the employee will participate in the Plan (or in the case of an individual who becomes an eligible employee of the Company after the 
beginning of a calendar year, within 30 days after the date the individual becomes an eligible employee), by (a) entering into an Election 
Agreement with the Company, which shall contain the Participant's election as to the Compensation to be deferred under the Plan for the 
subsequent calendar year, the period of deferral, the method of payment, the initial investment elections of the Participant pursuant to Article IV, 
and such other terms as the Company deems appropriate and necessary, and (b) completing such other forms and furnishing such other 
information as the Company may reasonably require. In the case of an employee who becomes eligible to and elects to participate in the Plan 
during a calendar year, any election to defer Compensation shall apply only to Compensation earned after the effective date of such election. A 
Participant shall enter into a new Election Agreement with respect to each Plan Year of participation under the Plan.  
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        2.3   Failure of Eligibility  

        If a Participant ceases to meet the eligibility criteria as determined by the Committee for participation herein for any reason but continues to 
be a Company employee, participation herein and benefits hereunder shall cease as of the effective date of the change in employment status, 
position or title which results in termination of eligibility for participation herein. The determination of the Committee with respect to the 
termination of participation in the Plan shall be final and binding on all parties affected thereby. Any benefits accrued hereunder at the time of 
such change, together with Credited Earnings, shall be distributed to such Participant on the third anniversary of the date on which such 
Participant's eligibility ceased, or, at the sole election of the Committee, at any time prior to such third anniversary.  

ARTICLE III  
Contribution Deferrals  

        Each Plan Year, a Participant may elect to have Participant Deferrals withheld from his Base Salary and credited to his Plan Account in any 
whole percentage of his Base Salary from 1-100%. In addition, a Participant may elect to have the Company withhold from his Executive Bonus 
any amount up to 100% of such Executive Bonus and have such amount credited to his Plan Account as a Participant Deferral. A Participant 
may also elect to have the Company withhold from any other type of Compensation otherwise payable to the Participant any amount up to 100% 
of such Compensation and have such amount credited to his Plan Account as a Participant Deferral. Participant Deferrals shall be deducted from 
a Participant's Base Salary, Executive Bonus and other Compensation through payroll withholding in accordance with the Participant's election 
and credited to the Participant's Plan Account at such time. If a Participant exercises a Stock Option during a Plan Year through payment of the 
exercise price with shares of Company Stock, the Participant may elect to defer the receipt of the shares of Company Stock representing the 
shares in excess of the shares used to exercise the Stock Option (the "Gain Shares"). The shares of Company Stock representing the Gain Shares 
that would otherwise be issued to the Participant upon the exercise of a Stock Option through payment of the exercise price with shares of 
Company Stock shall be withheld by the Company, transferred to the Trust and treated as a deemed investment of the Participant in accordance 
with the provisions of Article IV. All elections with respect to the deferral of Compensation, including Gain Shares, must be made in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 2.2.  

ARTICLE IV  
Accounting and Investments  

        4.1   Accounting  

        The Company shall maintain or cause to be maintained a book accounting record of the Participant's Plan Account, showing the amounts of 
Participant Deferrals and the Credited Earnings thereon, based upon the deemed investment elections of each Participant pursuant to Section 4.2. 
The Company shall also maintain or cause to be maintained appropriate accounting records of the Trust.  

        4.2   Deemed Investment Elections  

        Each Participant shall elect from time to time, in accordance with such procedures as may be established for this purpose by the Committee, 
the manner in which Credited Earnings shall be determined with respect to the Participant's Plan Account, based upon the deemed investment 
elections made by the Participant. The deemed investment options available to Participants shall be determined from time to time by the 
Committee and may be changed from time to time. In the case of Participant Deferrals attributable to Stock Options, such Participant Deferrals 
shall be deemed to be invested only in Company Stock and the Participant may not change the deemed investment election with respect to  
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such amounts. Subject to the foregoing restriction, the Participant shall be permitted to change his deemed investment elections in accordance 



with such procedures as may be established for this purpose by the Committee. If at any time the Committee does not possess deemed 
investment directions for all of a Participant's Plan Account, the Participant shall be deemed to have directed that the undesignated portion of the 
Plan Account be deemed to be invested in a money market, fixed income or similar fund made available under the Plan as determined by the 
Committee in its discretion. Each Participant hereunder, as a condition to his or her participation hereunder, agrees to indemnify and hold 
harmless the Company, the Committee and their agents and representatives from any losses or damages of any kind relating to the Participant's 
choice of deemed investments and the investment results of such deemed investments.  

ARTICLE V  
Distributions  

        5.1   Time of Distribution.  

(a)  Unless a Participant otherwise elects in accordance with the provisions of subsection 5.1(b), or unless Section 5.3, 5.4 or 5.5 
applies, the amount credited to a Participant's Plan Account shall be distributed to the Participant (or his Beneficiary), or 
distributions shall begin, on the first day of the month next following 60 days after the date on which the Participant's service with 
the Company terminates, whether such service terminates because of death, Disability, Retirement, voluntary termination or 
termination by the Company. The transfer of a Participant between the Company and an Affiliated Entity, or between Affiliated 
Entities, shall not be considered a termination of employment for purposes of this Plan.  
 

(b)  At the time a Participant elects to make Participant Deferrals in accordance with Section 3.1 with respect to a specified Plan Year, 
the Participant may also elect to receive payment of the amounts deferred under Article III of the Plan with respect to such Plan 
Year, together with Credited Earnings thereon, immediately upon termination of employment in accordance with subsection 5.1
(b) or one, three, five, ten, fifteen or twenty years following termination of employment or, regardless of when service terminates, 
after a period of three, five, ten, fifteen or twenty years. A Participant shall also be permitted to elect to receive payment of the 
Participant Deferrals with respect to a Plan Year at such other times as may be permitted by the Committee from time to time. If a 
Participant makes an election to receive payment after a specified number of years, regardless of employment termination, then 
the amounts deferred under Article III with respect to such Plan Year, together with Credited Earnings thereon, shall be 
distributed to the Participant (or his Beneficiary) on the first business day of the calendar year that is three, five, ten, fifteen or 
twenty years after the calendar year of the deferrals as elected by the Participant, or at such other time as may be elected by the 
Participant with the permission of the Committee. Amounts payable under this subsection after a specified period of years shall be 
paid in a lump sum, except as provided in Section 5.2.  

        5.2   Method and Amount of Distribution.  

(a)  Unless a Participant otherwise elects with respect to a Plan Year in accordance with the provisions of this Section 5.2, or unless 
Section 5.4 applies, payment of all Participant Deferrals, together with Credited Earnings, shall be made at the time determined in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 5.1 in a lump sum in an amount equal to the amount credited to his Plan Account as of 
the last day of the month prior to the date of payment.  
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(b)  At the time a Participant elects to make Participant Deferrals in accordance with Section 3.1 with respect to a specified Plan Year, 
the Participant may also elect to receive payment of the amounts deferred under Article III of the Plan with respect to such Plan 
Year, together with Credited Earnings thereon, over a three, five, ten, fifteen or twenty year installment payout instead of a lump 
sum. In order to be valid, an election under this subsection must be filed, in writing, with the Committee at least two years before 
the date of the Participant's termination of service with the Company. Payments in accordance with this subsection shall be made 
in annual installments, with the first installment payable upon the first day of the month next following 60 days after the 
termination of service of the Participant, or the date specified by the Participant in accordance with the provisions of subsection 
5.1(b), as the case may be. Each annual installment shall be determined by dividing the value of the Participant's Plan Account as 
of the last day of the month prior to the date of payment by the number of remaining annual installments to be made in 
accordance with the Participant's election.  
 

(c)  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 5.2, in the event of the death or Disability of the Participant, whether 
prior to or following Retirement, the Participant or his Beneficiary, as the case may be, may request a lump sum payout of the 
Participant's entire Plan Account. Any such request shall be considered by the Committee, which shall have the sole discretion to 
either approve such a payment or to deny such a payment. If a lump sum payment is authorized by the Committee under these 
circumstances, payment of the Participant's Plan Account, based upon the amount credited to such Plan Account as of the last day 
of the month prior to the date of payment, shall be made within 60 days after the date on which the Committee approves such 
payment.  
 

(d)  During the period following a Participant's termination of employment with the Company and before payment of his Plan 
Account begins, and during the period that a Participant's Plan Account is being distributed in accordance with an installment 
payout election, the Plan Account shall continue to be credited with Credited Earnings in accordance with the provisions of 
Article IV and the Participant shall be entitled to make deemed investment elections with respect to the investment of his or her 



Plan Account.  
 

(e)  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 5, to the extent that a Participant's Plan Account is deemed to be 
invested in Company Stock at the time that distribution commences hereunder, such distribution shall be made, to the extent 
thereof, in whole shares of Company Stock, rather than in cash, with the value of any fractional share distributed in cash. In all 
other instances, a Participant's Plan Account shall be distributed in cash.  

        5.3   Early Distribution With Penalty.  

        Instead of receiving the distribution of a Participant's Plan Account at the time and in the manner otherwise specified in this Article V, a 
Participant may elect to receive his entire Plan Account in a lump sum at any time. If a Participant so elects, the amount of his Plan Account 
shall be reduced by 10% as a penalty for early distribution and the amount in such Plan Account as of the last day of the month prior to receipt 
by the Company of the Participant's election under this subsection, reduced by the 10% penalty amount, shall be paid to the Participant in a lump 
sum within 30 days after receipt by the Company of the Participant's election. To the extent that a Participant's Plan Account is invested in 
Company Stock, the lump sum distribution shall be made in whole shares of Company Stock, with the value of any fractional share distributed in 
cash. A Participant who makes such an election shall no longer be eligible to participate in the Plan. All elections under this section shall be 
made in writing, shall be effective when delivered to the Company and shall be irrevocable once made.  
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        5.4   Distribution Upon Change in Control.  

        At the time a Participant elects to make Participant Deferrals in accordance with Section 3.1 with respect to a specified Plan Year, the 
Participant may also elect to receive payment of the amounts deferred under Article III of the Plan with respect to such Plan Year, or any or all 
earlier Plan Years, together with Credited Earnings thereon, in a lump sum or over a three, five, ten, fifteen or twenty year installment payout in 
the event of a Change in Control of the Company. A Participant may also elect to commence receiving payment in such circumstances, either 
immediately following the date of the Change in Control, after a period of one, three, five, ten, fifteen or twenty years following the date of the 
Participant's termination of employment, or, regardless of when service terminates, after a period of three, five, ten, fifteen or twenty years, as 
elected by the Participant. A Participant may also make such an election with respect to the payment of his or her Plan Account in the event of a 
Change in Control at any other time, provided, however, that any such election, whether in connection with the Participant's Participant Deferrals 
Election or otherwise, must be received by the Company at least six months before the date of the closing of the transaction that constitutes a 
Change in Control. If a Participant does not otherwise elect, or if any such election is ineffective because made within six months of a Change in 
Control, then such Participant shall receive an immediate lump sum payment of the amount allocated to his Plan Account as of the date of such 
Change in Control. Any Beneficiary receiving payments from the Plan at the time of a Change in Control of the Company shall receive an 
immediate lump sum payment of the amount allocated to his or her Plan Account as of the date of such Change in Control. All lump sum 
payments shall be made as soon as administratively possible following the date of the Change in Control.  

        5.5   Hardship Distributions.  

        In the event of hardship endured by a Participant and recognized as such by the Committee, and upon receipt by the Committee of a written 
application for the early distribution of amounts deferred, the Committee shall direct the distribution to the Participant of all amounts allocated to 
the Plan Account to the extent reasonably required to satisfy the hardship need. For purposes of this Plan, "hardship" shall mean a Participant's 
severe, unforeseeable financial hardship resulting from a sudden unexpected illness or accident of the Participant (or any of his family), loss of 
the Participant's property due to casualty, or other similar extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of events beyond the 
control of the Participant. In no event may a distribution be made to the extent that such hardship is or may be relieved (i) through 
reimbursement or compensation by insurance or otherwise, or (ii) by liquidation of the Participant's assets, to the extent the liquidation of such 
assets would not itself cause severe financial hardship. If the Committee grants a hardship distribution pursuant to this Section 5.5, the 
Committee may also permit the Participant to reduce or eliminate his deferrals under the Plan for the remainder of the Plan Year. The 
Committee's decision with respect to the existence or nonexistence of hardship with respect to a particular Participant shall be final and binding 
on all parties.  

        5.6   Source of Payments.  

        All amounts payable to any person under this Plan shall be paid from the general assets of the Company as such amounts become due and 
payable or, in the sole discretion of the Company, such amounts may be paid from the Trust in accordance with the provisions of the Trust and 
upon the written direction of the Company. If a Participant is employed by more than one entity during his period of participation in the Plan, the 
various employers shall agree among themselves with respect to the allocation of the obligation to make payments to the Participant in 
accordance with the provisions of this Plan.  
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5.7  Beneficiaries.  

        Each Participant shall designate one or more persons, trusts or other entities as his Beneficiary to receive any amounts distributable 
hereunder at the time of the Participant's death. Such designation shall be made by the Participant on a Beneficiary Designation Form supplied 
by the Committee at his initial enrollment and may be changed from time to time by the Participant. Any such beneficiary designation shall 
apply to all amounts payable to a Participant hereunder. All payments to a Participant's Beneficiary under the Plan shall be made at the times and 
in the manner previously elected by the Participant with respect to distributions under the Plan, except as otherwise provided in Section 5.4. In 
the absence of an effective beneficiary designation as to part or all of a Participant's interest in the Plan, such amount shall be distributed to the 
personal representative of the Participant's estate.  

5.8  Withholding.  

        All amounts payable under the provisions of this Plan to any person shall be subject to withholding of applicable tax and other items in 
accordance with federal, state and local law.  

ARTICLE VI  
Administration  

6.1  The Committee C Plan Administrator.  
 
(a)  The Company's Retirement Committee, or a subcommittee thereof appointed by the Retirement Committee, shall serve as the 

Administrative Committee for this Plan. The Committee shall administer the Plan in accordance with its terms and purposes.  
 

(b)  The Committee may designate an individual to serve as Plan Administrator and may at any time revoke a prior designation and 
select a different individual to serve as Plan Administrator.  

 
6.2  Committee to Administer and Interpret Plan.  

        The Committee shall administer the Plan and shall have all powers necessary for that purpose, including, but not by way of limitation, 
power to interpret the Plan, to determine the eligibility, status and rights of all persons under the Plan and, in general, to decide any dispute. The 
Committee shall maintain all Plan records except records of the Trust fund.  

6.3  Organization of Committee.  

        The Committee shall adopt such rules as it deems desirable for the conduct of its affairs and for the administration of the Plan. It may 
appoint agents (who need not be members of the Committee) to whom it may delegate such powers as it deems appropriate, except that any 
dispute shall be determined by the Committee. The Committee may make its determinations with or without meetings. It may authorize one or 
more of its members or agents to sign instructions, notices and determinations on its behalf. The action of a majority of the Committee shall 
constitute the action of the Committee.  

6.4  Indemnification.  

        The Committee, the Plan Administrator and all of the other agents and representatives of the Committee shall be indemnified and saved 
harmless by the Company against any claims, and the expenses of defending against such claims, resulting from any action or conduct relating to 
the administration of the Plan, except claims judicially determined to be attributable to gross negligence or willful misconduct.  
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6.5  Agent for Process.  

 
        The Committee shall be agent of the Plan for service of all process.  

6.6  Determination of Committee Final.  

        The decisions made by the Committee shall be final and conclusive on all persons.  

6.7  The Trustee.  

        The Trustee shall be responsible for: (a) the investment of the Trust fund to the extent and in the manner provided herein and in the Trust 



Agreement; (b) the custody and preservation of Trust assets delivered to it; and (c) for making such distributions from the Trust fund as the 
Company shall direct. The Trustee shall have only the responsibilities specified in this section and in the Trust Agreement.  

ARTICLE VII  
Trust  

7.1  Trust Agreement.  

        The Company and each Affiliated Entity which has adopted the Plan have each entered into a Trust Agreement with the Trustee, which 
shall initially be Fidelity Management Trust Company, to provide for the holding, investment and administration of the funds of the Plan for the 
Participants who are employed by each such entity. The Trust Agreement shall be part of the Plan, and the rights and duties of any person under 
the Plan shall be subject to all of the terms and provisions of the Trust Agreement.  

7.2  Expenses of Trust.  

        The parties expect that the Trust will be treated as though it were not a separate taxpaying entity for federal and state income tax purposes 
and that, as a consequence, the Trust will not be subject to income tax with respect to its income. However, if the Trust should be taxable, the 
Company shall contribute the amount necessary to pay such taxes to the Trust and the Trustee shall pay all such taxes out of the Trust. All 
expenses of administering the Trust shall be paid by the Company.  

ARTICLE VIII  
Affiliated Entities  

8.1  Adoption of Plan.  

        Any Affiliated Entity, whether or not presently existing, may with the consent of the Committee become a party to the Plan by adopting the 
Plan for one or more of its highly- compensated and select management employees. In accordance with the provisions of Section 2.1, the 
Committee shall have the sole discretion to determine which employees of such an Affiliated Entity, if any, may participate in the Plan. 
Thereafter, such Affiliated Entity shall promptly deliver to the Company a copy of the document evidencing its adoption of the Plan. The 
Company and each such Affiliated Entity shall enter into such written agreements as they may consider necessary and appropriate in order to 
allocate the responsibility for payments due under the provisions of the Plan with respect to employees who transfer employment between 
participating employers.  

8.2  Agency of the Company.  

        Each Affiliated Entity by becoming a party to the Plan constitutes the Company its agent with authority to act for it in all transactions in 
which the Company believes such agency will facilitate the administration of the Plan and with authority to amend and terminate the Plan.  
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8.3  Disaffiliation and Withdrawal From Plan.  

        Any Affiliated Entity which has adopted the Plan and which thereafter ceases for any reason to be an Affiliated Entity shall forthwith cease 
to be a party to the Plan. Any Affiliated Entity may, by resolution of its governing body and written notice thereof to the Company provide from 
and after the end of any plan year for the discontinuance of Plan participation by such employer and its employees.  

8.4  Effect of Disaffiliation or Withdrawal.  

        At the time of disaffiliation or withdrawal, the disaffiliating or withdrawing employer shall by resolution of its governing body determine 
whether to continue the Plan for its covered employees or to terminate the Plan as to such employees.  

ARTICLE IX  
Amendment and Termination  

9.1  Termination of Deferrals.  

        The Company, through action of its Board of Directors, may terminate future Participant Deferrals under the Plan at any time, for any 
reason. If deferrals are discontinued, the Plan and Trust shall continue to operate in accordance with their respective terms and distributions shall 
be made to Participants (and Beneficiaries) in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.  

9.2  Termination of Plan.  



        The Company and each Affiliated Entity which has adopted the Plan expect to continue this Plan indefinitely, but the Company and each 
such Affiliated Entity may terminate this Plan as to its employees at any time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company and each such 
Affiliated Entity shall not terminate this Plan as to its employees solely for the purpose of accelerating the distribution of benefits to its 
employees.  

9.3  Benefits Distributable Upon Termination.  

        Notwithstanding 9.1 above, the Company or the Affiliated Entity, as the case may be, shall distribute, or cause the Trustee to distribute, all 
benefits that have accrued under the Plan for Participants employed by the entity that terminates its participation in the Plan, together with all 
benefits that have accrued under the Plan for former Participants or Beneficiaries, as of the date of termination of the Plan, with such benefits 
computed and distributed as though all Participants terminated employment with the Company or the Affiliated Entity on the date of Plan 
termination.  

9.4  Amendment by Company.  

        The Company may amend this Plan at any time and from time to time, but no amendment shall reduce any benefit that has accrued on the 
effective date of the amendment.  

ARTICLE X  
Miscellaneous  

10.1  Funding of Benefits—No Fiduciary Relationship.  

        All benefits payable under this Plan shall be distributed as they become due and payable either by the Company out of its general assets or 
from the Trust, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion. The Company and each Affiliated Entity that adopts the Plan pursuant to 
Article VIII shall be responsible for providing the benefits only for its own employees who are Participants in the Plan. Nothing contained in this 
Plan shall be deemed to create any fiduciary relationship between the Company and the Participants. To the extent that any person acquires a 
right to receive benefits under  
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this Plan, such right shall be no greater than the right of any unsecured general creditor of the Company.  

10.2  Reimbursement for Certain Expenses.  

        The Plan and Trust have been established with the intent and understanding that, for federal income tax purposes, Participants in the Plan 
will not be subject to tax with respect to their participation in the Plan until such time as distributions are actually made to the Participants in 
accordance with the provisions of the Plan. If a Participant is treated by the Internal Revenue Service as having received income with respect to 
the Plan in a year prior to the actual receipt of distributions under the Plan, the Company shall reimburse the Participant for all reasonable legal 
and accounting costs incurred by the Participant in contesting such proposed treatment.  

10.3  Right to Terminate Employment.  

        The Company and each Affiliated Entity may terminate the employment of any Participant as freely and with the same effect as if this Plan 
were not in existence.  

10.4  Inalienability of Benefits.  

        No Participant shall have the right to assign, transfer, hypothecate, encumber or anticipate his interest in any benefits under this Plan, nor 
shall the benefits under this Plan be subject to any legal process to levy upon or attach the benefits for payment for any claim against the 
Participant or his spouse. If any Participant's benefits are garnished or attached by the order of any court, the Company may bring an action for 
declaratory judgment in a court of competent jurisdiction to determine the proper recipient of the benefits to be distributed pursuant to the Plan. 
During the pendency of the action, any benefits that become distributable shall be paid into the court as they become distributable, to be 
distributed by the court to the recipient it deems proper at the conclusion of the action. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this 
Section 10.4, a Participant shall have the right to assign any amounts that may become payable hereunder for any reason other than the death of 
the Participant to a revocable trust of which the Participant is the grantor or a family partnership controlled by the Participant, provided that any 
such assignment shall not enable the Participant to anticipate or otherwise receive current economic benefit from such assignment.  

10.5  Claims Procedure.  
 
(a)  All claims shall be filed in writing by the Participant, his spouse or the authorized representative of the claimant, by completing 

such procedures as the Committee shall require. Such procedures shall be reasonable and may include the completion of forms 



and the submission of documents and additional information.  
 

(b)  If a claim is denied, notice of denial shall be furnished by the Committee to the claimant within 90 days after the receipt of the 
claim by the Committee, unless special circumstances require an extension of time for processing the claim, in which event 
notification of the extension shall be provided to the Participant or beneficiary and the extension shall not exceed 90 days.  
 

(c)  The Committee shall provide adequate notice, in writing, to any claimant whose claim has been denied, setting forth the specific 
reasons for such denial, specific reference to pertinent Plan provisions, a description of any additional material or information 
necessary for the claimant to perfect his claims and an explanation of why such material or information is necessary, all written in 
a manner calculated to be understood by the claimant. Such notice shall include appropriate information as to the steps to be taken 
if the claimant wishes to submit his claim for review. The claimant or the claimant's authorized representative may request such 
review within the reasonable period of time prescribed by the Committee. In no event shall such a period of time be less than 
60 days. A decision on review shall be made not  
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later than 60 days after the Committee's receipt of the request for review. If special circumstances require a further extension of 
time for processing, a decision shall be rendered not later than 120 days following the Committee's receipt of the request for 
review. If such an extension of time for review is required, written notice of the extension shall be furnished to the claimant prior 
to the commencement of the extension. The decision on review shall be furnished to the claimant. Such decision shall be in 
writing and shall include specific reasons for the decision, written in a manner calculated to be understood by the claimant, as 
well as specific references to the pertinent Plan provisions on which the decision is based.  

10.6  Disposition of Unclaimed Distributions.  

        Each Participant must file with the Company from time to time in writing his address and each change of address. Any communication, 
statement or notice addressed to a Participant at his last address filed with the Company, or if no address is filed with the Company, then at his 
last address as shown on the Company's records, will be binding on the Participant and his spouse for all purposes of the Plan. The Company 
shall not be required to search for or locate a Participant or his spouse. If the Committee notifies a Participant (or Beneficiary) that he is entitled 
to a distribution and also notifies him of the provisions of this section, and the individual fails to claim his benefits under this Plan or make his 
address known to the Committee within five calendar years after the notification, the benefits under the Plan of such individual shall be forfeited 
as of the end of the Plan Year coincident with or following the five year waiting period. If the individual should later make a claim for his 
forfeited benefit, the Company shall cause the amount of the forfeited benefit to be distributed to the individual, either through a direct payment 
by the Company or through a payment from the Trust.  

10.7  Distributions Due Minors or Incompetents.  

        If any person entitled to a distribution under the Plan is a minor, or if the Committee determines that any such person is incompetent by 
reason of physical or mental disability, whether or not legally adjudicated an incompetent, the Committee shall have the power to cause the 
distributions becoming due to such person to be made to another for his or her benefit, without responsibility of the Committee or the Trustee to 
see to the application of such distributions. Distributions made pursuant to such power shall operate as a complete discharge of the Company, the 
Trust fund, the Trustee and the Committee.  

10.8  Governing Law.  

        This Plan shall be governed by the laws of the State of Colorado.  

14  

TABLE OF CONTENTS  

Dated:         
            
 
  

 
  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  
 
  

ATTEST:   ADOLPH COORS COMPANY 
 
  

 
  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  
 
  

By:       By:     
          



i  

               

Page 

RECITALS   2 
 
ARTICLE 

 
  

 
— 

 
  
 
Definitions 

 
  2 

  1.1       "Affiliated Entity"   2 
  1.2       "Base Salary"   2 
  1.3       "Beneficiary"   2 
  1.4       "Change in Control"   2 
  1.5       "Committee"   4 
  1.6       "Company"   4 
  1.7       "Company Stock"   4 
  1.8       "Compensation"   4 
  1.9       "Credited Earnings"   4 
  1.10       "Disability"   4 
  1.11       "Election Agreement"   4 
  1.12       "Executive Bonus"   4 
  1.13       "Participant"   4 
  1.14       "Participant Deferrals"   5 
  1.15       "Plan Account"   5 
  1.16       "Plan Year"   5 
  1.17       "Retirement"   5 
  1.18       "Stock Option"   5 
  1.19       "Trust"   5 
  1.20       "Trust Agreement"   5 
  1.21       "Trustee"   5 
 
ARTICLE II 

 
  

 
— 

 
  
 
Eligibility and Participation 

 
  5 

  2.1       Eligibility and Participation   5 
  2.2       Enrollment   5 
  2.3       Failure of Eligibility   6 
 
ARTICLE III 

 
  

 
— 

 
  
 
Contribution Deferrals 

 
  6 

 
ARTICLE IV 

 
  

 
— 

 
  
 
Accounting and Investments 

 
  6 

  4.1       Accounting   6 
  4.2       Deemed Investment Elections   6 
 
ARTICLE V 

 
  

 
— 

 
  
 
Distributions 

 
  7 

  5.1       Time of Distribution   7 
  5.2       Method and Amount of Distribution   7 
  5.3       Early Distribution With Penalty   8 
  5.4       Distribution Upon Change in Control   9 
  5.5       Hardship Distributions   9 
  5.6       Source of Payments   9 
  5.7       Beneficiaries   10 
  5.8       Withholding   10 
 
ARTICLE VI 

 
  

 
— 

 
  
 
Administration 

 
  10 

  6.1       The CommitteeCPlan Administrator   10 
  6.2       Committee to Administer and Interpret Plan   10 
  6.3       Organization of Committee   10 
  6.4       Indemnification   10 

  6.5       Agent for Process   11 
  6.6       Determination of Committee Final   11 
  6.7       The Trustee   11 



ii  

 

 
QuickLinks  

EXHIBIT 10.17  

 
ARTICLE VII 

 
  

 
— 

 
  
 
Trust 

 
  11 

  7.1       Trust Agreement   11 
  7.2       Expenses of Trust   11 
 
ARTICLE 
VIII 

 
  

 
— 

 
   
Affiliated Entities 

 
  11 

  8.1       Adoption of Plan   11 
  8.2       Agency of the Company   11 
  8.3       Disaffiliation and Withdrawal From Plan   12 
  8.4       Effect of Disaffiliation or Withdrawal   12 
 
ARTICLE IX 

 
  

 
— 

 
  
 
Amendment and Termination 

 
  12 

  9.1       Termination of Deferrals   12 
  9.2       Termination of Plan   12 
  9.3       Benefits Distributable Upon Termination   12 
  9.4       Amendment by Company   12 
 
ARTICLE X 

 
  

 
— 

 
  
 
Miscellaneous 

 
  12 

  10.1       Funding of Benefits—No Fiduciary Relationship   12 
  10.2       Reimbursement for Certain Expenses   13 
  10.3       Right to Terminate Employment   13 
  10.4       Inalienability of Benefits   13 
  10.5       Claims Procedure   13 
  10.6       Disposition of Unclaimed Distributions   14 
  10.7       Distributions Due Minors or Incompetents   14 
  10.8       Governing Law   14 



 
QuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document 

EXHIBIT 10.18 
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FOR  

NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS  

Effective May 16, 2002  

ADOLPH COORS COMPANY  
EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN  

FOR  
NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS  

Effective May 16, 2002  

SECTION 1  
INTRODUCTION  

        1.1   Establishment . Adolph Coors Company, a Colorado corporation (the "Company"), hereby establishes the Adolph Coors Company 
Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the "Plan") effective May 16, 2002, for those directors ("Directors") of the Company who 
are neither officers nor employees of the Company. The Plan provides for the grant of non-qualified stock options and restricted stock awards to 
Directors of the Company.  

        1.2   Purposes . The purposes of the Plan are to encourage the Directors to own shares of the Company's stock and thereby to align their 
interests more closely with the interests of the other shareholders of the Company, to encourage the highest level of Director performance by 
providing the Directors with a direct interest in the Company's attainment of its financial goals, and to provide a financial incentive that will help 
attract and retain the most qualified Directors.  

        1.3   Effective Date . The effective date of the Plan is May 16, 2002. The Plan and each award granted under the amended and restated Plan 
is conditioned on and shall be of no force or effect until approval of the Plan by the holders of a majority of the shares of voting stock of the 
Company, unless the Company, on the advice of counsel, determines that shareholder approval is not necessary.  

SECTION 2  
DEFINITIONS  

        2.1   Definitions. The following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:  

        (a)  " Affiliated Corporation " means any corporation or other entity that is affiliated with the Company through stock ownership or 
otherwise and is designated as an "Affiliated Corporation" by the Board.  

        (b)  " Award " means an Option or a Restricted Stock Award issued hereunder.  

        (c)  " Board " means the Board of Directors of the Company.  

        (d)  " Director " means a member of the Board who is neither an officer nor an employee of the Company. For purposes of the Plan, 
an employee is an individual whose wages are subject to the withholding of federal income tax under section 3401 of the Internal 
Revenue Code, and an officer is an individual elected or appointed by the Board or chosen in such other manner as may be prescribed in 
the bylaws of the Company to serve as such.  

        (e)  " Disability " means a physical or mental condition of a Director that is determined by the Social Security Administration to 
entitle the Director to a Social Security disability benefit.  

        (f)    " Fair Market Value " means the average of the highest and lowest sales prices for a share of Stock on the New York Stock 
Exchange on a particular date. If there are no Stock transactions on such date, the Fair Market Value shall be determined as of the 
immediately preceding date on which there were Stock transactions. In the event that the method for determining the Fair Market Value 



of a share of Stock provided above shall not be practicable, then such Fair Market Value shall be determined by such other reasonable 
valuation method as the Board shall, in its  
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discretion, select and apply in good faith as of the given date. If, upon exercise of an Option, the exercise price is paid by a broker's 
transaction as provided in Section 6.2(f), Fair Market Value, for purposes of the exercise, shall be the price at which the Stock is sold by 
the broker.  

        (g)  " Internal Revenue Code " means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it may be amended from time to time.  

        (h)  " Option " means the right to purchase Stock at a stated price for a specified period of time. All Options granted under the Plan 
shall be "non-qualified stock options" whose grant is not intended to fall under the provisions of section 422(a) of the Internal Revenue 
Code.  

        (i)    " Option Price " means the price at which shares of Stock subject to an Option may be purchased, determined in accordance 
with Section 6.2(b).  

        (j)    " Restricted Stock Award " means an award of Stock granted to a Director pursuant to Section 7 that is subject to certain 
restrictions imposed by the Board in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.  

        (k)  " Stock " means the no par value Class B (non-voting) Common Stock of the Company.  

        (l)    " Voting Stock " means the $1.00 par value Class A Common Stock of the Company.  

        2.2   Gender and Number . Except when otherwise indicated by the context, the masculine gender shall also include the feminine gender, 
and the definition of any term herein in the singular shall also include the plural.  

SECTION 3  
PLAN ADMINISTRATION  

        The Board shall be responsible for the administration of the Plan. The Board, by majority action thereof, is authorized to grant Options and 
Restricted Stock Awards to one or more Directors, as determined in their sole discretion, and subject to the election of the Director as to the form 
of the Award, and to interpret the Plan, prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan, provide for conditions and 
assurances deemed necessary or advisable to protect the interests of the Company and make all other determinations necessary or advisable for 
the administration of the Plan, but only to the extent not contrary to the express provisions of the Plan. The Board shall determine the form or 
forms of the agreements with Directors which shall evidence the particular provisions, terms, conditions, rights and duties of the Company and 
the Directors with respect to Awards granted pursuant to the Plan, which provisions need not be identical except as may be provided herein. The 
Board may correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or in any agreement entered into hereunder in the 
manner and to the extent it shall deem expedient and it shall be the sole and final judge of such expediency. No member of the Board shall be 
liable for any action or determination made in good faith. The determinations, interpretations and other actions of the Board pursuant to the 
provisions of the Plan shall be binding and conclusive for all purposes and on all persons.  

SECTION 4  
STOCK SUBJECT TO THE PLAN  

        4.1   Number of Shares . Fifty thousand (50,000) shares of Stock are authorized for issuance under the Plan in accordance with the 
provisions of the Plan and subject to such restrictions or other provisions as the Board may from time to time deem necessary. This authorization 
may be increased from time to time by approval of the Board and by the shareholders of the Company if, in the opinion of counsel for the 
Company, such shareholder approval is required. Shares of Stock that may be issued upon exercise of Options and that are issued as Restricted 
Stock Awards shall be applied to reduce the  
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maximum number of shares of Stock remaining available for use under the Plan. The Company shall at all times during the term of the Plan 
retain as authorized and unissued Stock at least the number of shares from time to time required under the provisions of the Plan, or otherwise 
assure itself of its ability to perform its obligations hereunder.  



        4.2   Other Shares of Stock . Any shares of Stock that are subject to an Option that expires or for any reason is terminated unexercised and 
any shares of Stock that are subject to a Restricted Stock Award and which are forfeited, and any shares of Stock that for any other reason are 
not issued to a Director, shall automatically become available for use under the Plan.  

        4.3   Adjustments for Stock Split, Stock Dividend, Etc . If the Company shall at any time increase or decrease the number of its outstanding 
shares of Stock or change in any way the rights and privileges of such shares by means of the payment of a stock dividend or any other 
distribution upon such shares payable in Stock, or through a stock split, subdivision, consolidation, combination, reclassification or 
recapitalization involving the Stock, then in relation to the Stock that is affected by one or more of the above events, the numbers, rights and 
privileges of the following shall be increased, decreased or changed in like manner as if they had been issued and outstanding, fully paid and 
nonassessable at the time of such occurrence: (i) the shares of Stock as to which Awards may be granted under the Plan; (ii) the number of shares 
of Stock subject to the automatic grant of Options to Directors in accordance with the provisions of Section 6; and (iii) the shares of the Stock 
then included in each outstanding Award granted hereunder.  

        4.4   Other Distributions and Changes in the Stock . If  

        (a)  the Company shall at any time distribute with respect to the Stock assets or securities of persons other than the Company 
(excluding cash or distributions referred to in Section 4.3),  

        (b)  the Company shall at any time grant to the holders of its Stock rights to subscribe pro rata for additional shares thereof or for 
any other securities of the Company, or  

        (c)  there shall be any other change (except as described in Section 4.3), in the number or kind of outstanding shares of Stock or of 
any stock or other securities into which the Stock shall be changed or for which it shall have been exchanged,  

and if the Board shall in its discretion determine that the event described in subsection (a), (b), or (c) above equitably requires an adjustment in 
the number or kind of shares subject to an Option or other Award, an adjustment in the Option Price or the taking of any other action by the 
Board, including without limitation, the setting aside of any property for delivery to the Director upon the exercise of an Option or the full 
vesting of an Award, then such adjustments shall be made, or other action shall be taken, by the Board and shall be effective for all purposes of 
the Plan and on each outstanding Option or Award that involves the particular type of stock for which a change was effected. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing provisions of this Section 4.4, pursuant to Section 7.4 below, a Director holding Stock received as a Restricted Stock Award shall 
have the right to receive all amounts, including cash and property of any kind, distributed with respect to the Stock upon the Director's becoming 
a holder of record of the Stock.  

        4.5   General Adjustment Rules . No adjustment or substitution provided for in this Section 4 shall require the Company to sell a fractional 
share of Stock under any Option, or otherwise issue a fractional share of Stock, and the total substitution or adjustment with respect to each 
Option and other Award shall be limited by deleting any fractional share. In the case of any such substitution or adjustment, the total Option 
Price for the shares of Stock then subject to the Option shall remain unchanged but the Option Price per share under each such Option shall be 
equitably adjusted by the Board to reflect the greater or lesser number of shares of Stock or other securities into which the Stock subject to the 
Option may have been changed, and appropriate adjustments shall be made to Restricted Stock Awards to reflect any such substitution or 
adjustment.  
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        4.6   Determination by the Board . Adjustments under this Section 4 shall be made by the Board, whose determinations with regard thereto 
shall be final and binding upon all parties thereto.  

SECTION 5  
PARTICIPATION  

        5.1   In General . Each Director may receive Options and Restricted Stock Awards, as determined by the Board in its sole discretion, on the 
terms and conditions set forth under the Plan, provided that the Director may elect the form of Award once an Award is determined by the Board 
to be granted. Each Director shall, if required by the Board, enter into an agreement with the Company with respect to an Award, in such form as 
the Board shall determine and which is consistent with the provisions of the Plan. In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the 
Plan and any such agreement entered into hereunder, the provisions of the Plan shall govern.  

        5.2   Restriction on Award Grants to Certain Individuals . Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of Section 5.1, no Awards shall be 
granted to any lineal descendant of Adolph Coors, Jr. without the prior written approval of counsel to the Company as to the effect of any such 
grant on the possible status of the Company as a "personal holding company" within the meaning of Section 542 of the Internal Revenue Code.  

SECTION 6  
OPTIONS  



        6.1   Grant . (a) Each Director who is elected or re-elected to the Board at the annual meeting of shareholders, beginning with the annual 
meeting of shareholders held coincident with or immediately after the Effective Date, shall be eligible to receive an Option, granted on the last 
business day of the month during which the annual meeting of shareholders of the Company is held, to purchase such number of shares of Stock, 
if any, as shall be determined by the Board in its sole discretion. If a Director is elected as a Director after the beginning of the annual term for 
Directors, which begins at the May annual shareholders meeting, the Director shall be eligible to receive an Option for such number of shares of 
Stock, if any, as shall be determined by the Board in its sole discretion.  

        (b)   Date of Grant . The date on which a Director receives an Option hereunder is referred to as the date of grant of such Option.  

        (c)   Option Certificates . Each Option granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by a written stock option agreement or certificate 
(an "Option Certificate") issued in the name of the Director to whom the Option is granted. The Option Certificate shall incorporate and 
conform to the terms and conditions set forth herein.  

        6.2   Terms . Options issued pursuant to the Plan have the following terms and conditions in addition to those set forth elsewhere herein:  

        (a)   Number . Each Director shall receive under the Plan Options to purchase the number of shares of Stock specified in Section 6.1, 
subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4. Such grants shall be effective at the times specified in Section 6.1.  

        (b)   Price . The price at which each share of Stock covered by the Option may be purchased by each Director shall be the Fair 
Market Value of the Stock on the date of grant, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.  

        (c)   Duration of Options . The period within which each Option may be exercised shall expire ten years from the date the Option is 
granted (the "Option Period"), unless terminated sooner pursuant to subsection (d) below or fully exercised prior to the end of such 
period.  
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        (d)   Termination of Service, Death, Etc . The Option shall terminate in the following circumstances if the Director ceases to be a 
Director of the Company:  

          (i)  If the Director is removed as a Director of the Company during the Option Period for cause, as determined by the Board 
in its sole discretion, the Option shall be void thereafter for all purposes.  

        (ii)  If the Director ceases to be a Director of the Company on account of Disability, the Option may be exercised by the 
Director (or, in case of death thereafter, by the persons specified in Section 6.2(d)(iii)) within 36 months following the date on 
which the Director ceased to be a Director (if otherwise within the Option Period), but not thereafter. In any such case, the Option 
may be exercised only as to the shares as to which the Option had become exercisable on or before the date the Director ceased to 
be a Director.  

        (iii)  If the Director dies during the Option Period while still serving as a Director or within the three-month period referred 
to in Section 6.2(d)(iv) below, the Option may be exercised by those entitled to do so under the Director's will or by the laws of 
descent and distribution within 15 months following the Director's death (if otherwise within the Option Period), but not 
thereafter. In any such case, the Option may be exercised only as to the shares as to which the Option had become exercisable on 
or before the date the Director ceased to be a Director.  

        (iv)  If the Director ceases to be a director within the Option Period for any reason other than removal for cause, Disability or 
death, the Option may be exercised by the Director within three months following the date of such termination (if otherwise 
within the Option Period), but not thereafter. In any such case, the Option may be exercised only as to the shares as to which the 
Option had become exercisable on or before the date the Director ceased to be a director.  

        (e)   Transferability.  

          (i)  Except as specifically provided in Section 6.2(e)(ii) below, an Option shall not be transferable by the Director except by 
will or pursuant to the laws of descent and distribution. An Option shall be exercisable during the Director's lifetime only by him 
or her, or in the event of Disability or incapacity, by his or her guardian or legal representative. The Director's guardian or legal 
representative shall have all of the rights of the Director under this Plan.  

        (ii)  The Board may, however, provide at the time of grant or thereafter that the Director may transfer an Option to a member 
of the Director's immediate family, a trust of which members of the Director's immediate family are the only beneficiaries, or a 
partnership of which members of the Director's immediate family or trusts for the sole benefit of the Director's immediate family 
are the only partners (the "InterVivos Transferee"). Immediate family means the Director's spouse, issue (by birth or adoption), 



parents, grandparents, siblings (including half brothers and sisters and adopted siblings) and nieces and nephews. No transfer shall 
be effective unless the Director shall have notified the Company of the transfer in writing and has furnished a copy of the 
documents that effect the transfer to the Company. The InterVivos Transferee shall be subject to all of the terms of this Plan and 
the Option, including, but not limited to, the vesting schedule, termination provisions, and the manner in which the Option may be 
exercised. The Board may require the Director and the InterVivos Transferee to enter into an appropriate agreement with the 
Company providing for, among other things, the satisfaction of required tax withholding with respect to the exercise of the 
transferred Option and the satisfaction of any Stock retention requirements applicable to the Director, together with such other 
terms and conditions as may be specified by the Board.  
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Except to the extent provided otherwise in such agreement, the InterVivos Transferee shall have all of the rights and obligations 
of the Director under this Plan.  

        (f)     Exercise, Payments, Etc.  

          (i)  The method for exercising each Option shall be by delivery to the Company of written notice specifying the number of 
shares with respect to which the Option is exercised. The purchase of Stock pursuant to the Option shall take place at the principal 
office of the Company within thirty days following delivery of such notice, at which time the purchase price of the Stock shall be 
paid in full by any of the methods set forth in Section 6.2(f)(ii) or a combination thereof. If the purchase price is paid by means of 
a broker's loan transaction as described in clause (C) of Section 6.2(f)(ii), in whole or on part, the closing of the purchase of the 
Stock under the Option shall take place on the date on which, and only if, the sale of Stock upon which the broker's loan was 
based has been closed and settled, unless the Director makes an irrevocable written election, at the time of exercise of the Option, 
to have the exercise treated as fully effective for all purposes upon receipt of the purchase price by the Company regardless of 
whether or not the sale of the Stock by the broker is closed and settled. A properly executed certificate or certificates representing 
the Stock shall be delivered to the Director upon payment therefor. If Options on less than all shares evidenced by an Option 
Certificate are exercised, the Company shall deliver a new Option Certificate evidencing the Option on the remaining shares on 
delivery of the outstanding Option Certificate for the Option being exercised.  

        (ii)  The exercise price shall be paid by any of the following methods or any combination of such methods, at the option of 
the Director: (A) cash; (B) certified, cashier's or other check acceptable to the Company, payable to the order of the Company; or 
(C) delivery to the Company of irrevocable instructions to a broker to deliver promptly to the Company the amount of sale or loan 
proceeds required to pay the purchase price of the Stock; or (D) delivery to the Company of certificates representing the number 
of shares of Stock then owned by the Director, the Fair Market Value of which (determined as of the date the notice of exercise is 
delivered to the Company) equals the exercise price of the Stock to be purchased pursuant to the Option, properly endorsed for 
transfer to the Company. No Option may be exercised by delivery to the Company of certificates representing Stock that has been 
held by the Director for less than six months or such other period as shall be sufficient for the Company to avoid, if possible, the 
recognition of expense with respect to the Option for accounting purposes.  

        (g)   Service Required for Exercise . Except as set forth in Sections 6.2(d) and 8, each Option shall become exercisable on the earlier 
of the one year anniversary of the date of grant or the next following annual shareholders meeting following the date of grant, provided 
that the Director is still serving as a Director of the Company on such date. Except as set forth in Section 8, the Option shall not be 
exercisable as to any shares as to which the continuous service requirement has not been satisfied, regardless of the circumstances under 
which the Director ceased to be a director. The number of shares as to which the Option may be exercised shall be cumulative, so that 
once the Option becomes exercisable as to any shares it shall continue to be exercisable as to those shares until expiration or termination 
of the Option as provided in the Plan.  

        6.3   Shareholder Privileges . No Director shall have any rights as a shareholder with respect to any shares of Stock covered by an Option 
until the Director becomes a holder of record of such Stock, and no adjustment shall be made for dividends or other distributions or other rights 
as to which there is a record date preceding the date such Director becomes the holder of record of such Stock, except as provided in Section 4.  
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SECTION 7  
RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS  

        7.1   Grant of Restricted Stock . The Board may, from time to time in its sole discretion, grant an Award of Restricted Stock to one or more 
Directors. Any such Award shall be subject to such vesting and forfeiture provisions, and such other terms and conditions, as may be specified 
by the Board at the time of the grant of the Award.  



        7.2   Restrictions . Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, shares of Stock received pursuant to a Restricted Stock Award may not be sold, 
assigned, pledged, hypothecated, transferred or otherwise disposed of until the restrictions applicable to such Stock have lapsed pursuant to 
Section 7.3.  

        7.3   Lapse of Restrictions . Except as provided in Section 10, all restrictions on Stock covered by a Restricted Stock Award pursuant to this 
Section 7 shall lapse upon the satisfaction of such terms and conditions as may be specified by the Board at the time of the grant of the Award.  

        7.4   Privileges of a Stockholder, Transferability . A Director shall have all voting, dividend, liquidation and other rights with respect to 
Stock in accordance with its terms received by him as a Restricted Stock Award under this Section 7. A Director's right to sell, encumber or 
otherwise transfer Stock after restrictions applicable to such Stock pursuant to this Section 7 have lapsed shall be subject to the limitations of 
Section 10.  

        7.5   Enforcement of Restrictions . The Board shall cause a legend to be placed on the Stock certificates issued pursuant to each Restricted 
Stock Award referring to the restrictions imposed in the Plan and, in addition, may in its sole discretion require one or more of the following 
methods of enforcing such restrictions:  

        (a)  Requiring the Director to keep the Stock certificates, duly endorsed, in the custody of the Company while the restrictions remain 
in effect; or  

        (b)  Requiring that the Stock certificates, duly endorsed, be held in the custody of a third party while the restrictions remain in effect. 

SECTION 8  
REORGANIZATION OR CHANGE OF CONTROL  

        8.1   Reorganization . (a) Upon the occurrence of a Corporate Transaction (as defined in Section 8.1(b)), and if the provisions of Section 8.2 
do not apply, the Board, or the board of directors of any corporation assuming the obligations of the Company, shall, as to the Plan and 
outstanding Options and other Awards, either (i) make appropriate provision for the adoption and continuation of the Plan by the acquiring or 
successor corporation and for the protection of any such outstanding Options and other Awards by the substitution on an equitable basis of 
appropriate stock of the Company or of the merged, consolidated or otherwise reorganized corporation that will be issuable with respect to the 
Stock, provided that the excess of the aggregate Fair Market Value of the shares subject to the Options immediately after such substitution over 
the Option Price thereof is not more than the excess of the aggregate Fair Market Value of the shares subject to such Options immediately before 
such substitution over the Option Price thereof, or (ii) upon written notice to the Directors, provide that all unexercised Options must be 
exercised within a specified number of days of the date of such notice or they will be terminated. In the latter event, the Board shall accelerate 
the exercise dates of outstanding Options and accelerate the restriction period and modify the performance requirements for any outstanding 
Awards so that all Options and other Awards become fully vested prior to any such Corporate Transaction, provided, however, that any 
acceleration shall be subject to the limitations and provisions of Section 8.2(b).  
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        (b)   Corporate Transaction . A Corporate Transaction shall include any of the following:  

          (i)  with the consent of the Board, a Person other than Existing Shareholders or a Person controlled by Existing 
Shareholders becomes the ultimate Beneficial Owner of more than 20% of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the 
Company and such ownership represents a greater percentage of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Company than 
is Beneficially Owned by Existing Shareholders on such date; except the following acquisitions are not a Corporate Transaction: 
(A) an acquisition of Voting Stock by the Company or one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries or (B) an acquisition of Voting Stock 
that meets the conditions in clauses (A), (B) and (C) of paragraph (ii) of this Section 8.1(b) below, or (C) an acquisition by any 
employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or by any corporation controlled by the 
Company;  

        (ii)  the Company consolidates with, or merges with or into, another Person or the Company or a subsidiary of the Company 
sells, assigns, conveys, transfers, leases or otherwise disposes of all or substantially all of its assets to any Person in a transaction 
that would require approval of the Company's shareholders under Section 7-112-101 and 7-112-102 of the Colorado Business 
Corporation Act (except a transfer to an entity wholly-owned by the Company or one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries), or any 
Person consolidates with, or merges with or into, the Company, (each a "Business Combination") unless, immediately following 
such Business Combination, (A) all or substantially all of the individuals and entities who were the Beneficial Owners, 
respectively, of the Company Common Stock and Company Voting Stock immediately prior to such Business Combination 
Beneficially Own, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of, respectively, the then-outstanding shares of common stock and the 
combined voting power of the then-outstanding Voting Stock of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination 
(including, without limitation, a corporation that as a result of such transaction owns the Company and all or substantially all of 
the Company's assets either directly or though one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same proportions as their ownership, 
immediately prior to such Business Combination of the Company Common Stock and Company Voting Stock, (B) no Person 
(other than (1) Existing Shareholders and any Person controlled by Existing Shareholders, (2) any corporation resulting from such 



Business Combination or (3) any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or such corporation resulting from such 
Business Combination) Beneficially Owns, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the then-outstanding voting power of the Voting 
Stock of such corporation and Beneficially Owns a greater percentage of the voting power of such Voting Stock of such Person 
than the Existing Shareholders and any Person controlled by Existing Shareholders and (C) at least a majority of the members of 
the board of directors of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination were members of the Board at the time of the 
action of the Board, if any, providing for such Business Combination or if there was not such action, on the effective date of this 
Plan; or  

        (iii)  with the consent of the Board individuals who, on the effective date of this Plan, constitute the Board (together with any 
thereafter elected directors whose election by the Board or whose nomination by the Board for election by the Company's 
shareholders was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the members of the Board then in office who either were members 
of the Board on the effective date of this Plan, or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved) cease for 
any reason to constitute a majority of the members of the Board then in office.  
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        (c)   Definitions . For purposes of subsection 8.1(b) and Section 8.2, the following definitions are applicable:  

          (i)   Beneficial Owner and Beneficially Own " mean beneficial ownership as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the 
1934 Act, except that a person shall be deemed to beneficially own all securities that such person has the right to acquire, whether 
such right is exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time.  

        (ii)  " Company Common Stock " means the Company's Class B Common Stock and any other common stock (whether 
voting or non-voting) that may be hereafter issued.  

        (iii)  " Existing Shareholder " means the Adolph Coors, Jr. Trust, any individual who or entity which has been, is or in the 
future becomes a trustee thereof or any beneficiary thereof, any other trust the primary beneficiaries of which are descendants of 
Adolph Coors, Sr. or spouses or former spouses of such descendants, and/or any individual who or entity which has been, is or in 
the future becomes a trustee of any such trusts or any beneficiary thereof.  

        (iv)  " Person " means any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the 1934 Act).  

        (v)  " Voting Stock " means any and all shares, interests, participations, rights in or other equivalents of capital stock and 
warrants or options exchangeable for or convertible into such capital stock which ordinarily has the power to vote for the election 
of directors, managers or other voting members of the governing body (the "Governing Board") of a Person. If any members of 
the Governing Board are elected by classes of common stock voting as separate classes, Voting Stock shall mean the stock of the 
class of common stock entitled to elect the majority of the Governing Board, provided, if the separate classes are entitled to elect 
equal numbers of the Governing Board, then all such shares of common stock shall be deemed to be Voting Stock, but the voting 
power of Voting Stock held by a Person (including the Existing Shareholders) shall be separately calculated for each class and the 
result for each class shall be deemed to be Beneficial Ownership of Voting Stock of the Company.  

        8.2   Change of Control . (a)  In General . In the event of a Change in Control of the Company as defined in Section 8.2(c), then, subject to 
the provisions of Section 8.2(b), (i) all Options shall become immediately exercisable in full during the remaining term thereof, and shall remain 
so, whether or not the Directors to whom such Options have been granted remain Directors of the Company or an Affiliated Corporation; and 
(ii) all restrictions with respect to outstanding Restricted Stock Awards shall immediately lapse. The Board shall, in the event of a Change in 
Control of the Company, either (x) make appropriate provision for the adoption and continuation of the Plan and the outstanding Options by the 
acquiring or successor corporation and for the protection of outstanding Options by the substitution on an equitable basis of appropriate stock of 
the Company or of the merged, consolidated or other reorganized corporation that will be issuable with respect to the Stock, provided that the 
excess of the aggregate Fair Market Value of the shares subject to the Options immediately after such substitution over the Option Price thereof 
is not more than the excess of the aggregate Fair Market Value of the shares subject to such Options immediately before such substitution over 
the Option Price thereof, or (y) upon written notice to the Directors, provide that all unexercised Options must be exercised within a specified 
number of days of the date of such notice or they will be terminated.  

        (b)   Limitation on Payments . If the provisions of this Section 8 would result in the receipt by any Director of a payment within the 
meaning of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder and if the receipt of such payment by 
any Director would, in the opinion of independent tax counsel of recognized standing selected by the Company, result in the payment by 
such Director of any excise tax provided for in Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, then either (i) the amount of such payment 
shall be reduced in the manner  
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determined by the Board to the extent required, in the opinion of such independent tax counsel, to prevent the imposition of such excise 
tax; or (ii) the amount of such payment shall not be reduced, depending upon whichever approach results in the greatest net after-tax 
benefit to the Director, as determined by such independent tax counsel.  

        (c)   Definitions . (i) For purposes of the Plan, a "Change in Control" means such time as:  

        (A)  without the consent of the Board, a Person other than Existing Shareholders or a Person controlled by Existing 
Shareholders becomes the ultimate Beneficial Owner of more than 20% of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the 
Company and such ownership represents a greater percentage of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Company than 
is Beneficially Owned by Existing Shareholders on such date; except the following acquisitions are not a Change in Control: 
(1) an acquisition of Voting Stock by the Company or one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries or (2) an acquisition of Voting Stock 
that complies with clauses (A), (B) and (C) of Section 8.1(b)(ii) or (3) an acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related 
trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company, or by any corporation controlled by the Company, or  

        (B)  without the consent of the Board, individuals who on the effective date of this Plan constitute the Board (together with 
any thereafter elected directors whose election by the Board or whose nomination by the Board for election by the Company's 
shareholders was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the members of the Board then in office who either were members 
of the Board on the effective date of this amended and restated Plan or whose election or nomination for election was previously 
so approved) cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the members of the Board then in office; or  

        (C)  the shareholders of the Company approve a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.  

        (ii)  The definitions set forth in Section 8.1(c) shall apply for purposes of this Section 8.2.  

SECTION 9  
RIGHTS OF DIRECTORS  

        9.1   Retention as Director . Nothing contained in the Plan or in any Option or Restricted Stock Award granted under the Plan shall interfere 
with or limit in any way the right of the shareholders of the Company to remove any Director from the Board pursuant to the bylaws of the 
Company, nor confer upon any Director any right to continue in the service of the Company.  

        9.2   Nontransferability . Except as provided in Section 6.2(e), no right or interest of any Director in an Option or a Restricted Stock Award 
(prior to the completion of the restriction period applicable thereto), granted pursuant to the Plan, shall be assignable or transferable during the 
lifetime of the Director, either voluntarily or involuntarily, or subjected to any lien, directly or indirectly, by operation of law, or otherwise, 
including execution, levy, garnishment, attachment, pledge or bankruptcy. In the event of a Director's death, a Director's rights and interests in 
Options and Restricted Stock Awards shall, to the extent vested, be transferable by testamentary will or the laws of descent and distribution. If in 
the opinion of the Board a person entitled to payments or to exercise rights with respect to the Plan is disabled from caring for his affairs because 
of mental condition, physical condition or age, payment due such person may be made to, and such rights shall be exercised by, such person's 
guardian, conservator or other legal personal representative upon furnishing the Board with evidence satisfactory to the Board of such status.  
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SECTION 10  
COMPANY RIGHT TO PURCHASE STOCK  

        10.1  Right of First Refusal . (a) The Board may, in its sole discretion, provide at the time of the grant of an Award and cause to be reflected 
in the agreement with respect to such Award that the Stock acquired pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to the Company's right of first refusal 
set forth in the following subsections of this Section 10.1. The Board may also, in its sole discretion, waive the Company's rights under this 
Section 10 with respect to outstanding Awards and may modify outstanding Awards accordingly, at any time and from time to time, in its sole 
discretion.  

        (b)  In the event of the death of a Director, or if a Director at any time proposes to transfer to a third party any of the Stock acquired 
pursuant to the Plan on or after the effective date of this amended and restated Plan, the Director (or his personal representative or estate, 
as the case may be) shall make a written offer (the "Offer") to sell all of the Stock acquired pursuant to the Plan then owned by the 
Director (or thereafter acquired by the Director's estate or personal representative pursuant to any Option or Restricted Stock Award 
hereunder) to the Company at the "purchase price" as hereinafter defined. In the case of a proposed sale of any of the Stock to a third 
party, the Offer shall state the name of the proposed transferee and the terms and conditions of the proposed transfer. In a case of a 
proposed sale through or to a registered broker/dealer, the Offer shall state the name and address of the broker. The Company shall have 
the right to elect to purchase all (but not less than all) of the shares of Stock. The Company shall have the right to elect to purchase the 
shares of Stock for a period of ten (10) days after the receipt by the Company of the Offer. The provisions of this Section 10 shall apply 
to proposed sales through or to a registered broker/dealer at the prevailing market price, even if the prevailing market price should 
fluctuate between the date the Company receives the Offer and the date the Company elects to purchase the shares of Stock. In all cases, 
the purchase price for the Stock shall be determined pursuant to subsection 10.1(e).  



        (c)  The Company shall exercise its right to purchase the Stock by given written notice of its exercise to the Director (or his personal 
representative or estate, as the case may be). If the Company elects to purchase the Stock, payment for the shares of Stock shall be made 
in full by Company check. Any such payments shall be made within ten (10) days after the election to purchase has been exercised.  

        (d)  If the Stock is not purchased pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the shares of Stock may be transferred by the Director the 
proposed transferee named in the Offer to the Company, in the case of a proposed sale to a third party. However, if such transfer is not 
made within 120 days following the termination of the Company's right to purchase, a new offer must be made to the Company before 
the Director can transfer any portion of his shares and the provisions of this Section 10 shall again apply to such transfer. If the 
Company's right of first refusal under this Section 10 is created by an event other than a proposed transfer to a third party, the shares of 
Stock shall remain subject to the provisions of this Section 10 in the hands of the registered owner of the Stock.  

        (e)  The purchase price for each share of Stock purchased by the Company pursuant to this Section 10 shall be equal to the Fair 
Market Value of the Stock on the date the Company receives the Offer under Section 10.1(a).  

        10.2  Marking of Certificates . Each certificate representing shares of Stock acquired pursuant to this Plan shall bear the following legend:  

The shares of stock represented by this Certificate are subject to all the terms of the Adolph Coors Company Equity Incentive 
Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as the Plan may be amended from time to time (the "Plan"). Copies of the Plan are on file at 
the office of the  
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Company. The Plan, among other things, limits the right of the Owner to transfer the shares represented hereby and provides that 
in certain circumstances the shares may be purchased by the Company.  

SECTION 11  
GENERAL RESTRICTIONS  

        11.1  Investment Representations . The Company may require any Director to whom an Award is granted, as a condition of receiving such 
Option or Restricted Stock Award, to give written assurances in substance and form satisfactory to the Company and its counsel to the effect that 
such person is acquiring the Stock subject to the Option or Restricted Stock Award for his own account for investment and not with any present 
intention of selling or otherwise distributing the same, and to such other effects as the Company deems necessary or appropriate in order to 
comply with Federal and applicable state securities laws.  

        11.2  Compliance with Securities Laws . Each Option and Restricted Stock Award shall be subject to the requirement that, if at any time 
counsel to the Company shall determine that the listing, registration or qualification of the shares subject to such Option or Restricted Stock 
Award upon any securities exchange or under any state or federal law, or the consent or approval of any governmental or regulatory body, is 
necessary as a condition of, or in connection with, the issuance of shares thereunder, such Option or Restricted Stock Award may not be 
accepted or exercised in whole or in part unless such listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval shall have been effected or obtained 
on conditions acceptable to the Board. Nothing herein shall be deemed to require the Company to apply for or to obtain such listing, registration 
or qualification.  

        11.3  Changes in Accounting Rules . Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, if, during the term of the Plan, any 
changes in the financial or tax accounting rules applicable to Options and Restricted Stock Awards shall occur which, in the sole judgment of the 
Board, may have a material adverse effect on the reported earnings, assets or liabilities of the Company, the Board shall have the right and power 
to modify as necessary any then outstanding Option or Restricted Stock Awards as to which the applicable restrictions have not been satisfied.  

        11.4  Withholding of Tax . To the extent required by applicable law and regulation, each Director must arrange with the Company for the 
payment of any federal, state or local income or other tax applicable to the exercise of an Option or the grant of a Restricted Stock Award 
granted hereunder before the Company shall be required to deliver to the Director a certificate for such Stock free and clear of all restrictions 
under this Plan.  

SECTION 12  
PLAN AMENDMENT, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION  

        The Board may at any time terminate, and from time to time may amend or modify the Plan provided, however, that no amendment or 
modification may become effective without approval of the amendment or modification by the shareholders if shareholder approval is required 
to enable the Plan to satisfy any applicable statutory or regulatory requirements, or if the Company, on the advice of counsel, determines that 
shareholder approval is otherwise necessary or desirable.  

        No amendment, modification or termination of the Plan shall in any manner adversely affect any Options or Restricted Stock Awards 
theretofore granted under the Plan without the consent of the Director holding such Options or Restricted Stock Awards.  
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SECTION 13  
REQUIREMENTS OF LAW  

        13.1  Requirements of Law . The issuance of stock and the payment of cash pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules 
and regulations.  

        13.2  Federal Securities Law Requirements . Awards granted hereunder shall be subject to all conditions required under Rule 16b-3 to 
qualify Option or the Restricted Stock Award for any exception from the provisions of Section 16(b) of the 1934 Act available under that Rule. 
Such conditions shall be set forth in the agreement with the Director which describes the Option or Restricted Stock Award.  

        13.3  Governing Law . The Plan and all agreements hereunder shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State 
of Colorado.  

SECTION 14  
DURATION OF THE PLAN  

        The Plan shall terminate at such time as may be determined by the Board of Directors, and no Option or Restricted Stock Award shall be 
granted after such termination. Options and Restricted Stock Awards outstanding at the time of the Plan termination shall become exercisable or 
free of restrictions, as the case may be, in accordance with their terms.  
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EXHIBIT 21 

ADOLPH COORS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT  

        The following table lists our significant subsidiaries and the respective jurisdictions of their organization or incorporation as of 
December 29, 2002. All subsidiaries are included in our consolidated financial statements.  
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Name  

  

State/country of organization or incorporation 

Coors Brewing Company   Colorado 
  Coors Distributing Company   Colorado 

  Coors Worldwide, Inc.   Colorado 

    Coors Brewers, Limited   England 

  Coors International Market Development, LLLP   Colorado 

  Coors Japan Company, Inc.   Japan 
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EXHIBIT 23 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS  

        We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 33-35035, 33-40730, 33-59979, 333-
45869, 333-103573, 333-59516 and 333-38378) of Adolph Coors Company of our report dated February 6, 2003, relating to the consolidated 
financial statements which appear in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

        We also consent to the incorporation by reference of our report dated February 6, 2003, relating to the financial statement schedule, which 
appears in this Form 10-K.  

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  

Denver, Colorado  
March 26, 2003  
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EXHIBIT 99.1 

WRITTEN STATEMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER  

FURNISHED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906  
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)  

        The undersigned, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of Adolph Coors Company (the "Company") respectively, 
each hereby certifies that to his knowledge on the date hereof:  

(a)  the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 29, 2002 filed on the date hereof with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  
 

(b)  information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.  
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    /s/   W. LEO KIELY III        

W. Leo Kiely III  
Chief Executive Officer  
March 26, 2003 

 
  

 
  

 
/s/   TIMOTHY V. WOLF        

Timothy V. Wolf  
Chief Financial Officer  
March 26, 2003 


